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What is a camera-ready paper?
In your acceptance notification, we requested that you submit the camera-ready paper by September 15. A camera-ready paper is the final, revised version of your accepted article, prepared for publication.
When preparing your camera-ready paper:
· Please revise or rewrite your article in response to the reviewers’ comments.
· If you register for the APMAA 2025 conference and submit the camera-ready paper by September 15, your manuscript will be included in the APMAA 2025 Book of Abstracts.
· Be aware that we will use the file you upload to the “camera-ready” column of the CMT system exactly as submitted, without further editing.
Your paper’s length and format must strictly follow the Guideline for Authors (as you did in your initial submission). Please ensure that your camera-ready version complies with the required format described in the Official Guide to APMAA 2024 (https://s-ueno.sakura.ne.jp/APMAA_asia/APMAA2025_Malaysia_Conference.htm).

Excerpts from the Guideline for Authors
4. Authors' names should be placed with two-line space below the title. Authors' affiliations should be placed below each author's name.

5. An abstract* should be around 200-300 words.

6. Text (for full-length paper) should be 5,000-10,000 words. The paper must be written in the best possible technical and grammatical English.

8. All manuscripts should be formatted using 12-point font (Times New Roman). The text should be single-spaced.
-----------

The abstract is a summary or synopsis of the entire research paper and also needs to have similar characteristics to the title. Your abstract should contain at least your research topic, research questions, participants, methods, results, data analysis, and conclusions. You may also include possible implications of your research and future work you see connected with your findings. Your abstract should be a single paragraph. It needs to be simple, direct, specific, functional, clear, unbiased, honest, concise, precise, self-sufficient, complete, comprehensive, scholarly, balanced, and should not be misleading (Writing the title and abstract for a research paper: Being concise, precise, and meticulous is the key (nih.gov).
Why do you need to write an abstract for a research paper?
· An abstract allows readers to grasp the main idea or essence of your paper quickly, helping them decide whether to read the full paper.
· It prepares readers to follow the detailed information, analyses, and arguments presented in your work.
· Later, the abstract serves as a reference point, helping readers recall the key points of your paper.
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[bookmark: _heading=h.v8krxdaaaf9t][bookmark: _Toc211808128]“MIND THE GAP”: A GENEALOGY OF THE LITERATURE GAP IN ACCOUNTING AND BUSINESS RESEARCH
Paul Scarbrough
Professor of Accounting and Control
Goodman School of Business, Brock University, Canada
Email: pscarbrough@brocku.ca

ABSTRACT
This paper examines the imperative to “identify a gap in the literature,” which has become both a methodological standard and an epistemic constraint within management and accounting scholarship, largely as a result of the reforms introduced by the Carnegie Commission in the United States during the 1960s. The genealogical analysis traces the historical origins, normalization, and institutional ascendancy of the gap-centric model, contending that it distorts scholarly inquiry, encourages the pursuit of transient conceptual fashions, and diminishes the value placed on problem-driven or practice-based research. The concept of the “gap” emerges as a prevailing rhetorical mechanism—supposedly defined as under-explored domains, theoretical inconsistencies, or overlooked perspectives—but what is overlooked is that these “gaps” are only in the literature, not in real-world phenomena. The literature itself has become the principal source for scholarly engagement rather than the world. This restricts the scope of inquiry to issues in the literature itself, it prioritizes “navigation” through existing research instead of the exploration of human problems, it overtly suppresses practical concerns, and it leads to the development of theories that are linked only to the academic canon rather than to empirical reality.  Consequently, many theories are actually literary constructs rather than discoveries grounded in real-world phenomena. The traditions preceding the Carnegie reforms (prior to the 1960s) are delineated, emphasizing phronesis and craftsmanship, as exemplified by seminal figures such as Taylor (1911), Follett (1924), Barnard (1938), and Fayol (1949), who prioritized narrative synthesis and contextual judgment. The Carnegie Commission’s 1959 reforms created a disciplinary void, institutionalizing the “gap” as a ritualistic gatekeeper, leading to epistemic mimicry and a decline in practical relevance. The consequences of these developments including theory proliferation and intellectual insularity. This paper characterizes the gap as an epistemic bottleneck which reduces our ability to understand the world.
Keywords: Literature gap; Epistemic trap; Carnegie reforms; Phronesis; Epistemic mimicry; Practice-based research

[bookmark: X03a0a4ed3b2ebb2884d01667e454363c1777a27]Introduction: The Tyranny of the Literature Gap
In academic accounting and business research, the imperative to “identify a gap in the literature” has become a methodological default and an epistemic trap. While intended to prevent redundancy and promote novel contributions, this gap-centric model distorts inquiry, incentivizes conceptual fads, and devalues problem-driven, practice-based, or discovery-led research. This essay examines the rise of the “gap” as a ritualized justification mechanism, arguing that it contributes to theory bloat, citation cartels, and the marginalization of inductive insight. By tracing its emergence and assessing its epistemological and practical consequences, the essay advocates for research grounded in reality, not rhetorical absence. This genealogy focuses on the U.S. system, where the Carnegie reforms began the process of looking for a gap, but its influence has extended globally, reshaping accounting and business tertiary education systems worldwide through the adoption of gap-centric norms and U.S.-dominated journals.
[bookmark: defining-the-gap]Defining the Gap
In management, accounting, and related social sciences, research papers are expected to identify a “gap” in the literature and position their contribution as filling it. This has become the dominant rhetorical device in introductions and justifications, framing studies as legitimate by anchoring them to what has not been done. The gap is typically defined as:
· An area under-explored by prior literature.
· A theoretical inconsistency between two or more models.
· A missing perspective, variable, or context in a well-known model. 
This requirement shapes scholarly inquiry, often prioritizing uncharted conceptual territory rather than pressing real-world problems. Having defined the gap, we now explore its problematic characteristics and their impact on scholarship.
[bookmark: Xa629208037886d14b79805860747a5a9846d8b3]Characteristics and Problems with the Gap
The gap-centric approach, often described as a methodological straitjacket, fosters a culture of performative research where “statistics wins out over practical relevance” (Rynes et al., 2018). Critics note that it leads to theorizing and methodological fetishism, with presentation conventions overshadowing substantive inquiry (Macdonald & Kam, 2007). This ritualized gap-spotting substitutes hollow novelty for genuine knowledge, trapping scholars in a logic of positioning rather than problem-solving. Its key problems include:
· Narrowing Inquiry: Gap-justified research prioritizes what hasn’t been said over what is most important to understand, pushing scholars into marginal or artificial terrain. For example, a study might focus on “blockchain in niche industries” or “leadership in small Finnish consulting firms” solely because these are unstudied, not because they address significant issues. Such work often lacks practical significance, existing only to fill a rhetorical void.
· Rewarding Literature Navigation: Scholars become curators of citation networks, judged by how cleverly they navigate existing theory rather than the depth of understanding they provide. The quality of a paper hinges on its positioning within the literature, not its contribution to real-world knowledge.
· Suppressing Practice-First Research: Observations of important real-world phenomena are often rejected if they cannot be tied to a literature gap. This gatekeeping excludes inductive or practice-based research, stifling insights from managerial or organizational realities.
· Proliferating Theories: To identify a gap, researchers often create new constructs or frameworks, leading to a bloated theory landscape. Many theories emerge not to enhance understanding but to satisfy the demand for novelty, resulting in “parasitic knowledge” that derives legitimacy from unoccupied conceptual space rather than explanatory power (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013). 
These characteristics reveal broader epistemic issues, shaping the nature of scholarly inquiry.
[bookmark: broader-implications-and-alternatives]Broader Implications and Alternatives
The gap’s dominance reflects a deep-seated narrative that theory is the frontier of innovation, while practice is merely derivative—a framing that creates epistemic friction (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013). This bias, rooted in rationalist models where knowledge flows from intellectual conception to operational realization, devalues phronesis (practical wisdom) in favor of episteme (universal knowledge) (Flyvbjerg, 2001). For example, transformative practices like lean production, open-source software, and Agile teams originate in practice, not theory, yet are often ignored or subsumed under academic frameworks because they lack a gap-based justification. This represents an ontological error: management research treats the social world as waiting to be invented rather than understood, unlike fields like medicine or biology, where discovery is valued over invention (Mintzberg, 2004). The following framework highlights this misalignment: 
	Type of Knowledge
	Source
	Status in Academia
	Example

	Theoretical Invention
	Academic theorist
	High
	Dynamic capabilities, RBV, TCE

	Practical Discovery
	Practitioners
	Low
	Lean/TPS, Agile, DevOps, Montessori

	Empirical Recognition
	Longitudinal study
	Mixed
	Nightingale’s sanitation insights

	Design Knowledge
	Engineers/designers
	Low (in management)
	Process flows, UI/UX principles, kaizen


 This prioritization of invention over discovery distorts scholarship, elevating citation choreography over real-world insight. As a corrective, alternative approaches can reframe research:
· Problem-driven research: Addressing real-world issues regardless of gaps.
· Discovery-led inquiry: Starting from robust observations.
· Historical lineage research: Tracing enduring practices.
· [bookmark: gap-conclusion]Reverse theory, or Abductive Theorizing: Building theory from working systems. These approaches treat reality, not literature, as the source of inquiry, offering a path beyond the gap’s constraints. The gap’s emergence as a dominant paradigm stems from historical shifts in business research, beginning with the pre-reform era, as explored next.

Gap Conclusion
The literature gap, often a rhetorical crutch for academic legitimacy, has become a structural distortion in management and social science research. By prioritizing novelty over utility, it fosters a culture of performative originality, marginalizing practice-based insights and inflating theoretical constructs. Understanding its characteristics—narrow inquiry, citation navigation, suppression of practice, and theory proliferation—reveals its role as an intellectual alibi, justifying studies that lack real-world relevance. Escaping this trap requires reorienting research toward what needs to be understood, not merely what hasn’t been said.
[bookmark: X620ac5496b25ca0394367c3cd23870e24b3cb5b]Pre-Reform Traditions: Problem-Driven and Practitioner-Oriented Inquiry
[bookmark: early-20th-century-foundations]Early 20th Century Foundations
Before academic research became a formal mandate in business schools, knowledge production in accounting and management was driven by problem-solving and practitioner synthesis. In the early 20th century, fields like accounting, management, and marketing evolved through professional practice, not experimental or theoretical science. 
Accounting developed as a regulatory and stewardship function tied to state and commercial needs, grounded in standards, legal compliance, and normative judgment rather than hypothesis-driven discovery (Previts & Merino, 1998). Early management thought, as reflected in figures like Taylor (1911) and Fayol (1949), focused on universally applicable methods to generate context-specific solutions. Taylor’s time-motion studies and Fayol’s administrative principles provided repeatable frameworks for practical problems in local organizational contexts, not generalizable theories. Similarly, marketing emerged as a practical toolkit for sales, distribution, and branding, distinct from later behavioral or econometric models (Jones & Shaw, 2002). This era prioritized applied reasoning and design orientation over abstract theory, establishing a tradition rooted in craft and utility.

[bookmark: mid-20th-century-synthesis]Mid-20th Century Synthesis
By the mid-20th century, thinkers like Barnard (1938), Follett (1924), Drucker (1954), and Urwick and Gulick (1937) built on this tradition, creating conceptually generative and systematically reflective frameworks drawn from lived experience.
Barnard’s The Functions of the Executive articulated a systemic theory of organizational cooperation, authority, and executive responsibility, using conceptual distinctions grounded in lived complexity rather than social science data or hypotheses. Barnard (1938) framed executive responsibility as a moral function: the executive must reconcile competing interests, maintain organizational coherence, and uphold legitimacy—not through formal authority alone, but through cooperative logic and responsibility to purpose. 
Follett (1924) explicitly positioned leadership as an integrative and participatory act. Her concepts of "constructive conflict," "circular response," and "power-with" reveal a vision of management in which authority is not imposed but generated through meaning-making. Her Creative Experience (1924) synthesized her civic organizing and conflict mediation work into a dynamic theory of integration, emphasizing situational judgment and evolving group norms—ideas ahead of their ethical and epistemological time (Graham, 1995). 

Similarly, Drucker’s Practice of Management (1954) integrated economic, behavioral, and ethical concerns into an adaptable logic for organizational action, while Urwick and Gulick’s (1937) POSDCORB principles (planning, organizing, staffing, directing, co-ordinating, reporting, budgeting) required discretion for local adaptation (Wren & Bedeian, 2009). This pre-research tradition treated narrative, design, and systemic insight as legitimate knowledge forms. Case studies were detailed reconstructions intended to surface the tensions, trace the decision logics, and extract patterns, while narrative reasoning synthesized moral, institutional, and operational complexity. 

Systems thinking connected purpose, constraint, structure, and flow, aligning with Flyvbjerg’s (2001) discussions of the Aristotelian concept of phronesis—practical wisdom through contextual judgment. The alignment with phronesis rather than episteme demonstrated a focus on what must be judged, interpreted, and designed, not just measured. Managers were seen as designers and moral agents navigating ambiguity and multi-stakeholder dynamics, with internal coherence, utility, and psychological realism as standards, not generalizability or statistical significance (Follett, 1924; Barnard, 1938). As Schön (1983) later argued, practitioners developed knowledge through “reflection-in-action,” integrating reason with real-time complexity. This cognitive architecture emphasized patterns, tensions, and emergent fit over fixed laws, resonating with Nonaka and Takeuchi’s (1995) view of tacit, interaction-based organizational knowledge. 

The pre-research management worldview was not reductionist, but rather, wholistic. It sought to understand organizations and action through coherent wholes—synthesizing purpose, structure, constraint, and ethical responsibility. The manager was a designer and moral agent operating within structurally and socially complex environments (Follett, 1924; Barnard, 1938) rather than an implementor of technique. This approach was based on the assumption that human judgment and interpretive reasoning were central to meaningful decision-making. As Nonaka and Takeuchi (1995) later argued, much of organizational knowledge is tacit, and managerial knowing is embedded in interaction, narrative, and intuition. Such a worldview places the emphasis not on isolated variables, but on patterns, tensions, and emergent fit. 

The managerial and accounting knowledge systems that existed prior to the Carnagie reforms of academic research were neither disorganized nor unsystematic. Rather, they followed a different logic of system: one grounded in synthesis, experiential accumulation, professional discretion, and institutional constraint. Taylor’s time-motion studies and Fayol’s administrative principles were not designed to produce generalizable findings in the modern academic sense; they were meant to provide repeatable frameworks for solving practical problems in local organizational environments (Taylor, 1911; Fayol, 1949). These were not proto-theories awaiting scientific refinement—they were mature forms of applied reasoning optimized for local adaptation, longitudinal continuity, and ethical responsibility (Barnard, 1938; Follett, 1924).

[bookmark: displacement-by-post-carnegie-norms]Displacement by Post-Carnegie Norms
This mature knowledge system, grounded in synthesis, experiential accumulation, and professional discretion, was not a pre-scientific stage awaiting refinement but a fully realized logic of practice optimized for local adaptation and ethical responsibility. However, this system was epistemically incompatible with the post-Carnegie research model, which emphasized generalizability and methodological purity. The phrase “scientific tradition,” used in Carnagie Commission reports to justify reforms, concealed the distinct epistemology of accounting, management, and marketing, which operated in the register of techne (craft) and phronesis (practical wisdom), not episteme (universal knowledge) (Flyvbjerg, 2001).

As Khurana (2007) documents, business schools abandoned their professional education mission for social science models prioritizing theoretical abstraction. In accounting, useful professional insights were devalued for lacking methodological purity (Kaplan, 2011). Ghoshal (2005) argues that abstract theory not only displaced applied reasoning but sometimes enabled destructive managerial ideologies. The following contrast illustrates this shift: 

	Dimension
	Pre-Reform Approach
	Post-Carnegie Scientific Model

	What is universal?
	The method
	The variables or models

	Context role
	Essential to application
	Threat to generalizability

	Function of method
	Guides judgment
	Produces valid claims

	Practitioner role
	Interpreter of method
	Implementer of technique

	Goal
	Local improvement
	Theoretical contribution


This displacement of the traditional system with the Carnagie version of sciencewas not meritocratic but a structural consequence of institutional mandates that rendered practice-based knowledge untranslatable into the new academic language of theory gaps and statistical inference (Bennis & O’Toole, 2005).
[bookmark: X29479c446b5cb4db3ffb58d70d7e42944af3ca9]The Carnegie Reforms: Institutionalizing the Gap
[bookmark: carnegie-reforms-as-catalyst]Carnegie Reforms as Catalyst
The rise of the “gap in the literature” as a central justification in business and accounting research stems from the Carnegie Commission’s transformative intervention in 1959. The Gordon and Howell report (Higher Education for Business, 1959) and Pierson’s critique (1959) rejected the vocational, practice-oriented model of business education as “unscientific,” advocating for rigorous methodologies drawn from economics, sociology, psychology, and operations research (see also, Augier & March 2011). These reforms catalyzed the development of PhD programs, restructured curricula to emphasize quantitative methods, and established publication-driven tenure criteria, recasting academic legitimacy as theoretical contribution rather than practical utility (Gordon & Howell, 1959; Pierson, 1959; Fourcade & Khurana, 2013). This shift created a demand for a reproducible structure for research justification, into which the “gap” concept fit seamlessly, serving as a prosthetic epistemology—a borrowed framework to signal scholarly credibility (Khurana, 2007). The ultimate moral collapse has been the move to a three-paper dissertation instead of the more risky and scientific monograph. Most Phd programs have students work on three safe and risk-free studies completely inside the literature rather than experimenting with new thinking. This narrowing further cements the narrowness of scholarship because new PhDs believe that this is scholarship. 
Although centered on U.S. business education, the Carnegie Commission's reforms have had a profound global impact, influencing accounting and business tertiary systems worldwide by promoting a gap-centric model that prioritizes theoretical novelty over practical relevance.
[bookmark: X4bcce841fd5257537e72b251a206a309dcf5305]Disciplinary Vacuum and Pre-Reform Context
Business disciplines—accounting, marketing, strategy, operations, and organizational behavior—did not originate from investigative traditions but from craft, synthesis, and judgment rooted in professional practice. Unlike physics or anthropology, these fields had no indigenous culture of empirical puzzle-solving or systematic curiosity, relying instead on case-based pedagogy and practitioner expertise (Khurana & Fourcade, 2013). Accounting developed as a regulatory and stewardship function, grounded in standards and normative judgment, not hypothesis-driven discovery (Previts & Merino, 1998). Early management thought, exemplified by Taylor’s (1911) time-motion studies and Fayol’s (1949) administrative principles, provided frameworks for local problem-solving, not generalizable theories. Marketing emerged as a practical toolkit for sales and branding, distinct from later econometric models (Jones & Shaw, 2002). This practice-based epistemology, oriented toward techne (craft) and phronesis (practical wisdom), was ill-suited to the Carnegie Commission’s scientific mandate, creating a vacuum that gap-justified research filled (Flyvbjerg, 2001).
[bookmark: institutionalization-of-the-gap]Institutionalization of the Gap
When business fields were directed to “do science,” they adopted the literature gap as a credible structure, alongside regression-based empiricism and imported theories like agency theory and institutional theory (Khurana, 2007). In the late 1970s and 1980s, this transformation solidified as PhD programs and journal hierarchies (e.g., Accounting Review, JAR) formalized gap identification as a mandatory template: 
Introduction = define a gap → frame contribution as a plug → theorize. 
This “contribution ritual” allowed scholars to appear novel without engaging complex phenomena, satisfying standardized review formats (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013). Unlike predecessor disciplines, where gaps were a loose heuristic, business research turned them into a rigid gatekeeping device, shaping research agendas for decades (Macdonald & Kam, 2007). In economics, papers like Coase (1937) and Akerlof (1970) focused on anomalies in the world, not literature voids; sociology emphasized social tensions in the world; and operations research prioritized design optimization of products or processes (Wren & Bedeian, 2009). The gap’s elevation to a methodological imperative was a misreading born of epistemic insecurity, not a natural evolution.
[bookmark: epistemic-consequences]Epistemic Consequences
The Carnegie reforms created a borrowed epistemology, turning business schools into prestige-seeking subcultures of social sciences. This “epistemic mimicry” prioritized symbolic rigor over intellectual risk, displacing synthesis, judgment, and design with citation logic and theory signaling (Meyer & Rowan, 1977). As Toulmin (1990) argues, the Enlightenment ideal of reason marginalized traditions of wisdom, rendering practice-based knowledge untranslatable into the new academic language of theory gaps and statistical inference (Bennis & O’Toole, 2005). Accounting research lost practical relevance, favoring methodological purity (Kaplan, 2011), while management education produced analytical technicians, not reflective practitioners (Mintzberg, 2004). The gap became a ritual doorway, a threshold performance for scholarly entry, producing a simulacrum of science where research questions were formalities, not curiosities (Weick, 1996). This narrowing of intellectual range—codified through journal standards and PhD training—entrenched a system that valued positional novelty over phenomenological urgency, as shown below: 
	Historical Event
	Structural Effect

	Carnegie Commission
	Declared legitimacy requires scientific research.

	Disciplinary Vacuum
	Lacked indigenous scientific culture.

	Epistemic Importation
	Gap-justified research filled the void.

	Path Dependency
	Gap became default through training and standards.


Despite this dominance, practitioner traditions persisted through resistance and adaptation.
[bookmark: resistance-and-continuity]Resistance and Continuity
The displacement of practitioner-rooted inquiry did not erase it. A vibrant literature by figures like Drucker (1954), Covey (1989), and Christensen (2003) flourished in consulting and trade publishing, retaining the reflective, problem-driven ethos of phronesis. Within universities, a “fifth column” of faculty—teachers and applied thinkers—maintained practical orientation, especially in lower-tier institutions rewarding relevance (Bennis & O’Toole, 2005). Lower-tier journals (e.g., ABDC C-level, regional outlets in Asia, Latin America) offered submerged resistance, publishing contextually grounded work while mimicking Western formats. This “strategic mimicry” preserved pluralism, acting as a pressure valve within a standardized system (Mignolo, 2009; Scott, 1990). However, a parallel ecosystem of pseudo-scientific journals emerged, mimicking scholarship without substance, driven by audit incentives (Strathern, 1997). These developments reveal a contested genealogy, where the practitioner tradition fractured but survived outside elite academia. These impacts and resistances set the stage for assessing the gap’s broader consequences and alternatives, explored next.
[bookmark: section-4-conclusion-and-assessment]Conclusion and Assessment
[bookmark: synthesizing-the-genealogy]Synthesizing the Genealogy
The literature gap, a methodological straitjacket in management and accounting research, emerged not as a natural evolution of inquiry but as a historical contingency rooted in institutional pressures to “look like a science”. Before the 1950s, business scholarship thrived on practice-based traditions, grounded in phronesis—practical wisdom—and narrative synthesis, as seen in the work of thinkers like Barnard and Follett. The Carnegie Commission’s 1959 reforms, demanding scientific rigor, displaced this tradition by importing social science models, creating a “prosthetic epistemology” where the gap became a ritualized justification for academic legitimacy (Gordon & Howell, 1959; Khurana, 2007). By the 1970s–1980s, this gap-centric model hardened into a gatekeeping mechanism through PhD programs and journal standards, prioritizing theoretical novelty over practical relevance (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013). In summary, this U.S.-centric genealogy illustrates how the gap model has permeated global accounting and business education, marginalizing practice-oriented traditions and incentivizing a universal emphasis on theoretical novelty.
[bookmark: contemporary-impacts]Contemporary Impacts
The gap-centric model has entrenched a performative scholarship, particularly evident in the 2010s–present, where researchers chase narrow, artificial gaps, producing “novelty inflation” through micro-constructs like “We examine X in the context of Y using Z” (Kaplan, 2011). This has led to several critical consequences:
· Theory Bloat: The proliferation of constructs creates a cluttered theoretical landscape, lacking clarity or coherence (Gendron, 2008).
· Intellectual Isolation: Academic research is increasingly disconnected from practice, with executives, managers, and accountants relying on consulting firms, practitioner books, or internal innovations rather than journals (Bennis & O’Toole, 2005; Bartunek & Rynes, 2014).
· Weak Replication Culture: Top journals rarely publish retractions or critical examinations, undermining the logic of falsification central to scientific inquiry (Kaplan, 2011).
· Neglect of Practice-Led Innovations: Transformative practices like lean production, Agile methods, and sociotechnical design are ignored or subsumed under unrelated academic frameworks, as the academy neither leads nor follows practice (Bourdieu, 1988). 
This system operates as a symbolic community, engaged in ritualized status maintenance rather than discovery. As Collins (1998) and Becher and Trowler (2001) argue, business academia functions as an academic tribe, guarding boundary rituals like publication counts and citation metrics, which signal legitimacy rather than epistemic progress. The gap, as a ritual doorway, prioritizes compliance with these forms over phenomenological urgency, sealing off scholarship from real-world relevance.
How the “value-neutral, method-first” epistemic stance became institutionalized in business & accounting schools
The modern stance is sometimes called the scientization of U.S. business education. Early in the post-Carnagie era, the import of economics-style positivism and agency theory helped cement a view of knowledge as hypothetico-deductive, generalizable, and “value neutral” (Jensen & Meckling, 1976; Williamson, 1975).
In accounting research, this in turn manifested as capital-markets empirics (e.g., Ball & Brown, 1968; Beaver, 1968) and later positive accounting theory, explicitly modeling managers and standard setting with incentives and market equilibrium tools (Watts & Zimmerman, 1978, 1986). These intellectual moves aligned with the institutional rise of journal hierarchies, rankings, and audit regimes (Power, 1997; Willmott, 2011; Shore & Wright, 2015), which rewarded tight identification strategies, large-sample econometrics, and “A-journal” placement—often irrespective of practice relevance (Hopwood, 2007; Gendron, 2008; Humphrey & Gendron, 2015).
Parallel critiques have long noted the relevance gap: business schools’ growing emphasis on method and theory purity over impact (Starkey & Madan, 2001; Pfeffer & Fong, 2002; Bennis & O’Toole, 2005; Ghoshal, 2005; Van de Ven, 2007). But those critiques had no power when colliding with the performative force of audit culture in universities (Power, 1997) and journal-list governance (Willmott, 2011), which then reproduce the same epistemic stance via hiring, tenure, accreditation, and doctoral socialization (Augier & March 2011; Whitley, 1984). In short, an ostensibly descriptive, non-normative ideal of what research is becoming the institutional control system through reports, incentives, and infrastructure that favor method over meaning.
Who survives—and who struggles—under this regime
Most advantaged. Researchers who:
· Work within economics/finance-style empiricism with strong causal identification, large datasets, and narrow, testable hypotheses (Jensen & Meckling, 1976; Watts & Zimmerman, 1986).
· Choose problems legible (“auditable”) to editors and reviewers & measurable (e.g., “value relevance,” disclosure, governance) that fit the canonical pipeline of top journals and rankings (Ball & Brown, 1968; Hopwood, 2007; Willmott, 2011).
· Publish incremental contributions with “gap-spotting” logic—which means that they conform to “expectations” (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2011).
Viable but constrained. Scholars in behavioral/experimental or field-based quantitative traditions who can survive by translating the description of their work into the dominant evidentiary grammar and by targeting journals that accept mixed methods—yet they still face pressure to “reframe” questions and designs to fit audit-friendly templates (Humphrey & Gendron, 2015).
Most disadvantaged profiles. Researchers who:
· Do practice-engaged, qualitative, or interdisciplinary work (case/ethnography, design science, action research) that delivers insight but resists standardization (Flyvbjerg, 2006; Van de Ven, 2007).
· Pursue critical/interpretive agendas that interrogate managerialism, power, or ethics, and which are often dismissed as insufficiently “positive” or attacked (sometimes explicitly) as “managerialist” or, in some sub-fields, conversely, as “anti-managerial” (Alvesson & Willmott, 1992; Parker, 2002; Whitley, 1984).
· Attempt problem-driven research with messy boundaries, stakeholder plurality, and normative transparency—valuable to practice but hard to “score” in journal-list regimes (Starkey & Madan, 2001; Ghoshal, 2005).
[bookmark: pathways-forward]Functionally, the ecology rewards legibility to audit by the department chair or dean (clean designs, tight constructs, tidy narratives) higher than usefulness to practice (context, conflict, value trade-offs). As audit metrics intensify, scholars adapt—often performing what Gendron (2008) calls the “academic performer” role, crafting their outputs to match visible metrics while their deeper engagement atrophies. This is how an epistemic stance becomes a career technology: it selects for certain problems, methods, and identities—and quietly deselects others.

Pathways Forward
To escape the gap’s epistemic trap, research must shift from “what hasn’t been said” to “what needs to be understood.” Alternatives rooted in reality-based inquiry include:
· Problem-Driven Research: Addressing pressing real-world issues, regardless of gaps in the literature.
· Discovery-Led Inquiry: Starting from robust observations to uncover mechanisms, as in medicine or biology.
· Historical Lineage Research: Tracing the evolution of enduring practices, like those of Drucker or Kaplan.
· Reverse Theory: Building theory inductively from systems that work, prioritizing practice over abstraction. 
These approaches, echoing the pre-reform tradition’s phronesis, treat reality as the source of inquiry, not literature. They challenge the contribution ritual by valuing synthesis and relevance over novelty (Flyvbjerg, 2001). Resistance persists in practitioner literature (e.g., Drucker, 1954; Christensen, 2003) and lower-tier journals, which practice “strategic mimicry” to embed applied insights within academic formats (Mignolo, 2009; Scott, 1990). These counterpoints suggest a pluralistic future for business scholarship, reconnecting with its practical roots.
[bookmark: contributions-to-scholarship]Contributions to Scholarship
This genealogy diagnoses the literature gap as an epistemic bottleneck, stifling meaningful inquiry in business and accounting research. It bridges critiques of theory overload, irrelevance, and disciplinary self-absorption, offering a historical lens on their origins (Ghoshal, 2005). By exposing the gap’s roots in institutional mimicry, it informs debates on research quality, doctoral training, and editorial policy, urging a return to problem-driven and practice-oriented scholarship. This analysis not only critiques the status quo but proposes a framework for revitalizing business research, honoring the complexity of what works in practice.

	[bookmark: timeline-of-the-gaps-genealogy]Timeline of the Gap's Genealogy

	Era
	Key Event
	Impact

	Pre-1950s
	Practice-Based Traditions
	Emphasis on phronesis, craft, and local problem-solving (e.g., Taylor, Follett).

	1959
	Carnegie Reforms
	Shift to the appearance of scientific rigor, creating disciplinary vacuum for gap model (Gordon & Howell, Pierson).

	1970s–1980s
	Institutionalization
	Gap formalized in PhD programs and journals, becoming a ritual gatekeeper (Alvesson & Sandberg, 2013).

	2010s–Present
	Contemporary Distortions
	Novelty inflation and isolation from practice, with resistance in practitioner literature (Kaplan, 2011; Mignolo, 2009).
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ABSTRACT

This panel, “Mind the Gap: A Genealogy of the Literature Gap in Accounting and Business Research,” examines the historical emergence, institutionalization, and consequences of the “literature gap” as the central organizing principle of academic inquiry in accounting and business. Although it was once thought to be a neutral tool for identifying areas of contribution, the gap requirement has become one of the most powerful gatekeeping devices, privileging navigation over the academic literature instead of engaging with real-world problems. The panel argues that this model is not a natural progression of scholarly rigor but a historical artifact of the 1959 Carnegie and Ford Foundation reforms, which sought to confer scientific legitimacy on business schools—not realizing that most research fields were in a state of flux and that there was no such thing as a “model” of scientific research. In moving to an imagined “scientific” process, these reforms displaced earlier traditions of practice-based research, exemplified by figures such as Frederick Winslow Taylor and Chester Barnard, who grounded their work in direct engagement with organizational life. The consequences of this move are far-reaching: intellectual isolation from practice, fragmentation of theory through relentless pursuit of narrow “gaps,” and neglect of practice-led innovations such as lean production and Agile methods. The “audit culture” of academia further reinforces this system, rewarding quantifiable, “auditable” research while marginalizing qualitative, interdisciplinary, and problem-driven work. This session proposes a reorientation from the gap (what has not been said) to “what needs to be understood.” Alternatives include problem-driven inquiry, discovery-led exploration, and reverse theory development built from successful practices. With presentations and discussions by Dr. Paul Scarbrough, Dr. Robert C. Rickards, and Dr. Yutaka Kato, and moderated by Dr. Susumu Ueno, the panel will offer historical insight, practical critique, and actionable pathways toward reconnecting business research with its practical mission.

Keywords: Literature Gap, Practice-Based Research, Management Accounting, Relevance of Scholarship, Carnegie Reforms 

[bookmark: _Hlk208151677]                                       1. Key Arguments and Discussion Points 

The session builds on a provocative central claim: the gap-centric research model is not the culmination of rigorous intellectual progress but the outcome of historical contingencies, especially those arising from the 1959 Carnegie and Ford Foundation reports on business education. These reforms, intended to elevate the scientific stature of business schools, inadvertently entrenched a research culture in which legitimacy was tied to a narrow form of pseudo-theory-driven academic publication rather than to genuine theory or to practical relevance.

The Historical Shift
Before the 1960s, business research was often unapologetically practice-based. Thinkers such as Frederick Winslow Taylor, with his scientific management experiments, or Chester Barnard, with his profound reflections on executive practice, derived their insights directly from immersion in organizations. Their work was not concerned with filling “literature gaps” but with illuminating pressing challenges of efficiency, coordination, and leadership.

The Carnegie reforms sought to align business schools with the natural and social sciences, emphasizing rigor, quantification, and theory development. However, the “root” disciplines were at that time undergoing tremendous change and did not have a unified concept of good research. Business research then focused on one peripheral aspect of the then-current research practice, which was to use the existing research as a tool to determine what needed to be studied. It might be the case that if there is a long-developed and effective body of research work available, this can provide some direction. However, business research had no such history (and as a result of the too-early over specification, it still does not).  

So, while perhaps laudable in intent, this reform displaced traditions of practical wisdom (phronesis) with what might be called a prosthetic epistemology. In this system, a non-existent, or at best inadequate, academic literature became the primary terrain of inquiry, rather than the messy realities of business practice. Scholars increasingly did not ask, “What is happening in practice that demands understanding Rather, they asked, “What has not yet been said in the literature that I can say?”
                                   
                                          2. Consequences of the Gap-Centric Model

This reorientation produced a series of interlocking, self-reinforcing problems:

Intellectual Isolation:

The most visible consequence is the widening gulf between academia and practice. Executives, managers, and policymakers rarely consult scholarly journals for guidance. Instead, they rely on consultants, trade publications, and internal innovations. Academic accounting and management research has thus walked away from its role as a source of practical insight, which raises questions about the very purpose of business schools.

Theory Bloat and Fragmentation:

The relentless pursuit of narrow gaps has led to the proliferation of micro-constructs and highly fragmented theories. Each incremental “contribution” often addresses a minor oversight rather than a significant issue. The result is a cluttered intellectual landscape—replete with specialized jargon, overlapping constructs, and limited generalizability—that fails to accumulate into coherent knowledge.

Neglect of Practice-Led Innovations:

Academic research has largely overlooked the existence of every significant innovation in business. Transformative business innovations—such as lean production systems, Agile methodologies, or sociotechnical systems design—have emerged outside academia, and are then ignored or looked down upon for the most part. When scholars do engage with these innovations (rarely), they frequently shoehorn them into pre-existing theoretical frameworks, stripping them of their contextual richness. So, the academy neither leads practice nor meaningfully follows it; it floats in an insulated orbit of self-referential debates.

Audit Culture and Methodological Narrowness:

The rise of an academic “audit” culture has amplified these tendencies. Evaluation systems reward “auditable” forms of research, favoring large-sample econometric studies and tightly identified causal designs. While these methods have their place, their institutional dominance discourages qualitative, interdisciplinary, or exploratory work and especially discourages work directed at real issues scholars who engage in immersive, problem-driven research struggle for recognition, resources, and career advancement. 

                                                             2. A Path Forward 

The panel will argue that reclaiming the relevance of business research requires a paradigm shift—a move from “what hasn’t been said” to “what needs to be understood.” This shift calls for courage, as it challenges entrenched incentives and professional norms. Three promising approaches will be highlighted: 

Problem-Driven Research:

Instead of beginning with the literature, scholars can start with pressing real-world problems—climate change, digital transformation, corporate governance failures, or social inequities in workplaces—and pursue them regardless of whether a neat “gap” exists in academic writing.

Discovery-Led Inquiry:

This approach emphasizes inductive exploration. By observing organizations, technologies, and communities in action, researchers can generate insights that emerge directly from practice. Rather than testing predefined hypotheses, discovery-led inquiry values surprise, anomaly, and serendipity.

 To Theory Development:

Here, scholars build theory from the ground up, derived from successful practices and systems. For example, studying how companies sustain long-term profitability might generate new theoretical frameworks for management accounting that are far more relevant than those derived from abstract constructs.
By embracing these alternatives, business scholarship can reconnect with its original mission: to illuminate, support, and improve the practice of management in real organizations.

[bookmark: _Hlk208151087]                                      3. Session Agenda and Presenter Roles 

The proposed session is designed to foster both critical reflection and constructive dialogue.


Keynote Address (20 minutes): Dr. Paul Scarbrough

Dr. Scarbrough will deliver the central keynote, presenting his genealogical analysis of the “literature gap” as a product of mid-20th-century reforms, which were not based on an understanding of the then-existing state of scientific research. He will show that the research approaches at the time of the Carnegie and Ford reports did not favor or emphasize the “gap” concept, and the presentation will also show that the same issue is faced in many disciplines other than business and accounting. The gap-centric model will be contrasted with earlier traditions of practice-based inquiry in business and accounting, and also in economics and other literatures. This examination of what constituted scientific research will offer a historical lens that allows participants to see current norms as the failed product of a social change that was imposed on a group of academics who lacked the necessary grounding to evaluate the paths they faced and thus created a system that was contingent and therefore changeable. 

Panel Discussion (10 minutes): Dr. Robert C. Rickards 

Drawing on his extensive experience in public management and organizational governance, Dr. Rickards will offer a European perspective on the origins and consequences of gap-driven research for Continental institutions. While broadly agreeing with Dr. Scarbrough’s reflections, he will present a few examples supporting more nuanced views. Dr. Rickards will argue that academic insularity, particularly in doctoral education, not only undermines the ability of organizations to learn from scholarship but also has pernicious, long-term effects on universities. He will propose several modifications for doctoral programs and suggest ways in which applied research can better inform public and private sector decision-making.

Panel Discussion (10 minutes): Dr. Yutaka Kato 

Dr. Kato will argue for embedding management accounting directly within business systems. He will critique conventional research that treats accounting techniques in isolation, showing how this approach deprives managers of integrated tools for long-term performance. His presentation will outline a vision of management accounting as a guiding discipline that aligns pricing, sales, and cost control toward strategic objectives. He also discusses the possible pitfalls of the “Literature Gap” that mislead business practices and make academic research boring and meaningless. He will make several proposals to make research relevant to business practices, including (1) promotion of research on EBM (evidence-based management), (2) publishing useful management accounting textbooks to guide business practices, and (3) executing joint research with managers. He strongly suggests reading Tourish (2019) (Management Studies in Crisis: Fraud, Deception and Meaningless Research, Cambridge University Press).

Interactive Dialogue and Q&A (10 minutes): Moderated by Dr. Susumu Ueno

Dr. Ueno will lead a structured dialogue among the panelists and audience, inviting participants to reflect on how they might escape the “epistemic trap” of gap-spotting in their own research. The discussion will encourage practical brainstorming of alternative research designs, methodological pluralism, and new institutional incentives.
                                             
                                           Presenter and Panelist Biographies 

Key Presenter: Dr. Paul Scarbrough
Affiliation and Profile: Professor of Accounting, Brock University, Canada, and an Affiliated Professor at Linnaeus University (Sweden).

Research Focus: The historical and philosophical foundations of business practices, with a particular emphasis on the interplay between academic norms and practical relevance. His paper “Mind the Gap” provides the genealogical framework underpinning this session. His research examines how culture and production systems shape management control, cost reduction, and lean practices, with publications in the Journal of Business Research, Journal of Business Ethics, and the Asia-Pacific Management Accounting Journal. He has also co-authored two books on Japanese and integrated cost management. Recent projects include practice-theory studies of collaborative/lean contexts and sustainability in product development. He holds a Ph.D. in Accounting from Virginia Tech. Across appointments in Canada, the United States, Sweden, and Japan, Scarbrough has served as Department Chair and IT Director, and is a Board Director of Value Analysis Canada and Senior Director of the Asia-Pacific Management Accounting Association. He sits on several editorial boards and has delivered invited talks and keynotes for academic and practitioner audiences, including CPA Ontario and Value Analysis Canada. His collaborative work has been supported by public and industry partners, including a multi-year grant from Trafikverket (the Swedish Transport Administration). In 2023, he was named Beta Gamma Sigma Professor of the Year.

Panelist: Dr. Robert C. Rickards

Affiliation and Profile: Dr. Robert C. Rickards is a Research Professor at the German Police University, Münster, Germany, where he teaches research methods and statistics to doctoral students. He has worked in both the private sector as a controller and financial analyst at Ford Motor Company’s World Headquarters, and in the public sector as Director of Finance and Economic Development for the Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians. He has also served as a consultant for USAID and the World Bank in Poland and Ukraine. Dr. Rickards earned his Ph.D. from the University of Michigan and subsequently has taught at leading American and German universities. In recent years, he has held visiting professorships in Hungary, Italy, Japan, and Poland.

Research Focus: Dr. Rickards’s recent publications deal with ESG, performance information usage in public organizations, and the adoption of management accounting techniques and tools in developing economies. He has authored texts on budgeting, cost accounting, and performance information, as well as books on socio-medical controlling and modernization of municipal administration; twenty government-sponsored research reports; numerous articles in scholarly journals; and contributed chapters to two dozen edited books, including Management Accounting in China and Southeast Asia:  Empirical Studies on Current Practices. Dr. Rickards has long emphasized the need to bridge research and practice in institutional contexts. His insights highlight how gap-driven scholarship often fails to support real-world problem-solving.

Panelist: Dr. Yutaka Kato

Affiliation and Profile: Professor,  Graduate School of Business, Nagoya University of Commerce and Business, Japan;  Emeritus Professor, Kobe University, Japan

Research Focus: Management accounting, with a particular emphasis on integrating accounting practices into business systems to inform long-term profitability and corporate performance. His research exemplifies relevance-driven inquiry. He has conducted management accounting research on target costing, JIT production systems, and total quality management. His current research interests include management accounting education and collaboration between researchers and business people.

Session Coordinator: Dr. Susumu Ueno 

Affiliation and Profile: Professor Emeritus at Konan University, Japan, and Chairperson of the Asia-Pacific Management Accounting Association (APMAA). He served as the  Editor-in-Chief of The Journal of Management Accounting, Japan (2014–2017). 

Research Focus: Dr. Ueno’s research focuses on cross-cultural management and cost accounting, with a particular emphasis on comparing Japan and the U.S. He has authored, edited, and translated numerous works, including Budget Control Practices among U.S. and Japanese Companies: A Cross-Cultural Approach,  the Japanese textbook Management Accounting: The Quest for Value, and contributed to volumes such as Japanese Cost Management and The Routledge Handbook of Accounting in Asia. His articles appear in leading journals, and as a frequent lecturer, he offers insights on both traditional Japanese practices and contemporary issues like globalization and IT in management accounting.
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ABSTRACT
The objective of this study is to examine the impact of strategic management accounting techniques on MSME business decision-making in East Java, Indonesia. The specific techniques to be analyzed include costing, planning, control and performance measurement, strategic decision-making, competitor accounting, and customer accounting. This study uses a descriptive quantitative approach with a sample of 366 MSME actors/owners who have been operating for at least 1 year in East Java. Data were collected through questionnaires (January–April 2025) and analyzed using multiple linear regression. The findings of the study suggest that four variables exert a substantial influence: costing; planning, control, and performance measurement; competitor accounting; and customer accounting. Nevertheless, strategic decision-making is not a salient factor. The regression model has high predictive power (R²=0.960), explaining 96% of the variation in business decisions. The contribution of this study fills the research gap by mapping the relative influence of strategic management accounting techniques on MSMEs, which were previously mostly studied in large companies. The study also validates the inconsistency of findings related to customer accounting and integrates external variables (competitor & customer accounting) with internal ones in a comprehensive model. The novelty of the study lies in the combination of strategic decision-making with external variables in one model framework for the context of Indonesian MSMEs, which has never been done before. These findings provide practical recommendations for MSMEs and the government to improve the quality of business decisions through optimizing strategic management accounting techniques.

Keywords: Strategic Management Accounting, Competitor & Customer Accounting. Costing, Planning & Control, Business Decision Making 



1. INTRODUCTION
The proliferation of MSMEs in East Java Province, which has reached 1.5 million units, underscores the pivotal role of this sector in the regional economy, particularly in terms of job creation and its contribution to GRDP (Halim et al., 2024). Nevertheless, numerous MSME actors continue to encounter impediments in making strategic business decisions due to the paucity of accounting information and managerial capabilities (Trevisan & Mouritsen, 2023). The integration of cost, competitor, and customer data through strategic management accounting has been demonstrated to enhance the quality of decisions made by large companies. Several motivating elements have been suggested as motivations for firms to embrace strategic management accounting. These features include its capacity to evaluate competitive information, decision-making tools, management facilitation, and cost control across the product lifecycle. The major motivations for firms to embrace strategic management accounting include the progress of strategic management accounting through the use of artificial intelligence (AI) and big data analysis, as well as the enhancement of corporate performance (Trevisan & Mouritsen, 2023).
This study aligns with the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). The application of strategic management accounting (e.g., budgeting, SWOT analysis, performance measurement) has been demonstrated to improve the quality of business decisions. Consequently, MSMEs with a positive attitude toward strategic management accounting tend to utilize it in their business practices. The perception among MSMEs of support from business partners, MSME associations, or local governments for the implementation of strategic management accounting is a crucial factor in the adoption of this practice. When MSMEs possess a strong intention to utilize strategic management accounting, there is a tendency for them to integrate it into the business decision-making process, including aspects such as investment selection, cost efficiency, and marketing strategy.
The selection of East Java Province as the primary research location was predicated on the province's diverse MSME characteristics, encompassing the food, craft, and service sectors, in addition to substantial local government policy support. According to the East Java Provincial Government report (2025), MSMEs in this region contribute more than 60% of GRDP and employ millions of local workers. This diversity provides an ideal context for examining the role of strategic management accounting in various types of MSMEs, as well as more specific policy implications.
According to research (Bao et al., 2023; Chen et al., 2023; Hanif et al., 2023; Lyu et al., 2023; Sun, 2023), costing, planning, control, and performance measurement, strategic decision-making, competitor accounting, and customer accounting all have an impact on corporate decision making. (Bao et al., 2023) describes costing as part of a management accounting system enhanced by business intelligence, providing accurate information on product and operational costs. This helps managers set prices, identify areas for improvement, and design cost efficiencies. (Chen et al., 2023) linked performance planning and control with environmental accounting systems and strategic planning based on ecosystem data. In a managerial context, this system allows companies to evaluate performance based on long-term goals and the external environment. (Hanif et al., 2023) highlighted that environmental management accounting practices and green transformational leadership influence strategic decision-making. However, in the context of MSMEs, although important, this approach requires innovation and competency support which is often limited. (Lyu et al., 2023) explained that competitor accounting is described through an efficiency-based measurement and auditing approach. Providing a framework for assessing how organizations utilize resources compared to competitors. (Sun, 2023) highlighted the integration of management and financial accounting through big data analytics, including customer data management to assess long-term profitability and loyalty. However, there is a study gap from (Grover et al., 2023), which reveal opposing results that customer accounting does not effect company decision making. In addition, most previous studies have been conducted on large companies or certain sectors, so the context of MSMEs in Indonesia, especially in East Java, has not been mapped much. Furthermore, there has been no research comparing the relative role of each strategic management accounting technique in a comprehensive model in the local MSME environment.
The phenomenon of this study lies in its comprehensive examination of all six strategic management accounting techniques in East Java MSMEs, a feat that has not been previously accomplished. Additionally, it addresses the inconsistency in findings regarding customer accounting variables, offering a comprehensive and nuanced understanding of the subject. The contribution of this study is threefold: (1) it provides a comprehensive map of the relative influence of each strategic management accounting technique on MSME business decision making; (2) it offers policy recommendations for local governments and MSME actors in implementing strategic management accounting techniques; and (3) it addresses the empirical gap in the context of MSMEs in Indonesia. The novelty of this study lies in the application of strategic decision-making with external variables (competitor and customer accounting) in one model framework, which has never been combined in previous studies of Indonesian MSMEs. The purpose of this study is to look at the influence of several business decision-making elements on MSME operations in East Java Province. These aspects are costing procedures (X1), planning, control, and performance assessment (X2), strategic decision-making (X3), competition accounting (X4), and customer accounting (X5). The study will look at the simultaneous influence of these elements on MSME company decision-making processes (Y).

2. LITERATUR REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS DEVELOPMENT
Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) is a theory from psychology that has been used to study human action. According to research done on social psychology, an individual's intention to carry out a given behavior has proven to be very important in putting it into action (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). TRA posits that beliefs have the capacity to influence attitudes and social norms, thereby effecting a transformation in the form of behavioral desires, whether guided or simply occurring in an individual's behavior. This theory underscores the pivotal role of an individual's "intention" in determining the occurrence of a particular behavior (Ivens, 2023).
Strategic Management Accounting is a niche management accounting practice that aims to utilize accounting information to assist management in making long-term strategic decisions. Strategic management accounting therefore encompasses not only internal financial performance measurements, but also consideration of external drivers, e.g., competitors, customers, and industry trends. Strategic Management Accounting has a significant role to play, albeit it is not normally overtly practiced by the majority of MSMEs. Strategic Management Accounting provides data on current profits and costs, along with data on market trends, customer needs, and competitors' standing. This enables small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) to establish a direction for the business that is conducive to growth, instead of mere existence (Liu et al., 2023).
The costing discipline, also known as cost determination, has been established to be a central area of decision-making in the context of MSMEs (small and medium-scale enterprises). Costing practice aids MSMEs in determining the true cost of producing goods or services. As a result, MSMEs are able to set selling prices that cover costs and generate profit. By doing accurate costing, MSMEs are able to determine the profit margin per item. Costing forms the foundation for preparing realistic business plans and financial budgets. Costing is a method of determining what areas of production are characterized by wastefulness or inefficiency so that it becomes possible to implement decisions that are improvement-oriented (Peebles et al., 2023).
Planning refers to the activity of establishing business objectives and laying out the measures or strategies to be required in order to achieve them. Planning, as it is used in the business world, is concerned with the establishment of goals, or "targets," and with the subsequent establishment of the strategy and resources necessary to accomplish them. Formal implementation of a plan facilitates the setting of priorities on objectives, optimal allocation of resources, and reduction of risks to MSMEs. Control is the process of verifying, comparing actual performance with plans and taking corrective measures if there is any discrepancy. The objective of control is to ensure continued performance of business activities as per directions set. Wherever there is any discrepancy, e.g., high cost or unsold level of sales, MSMEs can implement corrective measures with timely action. Performance measurement can be defined as the process through which the degree of MSME achievement of goals in certain areas, such as finance, production, and marketing is measured (Chang et al., 2023).
Strategic decision-making can be defined as the process of making major decisions that have a direct impact on the future path and lifespan of a firm. Strategic decisions regarding the business's course, such as the selection of market, determination of the product, and determination of the place of business, have a massive influence on the future of the business. Strategic decisions that are made by MSMEs have been discovered to enhance their ability to adapt to changes in technology, competition, and the market. MSMEs typically have limited resources such as time, labor, and capital. Consequently, strategic decisions help to determine that these resources are directed to the most essential objectives. The strategic decisions taken have a great impact on how MSMEs position themselves. Such decisions involve the establishment of whether to compete on the basis of low prices, superior quality, or superior service (Rieg et al., 2023).
Competitor Accounting is the process of collecting, analyzing, and utilizing financial information and competitor strategy to inform business decision-making. SMEs can make decisions about pricing based on competitiveness by analyzing competitors' selling prices, production costs, and margins. SMEs can compete on price, add value, or compete in the premium segment. Competitor accounting discloses competitors' cost efficiency, products, promotions, and profitability. Competitor accounting assists SMEs in making the right decision concerning areas to improve, imitate, or eschew (Faccioli et al., 2023).
Customer Accounting is defined as the consolidation, analysis, and application of customer-related financial information, such as customer worth, customer expense, and customer profitability. By utilizing customer accounting, one is able to see the customers responsible for contributing significantly towards the SME's revenue generation and profitability. Customer accounting entails capturing the cost of acquiring a customer (Customer Acquisition Cost) and the worth of a customer in their lifetime (Customer Lifetime Value). For SMEs, retaining current customers would generally be cheaper than acquiring new ones since it is a low-cost strategy (Yang et al., 2023).

2.1 The Influence of Costing on MSME Business Decision Making
Costing helps identify the largest cost components in the production or operational process. With this information, MSME actors can decide to reduce waste, replace raw materials, or change work processes to be more efficient (Peebles et al., 2023). Research conducted by (Bigdeli Nalbandan et al., 2023; Jemine et al., 2023; Pashkevich et al., 2023; Zhai et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2023) states that Costing has a significant effect on business decision-making. Consequently, the following hypothesis is proposed by researchers in this study:
H1: Costing affects MSME business decision-making in East Java Province

2.2 The Influence of Planning, Control & Performance Measurement on MSME Business Decision Making
Planning helps business actors decide how to allocate funds, time, and labor to achieve targets. With a control system, MSMEs can evaluate whether activities are running according to target or deviating. MSMEs can set targets and assess who or what is responsible for good or bad performance (Chang et al., 2023). Research conducted by (Cheung, 2023; Ewing et al., 2023; Sandesh et al., 2023) states that Planning, control & performance measurement have a significant effect on business decision making. Consequently, the following hypothesis is proposed by researchers in this study:
H2: Planning, control & performance measurement have a significant effect on MSME business decision making in East Java Province

2.3 The Influence of Strategic Decision-Making on MSME Business Decision-Making
MSMEs, which usually have limited resources, need strategic decisions to prioritize investment in the most promising areas, rather than spreading them in many directions without results. Strategic decisions take into account long-term trends, changes in consumer behavior, or new threats. This makes MSMEs more adaptive to change rather than just reactive (Rieg et al., 2023). Research conducted by (Chang et al., 2023; Liu et al., 2023; Peebles et al., 2023; Rieg et al., 2023; Trevisan & Mouritsen, 2023) states that Strategic decision-making has a significant effect on business decision-making. Consequently, the following hypothesis is proposed by researchers in this study:
H3: Strategic decision-making has a significant effect on MSME business decision-making in East Java Province

2.4 The Influence of Competitor Accounting on MSME Business Decision Making
Competitor Accounting helps MSMEs make sharper, data-based decisions that are responsive to competitive dynamics. Without this, MSMEs are at risk of making inappropriate decisions and losing to more adaptive competitors (Faccioli et al., 2023). Research conducted by (Bao et al., 2023; Chen et al., 2023; Faccioli et al., 2023; Sun, 2023; Yang et al., 2023) states that Competitor Accounting has a significant influence on business decision making. Consequently, the following hypothesis is proposed by researchers in this study:
H4: Competitor Accounting has a significant influence on MSME business decision-making in East Java Province

2.5 The Influence of Customer Accounting on MSME Business Decision Making
Customer Accounting is an approach to measure, analyze, and evaluate the financial contribution of customers or customer segments to a business. With customer accounting data, MSMEs can find out which customers or segments provide the greatest profit so that marketing, service, and promotion decisions can be more focused on these segments (Yang et al., 2023). Research conducted by (Grover et al., 2023; Hanif et al., 2023; Ivens, 2023; Lyu et al., 2023; Safavi Nia et al., 2023) states that Customer Accounting has a significant effect on business decision making. Consequently, the following hypothesis is proposed by researchers in this study:
H5: Customer Accounting has a significant effect on MSME business decision-making in East Java Province
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3. METHODOLOGY
The population of this study was comprised of MSME Actors/Owners in East Java Province. The sample is comprised of MSMEs that have been in operation for a minimum of one year. The distribution of the questionnaire commenced in January 2025 and concluded in April 2025, with a total of 600 questionnaires disseminated. The results of the questionnaire distribution revealed that 366 samples met the research criteria.

Table 1. Questionnaire Distribution Results
	Information
	Response

	
	Frequency
	%

	Sent
	600
	100%

	Received
	423
	70.5%

	Un-appropriate respondent
	57
	9,5%

	Usable questionnaire
	366
	61%


Source: Data own research (2025)

Strategic management accounting is a field that utilizes a range of techniques, with a focus on the internal and external environment of the company. As stated in the research by (Cadez & Guilding, 2012), Costing (X1) can be measured using indicators such as Attribute Costing, Life-cycle Costing, Quality Costing, Target Costing, and Value Chain Costing. The planning, control, and performance measurement (X2) process can be evaluated using indicators, such as benchmarking, integration, and performance measurement. Strategic decision-making (X3) can be measured by indicators, namely Strategic Costing (strategic cost management), Strategic Pricing, and Brand Valuation. Competitor accounting (X4), which can be measured by indicators such as competitor cost assessment, competitive position monitoring, and competitor performance appraisal. Customer accounting (X5) is a field that lends itself to measurement through the use of indicators. Such indicators include customer profitability analysis, lifetime customer profitability analysis, and valuation of customers as assets. The process of business decision-making is measured by several factors, including customer orientation, revenue projections, customer behavior, customer loyalty, and strategic approach.
Multiple linear regression analysis is a methodological framework employed to assess the impact of two or more independent variables on a single dependent variable. The objective of this analysis is to ascertain whether there is a functional or causal relationship between the independent variables (X1, X2, X3, ..., Xn) and one dependent variable (Ghozali, 2021). This study uses multiple linear regression with SPSS 25 tools. The model used in this study is as follows:

Y=α +βX1​+βX2​+βX3+ βX4+ βX5+ϵ…………………………………………(1)


4. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION
4.1 Finding
[bookmark: _heading=h.cxpp8ic28lnx]As indicated by the findings presented in Table 2, it can be deduced that the MSME actors in East Java who are the subjects of the present study are at a stage of business growth. The majority of these actors have received secondary education and are of productive age. This finding indicates that these subjects are appropriate candidates for the study of the role of strategic management accounting in business decision making. However, the dearth of formal education can impede the effective application of strategic accounting concepts. Consequently, an educational approach or simplification of the concept is imperative to enhance its applicability to MSME actors.

Table 2. Respondent Characteristics
	Category
	Value
	Percentage (%)

	Age
	21 – 30 years
	38.2

	
	31 – 40 years
	47.6

	
	41 – 50 years
	14.2

	Gender
	Male
	54.3

	
	Female
	45.7

	Education
	High School
	62.8

	
	Bachelor
	37.2

	Length of Business
	1-3 Years
	20.6

	
	3-5 Years
	63.8

	
	>5 Years
	15.6

	Total
	100%


Source: Data own research (2025)

Descriptive Statistics 
The next step after assessing the research data is to process the descriptive statistical data for the research variables. The outcomes of processing the descriptive statistical data of the study variables are displayed in Table 3:


Table 3. Descriptive Statistics
	Variable
	N
	Min
	Max
	Mean
	Std.Dev

	Costing (X1)
	366
	69.00
	121.00
	100.3251
	10.04951

	Planning, control & performance measurement (X2)
	366
	27.00
	50.00
	39.8743
	4.91021

	Strategic decision-making (X3)
	366
	43.00
	72.00
	60.3033
	5.45601

	Competitor accounting (X4)
	366
	41.00
	72.00
	59.9727
	6.33315

	Customer accounting (X5)
	366
	41.00
	74.00
	60.1667
	6.42189

	Business Decision Making (Y)
	366
	26.00
	50.00
	39.8333
	4.59924


Source: Data own research (2025)	

As illustrated in Table 3, it can be deduced that the Costing Variable (X1) is the most salient aspect of the respondents' practices, yet also the most diverse. The mean average score for all management accounting variables (X1–X5) is relatively high, suggesting that MSMEs have effectively implemented these practices. The mean score for Business Decision Making (Y) is equivalent to the mean score for Planning & Control (X2). This finding suggests that the quality of business decision making can be further enhanced and may be influenced by variations in the application of each component of management accounting.

Validity and Reliability Test 
Validity and reliability testing involves the evaluation of questionnaire items to ascertain their validity and reliability.
		
Table 4. Validity and Reliability Test
	Variable
	Item
	Correlations
	Sig. (2-tailed)
	Cronbach's Alpha

	Costing (C) (X1)
	C1.1
	0.632
	0.000
	0.746

	
	C1.2
	0.738
	0.000
	

	
	C1.3
	0.435
	0.000
	

	
	C1.4
	0.550
	0.000
	

	
	C1.5
	0.567
	0.000
	

	
	C1.6
	0.544
	0.000
	

	
	C1.7
	0.632
	0.000
	

	
	C1.8
	0.586
	0.000
	

	
	C1.9
	0.721
	0.000
	

	
	C1.10
	0.654
	0.000
	

	
	C1.11
	0.594
	0.000
	

	
	C1.12
	0.580
	0.000
	

	
	C1.13
	0.653
	0.000
	

	
	C1.14
	0.690
	0.000
	

	
	C1.15
	0.483
	0.000
	

	
	C1.16
	0.657
	0.000
	

	
	C1.17
	0.380
	0.001
	

	
	C1.18
	0.353
	0.003
	

	
	C1.19
	0.640
	0.000
	

	
	C1.20
	0.529
	0.000
	

	
	C1.21
	0.535
	0.000
	

	
	C1.22
	0.634
	0.000
	

	
	C1.23
	0.698
	0.000
	

	
	C1.24
	0.468
	0.000
	

	
	C1.25
	0.325
	0.000
	

	Planning, control & performance measurement (PCP) (X2)
	PCP2.1
	0.605
	0.000
	0.759

	
	PCP2.2
	0.687
	0.000
	

	
	PCP2.3
	0.642
	0.000
	

	
	PCP2.4
	0.774
	0.000
	

	
	PCP2.5
	0.628
	0.000
	

	
	PCP2.6
	0.621
	0.000
	

	
	PCP2.7
	0.634
	0.000
	

	
	PCP 2.8
	0.697
	0.000
	

	
	PCP2.9
	0.702
	0.000
	

	
	PCP2.10
	0.562
	0.000
	

	Strategic decision-making (SDm) (X3)
	SDm3.1
	0.309
	0.000
	0.735

	
	SDm3.2
	0.322
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.3
	0.652
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.4
	0.556
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.5
	0.571
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.6
	0.588
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.7
	0.648
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.8
	0.425
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.9
	0.378
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.10
	0.675
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.11
	0.744
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.12
	0.524
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.13
	0.617
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.14
	0.593
	0.000
	

	
	SDm3.15
	0.545
	0.000
	

	Competitor accounting (CA) (X4)
	CA4.1
	0.555
	0.000
	0.745

	
	CA4.2
	0.632
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.3
	0.599
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.4
	0.777
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.5
	0.661
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.6
	0.628
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.7
	0.555
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.8
	0.660
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.9
	0.715
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.10
	0.463
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.11
	0.669
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.12
	0.338
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.13
	0.305
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.14
	0.647
	0.000
	

	
	CA4.15
	0.544
	0.000
	

	Customer accounting (CsA) (X5)
	CsA5.1
	0.576
	0.000
	0.750

	
	CsA5.2
	0.612
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.3
	0.666
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.4
	0.467
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.5
	0.341
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.6
	0.670
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.7
	0.750
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.8
	0.496
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.9
	0.613
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.10
	0.566
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.11
	0.585
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.12
	0.654
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.13
	0.634
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.14
	0.694
	0.000
	

	
	CsA5.15
	0.625
	0.000
	

	Business Decision Making (BDM) (Y)
	BDM1
	0.722
	0.000
	0.759

	
	BDM2
	0.785
	0.000
	

	
	BDM3
	0.531
	0.000
	

	
	BDM4
	0.633
	0.000
	

	
	BDM5
	0.567
	0.000
	

	
	BDM6
	0.609
	0.000
	

	
	BDM7
	0.637
	0.000
	

	
	BDM8
	0.647
	0.000
	

	
	BDM9
	0.715
	0.000
	

	
	BDM10
	0.615
	0.000
	


Source: Data own research (2025)

Pursuant to the findings of the validity and reliability tests (see Table 4), it has been demonstrated that the entirety of the research instrument items are statistically valid, exhibiting a correlation value greater than 0.30 and a significance of 0.000. While certain items exhibit correlations that approximate the minimum limit, they nevertheless satisfy the established criteria. The reliability test yielded Cronbach's Alpha values greater than 0.70 for all variables, thereby affirming the instrument's reliability and consistency in measuring the intended construct.
Classical Assumption Test

Table 5. Classical Assumption Test
	Variable
	Tolerance
	VIF
	Coefficient B
	Sig.

	Costing (X1)
	0.454
	2.200
	-0.074
	0.098

	Planning, control & performance measurement (X2)
	0.204
	4.934
	0.014
	0.751

	Strategic decision-making (X3)
	0.200
	4.943
	0.019
	0.620

	Competitor accounting (X4)
	0.144
	2.552
	0.065
	0.103

	Customer accounting (X5)
	0.176
	3.833
	0.023
	0.513

	Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test
	0.200
	
	
	


Source: Data own research (2025)

Pursuant to the findings enumerated in Table 5, an investigation was initiated to ascertain the viability of the regression model utilized. This inquiry involved the execution of a classical assumption test, a methodological procedure designed to evaluate the model's compatibility with the data set under consideration. The results of the multicollinearity test show that all independent variables have tolerance values larger than 0.10 and VIF values less than 10. This conclusion implies that multicollinearity is not an issue in this model because it meets the assumption of independent variables. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine normality, and the result was a significance level of 0.200 (>0.05). We may infer that the residual data is regularly distributed, implying that the regression model fulfills the normality condition.

Multiple Linear Regression Analysis
Multiple linear regression is used to assess if the connection between independent factors and dependent variables is positive or negative. The multiple linear regression analysis yielded the following results:

Table 6. Multiple Linear Regression Analysis Result
	Variabel
	Unstandardized Coefficients
	Standardized Coefficients
Beta
	t
	Sig.

	
	B
	Std. Error
	
	
	

	(Constant)
	1.500
	.571
	
	2.627
	.009

	Costing (X1)
	.597
	.071
	1.304
	8.366
	.000

	Planning, control & performance measurement (X2)
	.263
	.069
	.281
	3.824
	.000

	Strategic decision-making (X3)
	.029
	.063
	.035
	.470
	.639

	Competitor accounting (X4)
	.591
	.064
	.814
	9.292
	.000

	Customer accounting (X5)
	1.238
	.057
	1.728
	21.821
	.000

	R2
	0.960
	
	
	
	


Source: Data own research (2025)

Based on the results of multiple linear regression analysis, the variables Costing (X1), Planning, Control & Performance Measurement (X2), Competitor Accounting (X4), and Customer Accounting (X5) are proven to have a positive and significant effect on Business Decision Making (Y). On the other hand, the Strategic Decision-Making variable (X3) does not show a significant effect. The regression model formed has very good predictive power, with an R² value of 0.960, which means that 96% of changes in business decision making can be explained by this model.




5. DISCUSSION
5.1 The Influence of Costing on MSME Business Decision Making
The findings of the multiple regression analysis on the t-test on the first hypothesis (H1) reveal that costs influence MSME company decision making at a significant level of 0.000. The regression coefficient indicates a positive influence, which means that the more effective the costing, the more MSME business decision-making will rise (H1 is accepted). With proper costing, MSMEs can set competitive selling prices without losing money. Costing helps identify waste in the production process. MSMEs can compare actual costs and planned costs to evaluate operational efficiency. Costing data is useful for analyzing the feasibility of expansion, purchasing new equipment, or product development.
This finding is in line with the Theory of Reasoned Action (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975), where SMEs' belief in the benefits of accurate costing forms a positive attitude towards its use in the decision-making process. If SMEs believe that cost information provides a competitive advantage, then they will tend to adopt and maintain this technique in their business practices. From the results of research conducted by (Chang et al., 2023; Liu et al., 2023; Peebles et al., 2023; Rieg et al., 2023; Trevisan & Mouritsen, 2023), it is stated that costing affects MSME business decision making.

5.2 The Influence of Planning, Control & Performance Measurement on MSME Business Decision Making
The findings of the multiple regression analysis using the t-test on the second hypothesis (H2) reveal that planning, control, and performance assessment influence MSME company decision making at a significant level of 0.000. The regression coefficient indicates a positive effect, implying that the better the planning, control, and performance assessment, the greater the growth in MSME business decision making. Planning directs business decisions to clear goals. Control keeps the business on the right track. Performance Measurement provides an objective basis for assessing and improving business decisions. MSMEs in East Java that consistently apply these three aspects will be more adaptive, efficient, and have the potential to grow faster than those that do not.
Based on TRA theory, thorough planning, and performance control provide confidence to business actors that they have a clear and systematic direction, thus strengthening the intention and belief in making more measurable and accountable decisions. From the results of research conducted by (Bao et al., 2023; Chen et al., 2023; Faccioli et al., 2023; Sun, 2023; Yang et al., 2023), it is stated that control & performance measurement affect MSME business decision making.
5.3 The Influence of Strategic Decision-Making on MSME Business Decision-Making
The results of the multiple regression analysis on the t-test on the third hypothesis (H3) show that Strategic decision-making has no effect on MSME business decision making at a significance level of 0.639, implying that the better the Strategic decision-making, the less effect on MSME business decision making (H3 is rejected). Strategic Decision-Making does not have a major effect on MSME decision-making because the scale of the business is small, the focus is on survival, not strategic expansion, and the limitations of resources and managerial literacy. On the other hand, operational decision-making and tactical decision-making are much more dominant in influencing the direction of MSME business. 
Although the theory states that strategic decisions are very important for the long-term sustainability of a business, the results of the study show that strategic decision-making does not have a significant effect on MSME business decision-making (sig. 0.639). This can be explained by the characteristics of MSMEs that focus more on daily operational decisions than long-term strategies, due to limited resources and managerial literacy. In the context of the Theory of Reasoned Action, it can be concluded that the attitudes and subjective norms of MSME actors toward strategic decision-making are not strong enough to form a high intention to implement it. They may not see the direct benefits of strategic decisions, so they are not motivated to integrate them into their daily decision-making behavior. This study is contrary to research conducted by (Grover et al., 2023; Hanif et al., 2023; Ivens, 2023; Lyu et al., 2023; Safavi Nia et al., 2023) which states that Strategic decision-making has an effect on MSME business decision-making.

5.4 The Influence of Competitor Accounting on MSME Business Decision Making
Multiple regression analysis using the t-test on the fourth hypothesis (H4) reveals that competition accounting effects MSME company decision making at a significant level of 0.000. The regression coefficient indicates a positive impact, implying that the better the competitor accounting, the more MSME business decisions would be made (H4 is accepted). Competitor Accounting has a significant influence on MSME business decision-making. Providing market insight that helps in pricing strategies, innovation, promotion, and operations. If implemented properly, Competitor Accounting makes MSMEs more adaptive and competitive in local and national markets. However, training support and access to market information are important factors so that MSMEs can utilize Competitor Accounting optimally.
In the context of TRA, when MSMEs know that competitors are successful because they use accurate market information, subjective norms from the social environment encourage them to adopt competitors' accounting practices to maintain competitiveness. From the results of research conducted by (De Valck et al., 2023; Dembélé et al., 2023; Imjai et al., 2023; Juma’h & Li, 2023; Vardon et al., 2023), it is stated that competitor accounting influences MSME business decision making.

5.5 The Influence of Customer Accounting on MSME Business Decision Making
The findings of the multiple regression analysis on the t-test on the fifth hypothesis (H5) indicate that Customer Accounting effects MSME company decision making at a significant level of 0.000. The regression coefficient indicates a positive impact, implying that the better the Customer Accounting, the more MSME business decisions would be made (H5 accepted). Customer Accounting has a strong influence on MSME business decision-making. With customer accounting, MSMEs can focus more on customers who contribute the most to profits. This brings efficiency in marketing costs, increased customer loyalty, and more sustainable business growth. MSMEs that implement Customer Accounting will be better prepared to compete in an increasingly competitive market. 
This supports the TRA principle that belief in the benefits of customer accounting (e.g. in increasing customer loyalty and value) drives MSMEs’ ​​intentions and decisions to manage customer data more systematically and based on numbers. From the results of research conducted by (Bigdeli Nalbandan et al., 2023; Jemine et al., 2023; Pashkevich et al., 2023; Zhai et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2023), it is stated that Competitor accounting influences MSME business decision making.

6. CONCLUSION
This study found that strategic management accounting approaches, such as costing, planning, control, performance measurement, competition accounting, and customer accounting, had a significant impact on the decision-making processes of MSMEs in East Java. However, the results of the study indicated that strategic decision-making did not demonstrate a significant effect, presumably because MSMEs prioritize short-term operational decisions due to limited resources and survival priorities. The regression model that was constructed demonstrated remarkable predictive capabilities, with an R² value of 0.96, signifying that a substantial 96% of the observed variability in business decisions can be attributed to these variables.
This study's practical contribution is that MSMEs should maximize the use of Costing, Planning, Control and Performance measurement, Competitor accounting, and Customer accounting to improve the quality of decision making. The theoretical contribution of this study is twofold. First, it addresses the research gap by mapping the relative influence of strategic management accounting techniques on MSMEs. This is a significant contribution because the influence of management accounting techniques on MSMEs has been previously understudied, with the majority of research focusing on large companies. This study integrates external variables (competitor and customer accounting) with internal variables in one comprehensive model, thereby enriching the theoretical perspective in the field of strategic accounting. This study validates the inconsistency of previous findings related to customer accounting and provides a specific context for MSMEs in Indonesia.
The limitations of this study are as follows: the sample is limited to MSMEs in East Java; therefore, generalization to other regions must be done with caution. This study does not include other variables, such as cultural factors, access to technology, or levels of financial literacy that may affect the results. Further research is recommended, including the expansion of the geographical scope to other provinces in Indonesia to validate the findings. Additionally, a more in-depth investigation into the inhibiting factors for the implementation of strategic decision-making in MSMEs is advised. Furthermore, the role of technology, such as AI and big data, in improving the effectiveness of strategic management accounting in MSMEs should be explored. Further research could also include mediating variables such as financial literacy, digital capacity, or moderators such as government support, organizational culture, or environmental uncertainty that were not examined in this study.
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ABSTRACT
This study investigates the effects International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adoption on foreign investment in the Japanese equity market. Previous studies find that a positive relationship between IFRS adoption and foreign investment is either observed or becomes more pronounced when a country meets specific conditions, such as a strong regulatory environment or credible improvements in uniformity following IFRS adoption. This study provides evidence for Japan by re-examining the effects of voluntary IFRS adoption on the foreign shareholding ratio of Japanese companies for 2010-2023 by controlling for the impacts of reduced cross-shareholdings and increased share buybacks, which are likely to cancel out room for foreign shareholders. We employ the difference-in-differences (DID) approach to compare the set of voluntary IFRS adopters to non-adopters from 2010 to 2023. Our sample consists of 168 listed firms that applied IFRS to their financial statements by fiscal year 2022. We selected non-adopters using propensity score matching (PSM) to avoid potential endogeneity. Unlike the previous study that report no significant relationship in Japan, our approach shows an increase in foreign shareholder ratios after IFRS adoption when controlling for cross-shareholdings and share buybacks. This study contributes to the literature on the effects of IFRS adoption on foreign equity investment in two ways. First, it provides evidence that Japan, which underwent a governance system transition along with IFRS adoption. Second, the results indicate the importance of controlling for confounding factors in the context of multiple institutional changes. 

Keywords: IFRS; Foreign Shareholders; Cross-Shareholding; Share Buyback; Corporate Governance 

1. INTRODUCTION[footnoteRef:1] [1:  Abbreviations:
DID: difference-in-differences
EU: European Union
FY: fiscal year
IFRS: International Financial Reporting Standards
J-GAAP: Japanese Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
M&A: Mergers and acquisitions
R&D: Research and development] 

Since its mandatory adoption in the European Union (EU) in 2005, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) have been widely used in many countries. IFRS aims to enhance the comparability of firms’ financial statements in different countries and reduce international investors’ information acquisition and processing costs, thereby leading to more significant cross-border investments. In 2010, Japan allowed listed companies to adopt IFRS voluntarily. According to the Japan Exchange Group (2025a), 287 companies have adopted IFRS as of June 2025 and 8 made plans to do so. Although IFRS adopters account for less than 10% of all firms listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, their market capitalization accounts for approximately half that of all firms, suggesting that large companies tend to adopt IFRS. 
Cross-border capital investment consists of foreign direct investment (FDI) and foreign portfolio investments (FPI). Compared to FPI, FDI is a long-term investment often involving management control, and is influenced by factors, such as market conditions, resource availability, efficiency, strategic assets, and institutional infrastructure, including transparent governance and effective legal systems (Dunning, 1998, 2006). Because accounting standards are part of the institutional infrastructure, IFRS adoption is expected to promote both FDI and FPI by enhancing the comparability of financial statements across nations and reducing information asymmetry between local and foreign investors. This argument is supported theoretically by Easley and O’Hara (2004), who present a model demonstrating that detailed accounting information reduces a company’s cost of capital.
However, previous studies indicate that the quality of accounting information is determined not only by reporting standards, but also by market forces and institutional factors (Ball et al., 2000, 2003; Ball and Shivakumar, 2005; Leuz et al., 2003). Consistent with this perspective, several studies find that the positive relationship between IFRS adoption and foreign investment either exists or becomes more pronounced when a country meets specific conditions, such as a strong regulatory environment, significant pre-convergence differences in accounting systems, or credible improvements in uniformity following IFRS adoption (Chen et al., 2014; DeFond et al., 2011; Shima and Gordon, 2011).
Accordingly, single-country and regional studies yielded mixed results (DeFond et al., 2019; Hamberg et al., 2013; Hsu et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2019; Nnadi and Soobaroyen, 2015). While a positive relationship between IFRS adoption and foreign investment exists in Sweden and Taiwan (Hamberg et al., 2013; Hsu et al., 2015), a negative association exists in China and several African countries because of their weak institutional infrastructure (DeFond et al., 2019; Nnadi and Soobaroyen, 2015).
Japan is classified as a code-law (or civil-law) country (Ball et al., 2000; La Porta et al., 1998). Compared with common-law countries, code-law countries generally offer weaker legal protection to investors and less robust enforcement mechanisms. These characteristics suggest that Japan’s institutional infrastructure may not be sufficiently robust. Consistent with this perspective, Kim et al. (2019) report that the voluntary IFRS adoption did not significantly alter the foreign shareholder ratio in Japanese companies between 2010 and 2018. Furthermore, other studies find that voluntary IFRS adoption by 2018 led to an increase in discretionary accruals in Japan, indicating earnings management (Kim et al., 2024; Tohara, 2024). While some studies suggest that IFRS adopters in Japan experienced an increase in mergers and acquisitions (M&As) and intangible assets, these increases are attributed to firms taking advantage of the differences in goodwill amortization between IFRS and the Japanese Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (JGAAP) (Amano, 2020; Kashiwazaki et al., 2019).[footnoteRef:2] [2:  Kashiwazaki et al. (2019) find a higher goodwill ratio among IFRS adopters relative to JGAAP users, though they do not detect a significant increase in the goodwill ratio following the voluntary adoption of IFRS.] 

However, Kim et al. (2019) do not entirely rule out potential confounding factors that may influence shareholder composition. In particular, changes in corporate governance practices among Japanese companies since the mid-2010s could also explain why the foreign shareholder ratio remained relatively unchanged despite IFRS adoption. As is typical of code-law countries, Japan’s has a “stakeholder governance” corporate governance system, in contrast to the “shareholder governance system” prevalent in common-law countries. The stakeholder model is characterized by a reliance on debt financing, shareholding by domestically affiliated interests, and interconnected networks among firms, their trading partners, and main banks (Hoshi and Kashyap, 2001; Shleifer and Vishny, 1997).
[bookmark: _heading=h.qcxpczb979aw]However, following the collapse of the economic bubble in the 1990s, Japan made extensive efforts to reform its economy and business environment. These changes are evident in the decline in traditional cross-shareholdings[footnoteRef:3] and the rise in foreign shareholdings. Amid growing interest in corporate governance, capital efficiency, and the responsibilities of institutional investors, the Stewardship Code (SWC) and the Corporate Governance Code (CGC) were introduced in 2014 and 2015, respectively. As these codes called for institutional investors to take a more active role in monitoring their investee companies, opportunities increased for activist shareholders—who often advocated for share buybacks to boost dividends, divestiture of unprofitable businesses, or shifts in corporate strategy (Miyachi and Takeda, 2021). [3:  According to the Nomura Institute of Capital Markets Research, the cross-shareholder ratio declined from 30% in the early 1990s to 7.2% in March 2024. ] 

According to the Japan Exchange Group (2025b), the proportion of foreign shareholders increased from 4.7% in FY1990 to 30.2% in FY2013, remained at around 30% in the following decade, and reached 32.4% in FY2024. To explain the gradual pace of change over the past decade, recent research on Japanese corporate governance suggests that the reduction in cross-shareholding has contributed to an increase in share buybacks or has been offset by strategic value-enhancing inter-corporate holdings (Franks et al., 2023; Miyajima and Saito, 2023). Consequently, the shareholder ratio of corporations has not significantly declined, and the foreign shareholder ratio may not have increased.
Against this backdrop, this study re-examines the effects of voluntary IFRS adoption on the foreign shareholder ratio of Japanese companies by controlling for the impact of reduced cross-shareholdings and increased share buybacks, which are likely to leave no room for foreign shareholders. Unlike Kim et al. (2019), our analysis finds an increase in the foreign shareholder ratio after IFRS adoption when controlling for cross-shareholdings and share buybacks. 
[bookmark: _heading=h.ayosvitg2yiu]This study contributes to the literature on the effects of IFRS adoption on foreign equity investment in two ways. First, it provides evidence from Japan, which underwent a governance system transition concurrent with its adoption of IFRS. Second, this study demonstrates the importance of controlling confounding factors in the context of multiple institutional changes. We believe that the findings will be valuable to international investors considering investing in countries such as Japan, a non-Western nation with robust legal enforcement. Our findings are also useful for firms considering IFRS adoption and anticipating changes in their shareholder composition.
The remainder of this article is organized as follows. Section 2 provides a literature review and develops the hypothesis. Section 3 outlines the methodology and data. Section 4 presents the empirical results. Finally, we give our concluding remarks in Section 5.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS
2.1 The Impact of the Adoption of Non-Local Accounting Standards
IFRS adoption is expected to improve the comparability of firms’ financial statements across countries, reduce costs of information acquisition and processing for international investors, and facilitate cross-border investments. Easley and O’Hara (2004) provide theoretical support for this argument, presenting a model demonstrating that detailed accounting information reduces a company’s cost of capital. However, empirical studies provide mixed results, suggesting a positive relationship between IFRS adoption and foreign investment only when a country meets specific institutional conditions.
Prior to the introduction of the IFRS, several studies examine the impact of the voluntary adoption of International Accounting Standards (IAS) on foreign investment. Using data on more than 25,000 mutual funds worldwide between 1999 and 2002, Covrig et al. (2007) find that foreign mutual fund ownership is higher among voluntary IAS adopters. Additionally, other studies indicate that voluntary IAS adoption reduces information asymmetry by increasing analyst coverage, forecast accuracy, and share turnover, while decreasing bid-ask spreads (Ashbaugh and Pincus, 2001; Cuijpers and Buijink, 2005; Leus and Verrecchia, 2000).
Although IAS adoption is voluntary, many countries followed the European Union’s lead in 2005 by mandating IFRS adoption. Similar to previous studies on the impact of IAS adoption, several empirical studies using multi-country data report a positive correlation between IFRS adoption and foreign investment.[footnoteRef:4] For instance, using data on 73 countries between 2001 and 2006, Amiram (2012) finds that foreign equity portfolio investments increase in countries that adopt IFRS. Mita et al. (2018) also show that foreign investor ownership of firms in 18 countries is positively associated with IFRS adoption for 2003–2012 through the mechanism of higher financial statement comparability.  [4:  Appendix A provides a summary of studies examining the relationship between IFRS adoption and foreign investment. ] 

However, other studies report that reporting standards alone do not determine accounting information quality, but rather market forces and institutional factors also have an effect (Ball et al., 2000, 2003; Ball and Shivakumar, 2005; Leuz et al., 2003). Consistent with this view, several studies find that this positive relationship strengthens when a country meets specific conditions. For instance, based on data from 44 countries between 2003 and 2006, Shima and Gordon (2011) show that US investments in foreign equities are positively associated with IFRS only when the country has a strong regulatory environment. Using data on firms in 14 EU countries for 2003–2007, DeFond et al. (2011) find that foreign mutual fund ownership increases in countries with credible increases in uniformity following IFRS adoption.[footnoteRef:5] Chen et al. (2014) also report that IFRS conformity facilitated FDI flows in 30 OECD countries between 2000 and 2005. [5:  Simultaneously, DeFond et al. (2012) report that foreign investment in US companies declines relative to foreign investment in EU mandatory IFRS adopters.] 


2.2 Single-Country/Region Studies on the Impact of IFRS Adoption
Consistent with the view that a robust institutional infrastructure strengthens the positive relationship between IFRS adoption and foreign investment, existing single-country and regional studies have yielded mixed results. Hamberg et al. (2013) focus on Sweden and report a positive correlation between IFRS adoption and foreign ownership for 2001–2007. Using data on Taiwanese firms, Hsu et al. (2015) report that foreign investors increased their shareholdings following the adoption of IAS-27. However, studies using other datasets have not identified this relationship. Nnadi and Soobaroyen (2015) find that full IFRS adoption is negatively associated with net FDI in 34 African countries. DeFond et al. (2019) document that foreign institutional investment did not increase after China adopted the IFRS for 2005–2008. Based on the evidence that foreign institutional investment declines among firms with weaker incentives to credibly implement IFRS or a greater ability to manipulate IFRS fair value provisions, they conclude that China fails to attract foreign investors because its weak institutional infrastructure does not improve financial reporting quality.
Institutionally, Japan is classified as a code law (or civil law) country (Ball et al., 2000; La Porta et al., 1998). Compared with common law countries, code law countries generally offer weaker legal protection to investors and less robust enforcement mechanisms. These characteristics suggest that Japan’s institutional infrastructure is not sufficiently robust. Consistent with this view, Kim et al. (2019) report that the voluntary adoption of IFRS neither significantly changed analyst coverage nor the foreign shareholders’ ratio of Japanese companies during 2010–2018 but significantly decreased their cross-shareholder ratio. Their results indicate that voluntary IFRS adopters reduce barriers to dialogue with investors, but fail to improve the information environment, resulting in unchanged foreign shareholder ratios in Japan.
Other studies have shown that Japan’s institutional infrastructure may not be sufficiently strong. Kim et al. (2024) and Tohara (2024) find that voluntary IFRS adoption increased discretionary accruals in Japan by 2018, indicating earnings management. In addition, Kashiwazaki et al. (2019) and Amano (2020) discover a change in IFRS adopters’ real actions by taking advantage of the difference in goodwill amortization between IFRS and JGAAP. Kashiwazaki et al. (2019) show that IFRS adopters experience a larger increase in the number of mergers and acquisitions (M&A), which consist mainly of domestic firms’ purchases of domestic firms. Similarly, Amano (2020) reports that voluntary IFRS adopters tend to increase their intangible assets. 

2.3 Hypothesis Development
While previous research on the impact of IFRS adoption in Japan does not find a positive correlation between IFRS adoption and foreign investment, it does not entirely rule out potential confounding factors that might influence shareholder composition. Specifically, these studies do not account for changes in corporate governance in Japanese companies that have undergone significant transformations since the mid-2010s. This could explain why the foreign shareholder ratio remained relatively unchanged despite IFRS adoption. Recent studies on Japanese corporate governance provide evidence that the reduction in cross-shareholding, accelerated by the Stewardship Code of 2014 and the Corporate Governance Code of 2015, leads to an increase in share buybacks or is replaced by strategic value-enhancing inter-corporate holdings (Franks et al., 2023; Miyajima and Saito, 2023). Therefore, the shareholder ratio of corporations does not decrease significantly, and the foreign shareholder ratio may not increase. 
Against this backdrop, this study reexamines the effects of voluntary IFRS adoption on the foreign shareholder ratio of Japanese companies by controlling for the impact of reduced cross-shareholdings and increased share buybacks, which are likely to cancel out room for foreign shareholders. Our hypotheses are as follows:
Hypothesis: The voluntary adoption of IFRS increases the foreign shareholders’ ratio in Japanese listed companies after controlling for share buybacks and cross-shareholdings.

3. METHODOLOGY AND DATA
To investigate the impact of voluntary IFRS adoption on the foreign shareholder ratio of Japanese listed companies, we employ the difference-in-differences (DID) approach (Roberts and Whited, 2013), which uses simple panel data methods applied to sets of voluntary IFRS adopters and non-adopters for 2010–2023, the period after voluntary IFRS adoption was allowed in Japan. Our sample consists of 168 listed firms that report financial statements based on the IFRS by fiscal year 2022. The list of firms that have adopted IFRS can be retrieved from the Japan Exchange Group website.[footnoteRef:6] Non-adopters were selected using propensity score matching (Rosenbaum and Rubin, 1983) to avoid potential endogeneity problems. Following previous studies on the factors affecting voluntary IFRS adoption by Japanese companies, we estimate the following probit model (Kim et al., 2019; Sato and Takeda, 2017): [6:  The list of IFRS-adopting firms is available at: https://www.jpx.co.jp/equities/improvements/ifrs/02.html (in Japanese).] 


…………………………(1)
The definitions of the variables and data sources are summarized in Appendix B. 
The dependent variable, IFRS, is an indicator variable for voluntary adoption of IFRS between 2010 and 2023. FOREIGN HELD is the ratio of foreign shareholders to the total number of foreign shareholders.[footnoteRef:7] Based on our hypothesis, we expected positive coefficients for this variable. GW is the goodwill ratio of the total assets. Previous research indicates that goodwill accounting is a key distinction between the IFRS and JGAAP. Studies suggest that firms involved in M&A adopt IFRS to leverage these accounting differences, resulting in a positive association between IFRS adoption and goodwill ratio (Kashiwazaki et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019).  [7:  We can measure the foreign shareholder ratio: the number of shares owned by investors or the number of shareholders. Eq. (1) and Kim et al. (2019) employ the former measurement because institutional investors tend to trade larger amounts of shares than individual investors, and thus the number of shares is better to capture the impact of changes in shareholder composition. The latter measurement is also employed as a robustness check.] 

RD is the ratio of research and development (R&D) expenditure to sales. Unlike JGAAP, IFRS permit the capitalization of a portion of development costs. Studies find that companies actively involved in R&D are more likely to adopt IFRS to benefit from these accounting differences, leading to a positive correlation between IFRS adoption and the R&D ratio (Kashiwazaki et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019).
CROSS is the cross-shareholder ratio. Because a decrease in cross-shareholdings creates room for foreign investors, we expect negative coefficients for this variable (Kim et al., 2019). FOREIGN SALES is the ratio of foreign sales to total sales. Firms with a high foreign sales ratio are likely to adopt IFRS to reduce the transaction costs arising from different accounting standards. Following Kim et al. (2019), we expected positive coefficients for this variable. 
The remaining firm characteristics are as follows: SIZE (the natural logarithm of total assets in the previous fiscal year), ROA (return on assets, BTM (book-to-market ratio), CLOSELY HELD (minority shareholder ratio), DEBT (net debt-equity ratio), and AGE (natural logarithm of the number of years in business plus one). Previous studies using Japanese data show positive coefficients for SIZE, ROA, and CLOSELY HELD and negative coefficients for AGE, BTM, and DEBT (Kashiwazaki et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019; Sato and Takeda, 2017). 
Large firms (large SIZE) are generally considered to be more capable of allocating sufficient resources to prepare for changes in accounting standards than small firms; accordingly, they are more likely to adopt IFRS.[footnoteRef:8] Firms with high ROA tend to operate profitably, whereas those with high BTM ratios often exhibit strong growth potential. Such firms may have greater incentives to adopt the IFRS to facilitate access to external financing. The higher the concentration of share ownership among major shareholders and executives (large CLOSELY HELD), the lower the need for information disclosure to investors, and the more likely they will not adopt an aggressive disclosure strategy. Firms with large DEBT are unlikely to adopt IFRS because banks can obtain the necessary information from companies through private conversations. Firms with long histories (large AGE) are likely to have more complex operations and, therefore, may be less inclined to adopt IFRS.  [8:  This prediction also aligns with the findings of Tarca (2004), and Kim and Shi (2012).] 

IRD1 and IRD2 are macroeconomic variables related to interest rate parity in international finance, which affects cross-border financial transactions.[footnoteRef:9] IRD1 and IRD2 capture the differences in interest rates between the US and Japan. IRD1 is the difference between the US federal fund rates and Japanese uncollateralized overnight call rates, whereas IRD2 is the difference in yields on three-month treasury bills in both countries. In accordance with the interest rate parity, which indicates capital flows from countries with low interest rates to those with high interest rates, we expect negative coefficients for these variables. [9:  Including macroeconomic variables is also useful for controlling for cyclical factors.] 

INDUSTRY is a dummy variable that equals zero for food companies and one for the other 25 industries: textile products, chemicals, drugs, petroleum, rubber products, stone, clay and glass products, iron and steel, non-ferrous metal and metal products, machinery, electric and electronic equipment, shipbuilding and repair, motor vehicles and auto parts, precision equipment, other manufacturing, fish and marine products, construction, wholesale trade, retail trade, credit and leasing, real estate, land transportation, air transportation, communication service, utilities – electric, and services.
To perform the DID analysis, we select matched non-adopters based on one-to-one matching using the estimation results of the probit model for years of voluntary IFRS adoption. The estimated probit model is similar to probit model (1) but excludes INDUSTRY and macroeconomic variables (IRD1, IRD2).
We then estimate the following panel data model using ordinary least squares estimation for IFRS adopters and matched non-adopters for 2010–2023.

             
(2)

Most variables are the same as those in probit model (1). The new variable POST is a dummy variable representing voluntary IFRS adoption. Based on our hypothesis, we expect positive coefficients for the interaction term,. 
BUYBACK is the ratio of the treasury stock to the total number of outstanding shares. We expect negative coefficients for BUYBACK and CROSS because an increase in share buybacks and cross-shareholdings reduces room for foreign shareholders. ERD1 and ERD2 capture exchange rate movements. ERD1 is the natural logarithm of the yen-dollar exchange rate and ERD2 is the year-on-year rate of change in the yen-dollar exchange rate. Based on interest rate parity, which indicates capital flows from countries with weak currencies to those with strong currencies, we expect negative coefficients for IRD1, IRD2, ERD1, and ERD2.  
As a robustness check, we replace with an alternative variable related to the foreign shareholder ratio, , which is measured by the number of shareholders.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
4.1 Determinants of IFRS Adoption
Table 1 summarizes the basic statistics used in the probit model (1). Panel A presents the descriptive statistics and Panel B provides the correlation coefficient matrix. According to Panel B, for both the Pearson’s product-moment correlation coefficient and Spearman’s rank correlation coefficient, IFRS is positively correlated with FOREIGN HELD, GW, RD, FOREIGN SALES, SIZE, ROA, and DEBT at the 1% significance level and negatively correlated with CROSS, CLOSELY HELD, and BTM at the 1% significance level. The coefficients of AGE are mixed. The macroeconomic variables (IRD1 and IRD2) are not significant. These results are consistent with our prediction for the probit model (1) and those of previous studies (Kashiwazaki et al., 2019; Sato and Takeda, 2017) except for CLOSELY HELD, AGE, DEBT, IRD1 and IRD2. 
(Table 1)
Table 2 reports the estimation results of probit model (1) for all listed Japanese firms for the period 2010–2023. The results show a heteroskedasticity-robust estimator based on the results of the White and Brochu-Pagan tests. For all models, the signs of the coefficients are the same as expected, except for DEBT that has insignificant coefficients. 
(Table 2)
Table 3 provides the basic statistics used for the DID analysis. Panel A presents the descriptive statistics for IFRS adopters and their matched non-adopters, based on propensity score matching. Panel B presents the results of the balancing tests after matching. Except for RD, the means of all variables do not differ significantly between IFRS adopters and non-adopters. Panel C presents the correlation coefficient matrix. For both Pearson’s product-moment correlation coefficient and Spearman’s rank correlation coefficient, FOREIGN HELD is positively associated with POST at the 1% significance level, while it is not significantly associated with IFRS.  The signs of the coefficients are mixed for CROSS and BUYBACKS between Pearson’s and Spearman’s. Panel D presents the industry distribution of the voluntary IFRS adopters included in the analysis.
(Table 3)
Table 4 presents the results of the univariate DID analysis of the four foreign shareholder-related variables of IFRS adopters and their matched non-adopters between Pre-IFRS and Post-IFRS. Pre-IFRS indicates the period before IFRS adoption, whereas Post-IFRS indicates the period after adoption. Panels A and B correspond to the results of and . 
(Table 4)
Before voluntary IFRS adoption, Panel A shows that the foreign shareholder ratio () is not significantly different between IFRS adopters and non-adopters in Pre-IFRS period. Panel B shows that the number of foreign shareholders () is significantly higher among non-adopters than among IFRS adopters. After voluntary IFRS adoption, Panels A and B show that both IFRS adopters and non-adopters significantly increase foreign shareholder ratios ()  and the number of foreign shareholders (). In Post-IFRS period, while the number of foreign shareholders () is still larger for non-adopters, the foreign shareholders’ ratio () also becomes larger for non-adopters. Thus, the univariate analysis does not indicate that IFRS adoption increases foreign investment. 

4.2 Factors Affecting the Foreign Shareholder Ratio
Table 5 presents the estimation results of multivariate regression model (2). As a robustness check, we replace the dependent variable in Panel A with an alternative variable related to the foreign shareholder ratio,   in Panel B. The results show a heteroskedasticity-robust estimator based on the results of the White and Brochu-Pagan tests. 
(Table 5)
In Panel A, the IFRS dummy variable has significantly negative coefficients in all models, whereas POST has significantly positive coefficients at the 5% level in all models except Model [5]. Our target interaction term, , has significantly positive coefficients at the 1% level for all models. These results are consistent with our hypothesis. In other words, voluntary IFRS adoption increases foreign shareholder ratios in listed Japanese companies. These results are consistent with our hypothesis. Regarding the variables related to corporate governance transition, in all the models, BUYBACK has significantly negative coefficients at the 1% level, whereas CROSS does not have significant coefficients. These results indicate that the room for foreign shareholders is reduced by share buybacks but is not affected by the decline in cross-shareholdings. These results are consistent with Miyajima and Saito’s (2023) claim that firms conduct share buybacks using the money created by reducing cross-shareholdings. Panel B provides similar results to Panel A, showing positive coefficients for POST and the interaction () and negative coefficients for BUYBACK. 
As a robustness check, we estimate the multivariate regression model (2) using winsorized variables. The results are presented in Table 6, which is based on ordinary least squares estimation and shows a heteroscedasticity-robust estimator based on the results of the White and Brochu-Pagan tests. All continuous variables are winsorized at the 1st/99th percentiles to mitigate the influence of outliers. These results are similar to those shown in Panel A of Table 5. For all models, the coefficients on IFRS are significantly negative at the 10% level; POST has significantly positive coefficients at the 5% level, except for Model [5]; the interaction term, , and BUYBACK have significantly positive coefficients at the 1% level; and coefficients on CROSS are statistically insignificant.
(Table 6)
Overall, our analysis is consistent with the hypothesis that the foreign shareholder ratio of listed Japanese companies increases significantly after voluntary IFRS adoption when controlling for cross-shareholdings and share buybacks. These results are inconsistent with those reported by Kim et al. (2019). This study contributes to the literature in two ways. First, we combine recent findings on Japanese corporate governance with a survey of the effects of IFRS adoption by explicitly including cross-shareholdings and share buybacks. Second, we provide evidence that differs from the findings of a previous study that shows a positive correlation between IFRS adoption and the foreign shareholder ratio in Japan.

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS
[bookmark: _heading=h.k9k3gmr3ufr8]This study examines the effect of voluntary IFRS adoption on the foreign shareholder ratio of listed Japanese companies for the period 2010–2023. Unlike the previous study that failed to find a significant relationship, our DID analysis finds an increase in the foreign shareholder ratio after IFRS adoption when controlling for cross-shareholdings and share buybacks, which are likely to cancel out room for foreign shareholders. Our findings suggest that controlling confounding factors is important when multiple institutional changes occur.  This study contributes to literature on the effects of IFRS adoption on foreign equity investment in two ways. First, it provides evidence that Japan has undergone a governance system transition concurrent with its adoption. Second, this study demonstrates the importance of controlling confounding factors when multiple institutional changes are ongoing. We believe that the findings of this study are valuable not only to international investors considering investments in countries such as Japan but also to firms contemplating IFRS adoption and anticipating changes in shareholder composition.
[bookmark: _heading=h.9csn73onifhi]Although this study contributes to the literature on the effects of IFRS adoption by providing evidence from the Japanese context, we acknowledge its limitations. Following Kim et al. (2019), we employ a panel data model to conduct a DID analysis. A panel data model is useful for increasing the sample size. However, the periods before and after IFRS adoption differ across sample firms. Instead, DeFond et al. (2011, 2012) compare changes in the variables three years before and after IFRS adoption. Unlike Europe, the number of IFRS adopters in Japan is not large. As the number of IFRS adopters increases in the future, however, a research design similar to that of DeFond et al. (2011, 2012) could be utilized. Another promising direction for future research is the integration of behavioral finance factors—such as trust and political risk aversion—which may influence the dynamics between corporate governance and foreign investment.
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Table 1: Basic statistics and correlation coeﬃcient matrix before matching
Panel A: Descriptive statistics of main variables
	
	Mean
	Std
	Min
	25%
	50%
	75%
	Max

	IFRS
	0.0750
	0.2634
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0000
	1.0000

	FOREIGN HELD
	0.1109
	0.1241
	0.0000
	0.0142
	0.0649
	0.1725
	1.0000

	GW
	0.0142
	0.0442
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0064
	0.8060

	RD
	0.0438
	1.2858
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0028
	0.0190
	122.50

	CROSS
	0.0706
	0.0900
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0350
	0.1115
	0.6660

	FOREIGN SALES
	0.1553
	0.2382
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.2662
	1.0000

	SIZE
	10.669
	1.7590
	3.8501
	9.4966
	10.532
	11.688
	19.512

	ROA
	0.0312
	0.0882
	-2.2252
	0.0122
	0.0308
	0.0559
	5.8562

	CLOSELY HELD 
	0.5362
	0.1561
	0.0100
	0.4190
	0.5300
	0.6550
	1.0000

	DEBT 
	0.1959
	0.1848
	0.0000
	0.0368
	0.1529
	0.3099
	7.6556

	AGE
	3.8353
	0.6759
	0.7308
	3.5391
	4.0768
	4.2819
	4.9553

	BTM 
	1.1864
	0.7990
	0.0027
	0.5973
	1.0342
	1.5907
	9.8512

	IRD1
	0.5311
	0.7485
	-0.0114
	0.0554
	0.095
	0.6981
	3.1295

	IRD2
	0.5934
	0.8276
	-0.0900
	0.022
	0.135
	0.9250
	3.9110



Panel B: Correlation coeﬃcient matrix
	
	IFRS
	FOREIGN HELD
	GW
	RD
	CROSS
	FOREIGN SALES
	SIZE
	ROA
	CLOSELY HELD
	DEBT
	AGE
	BTM
	IRD1
	IRD2

	IFRS
	
	0.269***
	0.283***
	0.141***
	-0.056***
	0.198***
	0.276***
	0.070***
	-0.069***
	0.037***
	0.016***
	-0.158***
	0.001
	0.002

	FOREIGN HELD
	0.298***
	
	0.201***
	0.242***
	0.036***
	0.346***
	0.630***
	0.264***
	-0.269***
	-0.141***
	0.129***
	-0.203***
	0.114***
	0.138***

	GW
	0.325***
	0.129***
	
	-0.052***
	-0.153***
	0.039***
	0.137***
	0.080***
	-0.004
	0.089***
	-0.170***
	-0.257***
	0.035***
	0.037***

	RD
	0.024***
	0.001
	-0.005
	
	0.181***
	0.556***
	0.206***
	0.039***
	-0.246***
	-0.160***
	0.286***
	0.036***
	-0.019***
	-0.019***

	CROSS
	-0.067***
	-0.052***
	-0.130***
	-0.017***
	
	0.134***
	0.338***
	-0.098***
	-0.347***
	-0.008
	0.562***
	0.373***
	0.047***
	0.022***

	FOREIGN SALES
	0.227***
	0.356***
	0.034***
	0.006
	0.047***
	
	0.297***
	0.037***
	-0.224***
	-0.022***
	0.277***
	0.028***
	0.017***
	0.027***

	SIZE
	0.325***
	0.567***
	0.033***
	-0.023***
	0.220***
	0.295***
	
	0.004
	-0.336***
	0.095***
	0.411***
	0.105***
	0.006
	0.019***

	ROA
	0.041***
	0.133***
	0.013**
	-0.126***
	-0.018***
	0.012**
	0.057***
	
	0.128***
	-0.331***
	-0.124***
	-0.348***
	0.109***
	0.133***

	CLOSELY HELD 
	-0.066***
	-0.207***
	0.012**
	-0.029***
	-0.263***
	-0.193***
	-0.333***
	0.121***
	
	-0.091***
	-0.355***
	-0.079***
	0.010**
	0.002

	DEBT 
	0.020***
	-0.103***
	0.077***
	0.035***
	-0.049***
	-0.042***
	0.093***
	-0.181***
	-0.050***
	
	0.018***
	-0.022***
	-0.031***
	-0.035***

	AGE
	-0.016***
	0.059***
	-0.210***
	-0.038***
	0.419***
	0.199***
	0.337***
	-0.029***
	-0.278***
	-0.060***
	
	0.352***
	0.024***
	0.040***

	BTM
	-0.144***
	-0.225***
	-0.187***
	-0.026***
	0.269***
	-0.025***
	0.047***
	-0.125***
	-0.058***
	-0.065***
	0.292***
	
	-0.122***
	-0.147***

	IRD1
	-0.000
	0.063***
	0.042***
	0.003
	0.020***
	0.009*
	-0.006
	0.037***
	0.005
	-0.027***
	-0.016***
	-0.116***
	
	0.940***

	IRD2
	0.000
	0.069***
	0.044***
	0.005
	0.020***
	0.013**
	-0.003
	0.043***
	0.008
	-0.028***
	-0.013**
	-0.129***
	0.989***
	


Note: The correlation coefficient matrix provides Pearson’s product-moment correlation coefficient in the lower left and Spearman’s rank correlation coefficient in the upper right relative to the diagonal components. ***, **,  and ** indicate statistical significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% levels, respectively.

Table 2: Factors associated with IFRS adoption
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　

	Dependent variable=IFRS
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　

	 　 Probit model
	[1]
	　
	　
	[2]
	　
	　
	[3]
	　
	　
	[4]
	　

	FOREIGN HELD
	
	
	
	
	
	
	0.2448
	**
	
	0.2488
	**

	　
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.035)
	
	
	(0.032)
	

	GW
	6.6831
	***
	
	6.6908
	***
	
	6.6698
	***
	
	6.6774
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	RD
	0.0198
	***
	
	0.0200
	***
	
	0.0194
	***
	
	0.0195
	***

	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	CROSS
	-1.6888
	***
	
	-1.6812
	***
	
	-1.6290
	***
	
	-1.6202
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	FOREIGN SALES
	0.6907
	***
	
	0.6952
	***
	
	0.6678
	***
	
	0.6720
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	SIZE
	0.4059
	***
	
	0.4063
	***
	
	0.3959
	***
	
	0.3960
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	ROA
	0.3938
	**
	
	0.3943
	**
	
	0.3565
	*
	
	0.3567
	*

	
	(0.042)
	
	
	(0.041)
	
	
	(0.075)
	
	
	(0.075)
	

	BTM
	-0.4006
	***
	
	-0.4035
	***
	
	-0.3894
	***
	
	-0.3922
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	CLOSELY HELD
	0.4289
	***
	
	0.4352
	***
	
	0.4623
	***
	
	0.4692
	***

	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	DEBT
	-0.0216
	
	
	-0.0227
	
	
	0.0108
	
	
	0.0104
	

	　
	(0.774)
	
	
	(0.764)
	
	
	(0.888)
	
	
	(0.893)
	

	AGE
	-0.1666
	***
	
	-0.1667
	***
	
	-0.1657
	***
	
	-0.1657
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	IRD1
	-0.0833
	***
	
	
	
	
	-0.0845
	***
	
	
	

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	
	

	IRD2
	
	
	
	-0.0858
	***
	
	
	
	
	-0.0870
	***

	　
	
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	Intercept
	-5.2068
	***
	
	-5.2048
	***
	
	-5.1557
	***
	
	-5.1529
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	INDUSTRY
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	

	Observations
	35,473
	
	
	35,435
	
	
	35,473
	
	
	35,435
	

	Pseudo R2
	0.4039
	
	
	0.4042
	
	
	0.4041
	
	
	0.4043
	


Notes: The estimation results are based on the probit model and show a heteroscedasticity-robust estimator based on the results of the White and Brochu-Pagan tests. p-values are given in parentheses. *** and ** indicate statistical significance at the 1% and 5%, respectively.

Table 3: Basic statistics and correlation coeﬃcient matrix after matching
Panel A: Covariate balance after matching
	Variable

	Treatment
(a)
	Control
(b)
	Difference (a) – (b)
t-statistics (p-value)
	

	FOREIGN HELD
	0.2435
	0.2360
	0.0075
0.4721 (0.637)
	

	CROSS
	0.0494
	0.0496
	-0.0002
-0.0309 (0.975)
	

	  GW
	0.0488
	0.0523
	-0.0035
-0.4066 (0.685)
	

	  RD
	0.0353
	0.0196
	0.0157 ***
2.9407 (0.004)
	

	FOREIGN SALES
	0.3374
	0.3164
	0.0210
0.6367 (0.525)
	

	SIZE
	12.4515
	12.3552
	0.0963
0.4914 (0.623)
	

	ROA
	0.0552
	0.0471
	0.0081
0.7299 (0.466)
	

	  BTM
	0.7697
	0.7751
	-0.0054
-0.0881 (0.930)
	

	CLOSELY HElD
	0.5001
	0.5125
	-0.0124
-0.6899 (0.491)
	

	DEBT
	0.2158
	0.1853
	0.0305
1.5918 (0.112)
	

	AGE
	3.8186
	3.7615
	0.0571
0.6934 (0.489)
	


Note: This table reports the means of each covariate in the treatment and control groups after propensity score matching as well as the difference in means and corresponding p-values from Welch’s t-test. p-values are reported in parentheses. *** indicates statistical significance at the 1% level.

Panel B: Descriptive statistics of the main variables
	Variable
	Mean
	Std
	Min
	25%
	50%
	75%
	Max

	FOREIGN HELD
	0.2323
	0.1418
	0.0000
	0.124
	0.2251
	0.3258
	0.7808

	IFRS
	0.4940
	0.5000
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0000
	1.0000
	1.0000

	POST
	0.4476
	0.4973
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0000
	1.0000
	1.0000

	CROSS
	0.0512
	0.0677
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0230
	0.0798
	0.4520

	BUYBACK
	0.0321
	0.0455
	0.0000
	0.0021
	0.0149
	0.0464
	0.4386

	BTM
	0.8528
	0.5527
	0.0058
	0.4476
	0.7662
	1.1303
	4.9520

	IRD1
	0.5327
	0.7442
	-0.0114
	0.0554
	0.0955
	0.6981
	3.1295

	IRD2
	0.5974
	0.8224
	-0.0900
	0.0280
	0.1390
	0.9250
	3.9110

	ERD1
	0.0169
	0.0845
	-0.1963
	-0.0627
	0.0078
	0.0764
	0.3471

	ERD2 
	0.0207
	0.0881
	-0.1782
	-0.0608
	0.0078
	0.0794
	0.4149



Panel C: Correlation coeﬃcient matrix
	Variable
	FOREIGN HELD
	IFRS
	POST
	CROSS
	BUYBACK
	BTM
	IRD1
	IRD2
	ERD1
	ERD2

	FOREIGN HELD
	
	0.021
	0.094***
	0.101***
	-0.013
	-0.169***
	0.058***
	0.080***
	0.031*
	0.031*

	IFRS
	0.014
	
	-0.010
	0.011
	0.028*
	-0.038**
	-0.004
	-0.004
	-0.008
	-0.008

	POST
	0.102***
	-0.010
	
	-0.072***
	0.017
	-0.050***
	0.503***
	0.550***
	0.085***
	0.085***

	CROSS
	-0.013
	0.039**
	-0.077***
	
	0.170***
	0.305***
	0.036**
	0.009
	-0.042***
	-0.042***

	BUYBACK
	-0.116***
	0.006
	-0.000
	0.072***
	
	0.093***
	0.003
	0.004
	0.017
	0.017

	BTM
	-0.193***
	-0.030*
	-0.003
	0.223***
	0.027*
	
	-0.106***
	-0.129***
	-0.029*
	-0.029*

	IRD1
	0.050***
	-0.008
	0.360***
	0.002
	-0.012
	-0.085***
	
	0.945***
	-0.237***
	-0.237***

	IRD2
	0.056***
	-0.008
	0.397***
	-0.000
	-0.012
	-0.095***
	0.989***
	
	-0.069***
	-0.069***

	ERD1
	0.023
	-0.006
	0.015
	-0.029*
	0.004
	-0.017
	-0.120***
	-0.100***
	
	1.000***

	ERD2 
	0.021
	-0.007
	0.003
	-0.028*
	0.004
	-0.019
	-0.128***
	-0.109***
	0.999***
	


Note: This correlation coefficient matrix provides the Pearson’s product-moment correlation coefficients in the lower left and Spearman’s rank correlation coefficients in the upper right relative to the diagonal components. ***, **, and * indicate statistical significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% levels, respectively.

Panel D: Distribution of voluntary IFRS adopters 
	Industry
	2010
	2011
	2012
	2013
	2014
	2015
	2016
	2017
	2018
	2019
	2020
	2021
	2022
	Total

	01_Foods
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	2
	3
	2
	1
	0
	9

	03_Textile Products
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	1

	07_Chemicals
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	2
	0
	1
	5
	1
	1
	1
	0
	11

	09_Drugs
	0
	0
	0
	1
	3
	1
	0
	1
	2
	0
	1
	0
	1
	10

	11_Petroleum
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1

	13_Rubber Products
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	2
	1
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	4

	15_Stone, Clay & Glass Products
	0
	0
	1
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	0
	3

	17_Iron & Steel
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	2
	0
	0
	1
	4

	19_Non ferrous Metal & Metal Products
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	2

	21_Machinery
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	2
	2
	2
	1
	4
	1
	3
	0
	15

	23_Electric & Electronic Equipment
	1
	0
	0
	1
	1
	4
	2
	2
	1
	4
	1
	0
	0
	17

	27_Motor Vehicles & Auto Parts
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	5
	4
	1
	2
	2
	1
	0
	0
	15

	31_Precision Equipment
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	2
	3
	0
	0
	0
	0
	7

	33_Other Manufacturing
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	2
	0
	0
	3

	41_Construction
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	1

	43_Wholesale Trade
	0
	0
	0
	1
	5
	1
	1
	2
	0
	1
	1
	1
	0
	13

	45_RetailTrade
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	3
	0
	0
	0
	0
	3

	52_Credit & Leasing
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	2
	0
	0
	1
	1
	0
	0
	0
	5

	53_Real Estate
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	2
	3

	57_Trucking
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1

	65_Communication Services
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1

	67_Utilities - Electric
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	0
	1
	0
	1

	71_Services
	0
	0
	0
	2
	0
	6
	6
	3
	6
	7
	1
	5
	2
	38

	　Total
	1
	1
	1
	8
	9
	25
	19
	19
	26
	27
	12
	14
	6
	168



Table 4: Univariate DID analysis
Panel A: DID Analysis: Foreign shareholders’ ratio (FOREIGN HELD)
	Sample

	Pre-IFRS
(a)
	Post-IFRS
(b)
	Difference
(b) – (a)
	

	IFRS adopters (i)
	0.2195
	0.2414
	0.0219 ***
	

	
	(n = 1,121)
	(n = 913)
	(0.001)
	

	Matched non-adopters (ii)
	0.2160
	0.2556
	0.0396 ***
	

	
	(n = 1,113)
	(n = 872)
	(0.000)
	

	(ii) – (i)
	-0.0035
	0.0142 **
	0.0177
	

	
	(0.528)
	(0.033)
	
	



Panel B: DID Analysis: Foreign shareholders’ numbers (FOREIGN HELD NUM)
	Sample

	Pre-IFRS
(a)
	Post-IFRS
(b)
	Difference
(b) – (a)
	

	IFRS adopters (i)
	11.2436
	11.7888
	0.5452 ***
	

	
	(n = 1,121)
	(n = 913)
	(0.000)
	

	Matched non-adopters (ii)
	11.4973
	12.5744
	1.0771 ***
	

	
	(n = 1,113)
	(n = 872)
	(0.000)
	

	(ii) – (i)
	0.2537 **
	0.7856 ***
	0.5319
	

	
	(0.026)
	(0.000)
	
	


Note: P-values for Welch’s t-test are in parentheses. *** and ** indicate statistical significance at the 1% and 5% levels, respectively.

Table 5: Panel data analysis: Foreign shareholders’ ratio estimates
Panel A: Factors associated with foreign shareholders’ ratio
	
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	
	　
	
	
	
	　
	　

	Dependent variable = FOREIGN HELD
	　
	　
	　
	　
	
	　
	
	
	
	　
	　

	OLS Regression
	[1]
	　
	　
	[2]
	　
	　
	[3]
	　
	
	　
	[4]
	
	
	[5]
	　

	IFRS 
	-0.0102
	*
	
	-0.0103
	*
	
	-0.0104
	*
	
	
	-0.0104
	*
	
	-0.0099
	*

	
	(0.080)
	
	
	(0.078)
	
	
	(0.074)
	
	
	
	(0.075)
	
	
	(0.088)
	

	POST
	0.0143
	**
	
	0.0140
	**
	
	0.0134
	**
	
	
	0.0135
	**
	
	0.0069
	

	　
	(0.023)
	
	
	(0.028)
	
	
	(0.028)
	
	
	
	(0.027)
	
	
	(0.387)
	

	IFRS × POST
	0.0260
	***
	
	0.0261
	***
	
	0.0262
	***
	
	
	0.0262
	***
	
	0.0257
	***

	
	(0.002)
	
	
	(0.002)
	
	
	(0.002)
	
	
	
	(0.002)
	
	
	(0.002)
	

	BUYBACK
	-0.2851
	***
	
	-0.2854
	***
	
	-0.2914
	***
	
	
	-0.2913
	***
	
	-0.2869
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	CROSS
	0.0094
	
	
	0.0090
	
	
	0.0100
	
	
	
	0.0099
	
	
	0.0057
	

	
	(0.734)
	
	
	(0.744)
	
	
	(0.715)
	
	
	
	(0.718)
	
	
	(0.841)
	

	BTM
	-0.0632
	***
	
	-0.0632
	***
	
	-0.0645
	***
	
	
	-0.0644
	***
	
	-0.0613
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	IRD1
	0.0013
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	(0.667)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	IRD2
	
	
	
	0.0014
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	(0.615)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERD1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	0.0375
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.131)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERD2
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	0.0343
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.152)
	
	
	
	

	Intercept
	0.2408
	***
	
	0.2408
	***
	
	0.2442
	***
	
	
	0.2441
	***
	
	0.2169
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	INDUSTRY
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	

	YEAR
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Yes
	

	Observations
	4,019
	
	
	4,018
	
	
	3,989
	
	
	
	3,989
	
	
	4,019
	

	R2
	0.177
	
	
	0.177
	
	
	0.178
	
	
	
	0.178
	
	
	0.182
	

	Adj R2
	0.170
	
	
	0.170
	
	
	0.171
	
	
	
	0.171
	
	
	0.173
	


Notes: The regression results are based on an ordinary least squares estimation and show a heteroscedasticity-robust estimator based on the White and Brochu-Pagan test results. p-values are given in parentheses. *** and ** indicate statistical significance at the 1% and 5%, respectively.









Panel B: Factors associated with foreign shareholders’ numbers 
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	
	
	
	　
	　

	Dependent variable = FOREIGN HELD NUM
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	
	
	
	　
	　

	OLS Regression
	[1]
	　
	　
	[2]
	　
	　
	[3]
	　
	　
	[4]
	
	
	[5]
	　

	IFRS 
	0.1091
	*
	
	0.1092
	
	
	0.1260
	
	
	0.1259
	
	
	0.1109
	

	
	(0.025)
	
	
	(0.249)
	
	
	(0.182)
	
	
	(0.182)
	
	
	(0.241)
	

	POST
	0.4886
	***
	
	0.4823
	***
	
	0.4877
	***
	
	0.4876
	***
	
	0.2327
	*

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.051)
	

	IFRS × POST
	0.5835
	***
	
	0.5833
	***
	
	0.5682
	***
	
	0.5683
	***
	
	0.5885
	***

	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	BUYBACK
	-6.7152
	***
	
	-6.7142
	***
	
	-6.9447
	***
	
	-6.9440
	***
	
	-6.7230
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	CROSS
	0.8600
	
	
	0.8554
	
	
	0.9050
	*
	
	0.9035
	*
	
	0.7665
	

	
	(0.105)
	
	
	(0.107)
	
	
	(0.081)
	
	
	(0.081)
	
	
	(0.161)
	

	BTM
	-0.9259
	***
	
	-0.9241
	***
	
	-0.9455
	***
	
	-0.9456
	***
	
	-0.9280
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	IRD1
	0.0396
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	(0.387)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	IRD2
	
	
	
	0.0420
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	(0.320)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERD1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-0.0413
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.918)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERD2
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-0.0915
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.813)
	
	
	
	

	Intercept
	11.8680
	***
	
	11.8647
	***
	
	11.9404
	***
	
	11.9418
	***
	
	11.6453
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	INDUSTRY
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	

	YEAR
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Yes
	

	Observations
	4,019
	
	
	4,018
	
	
	3,989
	
	
	3,989
	
	
	4,019
	

	R2
	0.215
	
	
	0.215
	
	
	0.214
	
	
	0.214
	
	
	0.218
	

	Adj R2
	0.208
	
	
	0.208
	
	
	0.207
	
	
	0.207
	
	
	0.209
	


Notes: The regression results are based on ordinary least squares estimation and show a heteroscedasticity-robust estimator based on the White and Brochu-Pagan test results. p-values are given in parentheses. *** and ** indicate statistical significance at the 1% and 5%, respectively.



Table 6: Panel data analysis to estimate foreign shareholders’ ratio using winsorized data
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Dependent variable = FOREIGN HELD
	　
	　
	　
	　
	　
	
	
	
	　
	　

	OLS Regression
	[1]
	　
	　
	[2]
	　
	　
	[3]
	　
	　
	[4]
	
	
	[5]
	　

	IFRS 
	-0.0103
	*
	
	-0.0104
	*
	
	-0.0104
	*
	
	-0.0104
	*
	
	-0.0100
	*

	
	(0.074)
	
	
	(0.072)
	
	
	(0.070)
	
	
	(0.070)
	
	
	(0.081)
	

	POST
	0.0135
	**
	
	0.0132
	**
	
	0.0125
	**
	
	0.0126
	**
	
	0.0061
	

	　
	(0.029)
	
	
	(0.034)
	
	
	(0.038)
	
	
	(0.037)
	
	
	(0.428)
	

	IFRS × POST
	0.0259
	***
	
	0.0260
	***
	
	0.0261
	***
	
	0.0260
	***
	
	0.0256
	***

	
	(0.002)
	
	
	(0.002)
	
	
	(0.002)
	
	
	(0.002)
	
	
	(0.002)
	

	BUYBACK
	-0.2746
	***
	
	-0.2750
	***
	
	-0.2813
	***
	
	-0.2812
	***
	
	-0.2761
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	CROSS
	0.0275
	
	
	0.0271
	
	
	0.0278
	
	
	0.0277
	
	
	0.0249
	

	
	(0.353)
	
	
	(0.360)
	
	
	(0.346)
	
	
	(0.348)
	
	
	(0.415)
	

	BTM
	-0.0671
	***
	
	-0.0671
	***
	
	-0.0682
	***
	
	-0.0682
	***
	
	-0.0651
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	IRD1
	0.0009
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	(0.745)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	IRD2
	
	
	
	0.0011
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	(0.693)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERD1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	0.0408
	*
	
	
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.097)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ERD2
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	0.0381
	
	
	
	

	　
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(0.109)
	
	
	
	

	Intercept
	0.2422
	***
	
	0.2422
	***
	
	0.2455
	***
	
	0.2454
	***
	
	0.2181
	***

	　
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	
	
	(0.000)
	

	INDUSTRY
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	
	
	Yes
	

	YEAR
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Yes
	

	Observations
	4,019
	
	
	4,018
	
	
	3,989
	
	
	3,989
	
	
	4,019
	

	R2
	0.177
	
	
	0.177
	
	
	0.178
	
	
	0.178
	
	
	0.182
	

	Adj R2
	0.170
	
	
	0.170
	
	
	0.171
	
	
	0.171
	
	
	0.173
	


Notes: The regression results are based on an ordinary least squares estimation and show a heteroscedasticity-robust estimator based on the White and Brochu-Pagan test resultss. p-values are given in parentheses. ***, **, and * indicate statistical significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% levels, respectively. All continuous variables are winsorized at the 1st/99th percentiles to mitigate the influence of outliers.

Appendix A: Literature on the relationship between IFRS adoption and foreign investment
	Authors
	(Year)
	Countries
	Sample size
	Sample period
	Dependent variable
	Independent variables

	Shima and Gordon 
	(2011)
	44
	152
	2003–2006
	EQUITY (equity investment from the US / GDP of target countries) 
	IFRS (insignificant), 
Legal (+), Enforce(+)

	DeFond et al.
	(2011)
	14 EU,      
10 Controls
	5,460 EU,         30,520 Controls
	2003–2004, 2006–2007
	Foreign mutual fund ownership
	Mandatory adopters (+), Post (+)

	Florou and Pope
	(2012)
	45
	11,926 Treatment, 23,234 Controls
	2003–2006
	△Institutional Holdings
	Mandatory (+),  
Voluntary (+)

	DeFond et al.
	(2012)
	14 EU, US
	5,460 EU,      13,496 US
	2003–2004, 2006–2007
	Foreign Fund
	US Firms (-)

	Amiram
	(2012)
	73
	122,640
	2001–2006
	Equity FPI
	IFRSInvestee  (+)

	Gordon et al. 
	(2012)
	124 countries
	1,300
	1996-2009
	FDI inflows
	IFRS (+) in developing countries

	Hamberg et al.
	(2013)
	Sweden
	1,795
	2001–2007
	Foreign owners (no. of people),               Foreign ownership (no. of shares)
	IFRS (+, +)

	Chen et al. 
	(2014)
	30 OECD countries
	1,110 -2,142
	2000-2005
	FDI flows
FDI growth
	IFRS Conformity (+)
Degree of convergence (+)

	Hsu et al. 
	(2015)
	Taiwan
	420 firms
2,389 firm-year
	2001-2003,
2006-2008
	Foreign investors’ shareholdings
	IAS-27 adoption (+)

	Nnadi and Soobaroyen
	(2015)
	34 African countries
	875-908
	1990-2014
	FDI
	IFRS (-)

	Mita et al. 
	(2018)
	18
	35,899
	2003–2012
	Comp (comparability of financial statements), FIO (foreign shareholders’ ratio)
	IFRS (+, +)

	DeFond et al.
	(2019)
	China
	5,518
	2005–2008
	QFII (Qualified Foreign Institutional Investors)
	Post (-)

	Kim et al.
	(2019)
	Japan
	704 Treatment,   704 Controls
	2010–2018
	A_Following (no. of analysts),        Foreign_Held, Seisaku_Held
	IFRS (insignificant, insignificant, -)



Appendix B: Variable deﬁnitions
	Variable
	Definition
	Data source

	IFRS
	Dummy variable for companies that voluntarily adopt IFRS.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	FOREIGN HELD
	Ratio of shares owned by foreign investors.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	FOREIGN HELD NUM
	Natural logarithm of the number of foreign shareholders plus one.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	GW
	Ratio of goodwill to total assets.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	RD
	R&D expenditure divided by sales.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	FOREIGN SALES
	Ratio of overseas sales to total sales.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	CROSS
	Cross-shareholder ratio.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	AGE
	Natural logarithm of the number of years in business plus one.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	SIZE
	Natural logarithm of total assets in the previous fiscal year.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	ROA
	Return on assets calculated as parent firm net income relative to total assets at the beginning of the fiscal year.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	BTM
	Book-to-market ratio calculated as equity capital divided by market capitalization at the end of the fiscal year.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	DEBT
	Net debt-equity ratio calculated using interest-bearing debt as a percentage of total assets. Interest-bearing debt is the sum of long- and short-term borrowings, corporate bonds, and long- and short-term lease liabilities.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	CLOSELY HELD
	Minority ownership ratio.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	IRD1
	US-Japan interest rate difference based on federal fund rates and uncollateralized overnight call rates.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	IRD2
	US-Japan interest rate difference based on the yields on three-month treasury bills in both countries.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	ERD1
	Natural logarithm of the yen-dollar exchange rate.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	ERD2
	Year-on-year rate of change in the yen-dollar exchange rate.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	POST
	Dummy variable for the IFRS voluntary adoption period, where the period of voluntary IFRS application by treatment companies and the corresponding period for control companies equals 1, and the other periods equal 0.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	BUYBACK
	Ratio of treasury stock to the total number of shares outstanding.
	Nikkei NEEDS

	YEAR
	Year dummy variable.
	

	INDUSTRY
	Industry dummy variable.
	Nikkei NEEDS
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ABSTRACT
The rapid growth of the European P2P lending market has led to the emergence of a unique lending model called resale marketplace lending. This structure involves P2P platforms connecting investors with loan originators who resell pre-originated loans. This study examines the information asymmetry challenge in such lending structure through a skin-in-the-game mechanism on the Mintos platform, which is a large Online Investment platform in Europe. Skin in the game" refers to the principle where individuals or entities are personally invested in the outcome of a situation, meaning they face both the potential gains and losses associated with their decisions or actions. To measure the impact of Skin in the game on loan default, we employ Logit regression to model the binary dependent variable, namely Default. Our choice of empirical model is in line with the extant literature that employed logit regression to predict the likelihood of default on peer-to-peer lending platforms. By analyzing 1,983,334 listed loans, we find that skin in the game significantly mitigates information asymmetry, reflected in lower interest rates, reduced likelihood, and severity of default. Our findings suggest that loan originators are incentivized to ensure the successful performance of the loans they offer and also strategically signal the commitment and trust by bearing a higher level of skin in the game. These findings hold important implications for enhancing information symmetry within resale marketplace lending platforms.

Keywords: P2P Lending, Resale Marketplace Lending, Information Asymmetry, Skin in the Game, Mintos Platform 

1. INTRODUCTION
Peer-to-peer (P2P) lending has gained significant momentum in recent decades due to the rapid development of the alternative finance market. Ziegler et al. (2021), argued that the global online alternative finance market (excluding China) experienced a 26% growth rate in funding volumes, rising from $89 billion in 2018 to $113 billion in 2020. The extant literature encompasses an analysis of peer-to-peer lending platforms operating under client segregated, notary, and guaranteed return model (Kirby & Worner, 2014). However, several developments have come forth in the peer-to-peer lending market. Particularly, an indirect lending structure, known as resale marketplace lending, has proved to be a popular phenomenon among the P2P platforms in Europe. Currently, the largest platform operating under this framework, Mintos, represents approximately 58% of the P2P lending market in continental Europe (Mintos, 2023). Resale marketplace lending eliminates borrowers from the operational framework by introducing loan originators that resell loans originated under their balance sheet. Furthermore, this lending framework requires loan originators to retain partial ownership of loans sold to ensure the quality of their loan offerings, known as the “skin in the game” (explained further in Chapter 2).
In this research, we examine the issue of information asymmetry in the largest resale marketplace lending platform in Europe, namely Mintos. Recognizing the conflict of interests arising from the multi-level agency relationship, resale marketplace lending platforms employ a skin in the game mechanism to align the interests of investors and originators. By requiring originators to have a stake in the loans they sell with the skin in the game mechanism, platforms seek to alleviate moral hazard problem for investors The rationale is that a higher level of skin in the game makes the originator more sensitive to the realized loan performance. This incentivizes loan originators to exert more efforts to ensure the quality of loans by the means of monitoring and restructuring efforts; thereby, mitigating moral hazard problem. This is consistent with the theory of optimal contracts (Shavell, 1979), as the agent has an incentive to exert more efforts as they are not insulated from the underlying risks. The main measure of quality in loans is ex-post loan performance (Fosu, Danso, AgyeiBoapeah, Ntim, & Adegbite, 2020). Therefore, the reduction in quality cheating implies reduction in the cases and severity of default. 
The study conjectures that the reduced information asymmetry resulting from a higher level of skin in the game will reduce cases of default, severity of default, and interest rates. As such, the study seeks to address three research questions
1. Does a higher level of skin in the game reduce the cases of default in resale marketplace lending platforms?
2. Does a higher level of skin in the game reduce the severity of default cases in resale marketplace lending platforms?
3. Does a higher level of skin in the game reduce interest rates in resale marketplace lending platforms?
The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2 delineates the institutional framework and background, and Section 3 presents the literature review. Sections 4 and 5 discuss the theoretical framework and conceptual framework that guide our study. Section 6 particularizes data and methodology, and Section 7 details empirical analysis. Finally, section 8 presents the conclusion, implications, and limitations of the study.

2. INSTITUIONAL BACKGROUND
The study collects data from a Latvian resale marketplace lending platform in Europe, namely Mintos. Mintos is the largest peer to peer lending platform based in Europe. The platform boasts a funding volume of 9.4 billion since its inception in 2015 (Mintos, 2023). The lending activity is carried out through the primary market. Meanwhile, the platform seeks to provide liquidity for investors with the creation of a secondary market, where investors can sell their investment in loans. The primary market in the platform operates under resale marketplace lending framework.
Resale marketplace lending is a form of indirect lending model among peer to peer lending platforms that eliminate borrowers from the operational framework. As such, the business model gains its name from the resale of loans by loan originators in these platforms. Under this operational framework, there are two players in the lending platforms, namely lenders and loan originators. The platforms operating under this framework link several loan originators and lenders alike to facilitate intertemporal exchange of funds. Loan originators, alternatively known as lending companies are Non-Banking Financial Institutions that originates loans on their balance sheet. Hence, they are responsible for acquiring, managing and collecting payments from borrowers. 

0. LITERATURE REVIEW
Since its inception, peer-to-peer lending platforms have consistently sought to differentiate themselves through innovative business models and asset classes that meet the growing needs of the market (Havrylchyk, & Verdier, 2018). This has created a dynamic and competitive industry, necessitating a comprehensive analysis of the nuances of different business models. In addition, the peer to peer lending platforms expand into different asset classes and operational frameworks, information asymmetry remains an imminent challenge among the platforms (Caldieraro et al., 2018). Therefore, a comprehensive review of the literature on current P2P lending business models and information asymmetry among P2P platforms is required to establish existing practices and identify the relevant gaps.
3.1 Business Models 
Business models are critical to the success of P2P lending platforms, as they determine how value is created and captured by the platform. Kirby and Worner (2014) have identified three distinct business models of P2P lending platforms. The first model is the "client-segregated account model," where the platform only serves as a mediator and the client's money is placed in a separate bank account that is not controlled by the platform. Meanwhile, in the notary model, the platform issues a note to the lender reflecting the invested amount. Upon successful achievement of funding goal, the bank originates the loan and the borrower repays the note to the bank. The platform facilitates transfer of loan repayment from banks to lenders, who assume the risk of loan non-payment, rather than the bank originating the loan. The third and final model is the guaranteed-return model, where the platform directly issues loans, manages the investments of borrowers and repayments of lenders, and sets a guaranteed-return rate for borrowers. 
Accordingly, extant literature encompasses a comprehensive theoretical and empirical analyses on these models. Particularly, Cosma, Pattarin, and Pennetta (2020) argues that notary and guaranteed return model poses more risk exposure to investors because if the platform were to default or experience financial difficulties, it could potentially affect the repayment of lenders (Cosma et al., 2020). So, an investor in addition to the exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk from borrowers, are also exposed to the threat of platform’s bankruptcy risk.
However, Cosma et al. (2020) also argues that in addition to the mode of intermediation, the underlying competitive advantage of a business model is contingent upon the risk management practices and customer segmentation. In addition, the peer to peer lending platforms expand into different asset classes and operational frameworks, information asymmetry remains an imminent challenge among the platforms (Caldieraro et al., 2018).
3.2 Information Asymmetry
In the context of peer-to-peer (P2P) lending platforms, borrowers typically possess complete information about the underlying risk of a loan, while lenders lack access to this information, putting them at a disadvantage (Emekter, Tu, Jirasakuldech, & Lu, 2015; Gavurova, Dujcak, Kovac, & Kotásková, 2018). Accordingly, the existing literature on the prevalence and mitigation of information asymmetry can be categorized into six streams such as soft information, hard information, herding, social capital, platform characteristics and platform specific strategies.
3.2.1 Soft Information 
According to Petersen and Rajan (1994), financial intermediaries expedite advantages in screening and reducing moral hazard using soft information. In the context of peer to peer lending, soft information may be defined as the qualitative information that provides insights or context that may not be easily quantified related to the borrower such as their education, qualifications, and profession (Dorfleitner, Priberny, Schuster, Stoiber, Weber, de Castro, & Kammler, 2016). Weiss, Pelger, and Horsch (2010), and Prystav (2016) indicate that soft information enables the mitigation of adverse selection in peer to peer lending platforms.
3.2.2 Hard Information 
The extant literature has also received significant attention regarding hard information, with numerous studies examining data that can be easily compared across different types of borrowers. Hard information can be referred to as factual information that can be shared objectively (Tang et al., 2020), such as credit scores, income, and assets (Lin, 2009; Emekter et al., 2015; Serrano-Cinca, Gutiérrez-Nieto, & López-Palacios, 2015), bank account verification, borrower financial condition, and debt to income ratio (Greiner & Wang, 2010). Studies indicate that there is a positive relationship between credit score and successful repayment of a loan (Emekter et al., 2015; Serrano-Cinca et al., 2015). However, other studies suggest that hard information must paired with other disclosures to improve the accuracy of loan performance predictions (Serrano-Cinca et al., 2015; Tao, Dong, & Lin, 2017; Zhu, 2018). Particularly, Zhu (2018) notes that credit ratings of borrowers are misspecified due to lack of information disclosure; thereby, resulting in moral hazard for lenders. Accordingly, it is suggested to provide withheld information to alleviate the degree of moral hazard in the market (Yao, Chen, Wei, Chen, & Yang, 2019) and improve funding success (Prystav, 2016).
3.2.3 Herding 
According to Yum, Lee, and Chae (2012), when there is limited credit information available of a borrower, the "wisdom of the crowd" becomes a more prominent factor in lending decisions. Thus, in the absence of perfect information facilitated by borrowers, investors tend to herd (Bikhchandani & Sharma, 2000). Bikhchandani and Sharma (2000) claim that herding occurs when an individual, who initially would have made an investment decision independently, decides not to invest upon learning that others have chosen not to invest and vice versa.
3.2.4 Social Capital 
Recent studies also shed light on the role of social capital in mitigating information asymmetry challenges. Social capital can be referred to any attribute of a group or collective individuals that improve transaction outcomes in terms of economic benefit (Coleman, 1988). Lu, Wei, and Chan (2022) found that informed investors who bid early on Prosper signal to other uninformed investors the quality of loans issued and is positively linked to funding success. Similarly, Lin et al. (2013) highlighted the importance of borrowers' social networks in signaling credit quality to investors, which was negatively related to default rates. The findings suggest that social capital between individuals enables transactions with third parties beyond the established network. Furthermore, the negative relationship with default rates indicates that social networks serve as a credible signal of loan quality. This emphasizes the role of social networks in shaping individual behavior and decision-making.
3.2.5 Platform characteristics 
The extant literature have also examined the role of platform characteristics on the behavior of its participants (Wang, Xiong, and Zheng, 2021). The findings indicated that, investors in pursuit of reducing information asymmetry seek to invest in platforms with good attributes. It is noteworthy to mention that the imminent challenge of information asymmetry is not exclusively among lenders and borrowers, but also arises at a platform level. Implications of platform level information asymmetry on cash flows were empirically investigated by Chen, Hu, and Ben (2021). Reputation, capital and operational structure has an endorsement effect and signals subjective seriousness, effort and diligence of a platform, thereby alleviating information asymmetries. 
3.2.6 Skin In the Game and Other Platform Specific Strategies 
The extant literature has also documented the different strategies pursued by peer to peer lending platforms to mitigate the underlying information asymmetry. Prosper implemented the strategy of allowing borrowers to create self-organized groups with active group leaders (Hildebrand, Puri, & Rocholl, 2017). These leaders place bids to show financial commitment, which the authors term "skin in the game," to promote borrower listings. 
In essence, these studies collectively emphasize the diverse strategies that P2P lending platforms can employ to foster an environment of reduced information asymmetry. However, it is important to note that the literature on P2P lending platforms is largely concentrated in a few countries, such as the United States and China (Basha, Elgammal, & Abuzayed, 2021), and may not reflect the diversity of business models employed globally. Due to the lack of research attention among the resale marketplace lending platforms, studies investigating the strategies employed by these platforms mitigate the challenges arising from information asymmetry is virtually non-existent. Hence, this study seeks to fill in the literature gap by formulating evidence from the largest peer to peer lending platform in Europe, namely Mintos. The extant literature on the mitigation of information asymmetries is commonly discussed in light of signaling theory (Spence, 1978). However, our study differs from the existing studies in a way that transcends beyond signals, and introduces the role of incentives. Therefore, as the literature on resale marketplace lending platforms is at a nascent stage, we seek to develop an integrated theoretical framework for the mitigation of information asymmetry among these platforms. 

0. THEORHETICAL FRAMEWORK
The study contributes to various strands of literature from disciplines such as economics, and finance. This section will discuss the four relevant theories that underpin and guide the study and further discuss our contributions to the field and provide an integrated theoretical framework. 
4.1 Theories
4.1.1 Theory of Information Asymmetry 
	The theory of information asymmetry primarily deals with the study of decisions in the absence of perfect information in the market. The modern theory of information asymmetry is firmly rooted in the seminal contributions of Akerlof (1978). 
4.1.1.1 Adverse selection 
	Akerlof (1978) states that the quality of a product can be classified into two categories, namely low (λ) and high (1-λ) quality. In the presence of imperfection information and lack of regulation, sellers of low-quality products may display opportunistic behavior by selling their products in the high-quality segment of the market, resulting in adverse selection problem. Similarly, in the context of resale marketplace lending platforms, adverse selection manifest as loan originators with varying quality levels are present and participate in the platform. This results in an unfair valuation of high-quality loan offerings in terms of interest rates, driving out loan originators with high quality loan offerings. 
4.1.1.2 Moral Hazard 
Meanwhile, moral hazard refers to a situation where a party is incentivized to engage in risky behavior as they are not responsible for bearing the cost or loss resulting from their actions (Dembe & Boden, 2000). The theory of moral hazard mainly arises from economic literature on insurance. However, this study focuses on the seminal contributions from Ehrlich and Becker (1972), Pauly (1978), and Shavell (1979) who propose that if the effort or self-protection of insured to minimize losses is not observable by the insurer in setting premiums, insured people are incentivized to exert less effort. Similarly, moral hazard is also manifested in the context of resale marketplace lending platforms. Moral hazard may stem from loan originators, whose ultimate aim is to originate more loans without necessary adjustment to capital by distributing it to lenders. Therefore, loan originators have an incentive to provide risky loan offerings by originating loans to subprime borrowers and may exert little effort in screening and monitoring their borrowers. 
Leland and Pyle (1977) formal analysis provides evidence for the linkage by showing that a rational expectation (signaling) equilibrium can be achieved through the entrepreneur's share of the equity investment, which fully reveals his beliefs about the return of the project. In this equilibrium, a higher entrepreneurial share signals a higher project value. This finding supports the idea that individuals or organizations may engage in certain actions or behaviors, such as taking on more risk, to signal their quality or ability to others. 
In summary, the theoretical framework presented in this section laid out the foundation for the development of our conceptual framework. Building on the theory and principles exposited above, the conceptual framework incorporates new concepts, and further explores the platform-specific intricacies.

0. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
5.1 Multi-level Agency relationships
The conceptual framework in this study encompasses multi-level agency relationships (Mishra, Heide, & Cort, 1998) and is demonstrated in Figure (1). The first relationship is between a customer and a supplier. In the context of resale marketplace lending, the supplier (agent) is the Mintos platform and principal is the investor that registers with Mintos platform. The next level of agency relationship is between the platform and the loan originators; wherein, the Mintos platform acts as a principal and the loan originators act as an agent. 
5.1.1 Level 1: Platform – Investor Relationship 
From the investors’ perspective, the main issue faced in investing on the platform is the information asymmetry. Lack of ability to evaluate the quality creates supplier opportunism in the form of actual quality cheating (Mishra et al., 1998). This scenario relates to the moral hazard problem. In the context of resale marketplace lending, the platforms have an incentive to reduce the quality of their services by onboarding risky originators as it increases their revenue and is difficult for investors to detect. The main measure of quality in loans is loan performance (Fosu et al., 2020). Hence, quality cheating in the context of peer to peer lending will only manifest after a substantial period of time, i.e. at maturity. In such cases, Shapiro (1983) notes that an incentive has to be structured to align the interest of suppliers with end users or customers. It can be deduced that if the platforms do not align their interests with investors, investor turnover rates on the platforms will surge. Hence, the threat of investor turnovers or loss of repeat sales will eliminate quasi rent streaming and align the interest of platform with the investors as similarly noted by Telser (1980).
5.1.2 Level 2: Platform – Originator relationship
In the context of resale marketplace lending platforms, the loan originators act as an agent on behalf of Mintos to provide investment opportunities to investors. Such agency relationships at multiple levels roots back to the findings reported by Klein and Murphy (1988). The findings of the study indicated that when manufacturers outsourced independent retailers to provide services to customers, the product quality and end user experience is significantly influenced by the independent retailers. Similarly, we consider this moral hazard problem the resale marketplace lending platforms such as Mintos faces, wherein their agent, i.e., loan originators indulge in risky behavior by purposely issuing low quality loans on the platform. Kreps (1985) states that the moral hazard problem must be managed by structuring the transaction in the manner that the agent, out of his own will, acts in alignment with the principal’s interests. Considering the problem of moral hazard, Mintos platform has a strategy in place to address the underlying issue known as skin in the game. The strategy is formulated to align the interests of loan originators with platform, and ultimately the investors. The strategy is discussed briefly in the following subsection.

Figure 1. Multilevel agency relationships at Mintos, Source: Author’s own work.
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5.1.2.1 Skin in the game 
The phrase “skin in the game” refers to having a monetary stake in a particular action or event in the literal sense. The origin of this concept roots back to gambling in low gaming houses, where Smith (1879) notes that players were pressured to have a vested interest by indulging in financial risk. However, in the context of financial services, the concept gained popularity following the enactment of Dodd Frank Act in 2010 in response to the Global Financial Crisis. Acharya and Richardson (2012) states that the title X, subtitle D of Dodd Frank Act imposes 5% retention rate of credit risk for firms that perform securitization of mortgages to ensure congruence in interest with investors. 
Eckstein (2017) notes that skin in the game is an important requirement in cases where the efforts by agents and their behavior are unobservable by the principal. In the case of Mintos, the platform assigns the loan retention rate, also known as the skin in the game for the loan originators. Similar to the gambling practices in low gaming houses as noted by Smith (1879), the Mintos platform also does not tolerate loan originators or agents without any skin in the game. The skin in the game for loan originators currently ranges from 2% to 15% of the total loan value. Each loan originator has to retain a portion of loan as determined by the skin in the game before listing the loan on investment. 
5.2 Hypothesis Development
It can be conceptualized that the skin in the game requirement is an output based incentive (Eisenhardt, 1989). The participation of loan originators on Mintos platform to list the loans under the balance sheet inherently poses a threat of moral hazard. As such, loan originators can issue more loans without necessary adjustment to their capital. If Mintos allows the loan originators to list the loans on the platform without any skin in the game, loan originators may be tempted to issue loans to subprime borrowers and further list the loans on the platform for investors. Hence, the skin in the game requirement incentivizes loan originator (agent) to exert qualitative due diligence and monitoring practices to increase the likelihood of successful loan performance. The skin in the game mechanism crafts the agency relationship in a manner that links the agent’s economic interests directly to the principal’s economic interests. Thus, a higher level of skin in the game makes the originator more sensitive to the realized performance. Accordingly, we can conclude the discussion with the following hypothesis (Figure 2).
H1: Loans listed by originators with high level of skin in the game reduces the probability of default.
Furthermore, loan originators are non-banking financial institutions that cater to the underserved retail customers with financing requirements (Jagtiani & Lemieux, 2018; Li, Maung, & Wilson, 2018). Hence, it can be argued that to an extent, the pool of borrowers of all loan originators will be less qualitative than the pool of prime borrowers managed by the banking institutions. However, with the skin in the game mechanism, we argue that by requiring loan originators to put the money where the mouth is, loan originators are motivated to develop and implement stringent due diligence and monitoring practices to alleviate the delinquency risk. Consistent with the theory of optimal contracts (Shavell, 1979, originators with higher level of skin in the game are likely to put more effort into costly screening and monitoring activities. This is analogous with the model proposed by Chemla and Hennessy (2014), which suggests that an originator's maximum willingness to pay for monitoring effort depends on their level of retention. Therefore, it can be hypothesized that the severity of default is lower when loan originators are required to retain a larger portion of the total loan value. Accordingly, the hypothesis developed is as follows.
H2: Loans listed by originators with high level of skin in the game reduces the severity of default.
Secondly, we also consider the adverse selection problem for investors. Loan originators providing high quality loan investment opportunities will face it difficult to distinguish their investment opportunities from low quality offerings on the platform to investors. The extant literature indicates that the issue of adverse selection resulting from information asymmetry is generally alleviated by signaling (Spence, 1978). In the context of Mintos, we argue that the skin in the game mechanism adopted to alleviate moral hazard also serves as a signal to investors to address adverse selection as established in the integrated framework. Skin in the game of loan originators signals commitment of the loan originators by retaining a portion of loan to themselves. The rationale is akin to the logic in self-funding (Zhao et al., 2022) and quick-fix bootstrapping (Malmström, 2014), which indicates that agents signal qualities such as self-commitment and self-belief by sacrificing internal resources in funding their ventures.
Thus, a higher level of skin in the game will communicate a higher quality and vice versa. It also signals to investors that a low quality loan offering would not be worthwhile for originators that would like to continue participating on the platform, thereby reducing the perceived underlying risk. It is well established by Modern Portfolio theory (Markowitz, 1952) in the finance literature that a low risk implies low returns. Therefore, a lower underlying risk of an investment translates to lower interest rates. Accordingly, the hypothesis developed is as follows.
H3: Loans listed by originators with higher the level of skin in the game will secure lower interest rates
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Figure 2. Hypothesis development, Source: Author’s own work.





6. DATA AND METHODOLOGY
6.1 Sample and Data Description
This study employs the dataset of Mintos, a Latvian marketplace lending platform for empirical analysis. Although the platform amasses loan originators from all geographic regions, the scope of the study is limited to loan originators from the European Union. The countries in European Union follow a unified legal system and have shared business practices, facilitating more robust and comparable analyses. 
As noted earlier, the study investigates the performance of the platform under different products, namely claims and notes. Accordingly, the final sample data of the study is the split into two subsamples. Since its inception, the platform primarily provided investment offerings to customers in the form of claims. Hence, the first subsample includes all loans listed on the platform from the period 1st January 2021 to 31st December 2021, consisting of 1,452,900 observations. Meanwhile, the second subsample consists of all loans listed on the platforms by loan originators from the launch period of notes program, i.e. May 25th, 2022 to 31st December 2022. The dataset employed in the second subsample period consists of 530,434 observations, totaling a final sample of 1,983,334 observations.
The sample data is retrieved from the downloadable loan book available on Mintos.com. The loan book contains data related to loan characteristics. However, the provided dataset has been augmented with variables relevant to research objectives of the study. The key explanatory variable of the study is Skin in the game of the loan originator and is manually collected from the Mintos website. The study also collected the age and size of each originator from the Mintos website to control for originator level heterogeneity. Generally, total assets are used as a measure of size of financial institutions (Liñares-Zegarra, & Wilson, 2018), of which loan portfolio is the largest asset and the primary source of revenue (Handbook, 1998). Hence, due to limited availability of data related to loan originator characteristics, the study collects data related to loan portfolio of all loan originator from the Mintos website as a proxy for size. Meanwhile, the economic specific variables such as Government bond yield and Unemployment rate for each country were collected from the website of European Central Bank. The explanation of all the variables used in our study is provided in Table A1 of Appendix.
The data is cross-sectional in nature, encompassing a single time period rather than tracking individual loans over time. Each observation represents a unique and independent loan within the specified time frame. While traditional panel data includes a time dimension for repeated observations, the data in this study lacks the time aspect as each loan is distinct and have unique loan ID. However, the sample includes several loan originators across the European Union. The study employs country level fixed effects to account for unobserved country or originator specific factors that may influence loan performance. 

6.2 Methodology
6.2.1 Impact of Skin in the game on loan default
To measure the impact of Skin in the game on loan default, we employ Logit regression to model the binary dependent variable namely Default. Our choice of empirical model is in line with the extant literature that employed logit regression to predict the likelihood of default on peer to peer lending platforms (Liu, Zhou, Zhao, & Wang, 2018; Nigmonov & Shams, 2021; Park, Yang, & Sohn, 2022; Sha, 2022; Abbasi, Bamdad, & Rahimi, 2023; Sifrain, 2023). The regression function of logit regression is modelled by the logistic cumulative distribution function σ(⋅) in the case of binary dependent variable and can be expressed as follows:
E (Y|X) =P (D=1|X) = σ (β0+𝛽𝑆𝑆 + 𝛽𝐸𝑋𝑖 𝐸 +𝛽𝐿𝑋𝑖 𝐿+𝛽𝐴𝐴 + 𝛽𝑃𝑃 + 𝛽𝑂𝑂 + ) ………….. (1) 
The binary variable Default takes the value of 1, if the loan has defaulted and 0 if it is finished. Meanwhile, 𝛽S𝑆 is the key explanatory variable of the study and represents the level of Skin in the game. Furthermore, the variable 𝛽𝐸𝑋𝑖 𝐸 signifies the vector of economy or country specific control variables such as government bond yield and unemployment rate. It is well established that changes in macroeconomic factors affect the performance of the loans (Ali & Daly, 2010; Norden & Wagner, 2008). The inclusion of economic specific variables is in line with the studies pertaining to marketplace lending (Nigmonov & Shams, 2021). Similarly, loan characteristics are also significant factor affecting probability of loan default (Galema, 2020; Nigmonov & Shams, 2021). Hence, the study includes loan characteristics denoted by 𝛽𝐿𝑋𝑖 𝐿 in the regression equation. In addition, there is also a high interconnectedness between loan and countries of issue. Hence, borrowing companies can be used as a vertex of correlation network to account for the interconnectedness and is denoted by 𝛽𝑂𝑂 (Giudici, Hadji-Misheva, & Spelta, 2020). Furthermore, we also account for originator characteristics such as age and size as denoted by 𝛽𝐴𝐴 and 𝛽𝑃𝑃 in the regression equation respectively. This in line with the study conducted by Kar and Swain (2014), which reported the significance of a financial institution’s age and size in the context of loan delinquency.
6.2.2 Impact Of Skin in the Game on Severity of Default 
To measure the impact of Skin in the game on the severity of loan default, the study models the dependent variable as the proportion of the remaining loan amount to the total loan amount. However, the inherent bounded nature of proportional variable and the potential occurrence of values at the boundaries introduce intriguing considerations regarding functional form and inference (Papke & Wooldridge, 1996). While adding non-linear functions to the linear model can partially address this issue, OLS regression cannot warrant the predicted values to lie within the restricted interval of (0,1). Therefore, the study employs Fractional response regression model proposed by Papke and Wooldridge (1996). It is suitable for modelling dependent variables that takes values between 0 and 1, including 1 and 0. Since, our dependent variable, i.e. severity of default is a proportion, the model is appropriate for estimation. This is also consistent with the extant finance literature on loss given default and exposure given default that models the proportion of unrecovered loan amount with the use of fractional response regression (Bastos, 2010; Qi & Zhao, 2011; Tong, Mues, Brown, & Thomas, 2016; Bastos & Matos, 2022). The severity of default is calculated as below. 
Severity of default = Remaining loan amount / Initial loan amount
Although, Beta regression model proposed by Ferrari and Cribari-Neto (2004) is also a commonly used approach for modeling proportional variables, it imposes constraints that prevent the inclusion of observations at the boundaries of the interval, i.e. 0 and 1. The inclusion of boundaries is crucial in our study as there exists cases where entire value of loan is defaulted or fully paid. The independent variables are same as in equation 1. This is in line with the findings of Crawford and Rosenblatt (1995), who argue that variables that affect probability of default affect the severity of loss. The fractional regression model can be denoted as below. 
(𝑆|𝑥) = (𝛽1+𝛽S𝑆 + 𝛽𝐸𝑋𝑖 𝐸 +𝛽𝐿𝑋𝑖 𝐿+𝛽𝐴𝐴 + 𝛽𝑃𝑃 + 𝛽𝑂𝑂 + ) ……………………………. (2) 
Where, (.) is the logistic function and 𝛽S𝑆 represents the level of Skin in the game. Meanwhile, 𝛽𝐸𝑋𝑖 𝐸 is the vector of economic specific control variables such as unemployment rate and 10 year government bond yield. The inclusion of economic specific variables is supported by the findings of the Bellotti and Crook (2012) and Höcht, Wieczorek, and Zagst (2022), who investigate the impact of macroeconomic determinants on loan recovery rates. In addition, we account for the impact of loan characteristics on severity of default supported by the findings of Wang, Forbes, Fenech, and Vaz (2020). The notation 𝛽𝐿𝑋𝑖 𝐿 represents the vector of loan characteristics. In addition, there is high interconnectedness between loan and countries of issue. Hence, borrowing companies can be used as a vertex of correlation network to account for the interconnectedness and is denoted by 𝛽𝑂𝑂 (Giudici, Hadji-Misheva, & Spelta, 2020). Furthermore, the findings of the study conducted by KyereboahColeman (2007) indicate that age and size of a MFI has a significant relationship with amount defaulted. Therefore, we account for loan originator characteristics such as age and size of the originator, denoted by 𝛽𝐴𝐴 and 𝛽𝑃𝑃 respectively.
6.2.3 Impact of Skin in the game on interest rates
 To measure the impact of Skin in the game on interest rates, the study employs OLS regression to model the dependent variable namely, Interest rates. Our choice of empirical model is in line with the extant literature that employed OLS regression to estimate interest rates on peer to peer lending platforms (Freedman & Jin, 2017; Wei & Lin, 2017; Ding, Huang, Li, & Meng, 2019; Chen et al., 2022; Wu, Liu, Gu, & Tsai, 2023). 
Interest ( ) = 𝛽1+𝛽S𝑆 + 𝛽𝐸𝑋𝑖 𝐸 +𝛽𝐿𝑋𝑖 𝐿+𝛽𝐴𝐴 + 𝛽𝑃𝑃 + 𝛽𝑂𝑂 +𝜀𝑖 ………………………. (3) 
In the regression equation, 𝑟𝑖 represents the dependent variable of the study, namely interest rates. 𝛽S𝑆 is the key explanatory variable of the study and represents the level of Skin in the game borne by the originator. The study also includes loan characteristics denoted by 𝛽𝐿𝑋𝑖 𝐿 in the regression equation. According to Lu, Wang, Wang, and Zhao (2020), the loan-specific characteristics of P2P loans significantly affects the interest rate. Hence, 𝛽𝐿𝑋𝑖 𝐿 is a vector of all variables pertaining to loan characteristics. Furthermore, in alignment with prior research, our study incorporates government bond yield and the seasonally adjusted unemployment rate as control variables for interest rates as denoted by the 𝛽𝐸𝑋. This choice is substantiated by a study by Wu, Liu, and Huang (2022) who also utilized these macroeconomic factors to determine interest rates. 
Additionally, marketplace lending markets are also characterized by a high degree of interconnectedness between loans and issuing countries (Giudici et al., 2020; Nigmonov & Shams, 2021). Therefore, the model includes fixed effects for country to account for loan originators' heterogeneity, as discussed previously. Additionally, age and size variables are included as control variables to capture their effects on interest rates denoted by 𝛽𝐴𝐴 and 𝛽𝑃𝑃 respectively. This is in line with the findings of Dorfleitner et al. (2013) and Nwachukwu et al. (2018), which reported that as MFIs mature, they tend to expand their client base and offer larger loans to established businesses, impacting their cost structures and risk management practices. 
Furthermore, Large-scale and medium-scale MFIs are also reported to exhibit characteristics that can lead to cost efficiencies and better risk management capabilities. Importantly, the study delves beyond individual effects and investigates the potential non-linear impact of size on interest rates. This is in line with the study conducted by Dorfleitner et al. (2013), which suggests that as originators grow in size, the interest rates charged might experience an accelerated trajectory beyond a linear progression.

7. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
7.1 Model-Free evidence
The study first provides some model free evidence consistent with the theories and concepts established in the earlier sections, indicating the impact on loan performance across security designs. The Table A2 in Appendix reports the mean differences between the claims and notes sample in Panel A and Panel B respectively. The average interest rate, default rate and severity of default is higher for notes by 3.39, 18.88, and 17.5 percentage points respectively. The significant increase in interest rates, default rate and severity of default is in line with our stipulation that risks are exacerbated under the new security design, notes. Table A3 and A4 of Appendix presents the summary statistics and correlation matrix of relevant variables in the dataset respectively. The majority of the variables have a low level of statistically significant correlation with one another, as reflected in small correlation coefficients.
7.2 Parametric Empirical Analysis
In this section of our empirical analysis, we examine the impact of skin in the game on interest rates, likelihood of default, and severity of default for two distinct product types offered by loan originators. The results are presented in two separate specifications, each corresponding to one of the product types.
7.2.1 Estimation and model comparison 
7.2.1.1  Ex-ante loan performance: Loan pricing 
We examine the price effects of skin in the game, i.e., whether it lowers interest rates. We regress interest rates on level of skin in the game, controls for loan characteristics, originator characteristics, and economy specific variables. Specification 1 in Appendix Table A5 shows that the level of skin in the game is negatively related to the interest rates and is significant at 1% for claims. On average, an additional 1 percentage point increase in skin in the game leads to a reduction in interest rates by approximately 6.26 basis points (or 0.0626 percentage points). This means that as loan originators increase their retention (skin in the game) in the loans they offer on the Mintos platform by 1 percentage point, investors can expect a decrease of around 6.26 basis points in the interest rates on these loans. 
Meanwhile, the specification 2 in Appendix Table A5 reports the impact of skin in the game on loan rates for notes. On average, an additional 1 percentage point increase in skin in the game leads to a reduction in interest rates by approximately 43 basis points (or 0.43 percentage points) and is significant at 1% level. The results support our hypothesis that a higher level of skin in the game reduce interest rates and are remarkably consistent with the pricing effects of skin in the game for claims. The observed difference in the magnitude of the impact of skin in the game on interest rates between the two security designs is also significant at 1% level (See Table A7 of Appendix) and can be attributed to the divergent risk profiles associated with each design. The bundling of loans introduces a potential risk that individual loan originators with smaller skin in the game may include a higher proportion of risky or non-performing loans in the bundle as evidenced by the challenges observed in MBS securitization during the Global Financial Crisis (Mizen, 2008; McCoy, Pavlov, & Wachter, 2008). As a result, investors in the notes may face a higher degree of uncertainty and are likely to be more sensitive to originators' commitment levels, as indicated by their skin in the game. Consequently, the impact of skin in the game on interest rates becomes more pronounced for the notes. Although the coefficient of -0.43 might appear as a modest effect on its own, it takes on greater economic significance when the practical dynamics of the platform are considered. Given that the level of skin in the game generally increases by 5 percentage points, the impact of skin in the game translates to a noteworthy reduction in interest rates from, for example, 12.5% to 10.35%. This 2.15 percentage point decrease in interest rates is a substantial cost-saving advantage for originators and underscores the economic significance of skin in the game.


7.2.1.2 Ex post loan performance: Likelihood of default 
The study also examines the impact of skin in the game on ex post loan performance, i.e., whether it lowers the likelihood of default. The results for likelihood in Appendix Table A6 specification 1 show a significant impact of skin in the game on the likelihood of loan defaults and are remarkably consistent with those for interest rates. A higher level of skin in the game tend to decrease default rates, as reflected by the coefficient for the variable sitg. The coefficient for skin in the game in the logistic regression model indicates that a one percentage point increase in skin in the game (holding all other variables constant) is associated with a decrease in the probability of default by approximately 2.33 basis points or 0.02 percentage points.
As the level of skin in the game increases, loan originators have a more significant financial stake in the loans' performance. In line with the theory of optimal contracts (Shavell, 1979), this heightened commitment to the loans prompts banks to conduct more thorough due diligence during the underwriting process. They carefully assess the creditworthiness of borrowers (Pollinger, Outhwaite, & Cordero‐Guzmán, 2007), verifying income, employment history, credit history (Messomo Elle, 2019), and other relevant factors to ensure that loans are granted to borrowers with a lower likelihood of default. The increased due diligence helps to select high-quality borrowers and leads to better loan performance. Moreover, with higher skin in the game, loan originators have a long-term interest in the performance of the loans they hold. Therefore, they are more motivated to engage in ongoing monitoring of borrowers' financial health and behavior. This proactive approach to loan management contributes to better loan performance and lower default rates as similarly noted by Gropp, Gruendl, and Guettler (2014). Our findings are also consistent with the extant literature on IPO, which suggests that improved efforts resulting from having a higher level of skin in the game resulted in improved fund performance (Jia & Wang, 2017), faster decision making (Baum & Wally, 2003) and investment in projects with enhanced monitoring (Tian, 2011). These results support our hypothesis that a higher skin in the game reduces default rates. Furthermore, it provides validity for our analyses and bolster skin in the game as a potent incentive to improve ex post performance of the loan offerings by originators. 
Meanwhile, the specification 2 in Appendix Table A6 reports the impact of skin in the game on likelihood of default for notes. The coefficient for skin in the game indicates that a one percentage point increase in skin in the game (holding all other variables constant) is associated with a decrease in the probability of default by approximately 83 basis points or 0.83 percentage points. The results support our hypothesis that a higher level of skin in the game reduces default rates and are remarkably consistent with the default likelihood by skin in the game for claims. The level of skin in the game is negatively and significantly related to default rates at the 1% level. However, the observed difference in the impact of skin in the game on the likelihood of default between the two security designs can be attributed to the underlying risk dynamics inherent in security design and is also significant at 1% level (See Table A7 of Appendix). In this design, where loans are combined and sold as a single security, there exists a heightened possibility of mixing loans with varying levels of credit quality as evidenced by the challenges observed in MBS securitization during the Global Financial Crisis (Mizen, 2008; McCoy et al., 2008). These riskier loans, which might have been strategically introduced by originators, contribute to the overall increased likelihood of default for the entire bundled security. Although the measured economic impact of skin in the game may appear relatively small, it is crucial to contextualize this effect. The total default rate in Mintos falls within the range of 20%. Hence, even 1 percentage point (approximately) reduction in default likelihood can have substantial implications. Moreover, considering that the level of skin in the game generally increases by 5 percentage points, the cumulative effect becomes significant. 

7.2.1.3 Ex post loan performance: Severity of loan default 
The study next examines the impact of skin in the game on the severity of default. The coefficients for the level of skin in the game show direction and gradation consistent with the results for likelihood of default. The results in Appendix Table A6 specification 3 show that the relationship between skin in the game and severity of default is statistically significant at the 1% level. A higher level of skin in the game tend to decrease severity of default, as reflected by the coefficient for the variable sitg. The coefficient for skin in the game indicates that a 1 percentage point increase in skin in the game (holding all other variables constant) is associated with a decrease in the severity of default by approximately 0.01 percentage points. This is analogous with the model proposed by Chemla and Hennessy (2014), which suggests that an originator's maximum willingness to pay for monitoring effort depends on their level of retention. The observed inverse relationship between skin in the game and severity of default can be explained by the positive association of credit risk management processes with loan recovery (Koulafetis, 2017).
Higher level of skin in the game also motivates originators to employ effective debt collection process or mechanism. These processes may include early intervention strategies or soft collection (Witzany, 2017), debt restructuring options (Phan Thi Hang, 2023), or the use of external collection agencies (Witzany, 2017). An effective debt collection process further contributes to mitigating the severity of defaults. In line with theory of optimal contracts (Shavell, 1979), originators with a higher level of skin in the game implements better credit collection practices to effectively minimize the impact of defaults and recover their losses efficiently. The findings are also consistent with the empirical findings noted in the IPO literature. As such, when executives have a higher level of skin in the game, they are more likely to exert more effort in projects to recover the money invested (Amaya et al., 2020). This result supports our hypothesis that a higher level of skin in the game reduces severity of default. Furthermore, it reinforces the notion that skin in the game acts as a potent incentive mechanism for loan originators, aligning their interests with investors and fostering responsible lending practices.
Meanwhile, the specification 3 in Appendix Table A6 reports the impact of skin in the game on severity of default for notes. The results support our hypothesis that a higher level of skin in the game reduces severity of default and are remarkably consistent with the default severity by skin in the game for claims. The level of skin in the game is negatively and significantly related to severity of default at the 1% level for notes. The coefficient for skin in the game indicates that a 1 percentage point increase in skin in the game (holding all other variables constant) is associated with a decrease in the severity of default by approximately 0.49 percentage points. In the latter security design (notes), originators with substantial skin in the game are incentivized not only to curtail the likelihood of default but also to mitigate the severity of defaults. Although, the measurable economic impact of skin in the game on severity of default may appear to be relatively small, it is crucial to contextualize this effect. The total severity of default rate (the proportion of total unrecovered amount to total value of finished loans) in Mintos falls within the range of 20%. Hence, even a 0.5 percentage point (approximately) reduction in default severity can have substantial implications.
In general, these findings underscore the substantial economic importance of skin in the game as a powerful incentive for loan originators. 

7.2.2 Control Variables results
Although the main focus of our study is to examine the impact of skin in the game, we also include an exhaustive set of control variables that influence loan performance. The study briefly reviews and comments on the key controls.
Firstly, we review the impact of loan characteristics. Larger loan amounts are linked to higher interest rates and greater likelihood and severity of default, consistent with the findings of Nigmonov and Shams (2021). This finding is consistent across claims and notes. Furthermore, a non-linear relationship exists between loan maturity and interest rates. Interest rates generally increase with loan maturity but decrease beyond a certain maturity point. This is because loan originators on Mintos primarily deal with short-term loans, which may significantly impact pricing. Loan with very short maturities carry increased operational costs and advertising expenses to lenders. Meanwhile, in line with theoretical expectation, maturity is positively and significantly related to likelihood and severity of default at 1% significance level for claims. Meanwhile, Different loan types exhibit varying interest rates and default likelihoods. Agricultural, business, mortgage, and personal loans have lower interest rates than short-term loans. The results also indicate loans with collateral have higher interest rates and are more likely to default. The rationale is that riskier borrowers tend to pledge collateral when the level of risk is observable (Berger & Udell, 1990). Higher risk scores (indicating lower risk) are associated with lower interest rates and default likelihood, consistent for claims but not for notes. Loans with an extendable repayment schedule have higher interest rates and a greater likelihood and severity of default. Additionally, Loans with an extendable repayment schedule have higher interest rates and a greater likelihood and severity of default. Riskier borrowers that are struggling to make repayment are generally granted the flexibility to extend their repayment schedules and is consistent with the findings of Nigmonov and Shams (2021).
Secondly, we consider loan originator characteristics. As hypothesized, older originators offer slightly lower interest rates and have lower likelihood and severity of default. Meanwhile, larger loan portfolios are associated with lower interest rates up to a point, after which the effect diminishes, and very large portfolios may lead to higher interest rates. The impact on default likelihood and severity varies between claims and notes. The findings are consistent with the findings of Nwachukwu et al. (2018) and suggests that older and larger companies, with established reputations and experience, may be able to offer loans at competent rates. Similarly, the inverse relationship between size of originator and loan performance is consistent with the findings of Kar and Swain (2014) and can be attributed to the notion that older companies often possess a track record of stability, established business practices, and a more experienced management team. This translates to an enhanced ability in making prudent lending decisions, managing risks effectively.
Finally we consider economy specific characteristics. Higher unemployment rates are associated with slightly higher interest rates and increased default likelihood. However, higher government bond rates are linked to slightly lower loan interest rates. The relationship between bond yields and default severity varies between claims and notes. 

7.2.3 Robustness Checks
In this section, we implement several robustness checks to further prove the validity of our findings reported in the previous sessions. The estimates from robustness tests are reported in Appendix.
7.2.3.1 Bootstrap Resampling Analysis
To further validate the robustness of our findings, we conducted a bootstrap resampling analysis, which involved randomly selecting subsamples from our dataset and re-estimating our regression models. By performing over 200 replications and analyzing the distribution of coefficients, we confirmed that the inverse relationships between skin in the game and likelihood of default, severity of default, and interest rates remained robust and consistent beyond the variations in sample composition (See Table A8 of Appendix).
7.2.3.2 Different Estimation
Recognizing the suitability of the probit model for binary variable estimation in economic research, we proceed to re-evaluate the influence of skin in the game on the probability of default using the probit model. Moreover, conforming to the highest interest rate offered for European loan investments by Mintos (20%), we employ the Tobit model to re-examine the effect of skin in the game on interest rates, employing 20% as upper bound. Furthermore, to account for bounded nature of interest rates within the interval of 0 and 1, we also re-estimate the regression with Beta regression. The findings reported in Table A9 of Appendix indicate that the coefficients and its respective margins are consistent with the baseline estimates. This consistency suggests that our decision to employ the OLS model for interest rate estimation, in line with established literature, does not appear to introduce significant bias into our analysis. Additionally, to ensure the robustness of our findings on the impact of skin of the game on severity of default, we employ probit function for fractional regression for re-estimation. 
The findings reported in Table A9 of Appendix indicate that the coefficients and its respective margins are consistent with the baseline estimates. Our findings remain consistent in terms of direction and gradation for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates, default likelihood and severity of default.
7.2.3.3 Time horizon
The study further included time trend, represented by month dummy variables to account for the influence of time related effects on the loan performance outcomes. The findings from our robustness tests indicate that there is no difference in the sign and significance on our estimates with the inclusion of time dummies. This implies that our estimates for impact of skin in the game on interest rates, default likelihood and severity of default is robust and supports our primary findings (See Table A10 of Appendix).
7.2.3.4  Exclusion of old loans 
	In a resale marketplace lending framework, loan originators originate loans on their balance sheet and further lists for investment on platform for investors. The date on which the loan originates the loan on their balance sheet to borrowers is known as the issue date. Meanwhile, the date on which the loan originator lists them on Mintos platform for investment to investors is known as the listing date. Our sample includes all loans that were listed on platform during the specified time frame of sample. Generally, originators issue and list the loans for investment within the same time frame. However, the sample includes some loans that were issued prior to the sample period but listed during the sample period. Hence, to account for any potential biases or sensitivity resulting from listing of older originated loans, we exclude observations with issue date earlier than sample period of the study. The findings from our robustness test indicate that there is no difference in the sign and significance of our estimates with the exclusion of older loans (See Table A11 of Appendix). This implies that the impact of skin in the game on interest rates, default rates and severity of default is robust and is not driven by the presence of older loans. 

7.2.3.5 Additional control variables
With the transition from claims to notes on Mintos, originators have a choice to pledge their assets in the event of default of loans to provide additional security to investors. Pledge of assets is a form of credit enhancement extended by originators to investors on the platform. According to Chowdhury, Chen, and Tiong (2015) credit enhancement is any form of financial support that is provided to improve credit strength. Therefore, we include pledge of assets, represented by a dummy variable to account for the potential improvement in loan performance resulting from the originator’s choice to pledge their assets. Our findings indicate that there is no difference in the sign and significance of our estimates from primary findings (See Table A12 of Appendix). Moreover, the impact of pledge of assets is insignificant on the ex-post loan performance outcomes. 
7.2.3.6  IV Regression Estimation	
Given the theoretical expectation that higher "skin in the game" should improve loan performance due to increased monitoring efforts, we are nevertheless cautious of potential endogeneity issues in our analysis. Even though this study uses control variables, there are still some factors affecting loan performance that are difficult to observe and control. However, this paper does not give much consideration to reverse causation, as loan performance is unlikely to affect the originators’ level of skin in the game. This is because skin in the game of originator is agreed and fixed during the onboarding stage and remains constant across the sample. Since the literature on resale marketplace lending is at the nascent stage, we rely on the literature on securitized loans by banks to better understand the endogeneity issue resulting from a financial institution’s share or exposure in loans. 
As noted by Bord and Santos (2015), there is a lack of empirical evidence suggesting appropriate instruments for skin in the game. However, we rely on a theoretical study regarding bank skin in the game and loan contract design by Billett, Elkamhi, Popov & Pungaliya, (2016) as a starting point. The study proposes a model where the banks’ share or skin in the game in the loans can be treated as endogenous. It theorizes that a bank’s cost of capital might impact the bank's decision on how much of the loan to retain. A higher cost of capital for banks might lead them to retain a smaller share of the loan and vice versa. In a similar vein, we extend the model to our study, where we propose that loan originators’ skin in the game may be influenced by their cost of capital. Originators with a higher level of cost of capital may retain low share of loan on their balance sheet and vice versa. 
Therefore, this section uses a two-stage instrumental variables regression to re-estimate the effect of skin in the game on interest rates, likelihood of default and severity of default. Table A13 and A14 of Appendix reports the relevant results of IV-2SLS, IV – Probit, IV – Fractional probit regression. Although the estimations pass the weak instrument test, the result of the endogeneity tests remains inconsistent across some estimations. This inconsistency suggests that the concern about endogeneity may not be as pronounced as initially proposed in resale marketplace lending setting. Table A13 of Appendix presents the results of the first-stage regressions, where the instrumental variable and skin in the game is negatively and significantly correlated at the 1 % level. This suggests that higher cost of capital for originators might lead them to retain a smaller share of the loan. Table A14 of Appendix reports the outcomes of the second-stage regression, where the regression coefficient of skin in the game is significantly negative at the 1 % level, or in line with the results of the benchmark regression. Furthermore, the estimates also indicate that the impact of skin in the game is more pronounced for notes relative to claims. This suggests that the underlying conclusions remain robust and convincing even after dealing with endogeneity.
Through these robustness analyses, we are confident that our primary results withstand variations in sample size, composition, and estimation methods. These additional tests strengthen the credibility of our findings and underline the significance of skin in the game as a consistent and influential factor in shaping ex ante and ex post loan performance outcomes.

7.3  Discussion of results 
This study explored the intricate dynamics of the resale marketplace lending framework, shedding light on the interplay of information asymmetry, multi-level agency relationships, and incentive mechanisms. The empirical investigation delved into the role of 'skin in the game, a requirement imposed on loan originators by platforms like Mintos, and its profound impact on loan pricing, default likelihood, and severity of default.
Our research findings align with previous studies that have explored the role of information asymmetry in peer-to-peer (P2P) lending platforms. Extant literature has explored the role of signals such as soft information (Weiss et al., 2010; Prystav, 2016), borrower narratives, and social capital in mitigating information asymmetry (Lin et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2021). Our study complements these findings by introducing skin in the game as an additional signaling mechanism. By requiring loan originators in the resale marketplace lending framework to retain a portion of the loans they distribute, the skin in the game serves as a powerful signal of their confidence in the loan's creditworthiness. This aligns with signaling theory's premise of using signals to reduce information asymmetry between borrowers and lenders. However, our research extends the existing literature by focusing on the resale marketplace lending framework, a less-explored domain in the P2P lending landscape. We introduce skin in the game as an incentive mechanism and reveal its inverse relationship with default rates, severity of default cases, and interest rates on the largest European P2P lending platform, Mintos. By delving into this unexplored area, our study provides novel insights into the effectiveness of skin in the game as a means to address information asymmetry challenges specific to resale marketplace lending platforms, thus contributing to a more comprehensive understanding of incentive mechanisms in the P2P lending context.
Moreover, drawing a parallel to the financial crisis, our study also offers valuable insights into the potential pitfalls that could have haunted the resale marketplace lending ecosystem without the implementation of 'skin in the game.' The originate-to-distribute model's disregard for risk retention and accountability led to the proliferation of asset backed securities and systemic risks. Resale marketplace lending, with its similarities, could have been susceptible to similar risks if not for the platform's judicious requirement for loan originators to have a stake in the loans they distribute. 
The study has uncovered compelling evidence regarding the pivotal role of skin in the game in reshaping the lending landscape in resale marketplace platforms. Our findings resonate with the core theme we introduced at the outset of this study: addressing information asymmetry and agency conflicts in the lending market. By integrating theories of signaling, agency, and optimal contracts, the study unraveled the intricate dynamics of the resale marketplace lending framework, providing insights into investor behavior and loan practices. 

7.4 Theoretical Contributions 
The crux of this paper lies in elucidating the pervasive influence of information asymmetry, manifested as two distinct issues occurring at different levels. The study contends that the coexistence of adverse selection and moral hazard problems characterizes the relationships between investors and Mintos, as well as between Mintos and loan originators. While prior research has probed and substantiated these challenges within retail businesses (Picard, 1987; Klein & Murphy, 1988; Mishra et al., 1998), this study pioneers the empirical exploration of such issues in the context of Peer-to-Peer (P2P) lending platforms.
Building upon existing scholarship, our findings reiterate the central role played by "skin in the game" in countering the multifaceted problems arising from information asymmetry. Notably, our results reveal that the incentive mechanism established to tackle the moral hazard problem simultaneously acts as a deterrent to adverse selection, unveiling the diverse or dual utility of "skin in the game." This mirrors previous research, which has recognized the interchangeable nature of incentives and signals in combatting issues like adverse selection and moral hazard, as seen in Rao and Monroe's (1996) findings on reputation signals. Our contribution to the academic discourse extends to the intricacies of agency relationships within resale marketplace lending platforms, especially in the context of platform-originator interactions. In contrast to previous P2P lending studies predominantly centered on borrower-lender dynamics, our research delves into the multifaceted complexities introduced by loan originators. Thus, we furnish empirical evidence supporting the efficacy of "skin in the game" as a tool to align the interests of originators and investors. It is worth noting that while our primary focus is on the second tier of agency relationships, i.e., between the platform and originators, our study carries wider implications for originator-investor interactions.
This study substantiates the strategic transmission of originators' "skin in the game" level as a critical influencer on P2P lending platforms. Investors base loan investment choices on originators' information regarding the extent of "skin in the game," with these decisions aligning with subsequent loan performance. This dispels any notion that such information provisioning is mere "cheap talk." Notably, Mintos' enforcement of "skin in the game" requirement on originators dovetails seamlessly with signaling theory and optimal contract equilibrium. 
Additionally, our study also contends that high-quality originators benefit from improved loan pricing, as investors deem loans from them less risky. Originators judiciously weigh the marginal cost of retaining loans against the associated marginal enhancement in loan pricing. Our findings coherently reflect the effectiveness of optimal contracts and signaling theories in explicating lending behavior within the resale marketplace lending context. Investors aptly decode the signaling impact of originators' "skin in the game" when making investment choices, as their decisions resoundingly correlate with ex post loan quality. This congruence in Mintos' enforcement of "skin in the game" and investors' interpretation thereof, vis-à-vis ex post loan performance, attests to its efficacy in attenuating information asymmetry regarding unobservable loan quality.
As the significance of resale marketplace lending burgeons within the financial landscape, our study underscores the necessity of comprehending these intricate dynamics for both investors and platforms. "Skin in the game" emerges as a preeminent mechanism in alleviating information asymmetry within P2P lending ecosystems, solidifying its position as a vital tool in this evolving landscape.

7.5 Managerial Implications
The study also considers the implications of our findings for management decision making. As a starting point, we consider the general information asymmetry management framework presented in Figure (4). The study first considers the assessment of information problems faced by investors on Mintos. In principle, the problem of information asymmetry poses a threat to the investors at two levels. These are misrepresentation of loan originator characteristics (i.e., adverse selection) and quality cheating (moral hazard). As illustrated in Figure (4), both issues are mitigated generally by the use of signals and incentives respectively. Although, some firms employ individual mechanisms to serve as signal and incentives separately, the mechanism used in our study to address the information asymmetry problems served duals roles as signals and incentive devices (Rao & Bergen, 1992). In our empirical findings, we observed that "skin in the game" serves as an effective mechanism that addresses the challenges of information asymmetry. By requiring loan originators to have a personal stake in the loans they originate, "skin in the game" becomes a tangible signal of their commitment and risk-sharing with investors. 
Finally, the study considers the implications of the findings for the services literature. The extant literature suggests that marketers use service guarantees and assurance in their efforts to communicate the quality of services. Service guarantees are strategic tools used by firms to reduce the prepurchase risk for customers (Hogreve & Gremler, 2009). Service providers signal their commitment to delivering high-quality services and to reduce customers' perceived risk associated with the service encounter. "Skin in the game" can be considered a form of service assurance, where the service provider demonstrates its dedication and alignment of interests with the customer by having a personal stake in the outcome. As such, it implies that the service provider is willing to share the risks and rewards associated with the service with the customer, which can foster a sense of reliability and trust. 
From a practical standpoint, however, it is unclear what the effects of service guarantees are. Although studies have suggested that service guarantees reduce the consumer’s perceived risk prior to purchase (Ostrom & Iacobucci, 1998; Boshoff, 2002; Lidén & Edvardsson, 2003), there are no consistent results regarding which elements of a service guarantee cause this reduction of risk. Furthermore, there is no clear empirical evidence on whether the presence of a service guarantee yields quality improvements (Hogreve & Gremler, 2009).
The empirical findings in this study for skin in the game suggest why efforts at providing service guarantees serves as an effective mechanism. Requiring loan originators to have skin in the game serve a specific purpose for end customers by offering tangible evidence of a firm's commitment to the service provided. This may explain why competition in the market transcends a mere focus on pricing, compelling firms to invest in strategic service guarantees. Mintos can capitalize on this unique selling point by further emphasizing the concept in its marketing efforts and showcasing real-life success stories of how "skin in the game" has positively impacted loan quality and investor returns. By elucidating the link between theory and practice, our study provides valuable insights for management decision making for Mintos and other resale marketplace lending platforms.
8. CONCLUSION
8.1 Concluding Remarks
The information asymmetry and its amplified effects in the resale marketplace lending domain, where loan originators may be incentivized to prioritize loan origination and distribution over loan quality motivates us to explore the role of skin in the game mechanism in alleviating information asymmetry between investors and loan originators. Employing the data from Mintos, the largest resale marketplace lending platform in EU, we investigate the impact of level of skin in the game borne by an originator on the ex-ante and ex-post loan performance. The findings of the study indicate that the loans listed by originators with higher level of skin in the game are significantly and negatively related to interest rates, likelihood of default and severity of default. These findings suggest that loan originators may strategically signal the commitment and trust in the loans they offer by bearing higher level of skin in the game. Accordingly, the evidenced reduction in the likelihood and severity of default also reaffirms our expectation of the dual role played by skin in the game as an incentive and signal. 
According to Alexander & Cumming (2020), the detection and prevention of fraud and misconduct takes the utmost precedence in the financial risk management. Although the empirical research on resale marketplace lending is scarce, the evidence of fraudsters generally in the crowd funding market is already established (Karami, Cumming, Hornuf, & Schweizer, 2017). This intricacy emerges as a collective of agents; i.e., loan originators and Mintos collaborates to improve the well-being of investors. Thereby, posing a significant challenge in disentangling individual outcomes from each other. The findings of this study also reaffirms the loan originator’s tendency to engage in opportunistic behavior as evidenced by the inverse relationship between skin in the game and likelihood and severity of default. As the level of skin in the game decreases, originators have a tendency to exert less effort to ensure the quality of loan offerings.
8.2 Policy Implications 
The extant literature identified the prevalence of four important stakeholders such as, regulators, platform, investors and borrowers among peer to peer lending platforms (Bao, Ding, Gopal, & Möhlmann, 2023). The findings of this study also has important implications for investors on the platform. According to Bao et al. (2023), the investors on the platform are the ultimate bearers of default risks and is often exacerbated due to risk of information asymmetry and investment concentration. Our findings indicate that investors can optimize the default risk by investing in loans that are listed by originators with higher level of skin in the game. Furthermore, investors on the platform also face investment concentration risk if the investors are unable to diversify the loans due to internal mechanisms (Bao et al., 2023). The inherent nature of the current loan-based investments i.e., notes poses substantial investment concentration risk to investors as several loans are bundled together to form a set of notes. At an investor level, our findings indicate that investors can optimize investment concentration risk by investing in loans originated by higher skin in the game. Originators with higher level of skin in the game practice more caution in bundling the loans and are less likely to slip in subprime loans due to their heightened sensitivity to loan performance. Investors will realize improved returns and reduced long term risks by investing in the loans listed by originators with a higher skin in the game. This will promote and improve responsible investment practices on the platform.
In addition, findings indicated a substantial increase in the underlying risk arising from transition to current security design, i.e. notes. Therefore, policy makers also should consider requiring the platform or loan originators to separate a set of notes into tranches as observed in the Mortgage backed securities market (Mizen, 2008), issuing a rating for each individual loan pooled in the bundle. This will in turn promote transparency in the underlying risk of the security and facilitate investors to make responsible lending decisions in alignment with their risk appetite. In addition, policymakers should also require platforms to give due discretion for investors to invest in set of notes by respective tranches. This will reduce investment concentration risk and promote investor welfare.
The findings of this study also has implications for loan originators. Loan originators offering high quality loan-based investments should bear a higher level of skin in the game as the findings evidenced the signaling property of skin in the game. Policymakers can also encourage originators to bear a higher level of skin in the game by implementing incentives. As such, loan originators with a higher level of skin in the game could be subjected to less stringent capital adequacy standards.
Although Mintos operates under a regulated environment, there is currently no regulatory framework in place to monitor the participation of originators on resale marketplace lending platforms. Therefore, policy makers should give considerations for the increased and stringent oversight of originators. Firstly, policies should be aimed at originators to disclose such distribution of loans or participation on resale marketplace lending platforms. Regulators should also lay out an eligibility criteria for distribution among loan originators.
In addition, although there exists a skin in the game mechanism to align the interests of both the parties at Mintos-Loan originator level, the platform shall also take additional measures to counteract any potential opportunistic behavior by originators. Originators are better off financially compared to completely retaining the loans as their financial gains from loan origination might still outweigh the potential losses from defaults. Currently, all loan offerings are accompanied with buyback obligation. However, loan originators tend to struggle to buy back the loan from all investors in the event of a market turmoil, resulting in bankruptcy (Nigmonov & Shams, 2020). Thus, to improve the efficiency of buyback as a credit enhancement mechanism, Mintos must set out stringent capital requirement in accordance with loan distribution standards on the platform.
In conclusion, the findings of our study highlight the multifaceted policy implications for stakeholders involved in resale marketplace lending. All the stakeholders should collaboratively address the unique challenges posed by this evolving financial ecosystem to ensure stability, transparency, and responsible lending practices.
8.3 Limitations and Future Research Avenues
The results of our study must be interpreted in view of certain limitations. We acknowledge that our analyses are based solely on loan originators from the countries within the European Union (EU). This decision was influenced by the platform's geographic concentration, primarily centered in Europe with limited representation in other regions. As the key explanatory variable in our study, "skin in the game," is fixed for each originator, this lack of diversity induces a potential issue of extreme multicollinearity between country fixed effects and the key variable.
Several avenues for further research are also available. Currently, the platform has both primary and secondary market, in the latter of which loans can be sold by investors to other potential investors. It would be interesting to examine the ease of sale or liquidity of loans that were offered by originators with high skin in the game. Understanding how "skin in the game" influences the secondary market and loan resale dynamics can provide valuable insights into investor behavior and liquidity. Furthermore, researchers can also examine the link between the pricing of loans and level of skin in the game. Investors may resell the loans to other investors at par, premium or discount in the secondary market. As such, it would be an interesting avenue to examine if high level of skin in the game by the originator of loans signals low risk to potential buyers in the secondary market, and thereby, be willing to buy the loans at premium in line with the Portfolio theory. Exploring whether high "skin in the game" by originators signals lower risk and influences loan pricing can contribute to the understanding of how investors perceive and value risk in the resale marketplace lending platforms.
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APPENDIX
Appendix Table A1: Definition of variables
	Name
	Definition
	Source
	Expected sign

	Dependent variables
	
	
	

	Interest
	The rate of interest paid by loan originators to investors (%)
	Mintos Loan book
	

	Default
	1 If the loan has defaulted, and 0 otherwise
	Mintos Loan book
	

	SEVDEF
	The proportion of remaining loan amount to initial loan amount
	Mintos Loan book
	

	Key explanatory variable
	
	
	

	SITG
	The amount or level of skin in the game borne by loan originator
	Mintos website
	-

	Control variables: Loan characteristics
	
	
	

	Term
	The duration of loan in months
	Mintos Loan book
	+

	Amount
	The loan amount of the underlying loan in euros
	Mintos Loan book
	+

	Loan type
	The type of loan offered: 1-Agricultural Loan 2-Business Loan, 3-Car Loan, 4- Mortgage Loan, 5- Pawn broking Loan, 6- Personal Loan, 7- Short Term Loan
	Mintos Loan book
	=

	Risk score
	The score issued by Mintos to rate investment risk of claims or notes, with values ranging between 1 (High risk) and 10 (Low risk)
	Mintos Loan book
	-

	Collateral
	A dummy variable representing the provision of collateral, the value is 1 if the loan is collateralized and 0 otherwise
	Mintos Loan book
	+

	Extsched
	A dummy variable representing the provision of extendable schedule option, the value is 1 if the loan originator provides extendable schedule option and 0 otherwise
	Mintos Loan book
	+

	Control variables: Loan originator characteristics
	
	
	

	Age
	The age of loan originator
	Mintos website
	-

	Loanport
	The total loan portfolio of loan originator as a proxy of size
	Mintos website
	-

	Country
	Country dummies for all loan originators
	Mintos Loan book
	=

	
Control variables: Macroeconomic variables
	
	
	

	Unemplymt
	The unemployment rate for each country (Monthly and seasonally adjusted)
	European Central Bank
	+

	Govtbond
	The long-term interest rates for each country (Monthly and seasonally adjusted)
	European Central Bank
	+





Appendix Table A2: Mean differences test
	Variables
	Observations
	Mean
	Observations
	Mean
	Mean Difference

	
	Panel A
	
	Panel B
	
	

	Interest
	1,452,900
	0.0919
	530,434
	0.1257
	-0.0339***

	Default
	1,404,090
	0.0009
	213,088
	0.1897
	-0.1888***

	Sevdef
	1,404,090
	0.0007
	213,088
	0.1756
	-0.1750***

	Note: The table reports the mean difference between two samples (Claims and Notes) in our study. Panel A and Panel B represents sample of Claims and Notes respectively. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.




Appendix Table A3: Summary statistics
	
	PANEL A
	
	
	
	PANEL B
	
	
	

	Variable
	Mean
	Std.Dev.
	Min
	Max
	Mean
	Std.Dev.
	Min
	Max

	PANEL A
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest
	0.0919
	0.0205
	0.055
	0.166
	0.1272
	0.0205
	0.055
	0.186

	Default
	0.0009
	0.0300
	0
	1
	0.0738
	0.2615
	0
	1

	SEVDEF
	0.0165
	0.0984
	0
	1
	0.5896
	0.4582
	0
	1

	SITG
	0.0699
	0.0242
	0.02
	0.1
	0.0637
	0.0234
	0.02
	0.15

	Term
	7.4758
	16.2921
	1
	240
	9.1404
	18.7459
	1
	238

	Amount
	748.3907
	1289.4490
	12.05
	399737.6
	701.7888
	1261.0160
	25.18
	55172.25

	Riskscore
	6.7469
	0.8016
	5
	8
	6.9217
	0.7648
	5.5
	9

	Collateral
	0.1010
	0.3013
	0
	1
	0.1628
	0.3692
	0
	1

	Extsched
	0.7893
	0.4078
	0
	1
	0.7257
	0.4462
	0
	1

	Age
	8.5314
	4.4884
	4
	22
	9.1695
	5.0388
	1
	22

	Loanport
	28,900,000
	36,400,000
	2,500,000
	235,000,000
	28,700,000
	16,700,000
	2,300,000
	80,700,000

	Unemplymt
	0.0875
	0.0482
	0.0290
	0.1580
	0.0896
	0.0402
	0.026
	0.1302

	Govtbond
	0.0081
	0.0099
	-0.0038
	0.0537
	0.0327163
	0.0185224
	0.00031
	0.0926

	Number of observations
	1,452,900
	
	
	
	530,434
	
	
	




Appendix Table A4: Correlation Matrix
	
	Interest
	Default
	SEVDEF
	SITG
	Term
	Amount
	Riskscore
	Collateral
	Extsched
	Age
	Loanport
	Unemplymt
	Govtbond

	PANEL A
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Default
	-0.018*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	SEVDEF
	-0.118*
	0.209*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	SITG
	0.114*
	0.024*
	-0.068*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Term
	-0.143*
	0.026*
	0.463*
	-0.128*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amount
	0.113*
	0.043*
	0.120*
	0.068*
	0.143*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Riskscore
	-0.417*
	0.024*
	0.092*
	0.215*
	0.292*
	0.081*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Collateral
	-0.364*
	0.026*
	-0.016*
	-0.218*
	-0.077*
	0.030*
	0.523*
	1
	
	
	
	
	

	Extsched
	0.015*
	0.010*
	-0.082*
	0.012*
	-0.188*
	-0.005*
	0.289*
	0.173*
	1
	
	
	
	

	Age
	-0.357*
	0.011*
	0.286*
	-0.517*
	0.603*
	-0.017*
	0.254*
	0.293*
	-0.376*
	1
	
	
	

	Loanport
	-0.093*
	0.068*
	0.249*
	-0.316*
	0.431*
	0.186*
	0.115*
	0.264*
	0.020*
	0.484*
	1
	
	

	Unemplymt
	0.187*
	-0.012*
	-0.126*
	-0.330*
	-0.266*
	-0.237*
	-0.555*
	-0.093*
	0.121*
	-0.156*
	-0.009*
	1
	

	Govtbond
	-0.074*
	0.028*
	0.131*
	0.249*
	0.082*
	0.225*
	-0.042*
	-0.202*
	-0.318*
	-0.046*
	-0.097*
	-0.578*
	1

	PANEL B
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Default
	0.009*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	SEVDEF
	-0.009*
	0.043*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	SITG
	0.144*
	0.018*
	-0.034*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Term
	0.157*
	-0.065*
	0.152*
	-0.161*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amount
	0.101*
	-0.004*
	0.076*
	0.290*
	0.180*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Riskscore
	-0.115*
	0.014*
	0.029*
	0.129*
	0.186*
	0.061*
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Collateral
	-0.314*
	0.039*
	0.026*
	-0.146*
	-0.146*
	-0.039*
	0.623*
	1
	
	
	
	
	

	Extsched
	0.067*
	0.046*
	-0.100*
	0.335*
	-0.442*
	0.131*
	-0.651*
	-0.465*
	1
	
	
	
	

	Age
	-0.088*
	-0.051*
	0.123*
	-0.517*
	0.688*
	-0.048*
	0.389*
	0.312*
	-0.715*
	1
	
	
	

	Loanport
	-0.130*
	-0.042*
	0.090*
	-0.510*
	0.579*
	-0.148*
	0.011*
	0.079*
	-0.464*
	0.684*
	1
	
	

	Unemplymt
	-0.221*
	-0.001
	-0.089*
	-0.366*
	-0.339*
	-0.169*
	-0.451*
	-0.105*
	0.375*
	-0.257*
	0.007*
	1
	

	Govtbond
	0.076*
	-0.040*
	-0.044*
	0.432*
	0.274*
	0.219*
	0.142*
	-0.052*
	-0.088*
	0.055*
	0.103*
	-0.620*
	1



Appendix Table A5: Impact of Skin in the game on interest rates
	Variables
	1)
	2)

	SITG
	-0.0626***
	-0.4399***

	
	(0.0036)
	(0.0047)

	Term
	0.0005***
	0.0165***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0003)

	Term × Term
	0.0000***
	-0.0030***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)

	Amount
	0.0000***
	-0.0010***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Riskscore
	-0.0110***
	-0.0007***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)

	Collateral
	-0.0184***
	0.0641***

	
	(0.0028)
	(0.0012)

	Extsched
	0.0015***
	-0.0139***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)

	Loantype

	
	

	Agricultural Loan
	-0.0163***
	-

	
	(0.0027)
	

	Business Loan
	-0.0227***
	-0.0562***

	
	(0.0031)
	(0.0022)

	Car Loan
	0.0090***
	-0.0508***

	
	(0.0023)
	(0.0011)

	Mortgage Loan
	-0.0615***
	-0.1318***

	
	(0.0038)
	(0.0056)

	Pawnbroking Loan
	0.0131***
	-0.1038***

	
	(0.0028)
	(0.0013)

	Personal Loan
	-0.0011***
	-0.0299***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)

	Age
	-0.0018***
	-0.0135***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)

	Loanport
	-0.0015***
	-0.0012***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)

	Loanport × Loanport
	0.0033***
	-0.0016***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)

	Country Fixed effects

	Yes
	Yes

	Unemplymt
	0.0096***
	-0.0012***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)

	Govtbond
	-2.0131***
	0.0025***

	
	(0.0062)
	(0.0001)

	_cons
	0.1715***
	0.2205***

	
	(0.0010)
	(0.0010)

	Adjusted - r squared
	0.5035
	0.4142

	N
	1,452,900
	530,434

	Note: The table reports the regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates. Specification (1) and Specification (2) reports the results for claims and notes respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.




Appendix Table A6: Impact of Skin in the game on default and severity of default
	
	PANEL A
	
	
	
	PANEL B
	
	
	

	Variables
	1a)
	 1b)
	2a)	
	2b)
	3a)
	3b)
	4a)
	4b)

	SITG
	-32.0922***
	-0.0287***
	-6.1535***
	-0.8932***
	-12.5512***
	-0.0086***
	-3.5878***
	-0.4907***

	
	(5.8633)
	(0.0053)
	(0.9291)
	(0.1348)
	(3.8632)
	(0.0027)
	(0.9182)
	(0.1255)

	Term
	0.0235***
	0.0000***
	-0.0076***
	-0.0011***
	0.8003***
	0.0006***
	-0.0051***
	-0.0007***

	
	(0.0014)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0299)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0001)

	Amount
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0002***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0002***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Riskscore
	-1.0370***
	-0.0009***
	1.0358***
	0.1504***
	-1.5550***
	-0.0011***
	0.9123***
	0.1248***

	
	(0.0982)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0248)
	(0.0030)
	(0.1133)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0249)
	(0.0034)

	Interest
	-53.8307***
	-0.0482***
	6.1626***
	0.8945***
	-42.6756***
	-0.0293***
	8.4032***
	1.1494***

	
	(2.2404)
	(0.0024)
	(0.4492)
	(0.0650)
	(2.7614)
	(0.0020)
	(0.4420)
	(0.0602)

	Collateral
	0.7593
	0.0007
	2.3389***
	0.3395***
	0.7890***
	0.0007
	1.7322***
	0.2369***

	
	(0.5381)
	(0.0007)
	(0.2765)
	(0.0488)
	(0.8761)
	(0.0010)
	(0.2668)
	(0.0365)

	Extsched
	0.6514***
	0.0006***
	1.5403***
	0.1732***
	0.6583***
	0.0004***
	1.4524***
	0.1570***

	
	(0.1434)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0406)
	(0.0034)
	(0.1271)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0402)
	(0.0033)

	Loantype
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Agricultural Loan
	2.9535***
	0.0144***
	-
	-
	-13.4725***
	-0.0010***
	-
	-

	
	(0.4810)
	(0.0041)
	
	
	(0.6626)
	(0.0003)
	
	

	Business Loan
	-0.1146
	-0.0001
	-2.8955*
	-0.2068***
	-0.7249
	-0.0005
	-2.6696**
	-0.1660***

	
	(0.8139)
	(0.0010)
	(1.5727)
	(0.0322)
	(0.7733)
	(0.0005)
	(1.3076)
	(0.0241)

	Car Loan
	-1.0508*
	-0.0009
	-3.0311***
	-0.2094***
	-0.0444
	0.0000
	-2.7301***
	-0.1670***

	
	(0.5753)
	(0.0006)
	(0.2722)
	(0.0136)
	(0.8992)
	(0.0008)
	(0.2660)
	(0.0128)

	Mortgage Loan
	-2.5382***
	-0.0013***
	-5.0771***
	-0.2272***
	-1.3541
	-0.0007
	-4.1588***
	-0.1807***

	
	(0.9890)
	(0.0005)
	(1.0686)
	(0.0126)
	(1.0594)
	(0.0005)
	(1.0500)
	(0.0123)

	Pawnbroking Loan
	-4.0592***
	-0.0014***
	-1.4652***
	-0.1520***
	-4.1308***
	-0.0010***
	-0.6958***
	-0.0776***

	
	(0.7587)
	(0.0005)
	(0.2806)
	(0.0214)
	(1.0603)
	(0.0003)
	(0.2714)
	(0.0265)

	Personal Loan
	0.3169**
	0.0005**
	0.3822***
	0.0616***
	-0.4587***
	-0.0004**
	0.4219***
	0.0642***

	
	(0.1481)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0233)
	(0.0040)
	(0.1444)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0233)
	(0.0036)

	Age
	-1.7745***
	-0.0016***
	-0.1082***
	-0.0157***
	-0.1555***
	-0.0001***
	-0.0723***
	-0.0099***

	
	(0.2596)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0239)
	(0.0035)
	(0.0186)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0287)
	(0.0039)

	Loanport
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.4291***
	0.0003***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0627)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Country Fixed effects
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Unemplymt
	1.3843***
	0.0012***
	1.4288***
	0.2074***
	-140.7415***
	-0.0968***
	1.5258***
	0.2087***

	
	(0.1727)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0431)
	(0.0062)
	(6.3201)
	(0.0052)
	(0.043-)
	(0.0059)

	Govtbond
	-0.5495
	-0.0005
	-0.0168
	-0.0024
	46.8467***
	0.0322***
	-0.1907***
	-0.0261***

	
	(5.6406)
	(0.0050)
	(0.0136)
	(0.0020)
	(5.4298)
	(0.0038)
	(0.0139)
	(0.0019)

	_cons
	7.2549***
	
	-8.2909***
	
	18.1541***
	
	-8.0017***
	

	
	(1.1786)
	
	(0.1980)
	
	(1.5538)
	
	(0.1970)
	

	Pseudo - r squared
	0.2927
	
	0.0518
	
	0.2962
	
	0.0583
	

	N
	1,404,090
	1,404,090
	213,088
	213,088
	1,404,090
	1,404,090
	213,088
	213,088

	Note: The table reports the logit regression and fractional regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on likelihood of default and severity of default respectively. The results for likelihood of default and severity of default are reported in Panel A and Panel B respectively. Specification (1a) and Specification (2a) in Panel A reports the logit coefficients for claims and notes respectively for likelihood of default. Specification (1b) and Specification (2b) reports the margins for claims and notes respectively for likelihood of default. Specification (3a) and Specification (4a) in Panel B reports the fractional logit coefficients for claims and notes respectively for severity of default. Specification (3b) and Specification (4b) reports the margins for claims and notes respectively for severity of default.  All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.








Appendix Table A7: Testing for equality of coefficients
	Variables
	Claims
	Coefficient
	Notes
	Coefficient
	Chi-square statistic (X2)

	Panel A
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest
	1452900
	-0.06
	530,434
	-0.44
	4106.29***

	Default
	1404090
	-32.09
	213,088
	-6.15
	19.09***

	Sevdef
	1404090
	-12.55
	213,088
	-3.59
	5.10**

	
	Claims
	Coefficient
	Notes
	Coefficient
	Z statistic

	Panel B
	
	
	
	
	

	Default
	1404090
	-0.03
	213,088
	-0.89
	-6.40***

	Sevdef
	1404090
	-0.01
	213,088
	-0.49
	-3.31***

	Note: The table reports the statistical difference between two coefficients (Claims and Notes) for three dependent research questions in our study. Panel A represents the results of chow test with a null hypothesis of equality of coefficients. Panel B represents the test of equality of coefficients for the respective margins of logit and fractional response regression coefficients, i.e. Default and severity of default. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.



Appendix Table A8: Robustness Test: Bootstrap resampling
	Variable
	Observed Bootstrap Coefficient
	Observed Bootstrap Coefficient

	
	1a)
	2a)

	Panel A : Default
	
	

	SITG
	-32.0922***
	-6.1535***

	
	(6.0299)
	(0.9399)

	No. of replications
	200
	200

	No. of observations
	1,404,090
	213,088

	Panel B : SEVDEF
	
	

	SITG
	-12.5512***
	-3.5878***

	
	(4.1018)
	(0.9584)

	No. of replications
	200
	200

	No. of observations
	1,404,090
	213,088

	Panel C : Interest 
	
	

	SITG
	-0.0626***
	-0.4399***

	
	(0.0034)
	(0.0045)

	No. of replications
	200
	200

	No. of observations
	1,452,900
	530,434

	Note: The table reports the estimates of bootstrap resampling analysis for the impact of skin in the game on default likelihood, severity of default and interest rates in Panel A, Panel B and Panel C respectively. Specification (1a) and Specification (2a) reports the observed coefficients for claims and notes respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.




Appendix Table A9: Robustness Tests - Different Estimation Methods
	Variables
	PANEL A
	
	
	
	PANEL B
	
	PANEL C
	

	
	1)
	2)
	3)
	4)
	5)
	6)
	7)
	8)

	SITG
	-0.0626***
	-0.4399***
	-0.0327***
	-0.3669***
	-0.0213***
	-0.7739***
	-0.0054***
	-0.3428***

	
	(0.0036)
	(0.0047)
	(0.0012)
	(0.0040)
	(0.0046)
	(0.1322)
	(0.0020)
	(0.1197)

	Term
	0.0005***
	0.0165***
	0.0005***
	0.0177***
	0.0000***
	-0.0007***
	0.0006***
	-0.0003***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0003)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)

	Term × Term
	-0.000003***
	-0.0030***
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amount
	0.0000***
	-0.0010***
	0.0000***
	-0.0011***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000**
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Riskscore
	-0.0110***
	-0.0007***
	-0.0113***
	-0.0019***
	-0.0009***
	0.1418***
	-0.0011***
	0.1171***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0032)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0030)

	
	
	
	
	
	-0.0486***
	0.7230***
	-0.0281***
	0.9753***

	
	
	
	
	
	(0.0024)
	(0.0614)
	(0.0020)
	(0.0575)

	Collateral
	-0.0184***
	0.0641***
	-0.0205***
	0.0703***
	0.0008
	0.3688***
	0.0005
	0.2664***

	
	(0.0028)
	(0.0012)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0013)
	(0.0012)
	(0.0443)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0361)

	Extsched
	0.0015***
	-0.0139***
	0.0021***
	-0.0158***
	0.0008***
	0.1639***
	0.0004***
	0.1480***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0031)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0031)

	Loantype
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Agricultural Loan
	-0.0163***
	-
	-0.0182***
	-
	0.0168***
	-
	-0.0010***
	-

	
	(0.0027)
	
	(0.0010)
	
	(0.0061)
	
	(0.0002)
	

	Business Loan
	-0.0227***
	-0.0562***
	-0.0261***
	-0.0605***
	-0.0005
	-0.2219***
	-0.0005
	-0.1785***

	
	(0.0031)
	(0.0022)
	(0.0008)
	(0.0018)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0199)
	(0.0004)
	(0.0205)

	Car Loan
	0.0090***
	-0.0508***
	0.0151***
	-0.0481***
	-0.0010
	-0.2164***
	0.0004
	-0.1772***

	
	(0.0023)
	(0.0011)
	(0.0013)
	(0.0008)
	(0.0006)
	(0.0118)
	(0.0012)
	(0.0118)

	Mortgage Loan
	-0.0615***
	-0.1318***
	-0.0478***
	-0.1167***
	-0.0012**
	-0.2332***
	-0.0006
	-0.1905***

	
	(0.0038)
	(0.0056)
	(0.0008)
	(0.0014)
	(0.0006)
	(0.0107)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0103)

	Pawnbroking Loan
	0.0131***
	-0.1038***
	0.0168***
	-0.0869***
	-0.0014***
	-0.1664***
	-0.0009***
	-0.0978***

	
	(0.0028)
	(0.0013)
	(0.0013)
	(0.0007)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0190)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0244)

	Personal Loan
	-0.0011***
	-0.0299***
	-0.0013***
	-0.0320***
	0.0003**
	0.0560***
	-0.0004***
	0.0583***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0038)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0034)

	Age
	-0.0018***
	-0.0135***
	-0.0018***
	-0.0112***
	-0.0014***
	-0.0166***
	-0.0001***
	-0.0082***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0033)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0033)

	Loanport
	-0.0015***
	-0.0012***
	-0.0009***
	-0.0013***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0003***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Loanport × Loanport
	0.0033***
	-0.0016***
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Country Fixed effects
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Unemplymt
	0.0096***
	-0.0012***
	0.0096***
	-0.0023***
	0.0011***
	0.2161***
	-0.0877***
	0.2167***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0062)
	(0.0053)
	(0.0058)

	Govtbond
	-2.0131***
	0.0025***
	-2.0907***
	0.0028***
	0.0082
	0.0009
	0.0355***
	-0.0229***

	
	(0.0062)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0030)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0056)
	(0.0019)
	(0.0045)
	(0.0018)

	_cons
	0.1715
	0.2205
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0010)
	(0.0010)
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Pseudo - r square
	0.1418
	0.1137
	0.0032
	0.0080
	0.2929
	0.0513
	0.2948
	0.0579

	N
	1,452,900
	530,434
	1,452,900
	530,434
	1,404,090
	213,088
	1,404,090
	213,088

	Note: The table reports the Tobit, and Beta regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates in Panel A respectively. Panel B and C reports the margin coefficients of Probit and Fractional Probit regression for the impact of skin in the game on likelihood and severity of default respectively. Specification (1), (3), (5) and (7) in Panel A, B and C reports the results for claims respectively. Specification (2), (4), (6) and (8) in Panel A, B and C reports the results for notes respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.



Appendix Table A10: Robustness Tests - Time Horizon
	
	PANEL A
	
	PANEL B
	
	PANEL C
	

	Variables
	1)
	2)
	3)
	4)
	5)
	6)

	SITG
	-0.1191***
	-0.5052***
	-0.0258***
	-1.9203***
	-0.0084***
	-1.0874***

	
	(0.0037)
	(0.0046)
	(0.0042)
	(0.1164)
	(0.0025)
	(0.1067)

	Term
	0.0005***
	0.0159***
	0.0000***
	-0.0010***
	0.0005***
	-0.0006***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0003)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)

	Term × Term
	0.0000***
	-0.0027***
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	

	Amount
	0.0000***
	-0.0009***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Riskscore
	-0.0100***
	0.0007***
	-0.0005***
	-0.0450***
	-0.0010***
	-0.0482***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0038)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0036)

	
	
	
	-0.0153***
	-0.4699***
	-0.0206***
	-0.0682

	
	
	
	(0.0027)
	(0.0703)
	(0.0023)
	(0.0636)

	Collateral
	-0.0211***
	0.0548***
	0.0015
	0.3210***
	0.0006
	0.2206***

	
	(0.0029)
	(0.0012)
	(0.0012)
	(0.0416)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0315)

	Extsched
	-0.0001
	-0.0083***
	-0.0003**
	0.1233***
	0.0003***
	0.0916***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0036)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0036)

	Loantype
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Agricultural Loan
	-0.0187***
	-
	0.0299***
	
	-0.0009***
	

	
	(0.0028)
	
	(0.0090)
	
	(0.0003)
	

	Business Loan
	-0.0249***
	-0.0627***
	-0.0001
	-0.1992***
	-0.0005
	-0.1583***

	
	(0.0033)
	(0.0022)
	(0.0014)
	(0.0378)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0376)

	Car Loan
	0.0089***
	-0.0485***
	-0.0013
	-0.1597***
	0.0001
	-0.1371***

	
	(0.0024)
	(0.0011)
	(0.0008)
	(0.0183)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0178)

	Mortgage Loan
	-0.0593***
	-0.1359***
	-0.0012
	-0.2277***
	-0.0006
	-0.1899***

	
	(0.0040)
	(0.0049)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0130)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0168)

	Pawnbroking Loan
	0.0162***
	-0.0942***
	-0.0018***
	-0.1480***
	-0.0009***
	-0.0958***

	
	(0.0029)
	(0.0013)
	(0.0007)
	(0.0207)
	(0.0003)
	(0.0235)

	Personal Loan
	-0.0015***
	-0.0302***
	0.0004
	0.0157***
	-0.0003**
	0.0140***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0003)
	(0.0035)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0031)

	Age
	-0.0021***
	-0.0144***
	-0.0014***
	0.0017
	-0.0001***
	0.0144***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0026)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0031)

	Loanport
	-0.0017***
	-0.0010***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0003***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Loanport × Loanport
	0.0031***
	-0.0013***
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	

	Country Fixed effects
	Yes
	
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes

	Month_dummies
	
	
	
	
	
	

	1
	0.0393***
	-
	-0.0050***
	
	-0.0024***
	

	
	(0.0001)
	
	(0.0004)
	
	(0.0002)
	

	2
	0.0329***
	
	-0.0050***
	
	-0.0024***
	

	
	(0.0001)
	
	(0.0004)
	
	(0.0002)
	

	3
	0.0261***
	-
	-0.0049***
	
	-0.0022***
	

	
	(0.0001)
	
	(0.0004)
	
	(0.0002)
	

	4
	0.0170***
	-
	-0.0049***
	
	-0.0024***
	

	
	(0.0000)
	
	(0.0004)
	
	(0.0002)
	

	5
	0.0108***
	0.0109***
	-0.0049***
	0.3305***
	-0.0024***
	0.3151***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0004)
	(0.0135)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0132)

	6
	0.0078***
	0.0046***
	-0.0045***
	0.2948***
	-0.0021***
	0.2933***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0004)
	(0.0084)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0081)

	7
	0.0064***
	0.0132***
	-0.0042***
	0.3085***
	-0.0019***
	0.2296***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0004)
	(0.0052)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0049)

	8
	0.0059***
	0.0078***
	-0.0028***
	-0.0572***
	-0.0015***
	-0.0916***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0004)
	(0.0033)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0032)

	9
	0.0136***
	-0.0009***
	-0.0046***
	0.0443***
	-0.0023***
	-0.0079***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0069)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0061)

	10
	0.0079***
	0.0025***
	-0.0028***
	-0.1207***
	-0.0017***
	-0.1336***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0004)
	(0.0035)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0035)

	11
	-0.0044***
	0.0016***
	-0.0019***
	0.0439***
	-0.0015***
	0.0494***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0003)
	(0.0031)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0033)

	Unemplymt
	0.0026***
	-0.0070***
	0.0003
	0.1241***
	-0.0638***
	0.1753***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0128)
	(0.0072)
	(0.0112)

	Govtbond
	-0.2267***
	0.0066***
	-0.0849***
	0.1104***
	-0.0234***
	0.0804***

	
	(0.0055)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0079)
	(0.0062)
	(0.0076)
	(0.0056)

	_cons
	0.1595***
	0.2091***
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0010)
	(0.0010)
	
	
	
	

	Adjusted - r squared
	0.7385
	0.4142
	
	
	
	

	N
	1,452,900
	530,434
	1,404,090
	213,088
	1,404,090
	213,088

	Note: The table reports the results of OLS, regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates in Panel A respectively. Panel B and C reports the margin coefficients of Logit and Fractional regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on default likelihood and severity of default respectively. Specification (1), (3) and (5) in Panel A, B and C reports the results for claims respectively. Specification (2), (4) and (6) in Panel A, B, and C reports the results for notes respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.



Appendix Table A11: Robustness Tests – Exclusion of old loans
	Variables
	PANEL A
	
	PANEL B
	
	PANEL C
	

	
	1)
	2)
	3)
	4)
	5)
	6)

	SITG
	-0.0789***
	-0.5771***
	-0.0202***
	-1.3609***
	-0.0053**
	-0.5997***

	
	(0.0042)
	(0.0061)
	(0.0050)
	(0.1423)
	(0.0028)
	(0.1248)

	Term
	0.0004***
	0.0160***
	0.0000***
	0.0002
	0.0006***
	-0.0008***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0003)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)

	Term × Term
	0.0000***
	-0.0029***
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	

	Amount
	0.0000***
	-0.0011***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000**
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Riskscore
	-0.0098***
	-0.0032***
	-0.0007***
	0.0768***
	-0.0010***
	0.1197***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0038)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0034)

	
	
	
	-0.0392***
	1.1920***
	-0.0242***
	1.1734***

	
	
	
	(0.0022)
	(0.0621)
	(0.0019)
	(0.0599)

	Collateral
	-0.0156***
	0.0666***
	0.0011
	0.4867***
	0.0020
	0.2430***

	
	(0.0038)
	(0.0021)
	(0.0013)
	(0.0751)
	(0.0026)
	(0.0362)

	Extsched
	-0.0002***
	-0.0148*
	0.0004***
	0.1276***
	0.0004***
	0.1537***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0037)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0033)

	Loantype
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Agricultural Loan
	-0.0247***
	-
	0.0069*
	
	-0.0011***
	

	
	(0.0036)
	
	(0.0038)
	
	(0.0005)
	

	Business Loan
	-0.0299***
	-0.0412***
	0.0000
	-0.1314
	-0.0008
	-0.1642***

	
	(0.0037)
	(0.0025)
	(0.0011)
	(0.0894)
	(0.0006)
	(0.0257)

	Car Loan
	0.0009
	-0.0600
	-0.0012
	-0.1865***
	-0.0006
	-0.1663***

	
	(0.0033)
	(0.0017)
	(0.0007)
	(0.0224)
	(0.0008)
	(0.0130)

	Mortgage Loan
	-0.0681***
	-0.1474***
	-0.0014**
	-0.1932***
	-0.0010*
	-0.1799***

	
	(0.0070)
	(0.0066)
	(0.0007)
	(0.0217)
	(0.0006)
	(0.0126)

	Pawnbroking Loan
	0.0094***
	-0.1089***
	-0.0015**
	-0.1167***
	-0.0011**
	-0.0800***

	
	(0.0038)
	(0.0022)
	(0.0007)
	(0.0382)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0260)

	Personal Loan
	-0.0010***
	-0.0310***
	0.0005***
	0.0937***
	-0.0004**
	0.0665***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0040)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0036)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Age
	-0.0019***
	-0.0151***
	-0.0014***
	0.0093***
	-0.0001***
	-0.0084**

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0032)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0039)

	Loanport
	-0.0011***
	-0.0015***
	0.0000*** 
	0.0000***
	0.0003***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)

	Loanport × Loanport
	0.0038***
	-0.0017***
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	

	Country Fixed effects
	
	
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes

	Unemplymt
	0.0104***
	-0.0019***
	0.0010***
	0.3289***
	-0.0817***
	0.2119***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0064)
	(0.0050)
	(0.0059)

	Govtbond
	-2.0627***
	0.0018***
	-0.0158***
	-0.0428***
	0.0179***
	-0.0273***

	
	(0.0071)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0048)
	(0.0021)
	(0.0040)
	(0.0019)

	_cons
	0.2141***
	0.2541***
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0010)
	(0.0010)
	
	
	
	

	Adjusted - r squared
	0.5078
	0.4304
	
	
	
	

	N
	1,376,649
	488,666
	1,333,140
	199,257
	1,333,140
	211,439

	Note: The table reports the results of OLS, regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates in Panel A respectively. Panel B and C reports the margin coefficients of Logit and Fractional regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on default likelihood and severity of default respectively. Specification (1), (3) and (5) in Panel A, B and C reports the results for claims respectively. Specification (2), (4) and (6) in Panel A, B, and C reports the results for notes respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Appendix Table A12: Robustness Tests – Additional Control Variables
	Variables
	PANEL A
	PANEL B
	
	PANEL C
	

	
	1a)
	2a)
	2b)
	3a)
	3b)

	SITG
	-0.3230***
	-6.0673***
	-0.8808***
	-3.5462***
	-0.4851***

	
	(0.0046)
	(0.9378)
	(0.1361)
	(0.9223)
	(0.1261)

	Term
	0.0190***
	-0.0075***
	-0.0011***
	-0.0050***
	-0.0007***

	
	(0.0003)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0009)
	(0.0001)

	Term × Term
	-0.0031***
	-
	-
	
	

	
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	

	Amount
	-0.0011***
	0.0002***
	0.0000***
	0.0002***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Riskscore
	-0.0065***
	1.0340***
	0.1501***
	0.9114***
	0.1247***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0250)
	(0.0036)
	(0.0250)
	(0.0034)

	Interest
	-
	6.1484***
	0.8925***
	8.3953***
	1.1483***

	
	
	(0.4495)
	(0.0650)
	(0.4422)
	(0.0603)

	Collateral
	0.0574***
	2.3355***
	0.4335***
	1.7309***
	0.2368***

	
	(0.0012)
	(0.2765)
	(0.0489)
	(0.2667)
	(0.0365)

	Extsched
	-0.0177***
	1.5373***
	0.1729***
	1.4510***
	0.1569***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0408)
	(0.0034)
	(0.0404)
	(0.0033)

	Loantype
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Business Loan
	-0.0535***
	-2.8935**
	-0.2068***
	-2.6665**
	-0.1659***

	
	(0.0020)
	(1.5711)
	(0.0322)
	(1.3070)
	(0.0242)

	Car Loan
	-0.0342***
	-3.0226***
	-0.2093***
	-2.7260***
	-0.1669***

	
	(0.0011)
	(0.2724)
	(0.0137)
	(0.2661)
	(0.0128)

	Mortgage Loan
	-0.1365***
	-5.4773***
	-0.2284***
	-4.4512***
	-0.1820***

	
	(0.0055)
	(1.3755)
	(0.0125)
	(1.3385)
	(0.0121)

	Pawnbroking Loan
	-0.0999***
	-1.4650***
	-0.1520***
	-0.6962***
	-0.0777***

	
	(0.0012)
	(0.2805)
	(0.0214)
	(0.2714)
	(0.0265)

	Personal Loan
	-0.0303***
	0.3815***
	0.0615***
	0.4216***
	0.0641***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0233)
	(0.0040)
	(0.0233)
	(0.0036)

	Age
	-0.0129***
	-0.1064***
	-0.0154***
	-0.0710***
	-0.0097***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0240)
	(0.0035)
	(0.0288)
	(0.0039)

	Loanport
	0.0110***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0000***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Loanport × Loanport
	0.0038***
	
	
	
	

	
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	

	Pledge of Assets
	-0.0585***
	-1.2141
	-0.2208
	     -0.9000
	-0.1506

	
	(0.0006)
	(0.7565)
	(0.1582)
	(0.8497)
	(0.1653)

	Country Fixed effects
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes

	Unemplymt
	-0.0047***
	1.4282***
	0.2073***
	1.5256***
	0.2087***

	
	(0.0002)
	(0.0431)
	(0.0062)
	(0.0430)
	(0.0059)

	Govtbond
	0.0026***
	-0.0170
	-0.0025
	-0.1908***
	-0.0261***

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0136)
	(0.0020)
	(0.0139)
	(0.0019)

	_cons
	0.3048***
	-7.0786***
	
	-7.1028***
	

	
	(0.0010)
	(0.7838)
	
	(0.8741)
	

	Adjusted - r squared
	530,434
	0.0518
	
	0.0583
	

	N
	0.4502
	213,088
	213,088
	213,088
	213,088

	Note: The table reports the OLS, logit and Fractional regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates, default likelihood and severity of default in Panel A, B and C respectively. Specification (1) in Panel A reports the OLS regression results for notes respectively. Specification (2a) and (2b) in Panel B reports the logit regression coefficients for claims and its margins respectively. Specification (3a) and Specification (3b) in Panel C reports the fractional regression coefficients and its margins for notes respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.

	



Appendix Table A13: Robustness Tests – First stage regression results
	
	PANEL A
	
	PANEL B
	
	PANEL C
	

	Variables
	1a)
	1b)
	2a)
	2b)
	3a)
	3b)

	costofcap
	-0.3821***
	-0.8048***
	-0.5006***
	-0.9765***
	-0.5006***
	-0.9765***

	
	(0.0019)
	(0.0017)
	(0.0021)
	(0.0025)
	(0.0021)
	(0.0025)

	_cons
	0.0971
	0.1239
	0.1057
	0.1368
	0.1057
	0.1368

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)

	Adjusted - r squared
	0.0386
	0.2743
	0.0601
	0.3582
	0.0601
	0.3582

	N
	1,326,332
	530,434
	1,277,525
	213,088
	1,277,525
	213,088

	Note: The table reports the first stage results of  2SLS, probit and Fractional instrumental regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates, default likelihood and severity of default in Panel A, B and C respectively. Specification 1a, 2a and 3a in Panel A, B and C reports the results for claims respectively. Specification 1b, 2b and 3b in Panel A, B, and C reports the results for notes respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.



Appendix Table A14: Robustness Tests – Second stage regression results
	
	PANEL A
	
	PANEL B
	
	
	
	PANEL C
	
	
	

	Variables
	1)
	2)
	3a)
	3b)
	4a)
	4b)
	5a)
	5b)
	6a)
	6c)

	SITG
	-0.5789***
	-0.6995***
	-40.6218***
	-0.1088***
	-3.6264***
	-0.9316***
	-13.6757**
	-0.0279**
	-1.1573*
	-0.2818

	
	(0.0138)
	(0.0073)
	(8.4909)
	(0.0235)
	(0.6523)
	(0.1675)
	(6.5806)
	(0.0134)
	(0.6370)
	(0.1551)

	Term
	0.0004***
	0.0138***
	0.0087***
	0.0000***
	-0.0026***
	-0.0006***
	0.3050***
	0.0006***
	-0.0011**
	-0.0003

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0003)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0147)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0005)
	(0.0001)

	Term × Term
	0.0000***
	-0.0025***
	-
	
	-
	-
	-
	
	-
	

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amount
	0.0000***
	-0.0009***
	0.0000***
	0.0000
	0.0001***
	0.0000***
	0.0000
	0.0000
	0.0001***
	0.0000

	
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Riskscore
	-0.0113***
	-0.0014***
	-0.4856***
	-.0013***
	0.5501***
	0.1413***
	-0.6373***
	-0.0013***
	0.4816***
	0.1173

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0509)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0127)
	(0.0032)
	(0.0794)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0126)
	(0.0030)

	Interest
	-
	-
	-18.5971***
	-0.0498***
	2.7254***
	0.7001***
	-14.4654***
	-0.0295***
	4.0409***
	0.9838

	
	
	
	(0.9371)
	(0.0026)
	(0.2442)
	(0.0626)
	(1.0576)
	(0.0022)
	(0.2419)
	(0.0588)

	Collateral
	-0.0139***
	0.0706***
	0.1733
	0.0005
	1.4483***
	0.4486***
	0.2054
	0.0005
	1.0893***
	0.2652

	
	(0.0028)
	(0.0013)
	(0.2662)
	(0.0009)
	(0.1535)
	(0.0441)
	(0.3380)
	(0.0010)
	(0.1485)
	(0.0361)

	Extsched
	-0.0166***
	-0.0106***
	-1.4472***
	-0.0256
	0.8069***
	0.1644***
	-0.2773
	-0.0007
	0.7530***
	0.1478

	
	(0.0005)
	(0.0001)
	(0.4046)
	(0.0212)
	(0.0206)
	(0.0032)
	(0.3049)
	(0.0011)
	(0.0204)
	(0.0031)

	Loantype
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Agricultural Loan
	0.0074**
	-
	2.1314***
	0.1107**
	-
	
	-3.2967***
	-0.0010
	-
	

	
	(0.0030)
	
	(0.3284)
	(0.0529)
	
	
	(0.3922)
	(0.0159)
	
	

	Business Loan
	0.0025
	-0.0663***
	0.7489*
	0.0068
	-1.9503**
	-0.2250***
	0.1361
	0.0004
	-1.5480**
	-0.1773

	
	(0.0035)
	(0.0023)
	(0.4353)
	(0.0073)
	(0.8207)
	(0.0197)
	(0.4000)
	(0.0015)
	(0.6888)
	(0.0208)

	Car Loan
	-0.0078***
	-0.0569***
	-0.1462
	-0.0004
	-1.7371***
	-0.2192***
	0.0915
	0.0002
	-1.5054***
	-0.1761

	
	(0.0025)
	(0.0011)
	(0.2803
	(0.0007)
	(0.1517)
	(0.0118)
	(0.3433)
	(0.0012)
	(0.1483)
	(0.0119)

	Mortgage Loan
	-0.0937***
	-0.1586***
	-2.7234***
	-0.0013***
	-3.2192***
	-0.2362***
	-1.0058*
	-0.0010***
	-2.5310***
	-0.1894

	
	(0.0035)
	(0.0047)
	(0.6532)
	(0.0003)
	(0.5337)
	(0.0107)
	(0.6030)
	(0.0002)
	(0.5067)
	(0.0104)

	Pawnbroking Loan
	0.0071**
	-0.1154***
	-0.9946***
	-0.0012***
	-0.9635***
	-0.1711***
	-0.9840***
	-0.0010***
	-0.4879***
	-0.0955

	
	(0.0029)
	(0.0013)
	(0.3009)
	(0.0004)
	(0.1570)
	(0.0186)
	(0.3690)
	(0.0002)
	(0.1522)
	(0.0249)

	Personal Loan
	-0.0017
	-0.0313***
	-0.0244
	-0.0000
	0.1927***
	0.0533***
	-0.2126***
	-0.0004***
	0.2237***
	0.0593

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0508)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0142)
	(0.0041)
	(0.0468)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0141)
	(0.0038)

	Age
	-0.0039***
	-0.0153***
	-2.0626***
	-0.0055***
	-0.0700***
	-0.0180***
	-0.0983***
	-0.0002***
	-0.0310**
	-0.0075

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	(0.4155)
	(0.0011)
	(0.0131)
	(0.0034)
	(0.0316)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0139)
	(0.0034)

	Loanport
	-0.0061***
	-0.0013***
	0.0000***
	0.0000
	0.0000***
	0.0000***
	0.0967**
	0.0001**
	0.0000***
	0.0000

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0407)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)
	(0.0000)

	Loanport × Loanport
	0.0075***
	-0.0014***
	-
	
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-
	

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0001)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Country Fixed effects
	Yes
	Yes
	Yes
	
	Yes
	
	Yes
	
	Yes
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Unemplymt
	0.0079***
	-0.0008***
	0.4160***
	0.0011***
	0.8453***
	0.2171***
	-44.7609***
	-0.0914***
	0.8885***
	0.2163

	
	(0.0001)
	(0.0002)
	(0.0557)
	(0.0001)
	(0.0243)
	(0.0062)
	(2.5184)
	(0.0056)
	(0.0241)
	(0.0059)

	Govtbond
	-2.1719***
	0.0026***
	11.8778***
	0.0318***
	0.0033
	0.0008
	20.7215***
	0.0423***
	-0.0940***
	-0.0229

	
	(0.0083)
	(0.0001)
	(2.9149)
	(0.0079)
	(0.0075)
	(0.0019)
	(2.5979)
	(0.0053)
	(0.0075)
	(0.0018)

	_cons
	0.2536***
	0.2473***
	8.7455***
	
	-4.3983***
	
	7.8140***
	
	-4.3176***
	

	
	(0.0029)
	(0.0010)
	(1.9236)
	
	(0.1043)
	
	(1.9768)
	
	(0.1029)
	

	N
	1,326,332
	530,434
	1,277,525
	
	213,088
	
	1,277,525
	
	213,088
	

	Wald test Chi-Square
	11961.4***
	1358.87***
	17.98***
	
	2.14
	
	3.26*
	
	0.37
	

	Note: The table reports the second stage regression results of  2SLS, Probit and Fractional instrumental variable regression analysis for the impact of skin in the game on interest rates, default likelihood and severity of default in Panel A, B and C respectively. Specification 1, 3a and 5a in PANEL A, B, and C reports the results for claims respectively. Specification 3b and 5b reports the corresponding margin coefficients for probit and fractional regression respectively. Specification 2, 4a, and 6a in Panel A, B, and C reports the results for notes respectively. Specification 4b and 6b reports the corresponding margin coefficients for probit and fractional regression respectively. All specifications of the model employ robust standard errors in parentheses. *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5%, and 1% levels respectively.
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ABSTRACT
This study examines the relationship between financial literacy and the adoption of robo-advisory services in Malaysia during the economic crisis. Despite the potential benefits of robo-advisors, their adoption in Malaysia lags other East Asian developing economies, particularly during the recent economic crisis triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic. This gap highlights the need to explore underlying behavioral and perceptual factors influencing the adoption of such technology-driven financial services. Using the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) as a theoretical framework, this research investigates how different dimensions of financial literacy (knowledge, behavior, and attitude) affect perceived usefulness and behavioral intention to use robo-advisors. Data was collected from 380 Malaysian retail investors through a survey questionnaire, analyzed using Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM). The results reveal mixed outcomes regarding the influence of financial literacy components on perceived usefulness and behavioral intention. Financial knowledge and financial attitude were found to have significant positive effects on perceived usefulness, whereas financial behavior demonstrated a significant negative effect. In contrast, all three dimensions of financial literacy did not significantly support direct effects on behavioral intention (BI), suggesting that their impact on intention may be indirect. Finally, perceived usefulness exhibited a strong and highly significant positive relationship with BI, confirming its central role as a determinant of behavioral intention in this model. These findings contribute to the growing body of literature on financial technology adoption in emerging markets and provide several practical implications. For robo-advisory practitioners and service providers, the findings highlight the importance of positioning perceived usefulness at the center of their strategies. For policymakers and regulators, the results underline the need to integrate robo-advisory awareness into broader financial literacy campaigns. For financial educators and institutions, the findings suggest that literacy initiatives should be directly connected to technology adoption.

Keywords: Robo-advisors, Financial literacy, Technology Acceptance Model, Economic crisis, Malaysia 

1. INTRODUCTION
Robo-advisors offer numerous benefits to users including lower costs, accessibility, and personalization (Belanche et al., 2019). Despite these advantages, robo-advisory services have not gained widespread adoption in Malaysia compared to other developing economies in East Asia, especially during the recent economic crisis. Previous studies of AI-assisted services, which have examined adoption (Flavián et al., 2021; Belanche et al, 2019), continuance intention (Cheng, 2020), trust (Cheng et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021), behavioral biases (Bhatia et al., 2021), the banking sector (Boustani, 2020; Caron, 2019; Mogaji et al., 2021) and credit scoring (Aggarwal, 2021; Mhlanga, 2021), have not sufficiently explored the linkage between financial literacy dimensions and the adoption of robo-advisors. Hence, this study addresses the following research questions:
1. Is there any relationship between financial literacy and perceived usefulness of robo-advisors during a economic crisis?
2. Is there any relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention to use robo-advisors during a economic crisis?
3. Is there any relationship between perceived usefulness of robo-advisors during a economic crisis and behavioral intention to use robo-advisors during a economic crisis?
4. Is there any mediating effect of perceived usefulness in the relationship between financial literacy and behavioral intention to use robo-advisors during a economic crisis?
By investigating these questions, this research contributes to the literature on robo-advisory services adoption and extends the application of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) in the context of financial technology adoption during crisis periods. The findings provide valuable insights for financial institutions, policymakers, and educational institutions in Malaysia to enhance robo-advisor adoption.

2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
The conceptual framework of the study examines how financial literacy, comprising financial knowledge, financial behavior, and financial attitude influences behavioral intention to use robo-advisors during economic crises, with perceived usefulness serving as a mediating variable. This framework proposes that individuals with higher levels of financial literacy may better understand investment principles and risk management, potentially affecting how useful they perceive robo-advisory services to be during market turbulence. This study employed a quantitative research approach using a survey questionnaire to collect data from retail investors in Malaysia. The research design allowed for testing the proposed hypotheses and examining the relationships between financial literacy, perceived usefulness, and behavioral intention to use robo-advisors during a economic crisis.
The target population for this study was retail investors in Malaysia. Due to the unavailability of a sampling frame (considered confidential data), non-probability sampling techniques were used as recommended by Saunders et al. (2019). To identify the right targeted respondent, the survey requires respondents to indicate that they have fulfilled two criteria, which are i) retail investors who purchase assets such as stocks, bonds, securities, mutual funds, and exchange-traded funds, and ii) Malaysian residents. A sample size of 384 respondents was initially targeted to ensure adequate statistical power. The questionnaire included measures for financial literacy, perceived usefulness of robo-advisors, and behavioral intention to use robo-advisors during an economic crisis. All measures were adopted and adapted from established scales in the literature with relevant modifications to suit the context of this research. 

3. RESULTS
3.1 Discussion of Findings
From February 2023 to July 2023, the survey was disseminated in 39 investment-related social media groups, 11 public Telegram channels, 35 WhatsApp groups, and 4 investment forums, with a combined estimated reach of over 100,000 members. Due to the use of non-probability sampling techniques and open distribution channels, a conventional response rate could not be calculated. However, engagement was tracked using a Bitly link, which recorded 500 unique clicks during the data collection period. Although exact distribution numbers cannot be verified due to the snowball sampling technique, these methods collectively ensured that the survey reached well beyond the target of 384 potential participants, as evidenced by the final sample size of 380 valid responses.
The PLS-SEM analysis shows that the antecedent patterns to perceived usefulness are nuanced. Financial knowledge and financial attitude exhibit positive and significant paths to perceived usefulness, which is consistent with the view that understanding financial concepts and holding constructive financial evaluations help individuals recognize the productivity value of an automated advisory tool (Jung et al., 2018; van Rooij et al., 2011). In contrast, financial behavior displays a significant negative association with perceived usefulness, which leads to rejection of the corresponding hypothesis because the sign contradicts the theorized direction. A plausible reading is that individuals who already practice disciplined behaviors such as budgeting and routine monitoring perceive a smaller incremental benefit from robo advisors, or they evaluate the automation as offering limited marginal utility over their current self-directed routines. 
Direct paths from three financial literacy dimensions to behavioral intention do not receive support, even though two of them are statistically significant. Financial knowledge and financial behavior show significant negative coefficients to intention, and financial attitude is small and not significant. These patterns indicate sign inconsistency relative to the hypothesized positive effects and therefore the hypotheses are rejected on theoretical grounds. The combination of a strong perceived usefulness to intention link together with negative or negligible direct effects suggests a competitive or inconsistent mediation structure. More knowledgeable and behaviorally prudent individuals may become more critical and risk aware during a crisis, which can depress their stated intention once perceived usefulness is held constant. Put differently, after accounting for usefulness beliefs, the residual influence of knowledge and disciplined behavior may tilt toward caution, skepticism about algorithmic performance in volatile markets, or a preference for retaining control, all of which reduce the direct intention to adopt.
The mediating role of perceived usefulness is confirmed by the significant specific indirect effect from financial literacy to intention through perceived usefulness. The bias corrected interval is entirely above zero, which establishes the presence of mediation in line with the theoretical logic of the TAM (Belanche et al., 2019; Davis, 1989). Substantively, the aggregate positive indirect effect implies that the favorable contributions of financial knowledge and financial attitude to usefulness outweigh the small adverse contribution of financial behavior to usefulness, producing a net positive route from literacy to intention via usefulness. This is precisely the mechanism the model seeks to capture during a crisis context, where adoption decisions hinge less on background traits per se and more on the extent to which the technology is judged to add value under stress.
3.2 Theoretical Implications
This study contributes to the literature in several ways. First, it extends the application of TAM to the specific context of robo-advisor adoption during economic crises, demonstrating its continued relevance in explaining financial technology adoption behaviors. Second, by examining the multidimensional nature of financial literacy, this study provides a more nuanced understanding of how different aspects of financial literacy influence technology adoption decisions. The finding that financial knowledge and financial attitude are the most significant predictors among the three dimensions contributes to the ongoing discussion about which aspects of financial literacy are most important in different contexts.
Third, this research responds to calls by Hentzen et al. (2022) and others to investigate the relationship between financial literacy and robo-advisor adoption, filling an important gap in the literature. The findings provide empirical evidence that can serve as a foundation for future research in this area. Fourth, by focusing on adoption behaviors during economic crises, this study contributes to our understanding of how economic uncertainties might influence technology adoption decisions in the financial domain.
3.3 Practical Implications
For robo-advisory practitioners and service providers, the findings highlight the importance of positioning perceived usefulness at the center of their strategies. Providers should take deliberate steps to showcase the tangible value of their services through case studies, real-time demonstrations, and interactive simulations that reveal how robo-advisors perform in volatile markets. For this segment, platforms need to offer customizable investment features, transparent explanations of algorithmic processes, and advanced options that align with their existing financial routines. Enhancing user experience through intuitive dashboards, scenario planning tools, and guided tutorials will further bridge the gap between financial literacy and technology adoption.
For policymakers and regulators, the results underline the need to integrate robo-advisory awareness into broader financial literacy campaigns. Instead of focusing only on general financial knowledge, such programs should emphasize how individuals can apply their skills through technology to manage risk and enhance financial decision-making during crises. Policymakers should also develop clear regulatory frameworks that strengthen consumer protection, ensure transparency, and guarantee data security in robo-advisory services. Such safeguards will reduce perceived risks and foster greater confidence among potential users. In addition, collaborative efforts between the public sector and robo-advisory providers should be encouraged to deliver accessible education programs, demonstration platforms, and outreach initiatives targeted at younger investors and households affected by financial uncertainty.
For financial educators and institutions, the findings suggest that literacy initiatives should be directly connected to technology adoption. Training programs need to go beyond theoretical concepts and incorporate applied learning activities that demonstrate how financial knowledge, behavior, and attitudes can be operationalized through robo-advisors. Simulations, practice sessions, and hands-on use of demo platforms will help learners experience the usefulness of these technologies in real decision-making contexts. Educators should also address skepticism by presenting both the strengths and limitations of robo-advisors, equipping students and professionals with the ability to critically evaluate automated advice while remaining open to its potential benefits.
4. CONCLUSION
In conclusion, this study demonstrates that perceived usefulness is the pivotal determinant of behavioral intention to adopt robo-advisors during a economic crisis, consistent with the central tenets of the TAM. While financial knowledge and financial attitude positively shape perceptions of usefulness, financial behavior exerts an unexpected negative effect, and none of the financial literacy dimensions directly enhance intention. Instead, their influence operates indirectly through perceived usefulness, underscoring its role as a critical mediator. The model explains a moderate proportion of the variance in behavioral intention but only a weak proportion in perceived usefulness, suggesting that additional antecedents such as trust, perceived risk, or transparency should be incorporated in future research. These findings highlight both the promise and the limitations of the current framework, while reinforcing the need for strategies that enhance the perceived value of robo-advisors to strengthen adoption during times of financial uncertainty.
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ABSTRACT
CEO duality, which refers to the practice of one person holding both the positions of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and chair of the board, has been a topic of academic research for over two decades. The aim of the research is to reveal whether CEO duality has an impact on firm profitability and how it reflects firm management processing by considering “Agency Theory” and “Stewardship Theory”. The data of the research is 201 listed manufacturing companies from the Istanbul Stock Exchange. Both quantitative and qualitative analysis are performed. In quantitative analysis the effect of CEO duality on firm profitability and stock value change is examined by logistic regression analysis. The result shows that there is no significant statistical impact of CEO duality on profitability ratios which are gross profit and ROE (Return on Equity) for the year 2024 and on yearly stock value change of the firms. In the qualitative part of the research semi-structured interviews are performed by choosing 9 purposive firm executives from the research sample. The executives agree that CEO duality is a beneficial structure in situations where fast decision making and easy strategy implementation are needed, but it carries risks of preventing board independence, transparency, objective auditing and managerial reporting processes. It is concluded that risks and benefits of CEO duality vary based on the firm size, firm culture, board size, CEO’s background and leadership style and the economic conditions of the country. The longevity of management experience of the CEO besides production experience, is the key issue for a beneficial CEO duality structure. Additionally, it is pointed out that the listed firms are usually not the young ones and the firms are expected to have experienced CEOs and long-standing market and management experience which neutralize the negative effect of CEO duality. 
Keywords: Firm Management, CEO Duality, Istanbul Stock Exchange, Profitability, Sustainable Business, Firm Performance.
1.  INTRODUCTION
The creation of international institutions, trade agreements, and environmental issues has led to greater interconnectedness and cooperation among countries. Corporate management explores how organizations make decisions and the mechanisms that oversee and regulate those decisions. Modern governance structures have developed through a long history of experiences, trials, and adjustments over time. Essential elements of corporate governance include transparency, accountability, and stakeholder participation. There are many management theories, each emphasizing different aspects and approaches to organizing and managing power and decision-making frameworks within a society (Gonzalez et.al., 2024). Both academics and practitioners are examining how specific management mechanisms affect firm-level outcomes such as profitability, growth, and risk management. The distinction between the roles of Chairman or Board member and CEO has long been seen as a vital element of governance. Advocates of this separation argue that it enhances board independence, improves oversight, and reduces potential conflicts of interest, which can lead to better management reporting and auditing for strategic decision-making. A separate Chair is thought to provide a counterbalance to executive power, thereby strengthening the board’s monitoring role. Conversely, supporters of CEO duality claim that combining both roles fosters more cohesive leadership, accelerates decision-making in crises, and facilitates more effective communication across the organization. In fast-paced or crisis-prone industries, unified leadership is believed to improve responsiveness and reduce uncertainty in strategic execution (Siddique et.al., 2025). Many studies are performed related to the impact of CEO duality on firm performance and management processes in literature. Majority of the studies are performed by quantitative analysis and present different results based on the data sample. The purpose of this study is to reveal a holistic result about the impact of CEO duality on firm profitability, stock value change and its reflection on management mechanisms. The data sample is 201 manufacturing firms listed in the Istanbul Stock Exchange. Both quantitative and qualitative analysis are conducted to measure not only the impact of CEO duality on firm profitability but also getting empirical results on how it affects management processes like auditing, reporting, decision making, etc.
1.1 Theoretical Background
There are two theories conflicting each other about the role of the firm principals. Agency theory examines the potential conflicts that can occur when agents have different objectives and risk preferences than the principals, leading agents to behave in ways that may not align with the interests of the principals (Chefor et.al., 2025). It is described as the ability of an organization to produce positive returns that enhance the wealth of its owners. This definition emphasizes the vital role and responsibility of managers in maximizing the owners' wealth. As a result, profitability serves as the main indicator that assures owners, particularly shareholders, that their wealth is being efficiently maximized by the organization's management (Matan et.al., 2024). Managers can distort profits by providing misleading financial statements to stakeholders. This earnings manipulation is frequently done to affect the outcomes of contracts that depend on the figures reported in the accounting statements (Andayani et.al., 2018). On the contrary, accountability is a core principle in stewardship theory. Stewardship theory asserts that employees prioritize collective behaviors focused on the organization over self-interest, viewing the organization's success as a shared achievement and motivation, even in the absence of financial rewards or personal benefits. Agency theory posits that there is a conflict between the principal and the agent, while stewardship theory contends that such conflict is not inevitable. Stewards are driven by factors such as trust, mutual benefit, independence, accountability, job satisfaction, stability, and alignment with the organization’s mission (Kluvers and Tippett, 2011). 

2.  METHODOLOGY

The purpose of the study is to reveal a holistic result about the impact of CEO duality on profitability, stock value change and management processes. This study differentiates from the previous studies by considering gross profit as profitability ratio besides ROE and yearly stock value change of the firms for 2024. Previous studies mostly concentrate ROE and ROA as profitability ratios and firm value rather than stock value change. Additionally, two different methodologies are applied by considering Agency and Stewardship theories. It aims to reveal the impact of CEO duality on firm profitability and stock value change. Additionally, how it affects management processing by presenting real-time experiences by semi-structured interviews.  The quantitative methodology is performed on 201 listed manufacturing firms in Istanbul Stock Exchange. The research hypothesis is mentioned below;
H1: CEO duality has an impact on firm profitability. Profitability ratios are chosen as gross profit margin and return on equity (ROE).
H2: CEO duality has an impact on the value change of stock shares.

The research model can be seen in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Research model on the impact of CEO duality over profitability and stock share value
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The impact of CEO duality on profitability and yearly stock value change are tested by logistic regression since the dependent variable CEO duality is categoric. Independent variables are gross profit and ROE as of 31/12/2024 as profitability ratios and yearly stock value change of the firms. In Table 1 below logistic regression results are listed.

Table 1. Model Coefficients- dependent variable CEO duality
	Predictor
	Estimate
	SE
	Z
	P
	Odds ratio

	Intercept
	0.3309
	0.249
	1.331
	0.183
	1.392

	Gross Profit Margin 
	0.3823
	1.070
	0.357
	0.721
	1.466

	Stock share change
	-0.0474
	0.403
	-0.117
	0.907
	0.954

	Net profit/equity
	0.7200
	0.623
	1.155
	0.248
	2.054


The independent variables Gross Profit Margin (β=0.3823, p=0.721), Stock share value change (β=-0.0474, p=0.907) and Net profit/equity (β=0.7200, p=0.248) have p-values are greater than 0.05, meaning they are not statistically significant at the conventional significance level on the dependent variable CEO duality. 

2nd Study: Semi-structured interviews are conducted with executives of nine manufacturing listed firms. These firms are chosen from different sectors as listed in Table 2 below.


Table 2. Listed companies interviewed
	Number
	Sector of the firm
	Title of the interviewer

	1
	Metalware
	Investor relations executive

	2
	Metalware
	Investor relations executive

	3
	Food
	Sales and reporting executive

	4
	Chemistry
	Finance Director

	5
	Textile
	Investor relations executive

	6
	Paper industry
	Finance Director

	7
	Automotive 
	Investor relations executive

	8
	Metalware
	Investor relations executive

	9
	Chemistry
	Investor relations executive



The interviewees are chosen based on the aim of the research. They have at least 10 years of managerial business experience and they have at least one-time CEO duality structure experience in their business life. 3 of them out of nine are currently experiencing CEO duality. 3 executives are women, and six executives are men. Semi structured interview methods are chosen with open-ended questions like how, under what conditions, etc. 
5 questions are prepared for the executives which are related to the firm’s management process including reporting, decision making, and reflection of CEO duality. The questions are open ended to evaluate the impact of CEO duality with real-time experience rather than concentrating only on firm profit. The questions are;
1) If dual roles are allowed, what reasons can be attributed to a company's decision to combine the roles of CEO and Chairman of the Board (COB)/Board Membership? (Carty and Weiss, 2012)
2) "Do you think that the auditing processes of companies are affected in different ways in cases of dual CEO roles? If so, how are they affected?" (Carty and Weiss, 2012)
3) "Does the company you work for allow dual CEO roles? If so, do you promote dual CEO roles, oppose them, or remain neutral?"  (Naseem et.al., 2022)
4) "Do you think that dual CEO roles have an impact on the profitability of a company? In what way?" (Yu, 2023).
5) Does CEO duality have an impact on management reporting process? How? (Yu, 2023)

Findings of question 1; The reasons for CEO duality
9 executives agree on the benefit of CEO duality for fast decision-making and cost saving, especially in the crisis period.

Findings of question 2; The impact of CEO duality on auditing processes
8 executives out of 9 think that CEO duality has a negative effect on the auditing process since the auditing committee is reporting to the Board of the firm. In a firm structure, the firm’s board is expected to control the managerial staff. CEO duality limits the interdependence of the firm board for criticizing the managerial process and 1 executive out of nine has positive approach to CEO duality on auditing processing.



Findings of question 3; CEO duality structure of the interviewed firms
3 firms out of 9 have currently CEO duality structure. The executives have a conditional perspective on the functionality of CEO duality. If a person who has a CEO duality has a managerial background, it will not have a negative effect on managerial processing steps like auditing and transparent managerial reporting, etc.

Findings of question 4; The impact of CEO duality on firm profit
6 executives claim that the impact of CEO duality depends on the firm size, firm culture, leadership style and the background of the CEO and the current economic situation of the country. The 3 executives who have a CEO duality structure in their firms mentioned mostly the positive impact of this structure in terms of fast decision making and easy strategy implementation process.

Findings of question 5; The impact of CEO duality on management reporting process
The executives have an idea that CEO duality may have a negative impact on the reporting process, and it can cause delays for the transformation of the integrated reporting system. The executives who have CEO duality claim that it has a positive effect on reporting due to the CEO’s close watch over the financial figures.

3. CONCLUSION

This study investigates the impact of CEO duality on firm profitability, stock value change and management processing. The theoretical background of the study is “Agency Theory” and “Stewardship Theory”. The data consists of 201 listed manufacturing firms on the Istanbul Stock Exchange. Financial reports as of 31st of December 2024 are used for profitability ratios and yearly stock value change is calculated for the period between 1st of January 2024 and 31st of December 2024. The first question of the research is whether CEO duality has an impact on firm profitability. The result of logistic regression shows that there is no significant relation between profitability which is the dependent variable and the independent variables which are gross profit, ROE (Return on Equity) and yearly stock value change. 
The second question of the research is how CEO duality affects management processing and the performance of the firm. Semi structured interviews are applied to 9 firm executives which are included in the research sample. The questions are related to the impact of CEO duality on profitability, management reporting and auditing processes. The interview results show that the impact of CEO duality on management processing is conditional. It can change based on the country’s economic situation, firm size, firm culture, board size, leadership style and past experiences of the CEO. Especially management experience of CEOs in addition to production experience is the key issue for positive effect of CEO duality which supports Stewardship Theory.  Listed companies benefit from greater access to capital, regulatory compliance, market presence, management stability, diversification opportunities, and shareholder pressure, all of which contribute to their longer operational periods compared to non-listed companies and expected to have experienced CEOs. On the other hand, CEO duality has the risk of preventing transparency, board independence, objective management reporting and auditing which supports Agency Theory. The results do not fully support agency or stewardship theories since the replies of the executives are mostly conditional.
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ABSTRACT
Corporate social responsibility has become an important tool to address multiple issues and attain sustainability in growth for organizations in the competitive market. This research investigates the effect of corporate social responsibility on organizational citizenship behavior of the employees and the responsible organizational culture of a firm using stakeholder theory. This study also tests the moderating effect of different orientations (strategist and integrator orientation) of responsible leadership on the relationship between corporate social responsibility and responsible organizational culture and employees’ organizational citizenship behavior using a contingency theory perspective. The population of the study consisted of employees working in the banking sector of Pakistan. Data was collected from 530 bank employees using a questionnaire survey method. This study uses the structural equation modeling (SEM) technique for the estimation of results. The findings of the study reveal that corporate social responsibility has a significant effect on the responsible organizational culture of a firm. Further, corporate social responsibility has a significant effect on the organizational citizenship behavior of employees. In moderating effects, only the strategist orientation of responsible leadership moderates the relationship between corporate social responsibility and organizational citizenship behavior. The results of this research suggest that supervisors should engage in socially responsible activities because these activities will help improve organizational citizenship behavior and responsible organizational culture.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The manuscript titled “The Effect of Corporate Social Responsibility on Responsible Organizational Culture and Organizational Citizenship Behavior: Moderating Role of Responsible Leadership” examines how corporate social responsibility (CSR) influences both responsible organizational culture (ROC) and organizational citizenship behavior (OCB), while also investigating whether different orientations of responsible leadership (strategist and integrator) moderate these relationships. CSR has become a central concern for organizations across the globe, not only as a philanthropic activity but as an integral part of strategic planning that allows firms to address environmental, social, and ethical challenges while ensuring sustainable growth. CSR is especially significant in the banking sector because it operates in a service-intensive, trust-driven environment where employees’ behaviors strongly affect stakeholders’ confidence in Pakistan. The researchemphasises therefore addresses an important gap by focusing on how CSR and leadership orientations interact to shape culture and employee behaviors in a developing, non-Western context.
The study is grounded in stakeholder theory, which emphasizes that organizations must create value not only for shareholders but also for employees, customers, suppliers, communities, and regulators. When organizations implement CSR effectively, they build stronger identification among employees, who then reciprocate with trust, loyalty, and voluntary contributions beyond their formal job roles. These voluntary contributions, known as organizational citizenship behaviors, include actions such as helping colleagues, engaging in civic virtue, and demonstrating conscientiousness. The study also incorporates contingency theory by examining how the impact of CSR may vary depending on the leadership orientation of managers. Responsible leaders, as argued by Pless and Maak, embody responsibility as a felt obligation toward multiple stakeholders. Within this framework, leaders may adopt a strategist orientation viewing CSR as instrumental and aligned with long-term business goals and competitive advantage or an integrator orientation, which emphasizes fairness and moral obligations to a wide array of stakeholders, even when these do not directly generate profits. This dual perspective allows the study to test whether leadership styles amplify or weaken CSR’s effects on organizational outcomes.
The literature review highlights several key areas. First, prior research suggests that CSR helps to shape organizational culture by embedding ethical norms and fostering shared values that encourage innovation, accountability, and openness. Organizations with a strong CSR focus are better able to adapt to changing environments and build sustainable practices. Second, CSR is strongly linked with OCB because employees who perceive their organizations as socially responsible are more likely to feel pride, belonging, and motivation to contribute beyond their job requirements. Third, the role of leadership remains underexplored, but theorists suggest that strategist-oriented leaders may enhance CSR’s influence on behavior by aligning it with strategic goals, while integrator-oriented leaders may strengthen CSR’s impact on culture by reinforcing inclusivity and ethical obligations. From this review, the study develops six hypotheses: that CSR positively influences ROC (H1) and OCB (H2); that strategist orientation strengthens CSR’s relationship with ROC (H3a) and with OCB (H3b); and that integrator orientation strengthens CSR’s relationship with ROC (H3c) and with OCB (H3d).
To test these hypotheses, the study used a quantitative, survey-based methodology. Data were collected from 530 employees in the banking sector in Sahiwal, Punjab, Pakistan, using a time-lagged design to reduce common method bias. At Time 1, respondents answered questions about CSR perceptions and leadership orientations. At Time 2, two weeks later, the same respondents completed questionnaires assessing responsible organizational culture and peer-rated OCB. This design allowed for both self-reported and peer-reported data, enhancing reliability. The survey instruments were adapted from validated scales, and constructs were measured on five-point Likert scales. Analysis was conducted using Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) with Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) to validate measurement reliability and discriminant validity. Model fit indices (e.g., RMSEA = 0.044, CFI = 0.894) confirmed that the measurement model was robust. The sample profile revealed that most respondents were male (69.6%), aged above 30, and highly educated, with nearly half holding master’s degrees. Respondents came from government, semi-government, and private banks, providing a diverse yet focused view of the sector.
The results revealed strong support for the first two hypotheses. CSR was found to have a significant positive impact on responsible organizational culture (β = 0.48, p < 0.001) and on organizational citizenship behavior (β = 0.36, p < 0.001). These findings confirm that when banks in Pakistan engage in CSR activities, they not only embed ethical and responsible values into their organizational culture but also inspire employees to go beyond their formal roles and contribute positively to the organization. However, the moderating effects of leadership orientations were more nuanced. The strategist orientation did not significantly moderate the CSR–ROC relationship, meaning that leaders’ strategic framing of CSR did not influence how CSR shaped cultural values. On the other hand, strategist orientation did significantly strengthen the CSR–OCB relationship (β = 0.09, p = 0.019), suggesting that when leaders frame CSR as part of strategic planning and long-term vision, employees are more likely to translate CSR initiatives into voluntary, discretionary behaviors. By contrast, the integrator orientation was not a significant moderator in either case. Leaders who emphasized inclusivity and moral obligations did not appear to alter the impact of CSR on culture or OCB. This suggests that CSR initiatives may already encompass integrative values inherently, leaving little room for leadership orientation to make a difference in this context.
The discussion emphasizes that CSR is a powerful tool for shaping both culture and behavior within organizations. Employees respond positively when CSR initiatives demonstrate genuine concern for stakeholders, which enhances loyalty and motivates them to engage in altruistic and cooperative behaviors. The study’s findings highlight that CSR directly fosters a responsible organizational culture by embedding ethical norms and shared values, which, in turn, strengthen the organization’s ability to adapt and innovate. Additionally, CSR directly influences OCB, as employees feel a stronger connection to organizations that prioritize social and environmental responsibility. Importantly, the study finds that leadership orientations matter, but only in specific ways. Strategist orientation amplifies CSR’s effect on employee behaviors, underscoring the importance of framing CSR strategically as part of long-term organizational goals. Integrator orientation, however, was not found to significantly alter outcomes, perhaps because in a highly regulated sector like banking, CSR initiatives are already closely aligned with stakeholder inclusivity and ethical obligations.
The conclusion drawn from the study is that CSR has a substantial positive impact on both responsible organizational culture and organizational citizenship behavior. However, the moderating role of responsible leadership is mixed: strategist orientation enhances the behavioral outcomes of CSR, while integrator orientation shows no significant moderating effect. For managers and practitioners, this suggests that embedding CSR into the strategic fabric of the organization is essential for maximizing its benefits. Leaders should be trained to adopt a strategist orientation when communicating CSR initiatives, emphasizing long-term goals, competitive advantage, and measurable outcomes, as this approach is more likely to encourage employees to engage in extra-role behaviors. Human resource policies should also integrate CSR into recruitment, training, and performance management systems to reinforce responsible values. For policymakers, particularly in emerging economies like Pakistan, encouraging CSR in sectors such as banking can help improve service quality, employee satisfaction, and stakeholder trust.
The study also acknowledges several limitations. Although it used a time-lagged design, it remains largely cross-sectional, limiting causal inference. Longitudinal or experimental studies could provide richer insights into how CSR impacts culture and behavior over time. Additionally, the reliance on purposive sampling within the banking sector restricts generalizability to other industries or countries. The non-significance of some moderation effects also raises questions about whether other variables, such as organizational size, external stakeholder pressures, or different leadership styles, may play a more significant role in shaping outcomes.
Despite these limitations, the research contributes meaningfully to the literature by extending CSR and organizational behavior scholarship into a non-Western, developing context. It demonstrates empirically that CSR not only enhances responsible culture and discretionary employee behavior but also interacts with leadership orientations in nuanced ways. The findings support stakeholder theory’s emphasis on shared values and social exchange theory’s view that CSR fosters reciprocal behaviors from employees. By introducing leadership orientations as moderators, the study also adds to contingency theory, showing that the effectiveness of CSR partly depends on how leaders frame and communicate it.
Overall, this study makes both theoretical and practical contributions. Theoretically, it validates CSR as a driver of culture and citizenship behaviors in organizations and clarifies inconsistent findings from prior studies by examining leadership orientations as moderators. Practically, it advises managers to embed CSR into strategic planning and to adopt strategist orientations when promoting CSR internally, as this enhances employee engagement and extra-role contributions. It also highlights the importance of linking CSR initiatives to employees’ daily work, ensuring that CSR is perceived not as an add-on but as an integral part of organizational identity. This approach will foster cultural alignment and motivate employees to contribute beyond their formal responsibilities.
In a nutshell, the manuscript provides a comprehensive analysis of how CSR shapes responsible culture and employee citizenship behaviors in the banking sector of Pakistan, while clarifying the role of leadership orientations in this process. It concludes that CSR directly and significantly influences both culture and behavior, strategist leadership strengthens CSR’s impact on discretionary behaviors, and integrator leadership does not significantly alter outcomes. The findings extend global CSR scholarship, provide valuable insights for managerial practice, and highlight new avenues for future research in leadership and organizational behavior.
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ABSTRACT
This study examines the factors influencing corporate tax planning in the context of an emerging market, where regulatory reforms and international integration have created increasing pressure for tax transparency and efficiency. Using panel data from 298 non-financial listed companies on the Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange over the period 2019-2022, the study employs descriptive statistics, correlation analysis, and panel regression techniques. The Fixed Effects Model is selected as the most appropriate based on diagnostic testing, and Feasible Generalized Least Squares is applied to correct for heteroskedasticity. The findings indicate that financial leverage, capital intensity, and inventory intensity significantly influence the effective tax planning via the effective tax rate proxy. While leverage and capital intensity are associated with lower effective tax planning, inventory intensity has a positive impact. Return on assets and return on equity yield mixed effects on the corporate tax planning. Both return on assets and return on equity exhibit negative effects on the effective tax rate; however, only the impact of return on equity is statistically significant, while the effect of return on assets is not. These results provide empirical insights for policymakers and corporate managers aiming to promote responsible tax behavior and optimize firm performance in Vietnam.
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1. INTRODUCTION
In recent years, Vietnam has undertaken significant tax reforms, introducing and amending regulations. These changes, aligned with the country’s efforts toward global economic integration and transparency have created a more complex environment for businesses and taxpayers. In this context, effective corporate tax planning has become increasingly important. Beyond reducing tax burdens and enhancing after-tax income, tax planning helps firms allocate resources more efficiently, manage risks, and sustain competitiveness. For Vietnamese firms navigating evolving financial reporting standards and investor expectations, balancing compliance, efficiency, and transparency through sound tax planning is both a necessity and a strategic advantage.
Although corporate tax planning has been widely studied, existing evidence remains fragmented and highly context-dependent. Prior research has examined determinants such as firm size, leverage, profitability, capital intensity, and governance mechanisms, while others highlight the role of managerial incentives (Dyreng, Hanlon, & Maydew, 2008), ownership structures (Chen, Chen, Cheng, & Shevlin, 2010), and links to CSR and ESG practices (Abid & Dammak, 2022; Lanis & Richardson, 2013). However, most findings are drawn from developed economies with mature institutions, leaving limited insights into emerging markets such as Vietnam. Existing Vietnamese studies mainly address tax compliance and policy implementation (Binh & Hue, 2023; Le, Tuyet, Hanh, & Do, 2020; Pham, Van Nguyen, & Nguyen, 2024) but rarely explore how firm-specific and governance factors shape tax planning. Moreover, the interaction between tax planning and CSR/ESG in Vietnamese firms remains largely unexamined. These gaps underscore the need for localized empirical research to inform both corporate managers and policymakers.
This study aims to examine the determinants of tax planning among non-financial listed firms in Vietnam, thereby enriching the literature on tax management in emerging markets. By identifying how firm-specific characteristics and governance mechanisms influence tax behavior, the research provides practical insights for managers to align tax strategies with good governance and sustainability, while offering policymakers evidence to design fair and effective regulations.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW
Review of Tax Planning
Tax planning is a central component of corporate financial strategy, broadly defined as arranging a firm’s affairs to minimize tax liabilities within legal boundaries. The literature distinguishes between tax avoidance, considered legal, and tax evasion, deemed illegal (Armstrong, Blouin, Jagolinzer, & Larcker, 2015; Frank, Lynch, & Rego, 2009). Effective tax planning enhances after-tax cash flows and firm value, while aggressive strategies may create reputational and regulatory risks (Hanlon & Slemrod, 2009). Recent studies emphasize tax planning’s role within corporate governance, CSR, and ESG, highlighting stakeholder expectations of transparency and ethical conduct (Lanis & Richardson, 2013; Nasir, Yaacob, Kamarudin, Rashid, & Othman, 2024). Measuring tax planning remains challenging; proxies include book-tax differences, discretionary permanent differences, and tax shelter indicators. Among these, the effective tax rate (ETR) is most widely applied, reflecting the ratio of tax expense to pre-tax income (Chen et al., 2010). A lower ETR signals efficient tax planning but, if excessively low, may raise concerns about aggressive avoidance and governance quality (Hanlon & Heitzman, 2010).

Hypotheses development
Firms with higher leverage benefit from the tax deductibility of interest expenses, which lowers taxable income and reduces the effective tax rate (ETR), whereas equity financing lacks this advantage since dividends are not deductible. Accordingly, capital structure plays a critical role, with greater debt use expected to decrease ETR. Prior studies support this negative relationship between leverage and ETR (Gupta & Newberry, 1997; Lazăr, 2014; Liu & Cao, 2007).
H1: Financial leverage has a negative impact on the ETR.

Firms with higher capital intensity can claim larger depreciation deductions, thereby reducing taxable income and lowering the effective tax rate (ETR). Prior studies confirm this negative relationship between fixed asset intensity and ETR (Gupta & Newberry, 1997; Rahmawati & Sudaryono, 2022).
H2: Fixed assets intensity has a negative impact on the ETR
Inventory intensity can influence taxable income through accounting methods and cost structures, but prior studies report mixed evidence. While some find higher inventory intensity reduces ETR via deductible expenses (Gupta & Newberry, 1997; Richardson & Lanis, 2007), others note excessive inventory may raise costs and increase ETR (Rahayu & Suryarini, 2021).
H3: Inventory intensity has a positive impact on the ETR.

Profitability is often expected to have a positive effect on ETR since more profitable firms generate higher taxable income. However, more profitable firms may also have more resources to engage in sophisticated tax planning, resulting in a lower ETR (Hanlon & Heitzman, 2010). Profitability in this study includes return on assets (ROA) and return on equity (ROE).
H4: Return on assets has a positive impact on the effective tax rate.
H5: Return on equity has a positive impact on the effective tax rate.
Control variable: Firm size is control variable.
 
3. METHODOLOGY

3.1 Measuring variables
The variables measurement is summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. Variable measurement
Variables	Code	Caculation
Effective tax rate	ETR	Tax expense/Pre-tax income
Financial Leverage	LEV	Liabilities/Equity
Capital Intensive	CAPINT	Fixed Assets/Total assets
Inventory Intensity	INVINT	Inventories/Total assets
Return on assets	ROA	Net income/Total assets
Return on equity	ROE	Net income/Equity
Firm Size	SIZE	Ln(Net sales)


3.2 Collecting and analyzing data
The dataset focused exclusively on non-financial firms for the period 2019 to 2022. The sample was a balanced panel dataset comprising 298 non-financial listed firms over the four years from 2019 to 2022 with 1192 observations. Data were collected and compiled in Microsoft Excel and subsequently analyzed using STATA version 17. The study employs panel data analysis to investigate the factors affecting tax planning.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The descriptive statistics The mean of ETR is 19.21%, with a standard deviation of 13.91%. The mean of SIZE is approximately 6.08, while the mean LEV is 46.45%. CAPINT has a mean value of 0.2067, while INVINT averages 0.1935. Average ROA and ROE values of 6.42% and 11.92%, respectively. The Pearson correlation coefficients between the dependent and independent variables, assessing potential multicollinearity and understanding preliminary relationships between variables. The correlation matrix indicate that LEV and INVINT are positively associated with the ETR, while CAPINT and ROE exhibit negative correlations. Overall, there is no absence of multicollinearity concerns supports.
The study estimated the balanced panel data by applying the Pooled OLS, FEM, and REM estimators. Then, three tests were employed to select the best fit estimation among Pooled OLS, FEM, and REM. The Hausman tests indicate that the FEM is the most appropriate estimation. The study examines the defects of the research model, including heteroskedasticity, autocorrelation, and multicollinearity. The Wald test with p = 0.000 < 5% indicates that there is an existence of  heteroskedasticity. There are no prensence of autocorrelation, and multicollinearity. Thus, the FGLS was applied to address heteroskedasticity.
The results shows that LEV has a significant negative impact on ETR, CAPINT negatively impact ETR. INVINT shows a significant positive effect on ETR. ROA does not have a statistically significant on ETR. ROE shows a significant negative effect on ETR. These results confirm that the CAPINT and INVINT play significant roles in tax planning in Vietnam.

1. CONCLUSION

This paper investigates the factors affecting tax planning among listed companies in Vietnam. The results confirm that ROE, LEV, CAPINT, INVINT, and firm size are statistically significant factors affecting the ETR - proxy of tax planning. These findings contribute to the tax literature in emerging markets and provide policy implications for managers and policymakers. Future research should explore broader datasets to widen the knowledge of tax planning practices.
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ABSTRACT
This study explores the ethical conflicts faced by public sector accountants during budget execution, emphasizing their implications for governance, accountability, and public trust. The research investigates how professional and organizational pressures influence accountants' ethical decision-making and the extent to which these challenges undermine integrity in public financial management. Utilizing qualitative methods, including semi-structured interviews, focus groups, and document analysis, the study captures the lived experiences and moral dilemmas encountered by public sector accountants across various institutions.The findings identify three primary ethical challenges: conflicts of interest, pressure to meet financial targets, and a lack of transparency in budget allocation. These issues are intensified by political interference, weak ethical cultures, and inadequate regulatory oversight. Respondents indicated that in environments prioritizing performance outcomes over ethical standards, accountants often face pressure to compromise their professional integrity. Such dynamics can result in misreporting, misuse of public resources, and a decline in public confidence in government institutions.The study employs Rest’s Four-Component Model to analyze how accountants perceive, judge, and respond to ethical dilemmas, highlighting the significant role of organizational culture in shaping moral behavior. Recommendations include the implementation of robust codes of conduct, enhancement of ethics education, and strengthening oversight mechanisms to foster ethical resilience. In conclusion, ethical conflicts in budget execution significantly undermine the credibility of public sector accounting. Addressing these challenges necessitates a commitment to integrity through ethics training, transparent practices, and supportive leadership, ultimately enhancing trust in public financial systems and ensuring ethical governance in the long term.
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1. BACKGROUND OF STUDY
Public financial management is one of the most important pillars of governance, designed to ensure that scarce resources are allocated efficiently, transparently, and in alignment with development priorities. In many countries, however, the execution of budgets often presents challenges that extend beyond technical or administrative issues. At the core of these challenges are ethical dilemmas faced by public sector accountants and managers who must navigate pressures from political interests, organizational demands, and public accountability.
In Indonesia, reforms in public sector financial management over the last two decades—particularly through the adoption of accrual-based accounting, performance budgeting, and decentralization—have improved the regulatory framework but have not eliminated ethical conflicts. Instead, these reforms have highlighted tensions between accountability mechanisms and the realities of political and organizational life.
Ethical dilemmas in budget execution occur when accountants must make difficult decisions that pit personal integrity and professional standards against political expediency, institutional culture, or external pressures. For example, they may be asked to manipulate expenditure reports, understate deficits, or accelerate disbursements to satisfy short-term interests. While such actions may temporarily solve organizational or political problems, they undermine financial integrity, damage trust in government institutions, and weaken the principles of transparency and accountability.
This study builds on international and local debates about ethical governance, seeking to reveal how Indonesian public sector accountants experience and respond to ethical dilemmas in budget execution. It also emphasizes that strengthening ethics in financial management is not only a matter of compliance with laws but also of embedding professional values and ethical reasoning in daily practice.

2. RESEARCH OBJECTIVES
The study pursues the following objectives:
1. To identify and classify the types of ethical dilemmas encountered in budget execution within Indonesian public institutions.
2. To examine the underlying drivers of these dilemmas, including political pressures, institutional weaknesses, and organizational culture.
3. To apply Rest’s Four-Component Model of Ethical Decision-Making as a theoretical lens to analyze how accountants perceive, evaluate, and respond to ethical conflicts.
4. To assess the implications of ethical conflicts for financial accountability, transparency, and public trust in governance.
5. To develop recommendations and strategies for strengthening ethical resilience and accountability in Indonesia’s public sector.

3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
3.1 Approach
The research adopts a qualitative, case study approach, which is appropriate for exploring complex ethical issues that are context-dependent and deeply embedded in individual experiences. Unlike quantitative approaches that emphasize generalizability, the qualitative design emphasizes depth, meaning, and interpretation.




3.2 Methods of Data Collection
1) Semi-Structured Interviews: Conducted with accountants, auditors, and managers in various Indonesian public institutions. These interviews allowed participants to share narratives of personal experiences dealing with ethical pressures in budget execution.
2) Focus Group Discussions (FGDs): Provided collective insights into shared challenges and allowed researchers to observe how ethical issues are perceived within organizational culture.
3) Document Analysis: Included financial statements, audit reports, and relevant government regulations. This helped triangulate findings and confirm the consistency of participants’ claims.

4. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS
Respondents were granted anonymity and confidentiality to avoid professional or political risks. Informed consent was obtained, and participants were free to withdraw at any stage. Reflexivity was practiced to ensure researchers’ values did not bias interpretations. This methodological triangulation ensured validity and reliability while offering nuanced insights into how ethical dilemmas unfold in practice.

5. FINDINGS
The study identifies several critical dimensions of ethical dilemmas in budget execution:
5.1 Conflicts of Interest
Accountants frequently face conflicts where personal, institutional, or political interests override professional judgment. For instance, budget allocations may favor politically connected groups rather than follow objective planning priorities. Weak systems for disclosure exacerbate these risks, as conflicts are rarely monitored or reported.

5.2 Political and Organizational Pressures
Budget execution is often politicized, particularly in decentralized government structures. Respondents reported cases where politicians pressured them to accelerate spending before elections or to allocate resources to specific constituencies regardless of actual needs. Hierarchical pressure within organizations also created ethical conflicts, as resisting directives from superiors could harm career prospects.

5.3 Manipulation of Financial Reports
To present the appearance of effective budget absorption, accountants are often asked to manipulate reports. Common practices include inflating revenues, underreporting expenditures, or shifting expenses across categories. These manipulations undermine accountability and distort decision-making.

5.4 Weak Oversight and Control Mechanisms
Although oversight structures exist, such as internal audit units and external bodies, respondents noted that they often lack independence or capacity. Political interference in oversight institutions further reduces their effectiveness.

5. Psychological and Professional Consequences
Accountants experience stress, frustration, and ethical fatigue when forced to compromise integrity. While some rely on personal values to resist, others adapt by normalizing unethical behavior, leading to long-term erosion of professional standards.

6. IMPLICATIONS
The ethical conflicts identified have significant consequences:
1. Erosion of Public Trust
When budget execution is compromised by unethical practices, citizens lose confidence in the credibility of government institutions.
2. Institutional Weaknesses
Normalizing unethical behavior creates systemic vulnerabilities, leaving institutions exposed to recurring financial scandals.
3. Governance Failures
When ethical considerations are subordinated to political expediency, principles of accountability and transparency are undermined, weakening governance structures and democratic legitimacy.

7. CONCLUSION
The research concludes that ethical dilemmas in budget execution are deeply systemic rather than isolated events. They emerge at the intersection of professional values, organizational culture, and political pressures. Rest’s Four-Component Model highlights that although accountants recognize the moral dimensions of their work, their ability to make ethical decisions is compromised by institutional and political constraints.
Without systemic reform, ethical dilemmas will continue to undermine the effectiveness of public financial management in Indonesia. Addressing these dilemmas requires moving beyond technical reforms to embed ethics and integrity as core principles of public governance.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Strengthen Codes of Ethics and Conduct
Develop context-specific ethical guidelines for public sector accountants. Ensure enforcement mechanisms are clear and consistently applied.
2. Institutionalize Ethics Training
Provide continuous, case-based ethics training linked to professional advancement. Encourage reflective practice on how to handle real-world dilemmas.
3. Empower Oversight Institutions
Strengthen the independence, resources, and capacity of internal and external audit bodies. Leverage technology and data analytics to detect anomalies in budget execution.
4. Promote Ethical Leadership
Leaders must model ethical behavior and set the tone for organizational culture. Create safe spaces for discussion of ethical issues without fear of retaliation.
5. Increase Transparency and Public Engagement
Make budget allocation and execution data publicly accessible. Encourage participation from civil society in monitoring processes.
6. Build Collaborative Accountability Networks
Enhance cooperation between government, academia, and professional associations to reinforce ethical standards and share best practices.
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ABSTRACT
Organizational culture significantly influences decision-making processes, particularly among accountants in government institutions. This article explores how the values, beliefs, and norms within an organization shape the ethical considerations and decision-making approaches of accountants. A positive organizational culture fosters transparency, open communication, and collaboration, leading to more informed and ethical decisions. Conversely, a toxic culture can stifle creativity and ethical behavior, resulting in decisions that prioritize short-term gains over long-term integrity. The study emphasizes the critical role of leadership in establishing a culture of ethics, where ethical behavior is modeled and reinforced at all levels. By prioritizing employee development and creating an environment that values ethical decision-making, organizations can enhance job satisfaction, retention, and overall performance. Employing a mixed-methods research design, the study investigates the influence of organizational culture on accountants' decision-making in government institutions. Qualitative methods include semi-structured interviews with accountants and financial managers to gather insights on the impact of culture on ethical decisions, along with focus groups to discuss shared values. Quantitative methods involve distributing structured surveys to a larger sample of accountants, using Likert-scale items to assess perceptions of culture and ethical behavior. Statistical analysis of the survey data reveals patterns and correlations, enhancing the study's robustness. The findings suggest that government institutions should implement strategies to promote ethical practices, such as regular ethics training and clear reporting channels for misconduct. Ultimately, fostering a culture of integrity not only enhances the organization’s reputation but also contributes to the overall success and sustainability of the public sector.
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1. INTRODUCTION
Organizational culture is a critical factor in shaping decision-making processes within businesses, influencing how employees address challenges and collaborate. A positive culture enhances decision-making success by aligning with the organization's values and goals. Key aspects of organizational culture, such as openness and communication, significantly affect decision outcomes. When employees feel comfortable sharing their thoughts, it leads to better decisions. Conversely, a toxic culture can hinder communication and thoughtful decision-making, resulting in missed opportunities and costly mistakes. Organizations must balance efficiency and informed decision-making to achieve long-term success, fostering collaboration and open dialogue.
Investing in employee training and development is vital for enhancing efficiency and innovation. A culture of continuous learning increases employee engagement and retention, as individuals are more likely to stay with organizations that prioritize their growth. Ultimately, organizations that emphasize both efficiency and innovation will thrive in a competitive market.
2. LITERATURE REVIEW
Organizational culture encompasses shared values, beliefs, and norms that shape employee behavior. Key components of a strong culture include a clear mission, strong leadership, open communication, and a focus on employee well-being. A positive culture fosters employee engagement and productivity, while a toxic culture can lead to high turnover and legal issues. In government agencies, a strong culture promotes transparency and accountability, benefiting public service delivery.
Leaders can create a positive work environment by fostering trust, respect, and accountability. Open communication and recognition of employee input boost morale and lead to increased innovation. A strong organizational culture can mitigate conflicts and improve teamwork, ultimately driving success and longevity in today's competitive landscape.

2.1 Organizational Culture and Decision Making
Companies with a strong, positive culture are more likely to make ethical and strategic decisions that benefit employees and the bottom line. Employees in these organizations feel empowered to contribute ideas, leading to greater innovation. A healthy culture attracts top talent, while toxic cultures struggle to retain employees and face negative consequences. By fostering a supportive environment, companies can enhance employee engagement, satisfaction, and productivity, resulting in improved performance and profitability.

2.2 Organizational Culture in Government Agencies
In government institutions, a positive organizational culture leads to effective decision-making processes, as employees are more likely to collaborate openly. A strong culture can prevent corruption and unethical behavior, promoting trust and integrity in the public sector. Additionally, a positive culture increases employee satisfaction and retention rates, ultimately benefiting the organization. Government agencies must take a holistic approach to improving effectiveness, including investing in training and development programs.

2.3 Theoretical Framework
Understanding organizational culture is essential for enhancing performance in government agencies. The Competing Values Framework categorizes cultures into four quadrants: clan, adhocracy, hierarchy, and market. Each quadrant influences decision-making and employee behavior. The Vroom-Yetton-Jago Decision-Making Model emphasizes employee participation, fostering ownership and commitment. Principles from organizational psychology, such as job enrichment, can create a motivating work environment.



3. METHODOLOGY
A mixed-methods approach was utilized to explore the impact of ethical leadership on employee morale and performance. Surveys and interviews were conducted across various departments, capturing diverse perspectives. Observational research provided insights into ethical leadership in action, allowing for a comprehensive understanding of its influence on organizational culture.
4.  RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. Findings on Organizational Culture and Decision-Making: The study found that a positive organizational culture enhances decision-making among accountants, leading to higher job satisfaction and retention. Key factors influencing decision-making include autonomy, open communication, and management support.
2. Comparative Analysis of Cultures: Different organizational cultures significantly affect ethical behavior among accountants. A strong culture of integrity promotes ethical decision-making, while a toxic culture can lead to unethical practices.
3. Implications for Government Agencies: Findings suggest that government institutions should implement stricter regulations and oversight mechanisms to ensure ethical standards in accounting firms. Collaboration between regulatory bodies and industry associations is essential for promoting ethical behavior.
5. Suggestions for Improvement: Recommendations include promoting transparency, fostering open communication, and investing in ongoing ethics training. Establishing clear ethical guidelines and implementing whistleblower protection programs can further enhance organizational culture.
6. Future Research Directions: Future studies should explore the long-term benefits of ethical practices on employee morale, productivity, and financial performance. Investigating the role of corporate governance in promoting ethical behavior is also crucial for maintaining accountability.

CONCLUSION
Promoting ethical behavior within organizations is essential for long-term success and societal impact. A strong organizational culture that prioritizes ethics leads to better decision-making, increased employee morale, and enhanced trust among stakeholders. By fostering a culture of integrity and accountability, organizations can navigate complex ethical dilemmas and achieve sustainable growth. Ultimately, prioritizing ethics benefits individual firms and contributes to a more trustworthy and ethical financial industry.
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ABSTRACT
Goodwill arising from acquisitions is recognized as an intangible fixed asset of the acquiring company. Companies that prepare their financial statements by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) must conduct regular impairment tests on the goodwill they hold. These impairment tests examine whether the recoverable amount expected to be derived from the acquired business exceeds the carrying amount of the related goodwill. If the recoverable amount falls below the carrying amount, the company's management must recognize an impairment loss for the shortfall. When estimating the recoverable amount of the acquired business, the discounted cash flow (DCF) method is often used. In applying this method, management establishes key parameters such as projected future cash flows, discount rates, and growth rates. In other words, determining the recoverable amount relies heavily on management’s discretionary judgment. As a result, management could exercise discretion over the timing and recognition of goodwill impairments. In this study, we propose a theoretical model for evaluating the risk of goodwill impairment from the perspective of external stakeholders. We also provide a theoretical explanation of the mechanisms by which management’s discretion over recognizing and disclosing goodwill impairments arises. Furthermore, we analyze several actual cases of goodwill impairment using our proposed theoretical model.
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1. INTRODUCTION
Goodwill impairment has long been a contentious issue in financial reporting, particularly under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), where goodwill is not amortized but instead tested annually for impairment. While the accounting framework provides formal procedures for impairment testing, the actual recognition and disclosure of impairment losses often involve significant managerial discretion. This study proposes a theoretical model that formalizes the risk of goodwill impairment and explores the extent to which managerial judgment influences its recognition and disclosure. The model is grounded in publicly available financial data and is tested through three illustrative case studies of Japanese corporations.
2. OBJECTIVES AND CONTRIBUTIONS
This research pursues two interrelated objectives:
1. To develop a theoretical model that enables the estimation of goodwill impairment risk using observable financial metrics.
2. To explore the managerial discretion involved in the recognition and disclosure of goodwill impairment, and to propose testable hypotheses regarding strategic behavior.
The study contributes to the literature by offering a structured framework for visualizing impairment risk and by identifying behavioral patterns in corporate reporting practices. It bridges financial accounting and managerial accounting perspectives, providing insights into both the valuation mechanics and the strategic dimensions of goodwill impairment.
3. THEORHETICAL MODEL AND RISK METRICS
The model is built upon the following threshold equation:
G/NA + 1 = NOPAT/NA × 1/(k − g)
Where: G = Goodwill, NA = Identifiable Net Assets, NOPAT = Net Operating Profit After Tax, k = Discount Rate, g = Perpetual Growth Rate.
This equation formalizes the condition under which the carrying amount of goodwill is recoverable. If the left-hand side (acquisition premium) exceeds the right-hand side (recoverable value), impairment is likely. The model decomposes the recoverable amount into two components: the profitability ratio (NOPAT/NA) and the capital discount multiplier (1/(k − g)). This decomposition enables the identification of three distinct risk metrics:
Metric 1: G/NA ratio as a primary indicator of acquisition premium risk.
Metric 2: Deviation of NOPAT/NA from industry benchmarks.
Metric 3: Sensitivity of the multiplier to changes in discount and growth rates.
These metrics allow for a comparative analysis across industries and acquisition cases, and can be used to simulate impairment risk under various economic scenarios.

4. MANAGERIAL DISCRETION AND HYPHOTESIS

Building upon the model’s structure, the study proposes two hypotheses regarding managerial behavior:
H1: Managers are more likely to recognize and disclose goodwill impairment during periods of strong financial performance to mitigate adverse market reactions.
H2: Managers are more likely to disclose impairment losses during regime changes, particularly when new executives succeed former leadership, as part of a “big bath” strategy.
These hypotheses reflect the strategic use of accounting discretion and are grounded in prior empirical findings that link impairment recognition to managerial turnover and performance cycles.

5. CASE STUDY ANALYSIS
Three Japanese corporations are analyzed to test the applicability of the model and the validity of the proposed hypotheses:
5.1 Kirin Holdings – Kyowa Hakko Bio Acquisition
Kirin acquired Kyowa Hakko Bio in 2019, recording goodwill of ¥13.9 billion. In 2023, the company announced a ¥43 billion impairment loss due to deteriorating profitability. The case illustrates how changes in NOPAT and discount rates affect the recoverable amount, and how impairment risk becomes pronounced when AV/NA exceeds 2. The timing of the impairment suggests strategic recognition aligned with Hypothesis 1.

5.2 Konica Minolta – Precision Medicine Segment
Konica Minolta acquired Ambry Genetics and Invicro in 2017, recording goodwill of ¥82.1 billion with an AV/NA ratio of 3.08. Despite early signs of underperformance, impairment was not recognized until 2022. The delay coincided with rising discount rates and strategic restructuring, supporting the notion of managerial discretion and aligning with both hypotheses.

5.3 DeNA – ngmoco Acquisition
DeNA acquired ngmoco in 2010 for $325 million, with goodwill representing 26.1 times the net assets. Although the subsidiary was liquidated in 2016, impairment was not disclosed until 2020. The case highlights the strategic timing of impairment recognition and the influence of accounting standards (transition from Japanese GAAP to IFRS), providing strong support for Hypothesis 1.

6. MANAGERIAL ACCOUNTING PERSPECTIVES

From a managerial accounting standpoint, goodwill represents an investment in intangible and non-identifiable assets beyond the fair value of net assets. It embodies the portion of acquisition cost that must be recovered through future cash flows. If recovery fails, goodwill becomes a sunk cost—an irrecoverable expenditure. The study uses the analogy of a movie ticket to illustrate this concept: continuing to watch a boring film simply because the ticket was paid for reflects irrational loss aversion. Similarly, delaying impairment recognition may reflect managerial reluctance to acknowledge sunk costs.
Importantly, while the value judgment of a movie is subjective and occurs post-consumption, the risk of goodwill becoming a sunk cost can be assessed immediately after acquisition. The model’s metrics provide tools for such assessment, enhancing the predictability of impairment and supporting rational decision-making.

7. IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

The findings have several implications:
For regulators: The model offers a framework for evaluating the transparency of impairment disclosures.
For investors: The metrics enable early assessment of acquisition risk.
For managers: The study highlights the strategic consequences of impairment timing and disclosure.
Future research should focus on empirically testing hypotheses with large-scale data. While the case studies offer qualitative support, wider validation is necessary to apply the findings broadly. Furthermore, cross-country comparisons could show how institutional differences influence managerial discretion in impairment recognition.
8. CONCLUSION
This study introduces a theoretical model for evaluating goodwill impairment risk and managerial discretion. By formalizing the threshold condition and breaking down the recoverable amount, the model allows for a structured analysis of impairment risk. The case studies demonstrate how managerial judgment affects recognition and disclosure, and the proposed hypotheses provide a basis for future empirical research. Overall, the study enhances understanding of the connection between accounting practices and strategic behavior in corporate reporting.
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ABSTRACT
This study empirically examines the impact of cost stickiness on the cost of equity capital and corporate performance using financial data from Japanese firms listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange Prime and Standard markets over the 15-year period from 2007 to 2021. Cost stickiness refers to the phenomenon whereby costs do not decrease as readily when business activity declines as they increase when activity rises. Whereas prior studies have primarily relied on the Anderson model to estimate cost stickiness, this study adopts the Weiss model to more precisely capture cost behavior and incorporates it as an explanatory variable in regression analyses. The cost of equity capital is estimated using four implied costs of capital models based on analyst forecasts. The findings reveal that, contrary to the initial hypothesis, cost stickiness is negatively associated with the cost of equity capital. This suggests that investors may interpret cost stickiness as a sign of rational managerial decision-making, lower perceived risk, and more stable future performance, leading them to require lower expected returns. In addition, the study decomposes cost stickiness into operating expenses and SG&A expenses to evaluate their respective effects on corporate performance indicators such as ROE, EBITDA, and Tobin's Q. The results indicate that operating expense stickiness positively affects EBITDA, while SG&A expense stickiness has a negative effect on ROE. The relationship between cost stickiness and either Tobin’s Q or WACC remains statistically inconclusive. This research contributes to the literature by providing new empirical evidence on the capital market implications of cost stickiness, especially in the context of Japanese firms. It also highlights the managerial importance of differentiating between types of expenses when assessing their long-term impact on firm value. Furthermore, the findings suggest that analysts and investors should consider cost behavior as a relevant factor in corporate valuation and risk assessment.
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1. INTRODUCTION
Effective cost management is a critical tool for enhancing managerial performance and corporate outcomes. In the fiscal year ending March 2021, with growing emphasis on non-financial information, the disclosure of notes related to accounting estimates became mandatory, underscoring the importance of high-quality financial reporting amid changing financial metric standards. Research on cost behavior is thus valuable for external stakeholders seeking to understand corporate cost strategies and managerial decision-making.
This study aims to clarify the impact of cost stickiness on the cost of equity capital. Financial information used by investors in their decision-making reduces information asymmetry, thereby improving market liquidity (Baiman & Verrecchia, 1996), facilitating risk sharing (Merton, 1987), and lowering information risk (Barry & Brown, 1985)—all of which contribute to a lower cost of equity capital. Conversely, from the perspective of rational decision-making theory—one of the foundations of cost stickiness—managers may make overly optimistic sales forecasts, fail to secure adequate profits, and cause profit volatility through cost behavior (Yasukata, 2012). High cost stickiness increases the degree of information asymmetry between the firm and its investors, complicating accurate valuation. Consequently, investors may demand higher returns to compensate for this uncertainty, thus raising the cost of equity capital.
This study contributes by addressing a gap in the literature. While previous research has explored the existence, determinants, and profitability implications of cost stickiness, few studies have examined its relevance from the investors’ perspective. Earlier analyses focused on the effect of cost stickiness on gross or operating profit, whereas more recent work has examined SG&A cost behavior and congestion costs. However, from the standpoint of corporate value—especially regarding the cost of capital for investments that generate future cash flows—the impact of cost stickiness on shareholder value remains unclear.
This study sheds light on how cost behavior—reflected in the responsiveness of costs to sales fluctuations—affects the cost of equity capital, defined as the expected return required by investors. It demonstrates how such behavior influences investor perceptions, thereby offering practical insights for managerial cost control and enhancing the relevance of management accounting information.
The structure of this paper is as follows:
Section 2 reviews prior research on cost stickiness and the cost of equity capital.
Section 3 constructs the research hypotheses.
Section 4 explains the research methodology.
Section 5 presents and interprets the empirical results.
Section 6 discusses the implications.

[bookmark: _heading=h.ndd9briopl5l]2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Research on Cost Stickiness
[bookmark: _heading=h.vez48bds2pc0]Prior research on cost stickiness has clarified its existence as a phenomenon, identified its determinants, and examined its impact on profitability.Anderson et al. (2003), using data from U.S. firms, found that the rate at which costs—specifically SG&A expenses—decrease when activity levels (i.e., sales) decline is smaller in absolute terms than the rate at which they increase when activity levels rise. This asymmetry in cost behavior is defined as cost stickiness. Regarding its underlying mechanism, they suggested that optimistic managers may perceive a sales decline as temporary and, if they estimate that the adjustment costs of unused resources (e.g., selling and repurchasing equipment or firing and rehiring employees) exceed the cost of retaining them, they may rationally choose to retain such resources temporarily.
Weiss (2010) expanded on this by identifying “anti-stickiness,” where the rate of cost decrease when sales decline is greater than the rate of increase when sales rise. Shohei Nagasawa (2020) empirically confirmed that cost behavior in Japanese local public enterprises differs from that in for-profit firms. Specifically, non-merged enterprises exhibited anti-stickiness, while merged ones displayed cost stickiness.
Kenji Yasukata (2012) argued that cost stickiness negatively impacts profitability. He explained that overly optimistic sales forecasts—where actual sales fall short of projections—can lead to cost stickiness through the continued maintenance of unused resources. These resources may persist across multiple fiscal years, gradually reducing both gross and operating profits. Furthermore, the more optimistic the sales forecast, the more pronounced the profit reduction over time. Thus, even when cost stickiness stems from rational managerial decisions, it may still result in lower profits contrary to managerial expectations.
However, existing research on cost stickiness has yet to fully explore its impact on investors, particularly shareholders.
2.2 Research on the Cost of Equity Capital
Studies on the cost of equity capital have shown that it is influenced by factors such as the quality of accounting information and disclosure practices.
Francis et al. (2004) investigated the relationship between the cost of equity capital and seven earnings attributes: accrual quality, persistence, predictability, smoothness, value relevance, timeliness, and conservatism. The first four attributes are based on accounting data alone and are categorized as accounting-based, while the latter three, derived from market-accounting interactions, are market-based. According to theoretical models positing a positive correlation between information risk and the cost of equity, firms with lower earnings attribute scores had higher costs of equity capital. Their results demonstrated that accounting quality has a significant impact on the cost of equity, even after controlling for factors such as firm size, volatility in cash flow and sales, losses, intangible asset intensity, and capital intensity.
Ken Hasebe (2022) examined how the disclosure of “materiality”—non-financial information specific to a company—through integrated reports affects the cost of equity capital. He found that firms disclosing such information tend to have lower equity capital costs than those that do not.
Nonetheless, the existing literature has not examined the impact of cost behavior on the cost of equity capital.
3. HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT
3.1 Hypothesis on the Impact of Cost Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
This study develops a hypothesis on how cost stickiness influences the cost of equity capital, based on its underlying drivers.
From the standpoint of agency problems—a key determinant of cost stickiness—cost stickiness can be viewed as a reflection of corporate governance. Corporate governance, in turn, influences banks’ lending decisions. Banks may perceive firms with high cost stickiness as exhibiting stronger agency problems and therefore assign them higher credit risk premiums. Furthermore, high cost stickiness may signal that managers, driven by agency concerns, make cost-related decisions that deviate from shareholders’ interests, using their discretion for personal gain (e.g., empire building or opportunism). In response, shareholders may adopt stricter monitoring mechanisms to limit such discretionary behavior. These mechanisms involve additional costs, prompting shareholders to require higher expected returns, thereby increasing the firm’s cost of equity capital.
From the perspective of rational decision-making, firms with high cost stickiness are more likely to engage in long-term contracts due to considerations such as contractual costs or favorable terms. These contracts may lead to resource slack and reduce the firm’s ability to adapt to market fluctuations (e.g., changes in raw material or product prices). When business volume contracts, high adjustment costs hinder efficient resource reallocation. As firms retain idle resources, managerial flexibility diminishes, thereby increasing business risk. Furthermore, cost stickiness may obscure forecasts based on historical sales data, heightening decision-making risk. As a result, investors may interpret high cost stickiness as a signal of greater managerial risk and demand higher returns, thus increasing the firm’s cost of equity capital.
According to signaling theory, if disclosed accounting profits are sufficiently informative, investors can anticipate future economic performance and make rational investment decisions, thereby influencing stock prices. However, historical financial reports often provide limited insights into future earnings, exacerbating information asymmetry between firms and investors. Firms with high cost stickiness tend to exhibit lower earnings forecast accuracy and weaker disclosure quality compared to their low-stickiness counterparts. Based on theories linking disclosure quality to the cost of equity, investors facing greater information uncertainty demand higher expected returns, thereby increasing the firm’s cost of equity capital.
Based on these considerations, the following hypothesis is proposed:
H1: Cost stickiness has a positive effect on the cost of equity capital.
3.2 Hypothesis on the Impact of Cost Stickiness on Corporate Performance
Firms pursuing long-term business sustainability often engage in various long-term contracts with stakeholders. As a result, when sales decline, they are unable to promptly reduce costs due to these contractual obligations. In addition, due to economic inefficiencies and asymmetric interests, costs tend to decrease only slightly even in the face of reduced sales volumes. Prior studies have concluded that cost stickiness negatively impacts profitability.
However, Weiss (2010) employed a specific approach to measure cost stickiness as , while Yasukata (2012) used cost of sales and SG&A expenses as proxies for cost. Yasukata, Arai, and Fukushima (2017) focused specifically on SG&A expenses. In contrast, this study distinguishes between stickiness in operating expenses and SG&A expenses to examine their respective impacts on corporate performance. Moreover, while prior studies have commonly used gross profit or operating income as performance indicators, this study evaluates the effects of different types of cost stickiness on managerial accounting metrics such as ROE and EBITDA.
Accordingly, the following hypotheses are proposed:
H2-1: Stickiness in operating expenses has a negative effect on corporate performance.
H2-2: Stickiness in SG&A expenses has a negative effect on corporate performance.
4. [bookmark: _heading=h.3o19k6mril2x]METHODS
4.1 Variables Used in the Analysis
4.1.1 Estimating the Cost of Equity Capital
The cost of equity capital represents the expected rate of return required by investors. It is typically calculated by adding a risk premium to the risk-free rate. Commonly used models include the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) and the Fama and French (1993) three-factor model. However, Fama and French (1997) argued that estimating the cost of equity capital based on realized returns is inherently imprecise.
Therefore, this study adopts a forward-looking approach that does not rely on realized returns. Instead, it estimates the implied cost of equity capital by reverse-engineering from an abnormal earnings growth (AEG) model.

4.1.1.1 OJ Model
Ohlson and Juettner-Nauroth (2005) proposed the following abnormal earnings growth (AEG) model to estimate the implied cost of equity capital:
,


Where:
,

Gode & Mohanram (2003) assume a constant growth rate , while Kitagawa & Goto (2010) use adjusted parameters for Japanese data .

	
	：Cost of equity capital

	
	：Forecasted earnings per share for the next period (Earnings Per Share: EPS)

	
	：Current stock price (end-of-period closing price)

	
	：Forecasted dividends per share for the next period (Dividend Per Share: DPS)

	
	：Long-term economic growth rate



4.1.1.2 MPEG Model
Easton (2004) assumes , and simplifies the OJ model as:

,

Where:

,

PEG Model (Price/Earnings-to-Growth ratio: PEG ratio)

Easton. (2004) assumes , resulting in:

,

4.1.1.3 PE Model
Easton. (2004). assumes that the abnormal growth in earnings converges to zero:

,
[bookmark: _heading=h.s4jxo7iksgk1]Estimating Corporate Performance
1 ROE (Return on Equity)
　ROE reflects a firm’s profitability, operational efficiency, and financial soundness (Ito, 2008). Since this study focuses on the cost of equity capital, ROE is adopted as a key proxy for corporate performance.
EBITDA
EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortization) serves as a performance metric that excludes the effects of capital structure, taxation, and non-cash expenses. It is considered a relevant indicator of core profitability and is used as an additional proxy for corporate performance.
Tobin Q3
Tobin’s Q, defined as the ratio of a firm’s market value to the replacement cost of its assets, is commonly used to evaluate firm performance and growth potential. Although simplified versions of Q—such as those using book values for debt—may yield quantitative differences, their qualitative interpretation remains largely valid (Ando, 2009). Therefore, Tobin’s Q is also employed as a proxy for corporate performance in this study.
Estimating Cost Stickiness
Two main models are used in prior studies. The first is Anderson et al. (2003), which defines cost stickiness as:

Where:
if sales decline=1; otherwise =0
cost: either COGS or SG&A expenses
sale: proxy for activity volume
​<0 implies cost stickiness
However, this model is not easily applicable for using cost stickiness as an explanatory variable in regression analysis.
The second model, developed by Weiss (2010), enables cost stickiness to be treated as a numerical explanatory variable. Thus, this study adopts the Weiss model:
　
Here,  represents the most recent quarter of sales decline within the last four quarters, and  represents the most recent quarter of sales increase within the last four quarters.
Regression Models
The Impact of Cost Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
This study empirically investigates the effect of cost stickiness on the cost of equity capital, following the analytical framework employed by Hasebe (2022).
1 The Impact of Operating Expense Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
The first regression model examines how stickiness in operating expenses influences the implied cost of equity capital. This analysis allows for assessing whether inefficiencies or rigidity in adjusting operational costs contribute to higher expected returns required by investors.




The Impact of SG&A Expense Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
The second model focuses on the relationship between SG&A expense stickiness and the cost of equity capital. Given that SG&A expenses often involve managerial discretion and long-term commitments, their rigidity may have distinct implications for investors' risk perceptions and expected returns.




The Impact of Cost Stickiness on Corporate Performance
1 The Impact of Operating Expense Stickiness on Corporate Performance
This model analyzes how operating expense stickiness affects corporate performance indicators such as ROE and EBITDA. Since operating expenses are directly linked to core business activities, their inflexibility during periods of declining sales may reflect cost inefficiency, thereby negatively influencing profitability and operational effectiveness.



The Impact of SG&A Expense Stickiness on Corporate Performance
This model examines the effect of SG&A expense stickiness on corporate performance metrics such as ROE and EBITDA. Since SG&A expenses often involve discretionary spending related to administration, marketing, and R&D, excessive rigidity in adjusting these costs may reflect inefficiencies or agency-related behaviors, potentially leading to diminished profitability and resource misallocation.



Here, the control variables are defined as follows:
	：Debt Ratio. Total liabilities of firm i in period t divided by total equity, multiplied by 100%.
	：Leverage Ratio. Return on equity (ROE) of firm i in period t divided by the firm's overall profitability.
	：Return on Equity. Net income of firm i in period t divided by total equity, multiplied by 100%.
	：Market Beta (3-year). Beta coefficient calculated by regressing the monthly return of firm i over the past 36 months on the monthly returns of the Nikkei 500 index.
	：TOPIX Beta (3-year). Beta coefficient calculated by regressing the monthly return of firm i over the past 36 months on the monthly returns of the TOPIX index.
	：Revenue Growth Rate. (Sales  in period 𝑡÷Sales in period (𝑡−1))−1×100%
	：Firm Size. Natural logarithm of the total assets of firm i in period t.
	：Book-to-Market Ratio. Total assets divided by (shares outstanding at fiscal year-end × year-end closing stock price of the parent company).

Sample
Sample Selection
This study conducts an empirical analysis using financial data from Japanese firms to test the proposed hypotheses. The sample comprises firms listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (TSE) Prime and Standard markets during the fiscal years 2007 to 2021. Following common practice, firms classified under banking, securities, insurance, and other financial sectors—based on TSE industry classifications—are excluded from the analysis.
To ensure data consistency, the sample is further limited to firms whose fiscal year ends in March and whose fiscal year duration is exactly 12 months. The initial sample selection criteria are summarized as follows:
Period	：Fiscal Year 2007 to Fiscal Year 2021	(Note: To calculate cost stickiness, data on sales, operating revenue, operating expenses, and SG&A expenses from Q3 FY2006 to Q1 FY2022 are used.)
Target Firms	：Companies listed on the TSE Prime and Standard markets, excluding those classified under banking, securities, insurance, and other financial industries based on TSE classifications.
Financial Data	：Consolidated financial statements prepared under Japanese GAAP.
Fiscal Year-End	：March
Fiscal Year Duration	：12 months

Sample Extraction Procedure
The financial data used for the analysis were obtained from Nikkei NEEDS-Financial QUEST and the Bloomberg Terminal. After data collection, pooled regression analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics 24 to test the proposed hypotheses.
The number of firm-year observations remaining after applying the sample selection criteria is summarized as follows:
Total firm-year observations (FY2007 to FY2021) of companies listed on the TSE Prime and Standard markets, excluding those classified under banking, securities, insurance, and other financial sectors based on TSE industry classifications	：48,795 firm-years
Firm-year observations with March fiscal year-end and 12-month accounting period	：25,446 firm-years
Firm-year observations with available EPS and DPS forecasts for computing the dependent variable	： 5,284 firm-years
Firm-year observations where cost stickiness or anti-stickiness is identifiable as an explanatory variable	： 3,588 firm-years
Firm-year observations after excluding outliers and anomalies	： 3,179 firm-years

5. FINDINGS
The Impact of Cost Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
The Impact of Operating Expense Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
Table 1 presents the results of the regression analysis examining the relationship between operating expense stickiness and the implied cost of equity capital. The model includes control variables commonly used in prior literature to account for firm characteristics.
Model 1 presents the empirical results for testing Hypothesis H1, focusing on the relationship between operating expense stickiness and the cost of equity capital estimated using the Ohlson–Juettner-Nauroth (OJ) model. The estimated coefficient for operating expense stickiness, =0.054, is statistically significant at the 0.1% level. This indicates that a one-unit increase in operating expense stickiness is associated with an average increase of 0.054 in the implied cost of equity capital. However, since more negative values of  represent stronger cost stickiness, the result implies that greater operating expense stickiness is associated with a lower cost of equity capital.
Model 2 also tests Hypothesis H1, using the cost of equity capital estimated by the Modified PEG (MPEG) model as the dependent variable. The coefficient for operating expense stickiness remains =0.054, again statistically significant at the 0.1% level. Consistent with Model 1, this finding suggests that stronger operating expense stickiness (i.e., more negative values of ​) leads to a decrease in the cost of equity capital estimated by the MPEG model.
Model 3 employs the PEG model to estimate the cost of equity capital. The coefficient for operating expense stickiness is also =0.054, with statistical significance at the 0.1% level. As in the previous models, a one-unit increase in stickiness corresponds to a 0.054 increase in the cost of equity capital. Interpreting this in light of the measurement scale, the result again implies a negative relationship between cost stickiness and the cost of equity capital.
Model 4 utilizes the Price-to-Earnings (PE) model to estimate the cost of equity capital. In this model, the t-value for the estimated coefficient is 0.624, indicating that the effect of operating expense stickiness on the cost of equity capital is not statistically significant. Thus, the result for the PE model remains inconclusive.

Table 1. The Impact of Operating Expense Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
Model 1～4				
（Constant）	　	　	　	　
	(17.383)	(16.577)	(16.141)	(6.218)
	0.054***	0.054***	0.054***	0.010
	(3.428)	(3.407)	(3.420)	(0.624)
	0.238***	0.249***	0.250***	0.040*
	(13.629)	(14.206)	(14.310)	(2.314)
	-0.059***	-0.062***	-0.061***	0.176***
	(-3.550)	(-3.732)	(-3.651)	(10.772)
	-0.210***	-0.184***	-0.192***	0.400***
	(-11.997)	(-10.469)	(-10.971)	(23.248)
	-0.202***	-0.207***	-0.197***	-0.127***
	(-8.414)	(-8.607)	(-8.192)	(-5.357)
	0.382***	0.390***	0.382***	0.105***
	(15.852)	(16.153)	(15.868)	(4.422)
	-0.080***	-0.076***	-0.075***	0.007
	(-4.735)	(-4.497)	(-4.448)	(0.428)
	-0.145***	-0.143***	-0.144***	-0.005
	(-8.168)	(-8.040)	(-8.133)	(-0.293)
	0.015	0.012	0.010	0.036*
	(0.928)	(0.773)	(0.604)	(2.286)
*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001
Figures in parentheses indicate t-values.


The Impact of SG&A Expense Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
Table 2 presents the regression results for testing Hypothesis H1, focusing on the relationship between SG&A expense stickiness and the implied cost of equity capital. Four estimation models are employed: the Ohlson–Juettner-Nauroth (OJ) model, the Modified PEG (MPEG) model, the PEG model, and the Price-to-Earnings (PE) model. The key explanatory variable is SG&A expense stickiness, with control variables included to account for firm characteristics.
Model 5 presents the empirical results for testing Hypothesis H1, focusing on SG&A expense stickiness and the cost of equity capital estimated using the Ohlson–Juettner-Nauroth (OJ) model. The estimated coefficient, =0.048, is statistically significant at the 1% level. This implies that a one-unit increase in SG&A expense stickiness is associated with an average increase of 0.048 in the cost of equity capital. However, since more negative values of ​ represent greater cost stickiness, the result suggests that stronger SG&A expense stickiness is associated with a lower cost of equity capital.
Model 6 also tests Hypothesis H1, using the Modified PEG (MPEG) model to estimate the cost of equity capital. The estimated coefficient remains =0.048, with statistical significance at the 1% level. This indicates that SG&A expense stickiness negatively affects the cost of equity capital estimated by the MPEG model, consistent with the result from Model 5.
Model 7 examines the relationship between SG&A expense stickiness and the cost of equity capital using the PEG model. The estimated coefficient is =0.049, which is statistically significant at the 1% level. This result supports the finding that stronger SG&A cost stickiness (i.e., more negative values of ​) is associated with a decrease in the cost of equity capital.
Model 8 presents the result from the regression using the Price-to-Earnings (PE) model. The t-value for the estimated coefficient is –0.771, which indicates that the relationship between SG&A expense stickiness and the cost of equity capital is not statistically significant in this specification. Therefore, the result from Model 8 is inconclusive.

Table 2. The Impact of SG&A Expense Stickiness on the Cost of Equity Capital
Model 5～8			　	
（Constant）	　	　	　	　
	(17.352)	(16.547)	(16.111)	(6.234)
	0.048**	0.048**	0.049**	-0.012
	(3.000)	(3.020)	(3.092)	(-0.771)
	0.241***	0.251***	0.253***	0.040*
	(13.782)	(14.359)	(14.465)	(2.328)
	-0.060***	-0.063***	-0.061***	0.176***
	(-3.594)	(-3.775)	(-3.694)	(10.753)
	-0.213***	-0.186***	-0.195***	0.401***
	(-12.123)	(-10.600)	(-11.106)	(23.259)
	-0.202***	-0.207***	-0.197***	-0.126***
	(-8.393)	(-8.587)	(-8.173)	(-5.335)
	0.382***	0.390***	0.383***	0.104***
	(15.852)	(16.154)	(15.871)	(4.401)
	-0.081***	-0.077***	-0.076***	0.006
	(-4.837)	(-4.597)	(-4.548)	(0.391)
	-0.145***	-0.143***	-0.145***	-0.006
	(-8.192)	(-8.062)	(-8.154)	(-0.329)
	0.015	0.012	0.010	0.036*
	(0.930)	(0.774)	(0.603)	(2.321)
*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001
Figures in parentheses indicate t-values.

The Impact of Cost Stickiness on Corporate Performance
The Impact of Operating Expense Stickiness on Corporate Performance
Table 3 reports the regression results for testing Hypotheses H2-1, focusing on the relationship between operating expense stickiness and corporate performance. The analysis uses ROE and EBITDA as dependent variables to evaluate profitability and operating efficiency. Control variables are included to account for firm-specific factors such as size, leverage, and capital intensity.
Model 9 presents the empirical results for testing Hypothesis H2-1, using ROE as the dependent variable. The t-value for the estimated coefficient  is 0.250, indicating that the effect of operating expense stickiness on ROE is not statistically significant. Thus, no clear relationship is found between operating expense stickiness and return on equity in this specification.
Model 10 also tests Hypothesis H2-1, using EBITDA as the performance indicator. The estimated coefficient for operating expense stickiness is =-0.036, which is statistically significant at the 1% level. This suggests that a one-unit increase in operating expense stickiness is associated with an average decrease of 0.036 in EBITDA. However, since more negative values of ​ indicate greater cost stickiness, the result implies that stronger operating expense stickiness is associated with higher EBITDA—supporting Hypothesis H2-1 in terms of a positive performance impact.
Model 11 examines the effect of operating expense stickiness on Tobin’s Q. The t-value for ​ is 0.828, indicating that the relationship is not statistically significant. Therefore, the impact of operating expense stickiness on Tobin’s Q remains inconclusive.

Table 3. The Impact of Operating Expense Stickiness on Corporate Performance
Model 9~11			
（Constant）	　	　	　
	(19.099)	(-39.568)	(11.493)
	0.004	-0.036**	0.014
	(0.250)	(-2.640)	(0.828)
	0.059***	0.009	0.072***
	(3.362)	(0.619)	(3.778)
	0.220***	0.018	0.000
	(13.422)	(1.288)	(0.010)
	0.068**	0.066**	0.184***
	(2.809)	(3.166)	(6.981)
	-0.060*	-0.027	-0.125***
	(-2.442)	(-1.300)	(-4.729)
	0.277***	0.069***	0.060***
	(16.951)	(4.935)	(3.396)
	-0.198***	0.631***	-0.095***
	(-11.245)	(41.838)	(-4.970)
	-0.015	0.040**	-0.080***
	(-0.951)	(2.902)	(-4.552)
*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001
Figures in parentheses indicate t-values.

The Impact of SG&A Expense Stickiness on Corporate Performance
Table 4 presents the regression results for testing Hypothesis H2-2, which examines the relationship between SG&A expense stickiness and corporate performance. As in the previous section, ROE, EBITDA, and Tobin’s Q are used as dependent variables to capture different dimensions of firm performance—namely profitability, operational efficiency, and market-based valuation. The regressions include standard firm-level controls to account for heterogeneity across observations.
Model 12 presents the empirical results for testing Hypothesis H2-2, using ROE as the dependent variable. The estimated coefficient for SG&A expense stickiness is =0.050, which is statistically significant at the 1% level. This suggests that a one-unit increase in SG&A expense stickiness is associated with an average increase of 0.050 in ROE. However, because more negative values of ​ indicate greater stickiness, this result implies that stronger SG&A expense stickiness is associated with lower ROE. This finding supports Hypothesis H2-2, suggesting a negative impact of SG&A expense stickiness on profitability.
[bookmark: _heading=h.myphbobpjxck]Model 13 also tests Hypothesis H2-2, using EBITDA as the dependent variable. The t-value for  is –0.329, indicating that the relationship between SG&A expense stickiness and EBITDA is not statistically significant. Therefore, the effect of SG&A expense stickiness on operating performance remains unclear in this model.
Model 14 examines the effect of SG&A expense stickiness on Tobin’s Q. The t-value for the estimated coefficient is 0.923, again suggesting that the relationship is not statistically significant. Thus, no conclusive evidence is found regarding the impact of SG&A expense stickiness on market valuation.

Table 4. The Impact of SG&A Expense Stickiness on Corporate Performance
Model 12~14			
（Constant）	　	　	　
	(19.010)	(-39.515)	(11.462)
	0.050**	-0.005	0.016
	(3.095)	(-0.329)	(0.923)
	0.060***	0.008	0.073***
	(3.402)	(0.525)	(3.816)
	0.220***	0.019	0.000
	(13.430)	(1.343)	(-0.010)
	0.067**	0.065**	0.184***
	(2.765)	(3.120)	(6.980)
	-0.058*	-0.027	-0.125***
	(-2.390)	(-1.272)	(-4.721)
	0.276***	0.070***	0.059***
	(16.975)	(5.045)	(3.363)
	-0.196***	0.632***	-0.095***
	(-11.158)	(41.853)	(-4.962)
	-0.017	0.039**	-0.080***
	(-1.025)	(2.845)	(-4.556)
*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001
Figures in parentheses indicate t-values.

Additional Analysis: The Impact of Cost Stickiness on WACC
Section 5.1 empirically demonstrated that cost stickiness has a negative effect on the cost of equity capital. Given that the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) is calculated as the weighted average of the cost of equity and the cost of debt, based on their respective market values, changes in the cost of equity can influence WACC. Specifically, a decrease in the cost of equity capital—driven by greater cost stickiness—may result in a lower overall WACC, assuming other components remain constant.
To further investigate this relationship, the following additional hypothesis is proposed:
H3: Cost stickiness has a negative effect on WACC.
Model 15 presents the empirical results for testing Additional Hypothesis H3, focusing on the relationship between operating expense stickiness and WACC. The t-value for the estimated coefficient ​ is 1.412, which is not statistically significant at conventional levels. This result indicates that the effect of operating expense stickiness on WACC is inconclusive, and no clear relationship can be established based on the current model.
Model 16 tests Hypothesis H3 with respect to SG&A expense stickiness, using WACC as the dependent variable. The t-value for  is 1.333, which is likewise not statistically significant. Therefore, similar to Model 15, this result suggests that the impact of SG&A expense stickiness on WACC is uncertain.




Table 5. The Impact of Cost Stickiness on WACC
	Model 15
	
	Model 16
	

	（Constant）
	　
	（Constant）
	　

	
	(10.324)
	
	(10.313)

	
	0.024
	
	0.022

	
	(1.412)
	
	(1.333)

	
	-0.285***
	
	-0.283***

	
	(-15.458)
	
	(-15.402)

	
	-0.058***
	
	-0.058***

	
	(-3.313)
	
	(-3.331)

	
	0.030
	
	0.028

	
	(1.608)
	
	(1.538)

	
	0.036
	
	0.036

	
	(1.428)
	
	(1.434)

	
	0.162***
	
	0.162***

	
	(6.389)
	
	(6.393)

	
	0.030
	
	0.029

	
	(1.680)
	
	(1.641)

	
	-0.024
	
	-0.024

	
	(-1.277)
	
	(-1.285)

	
	0.026
	
	0.026

	
	(1.537)
	
	(1.535)

	*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001

	Figures in parentheses indicate t-values.


[bookmark: _heading=h.84o9ml1c5qih]
6. [bookmark: _heading=h.yp6wx7txp9w3]DISCUSSION
The empirical results from Models 1 through 3 and Models 5 through 7 revealed that, contrary to Hypothesis H1, cost stickiness has a negative effect on the cost of equity capital. This finding can be interpreted as follows. From the perspective of rational managerial decision-making—a key explanation for cost stickiness—managers may willingly incur current costs at the expense of short-term earnings in order to enhance long-term profitability based on future sales expectations (Yasukata, 2012). In this view, cost stickiness reflects temporary cost behavior. If such behavior is perceived as a short-term adjustment or if investors expect excess costs to be reduced over time, it may signal lower managerial risk, thereby reducing the required rate of return.
From the standpoint of investors, the cost of equity capital represents the minimum return required to compensate for the risk of investing in a firm, based on the expectation of future dividends and capital gains. This return is effectively the cost that managers must “repay” to shareholders for the capital they provide (Ito, 2008). According to the adjustment cost delay hypothesis—another explanation for cost stickiness—sticky costs may persist in the short term but tend to diminish over the medium to long term. Investors may interpret this pattern as the result of rational decision-making, associated with greater earnings predictability, higher disclosure quality, and lower perceived business risk, which in turn leads to a lower required return.
The empirical findings from Models 4 and 8, consistent with prior literature, indicate that the relationship between cost stickiness and the cost of equity capital is statistically inconclusive. However, as shown in Table 7-1, the cost of equity capital estimates derived from the OJ, MPEG, and PEG models are highly correlated (correlation coefficients close to 1), while the estimates obtained using the PE model exhibit low correlations with the other three (–0.084, –0.034, and –0.066, respectively). These results suggest that the PE model is heterogeneous and behaves differently from the other implied cost of capital models, potentially due to its backward-looking nature.
Models 9 through 11 show that operating expense stickiness has a positive effect on EBITDA. Notably, the standardized coefficient for the natural logarithm of total assets—a proxy for firm size—is more than ten times larger than that of operating expense stickiness. This implies that in larger firms, retaining operating expenses even during temporary declines in sales may have a beneficial impact on performance, possibly due to scale advantages or long-term investment strategies.
Models 12 through 14 support prior findings that SG&A expense stickiness negatively affects ROE. However, the standardized coefficient for revenue growth is more than five times greater than that of SG&A expense stickiness. This suggests that when revenue growth is strong, the temporary maintenance of SG&A expenses may lead to improved future performance, potentially by sustaining strategic initiatives such as R&D and marketing.
Finally, the results from Models 15 and 16 confirm that the impact of cost stickiness on WACC remains inconclusive. Since WACC is calculated as the weighted average of the cost of equity and the cost of debt, based on their respective market values, it can be concluded that although cost stickiness appears to reduce the cost of equity capital, its effect on the cost of debt is uncertain. This may be due to differences in how debt providers assess and respond to cost behavior compared to equity investors.
7. CONCLUSIONS
7.1 Summary of the Study
This study examined the impact of cost stickiness on the cost of equity capital and corporate performance, using data from firms listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (TSE) Prime and Standard markets that adopted Japanese GAAP over a 15-year period from FY2007 to FY2021.
First, Models 1 through 3 and Models 5 through 7 tested Hypothesis H1, focusing on the relationship between cost stickiness and the cost of equity capital. The results revealed that cost stickiness has a negative effect on the cost of equity capital.
Next, Models 4 and 8, which also addressed Hypothesis H1, employed the PE model to estimate the cost of equity capital. The results for these models were inconclusive, indicating that the relationship between cost stickiness and the cost of equity capital under this specification is unclear.
Furthermore, Models 9 through 14 tested Hypothesis H2, which examined the effect of cost stickiness on corporate performance. The findings show that operating expense stickiness positively affects EBITDA, while SG&A expense stickiness negatively affects ROE. The relationship between cost stickiness and Tobin’s Q, however, remains unclear.
Finally, Models 15 and 16 tested Additional Hypothesis H3, which explored the impact of cost stickiness on WACC. These results were also statistically inconclusive.
[bookmark: _heading=h.8nqlfpe78eae]7.2 Contributions
This study makes several contributions to the existing literature.
First, it provides new empirical evidence that cost stickiness has a negative impact on the cost of equity capital, a relationship that has been underexplored in prior research.
Second, by disaggregating cost stickiness into operating expenses and SG&A expenses, and examining their respective effects on corporate performance indicators such as ROE and EBITDA, the study highlights the managerial significance of SG&A expense control.
Third, while prior studies predominantly employed the Anderson model to measure cost stickiness, a distinguishing feature of this research is its use of the Weiss model, which allows for a more nuanced estimation of cost behavior and serves as an explanatory variable in the empirical analysis.
7.3 Limitations and Future Research
Despite its contributions, this study has several limitations, which suggest avenues for future research.
First, the implied cost of equity capital was estimated using abnormal earnings growth models that are based on analyst forecasts rather than realized returns. While this approach avoids the measurement issues associated with traditional asset pricing models—such as CAPM and the Fama–French three-factor model (Fama & French, 1997)—it introduces potential forecast-related biases. As noted by Easton and Monahan (2005), implied cost of capital models may lack reliability as estimators of expected returns due to such biases. Future studies should consider using corrected forecast-based models or alternative estimation techniques to improve robustness.
Second, in the analysis of corporate performance, this study adopted the same set of control variables used in the equity capital cost models. While this ensured consistency, it may not be methodologically optimal for performance analysis. Future research should consider refining the model specification by introducing control variables that are more specifically tailored to corporate performance outcomes, thereby improving the validity of causal inferences.
NOTES
1. [bookmark: _heading=h.x4knn3imoasa]In prior research on the existence (phenomenon) of cost stickiness, Noreen and Soderstrom (1997) analyzed hospital data from Washington State in the U.S. and observed cost behavior in which the absolute value of the cost decrease rate (specifically for indirect costs) during periods of declining activity volume (cost driver) was smaller than the absolute value of the cost increase rate during periods of rising activity volume. Anderson et al. (2003), using data from U.S. firms, generalized this behavior—where the absolute reduction in SG&A costs during sales declines is smaller than the increase during sales growth—and termed it “cost stickiness,” providing broad empirical evidence for its existence.
2. Prior studies analyzing the determinants of cost stickiness have identified three main contributing factors:
First, rational managerial decision-making. Anderson et al. (2003) argue that optimistic managers may view sales declines as temporary and choose to retain underutilized resources if they estimate that adjustment costs (e.g., selling and repurchasing equipment, or hiring and firing employees) exceed the cost of maintaining them.
Second, delayed cost adjustment, whereby cost reductions lag behind declines in sales activity.
Third, the agency problem. Chen (2008, 2012) suggests that when business activity increases, managers may anticipate improved performance, raise their own compensation, and allocate corporate resources for personal benefit, thereby increasing agency costs. Conversely, during sales declines, managers may resist cutting compensation and maintain existing resources to avoid negatively impacting future operations.
3. Tobin’s Q is the ratio of a firm's market value to the replacement cost of its assets and is widely used as a key investment indicator to assess corporate performance and growth potential. A high Tobin’s Q implies strong growth expectations. Specifically, when Tobin’s Q exceeds 1, a firm’s market value surpasses the replacement cost of capital, signaling high expected returns on investment and encouraging firms to convert financial capital into physical capital. Conversely, when Tobin’s Q falls below 1, the firm’s market value is lower than its replacement cost, which may indicate overinvestment. This prompts firms to reduce physical capital and potentially refrain from stock repurchases. According to agency theory, the announcement of share repurchases reduces excess cash, which in turn mitigates moral hazard and curbs overinvestment. This can prompt investors to reevaluate the firm’s value and drive up its stock price (Iwatsubo & Zhang, 2017). Therefore, because Tobin’s Q incorporates stock price fluctuations, it may also reflect performance changes driven by market valuation.
4. This study also conducted regression analyses to assess the impact of cost stickiness on corporate performance in period t+1. Compared with the results using performance in period t as the dependent variable, the statistical significance declined, but the direction and general pattern of results remained consistent.
5. For regression models where the effect of cost stickiness on corporate performance was found to be statistically insignificant, this study further tested whether cost stickiness acts as a moderator in the relationship between the cost of equity capital and corporate performance. Specifically, an interaction term between cost stickiness and the cost of equity capital was included as an explanatory variable. While the cost of equity capital itself showed a statistically significant positive effect, the interaction term was not statistically significant, indicating no clear moderating effect.
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ABSTRACT
The expected objectives in this study are to analyze the effect of financial performance on audit delay, analyze the effect of company characteristics on audit delay and analyze the effect of corporate governance on audit delay in basic chemical companies. The population used in this research is manufacturing companies in the basic chemical sub-sector listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (IDX) in 2016-2023 as many as 17 companies. The sampling technique used the purposive sampling method, so that a total sample of 13 companies was obtained that met the requirements during the 8-year observation period. Thus, the number of observations used in this study is the result of 13 companies multiplied by 8 years, which is 104 observations. The data analysis technique uses logistic regression. The results of the analysis show that financial performance as measured by Return on Assets (ROA) does not have a significant effect on audit delay. Company characteristics as measured by company size do not have a significant effect on audit delay. Corporate governance as measured by the existence of an audit committee has a significant negative effect on audit delay. The effect of audit opinion on audit delay cannot be tested statistically and it cannot be concluded empirically whether audit opinion has an effect on audit delay in the context of this study. This condition reflects that in the basic chemical sector, the company's audit opinion tends to be uniform and does not provide a significant difference in the completion time of the financial statement audit.
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1. INTRODUCTION
Financial reports are one of several vital sources of data and information, alongside other information such as industry information, economic conditions, company market share, management quality, and so on (Gantino and Susanti, 2019). There are five main types of financial reports produced: the balance sheet, profit and loss statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, and notes to the financial statements (CALK). Furthermore, in addition to these five reports, supporting reports are also needed, such as undistributed earnings and the results of management meetings (Hanafi & Halim, 2016).
Financial reports are a key component of the instrument for conveying data and information related to a company's financial position, performance, and developments. These reports need to be submitted to end users as a basis for making important decisions. Therefore, a financial report serves as a bridge or intermediary for information between the company's internal and external stakeholders. Therefore, management strives to implement strategies to create financial reports that appear "good" and acceptable.(Kieso et al., 2019).
Financial reports must not only be presented well but also be published or issued in a timely manner, as the need for them is crucial for business activities. Delays in issuing financial reports will impact investment activities, particularly for investors making investment decisions. Delays in issuing financial reports are a sign of inconsistency (irrelevance). The principle of relevance states that financial reports must be presented in a timely manner to those who need them. Delays in presenting financial reports will result in a loss of relevance. Financial reports fail to meet the timeliness requirements for providing company information.(Barth et al., 2001).
One factor causing delays in the publication of financial reports is issues with the audit process. A financial audit must be conducted prior to the publication of financial reports. The audit process takes considerable time to produce financial reports that meet standards. The audit process, which requires stages and procedures, results in delays in financial reporting. Late publication and issuance of financial reports is referred to as audit delay.(Owusu-Ansah, 2000).
Audit delay is the time interval for completing an audit, measured from the closing date of the financial statements (December 31) to the reporting date of the audited financial statements. Audit delay can also be defined as the total number of days from the closing date of the company's annual financial statements to the date the audited financial statements are signed (Robbitasari, 2013).
Despite the emphasis on deadlines for completing financial reports and sanctions for companies that are late in reporting audited financial reports, some companies are still late in publishing their audited financial reports (Felicia and Pesudo, 2019). On April 9, 2015, the IDX recorded 52 companies that had not published their audited financial reports as of December 2014 (Nabhani, 2015). As of June 29, 2015, six companies had not submitted their financial reports as of December 31, 2014, and the IDX suspended these six companies (Sukirno, 2015). The IDX also suspended trading in the shares of 18 listed companies because they had not published their audited financial reports as of December 31, 2015 (Pasopati, 2016). Seventeen listed companies were suspended for failing to publish audited financial reports as of December 31, 2016, and for failing to pay fines for late submissions (Melani, 2017). Therefore, this fact is crucial and requires companies to pay attention to addressing late financial reporting.
Many factors influence audit delay, such as company performance, company characteristics, corporate governance, and audit opinions. One variable influencing audit delay is financial performance. Company performance, as measured by return on assets (ROA), contributes to audit delay. ROA, an indicator of profitability, is used to measure the success or failure of a company or division over a specific period (Kieso, Weygant, and Warfield, 2013). Companies earning higher profits tend to be more punctual in submitting financial reports than companies reporting losses. Companies with higher ROA also require faster audit times due to the obligation to publish good information as quickly as possible to the public. Auditors respond more cautiously to companies experiencing losses. Research by Utomo, Kumalasari, Machmuddah (2017); Purba (2018); Findriani (2021); Evani, Susilowati, and Kusumastati (2022); stated that financial performance measured by profitability with ROA indicators, affects audit delay.
Company characteristics are also variables that contribute to audit delay. One indicator of company character is company size. Company size is a scale that can be classified according to the size of a company based on several methods such as total assets, log company size, total sales, and other methods (Susanto, 2013). In principle, company size is only grouped into three categories: large firm, medium firm, and small firm. Company size anomalies are more due to the availability of published information. The amount of information conveyed to a company increases in line with company size. The size of a company is also determined by the extent of its operations. The higher the value of a company's assets, the shorter the audit delay, and vice versa. Research by Abdillah, Mardijuwono, and Habiburrochman (2019); Safitri and Triani (2021); Sudjono and Setiawan (2022); Utami, Arisudhana, and Vina (2023); Indreswari and Erinos (2023) stated that company size can have an impact on the occurrence of audit delays.
Corporate governance also contributes to audit delays. According to the Indonesian Institute of Corporate Governance (IICG) (2000), corporate governance is a system implemented in running or managing a company, with the primary goal of increasing long-term shareholder value while still considering the interests of stakeholders or other shareholders. One such corporate governance component is the Audit Committee. Arens and Loebbecke (2000) in their book, "Auditing: An Integrated Approach," state that: "An audit committee is a selected number of members of a company's board of directors whose responsibilities include helping auditors remain independent of management." Most audit committees are made up of three to five, or sometimes as many as seven, directors who are not part of company management. Research by Hariindahyani and Hariindahyani (2018; Gede and Ratna (2021); Setianingsih and Kritianti (2022); and Riswan and Serly (2023) proves that corporate governance, as measured by the audit committee, influences audit delays.
The variables of company performance, company characteristics, and corporate governance can be moderated by the audit opinion in influencing audit delay. The existence of an audit opinion can strengthen the influence of company performance, company characteristics, and corporate governance on audit delay.
An audit opinion is a report provided by a registered auditor stating that the audit has been conducted in accordance with accounting norms or rules, accompanied by an opinion on the fairness of the financial statements being audited (Tobing and Nirwana, 2004). This opinion indicates the extent to which the financial statements are accurate, transparent, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An audit opinion is crucial because it influences the level of trust of stakeholders, such as investors, creditors, and other related parties, in the audited company's financial statements. Research by Dewanto and Dwirandra (2018) states that auditor opinion can moderate the effect of profitability on audit delay. Research by Wijaya and Wisadha (2016) proves that audit opinion can moderate the influence of company characteristics, as proxied by company size, on audit delay, as measured by audit report lag. Research by Afridayani and Anisa states that the audit committee, as a proxy for corporate governance, influences audit delay through the moderation of audit opinion.
Previous research indicates that financial performance, company characteristics, and corporate governance influence audit delay, with a moderating effect on audit opinion. However, previous research suggests otherwise. Research by Triyulianto, Hermiyetti, and Syahrefi (2021); Nahdiya, Suyono, and Wulandari (2022); Polii, Morasa, and Wokas (2023) demonstrated that financial performance, as measured by ROA, had no significant effect on audit delay. Research by Sulmi, Hamrul, and Nopiyanti (2020); Tanujaya, Reny (2022); and Nahdiya, Suyono, and Wulandari (2022) concluded that company characteristics, as measured by company size, did not influence audit delay. Research by David and Butar (2020); Sudjono and Setiawan (2022); and Trisnadewi, Trisnadewi, and Kartika (2023) indicated that corporate governance, as measured by the audit committee, influenced audit delay. This indicates that the results of research on financial performance, company characteristics, and corporate governance on audit delay with audit opinion moderation are not yet consistent.
The object of this research is the financial reports of basic chemical companies listed on the IDX for the 2016-2023 period. The reason for conducting this research with companies in the basic chemical sub-sector as the object is:, there are still basic chemical sub-sector companies that are experiencing audit delays even though the companiessThe basic chemical sector often plays a vital role in the manufacturing industry and impacts many economic and environmental aspects. This research is expected to provide insight intoHowCertain factors influence audit delay in the context of the basic chemicals sub-sector. Furthermore, the results of this study will provide valuable perspectives for company managers, auditors, regulators, and other stakeholders on the factors influencing audit delay in the basic chemicals sector. This information can be used to make better decisions in planning and implementing financial audits. Therefore, this study has strong practical and academic relevance in the context of basic chemicals companies listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (IDX) in the 2016-2023 period.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT HYPOTHESIS
2.1 The Influence of Financial Performance on Audit Delay
Wild, Subramanyam, and Halsey (in Darmawan, 2018) state that ROA is used as a primary indicator of a company's long-term performance to assess its return on assets. The ROA ratio affects the delivery of financial returns, and the company's profit or loss, which in turn influences investors' investment decisions. Companies earning higher profits tend to be more punctual in submitting financial reports than companies reporting losses. Companies with higher ROA also require faster audit times due to the obligation to publish accurate information to the public as quickly as possible. Auditors respond more cautiously to companies experiencing losses. Research by Utomo, Kumalasari, Machmuddah (2017); Purba (2018); Findriani (2021); Evani, Susilowati, and Kusumastati (2022) suggests that financial performance, as measured by profitability using the ROA indicator, influences audit delay.
H1: Financial Performance has a significant effect on Audit Delay

2.2 InfluenceCompany Characteristics towards Audit Delay
Companies have assets to support and carry out their economic activities. These assets are disclosed in the company's financial statements. The size of a company's assets impacts its ability to continue its business. 
The company size anomaly is more likely due to the availability of published information. The amount of information provided to a company increases with its size. The size of a company is also determined by the extent of its operations. The higher the company's asset value, the shorter the audit delay, and vice versa.
Agency theory explains the relationship between a principal and an agent. The auditor, as the agent, is entrusted by the principal with the responsibility to perform audit procedures in accordance with applicable standards. Company size is a determining factor in the auditor's audit procedures. The larger the company, the more complex the procedures performed by the auditor.Research by Mardijuwono and Habiburrochman (2019); Safitri and Triani (2021); Sudjono and Setiawan (2022); Utami, Arisudhana and Vina (2023); Indreswari and Erinos (2023) states that company size can have an impact on the occurrence of audit delay.
H2: Company characteristics have a significant effect on audit delay.

2.3 InfluenceTataCompany Management against Audit Delay
One form of corporate governance is the Audit Committee. Arens and Loebbecke (2000) in the book Auditing: An Integrated Approach state that: An audit committee is a selected number of members of a company board of directors whose responsibilities include helping auditors remain independent of management. Most audit committees are made up of three to five or sometimes as many as seven directors who are not a part of company management.
Corporate governance is a crucial aspect of any company. Companies with strong internal corporate governance mechanisms (audit committees) will have adequate internal controls and information systems. With adequate internal controls and information systems, quality financial reporting information can be presented in a timely manner.
Companies with good governance, as reflected by the presence of an adequate audit committee, will encourage the timely publication of financial reports. Research by Hariindahyani and Hariindahyani (2018; Gede and Ratna (2021); Setianingsih and Kritianti (2022); and Riswan and Serly (2023) demonstrates that corporate governance, as measured by the audit committee, influences audit delay.
H3: Corporate governance has a significant effect on Audit Delay

2.4 The Influence of Audit Opinion Performance on Audit Delay
An audit opinion is an auditor's professional statement regarding the fairness of an entity's financial statements based on the results of an examination conducted in accordance with applicable auditing standards. An audit opinion can provide a signal to stakeholders regarding the company's financial condition and performance. According to Professional Accounting Standards (PSA 29), there are several types of audit opinions, including an unqualified opinion, a modified unqualified opinion, a qualified opinion, an adverse opinion, and a disclaimer of opinion.
The audit opinion issued by an auditor not only reflects the results of the financial statement examination but also reflects the effectiveness of the internal control system and compliance with applicable accounting standards. Companies that receive an audit opinion other than unqualified typically have issues in their financial reporting. These issues can prolong the audit process, as the auditor needs to perform additional procedures or engage in further discussions to clarify and resolve significant findings. Therefore, the type of audit opinion can affect the length of time required for the auditor to complete the financial statement audit (audit delay). Companies that receive an opinion other than unqualified tend to experience delays in the audit process due to the greater complexity of the tests and additional procedures performed by the auditor compared to companies that receive an unqualified opinion.
Research by Safitri and Triani (2021) and Hariindahyani and Hariindahyani (2018) suggests that audit opinions influence audit delays. The more complex the auditor's opinion, the greater the likelihood of audit delays due to increased testing for the risk of material errors or fraud in the financial statements. Conversely, when a company obtains an unqualified audit opinion, auditors tend to complete their tasks more quickly because there are no significant issues requiring further investigation. Therefore, audit opinions can be an important determinant in assessing the efficiency of the audit process. Based on this description, the following hypotheses can be proposed in this study:
H4: Audit opinion has a significant effect on Audit Delay



3. METHODS
3.1 Operational Definition of Variables
a. Financial performance
This ratio indicates a company's ability to generate net profit using its equity. A high ratio indicates good profitability and the ability to distribute substantial dividends. Research by Evani, Susilowati, and Kusumastati (2022) proxied profitability using return on assets (ROA) using the following formula:

Return on Assets = Net profitTotal asset (Kasmir, 2016) 

b. Company Characteristics
Company size is a measure of a company's scale. Research by Indreswari and Erinos (2023) proxied liquidity by company size using the following formula:
Company size = Ln Total Assets (Kasmir, 2016)
c. Corporate governance
Corporate governance also contributes to audit delays. According to the Indonesian Institute of Corporate Governance (IICG) (2000), corporate governance is a system implemented in running or managing a company, with the primary goal of increasing long-term shareholder value while still considering the interests of other stakeholders. One such corporate governance component is the Audit Committee.
An audit committee is a group of elected members of a company's board of directors whose responsibilities include helping the auditor remain independent of management. Most audit committees consist of three to five, or sometimes as many as seven, directors who are not part of the company's management.
The Audit Committee in this study was measured using a proxy conducted by Riswan and Serly (2023), namely the number of audit committees in the company.

Audit Committee = Total Audit Committee
d. Audit Opinion  
Audit Opinion is a report given by a registered auditor stating that the audit has been carried out in accordance with accounting norms or rules accompanied by an opinion on the fairness of the financial statements being audited (Tobing and Nirwana 2004).
Measurement of audit opinion based on Professional Accounting Standards (PSA 29)
1. Unqualified Opinion
2. Unqualified Opinion with explanatory paragraph (Modified Unqualified Opinion)
3. Qualified Opinion
4. Adverse Opinion
5. Disclaimer of Opinion
e. Audit Delay
Audit delay is the number of days between the closing date of the financial year (balance sheet date) and the date of the audit report. The audit delay variable is measured quantitatively from the date the company's books close to the date the audit report is issued (Riswan and Serly, 2023).
Audit Delay = audit report date – financial report date
3.2 Population and Sampling Techniques
The population used in this research is 17 manufacturing companies in the basic chemicals sub-sector listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (IDX) from 2016 to 2023. Manufacturing companies operating in the basic chemicals sub-sector listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (IDX) were selected as research objects because they have a sufficient number of companies as a sample. Companies in this sector are large companies that likely have high levels of leverage, company size, and profitability, making them suitable for this research topic.
This research uses a sampling technique with a purposive sampling method, namely the sample selected is based on predetermined criteria, namely:
1. Basic chemical companies listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange until 2016-2023.
2. A basic chemical company that is listed and publishes its financial reports continuously for 2016-2023.
Based on the criteria established in the purposive sampling technique, a total sample of 13 companies met the requirements over an 8-year observation period. Therefore, the number of observations used in this study is the result of 13 companies multiplied by 8 years, or 104 observations.
3.3 Data Analysis Techniques
The data analysis used in this study is as follows:
3.3.1 Descriptive Statistics
Descriptive statistics are statistics used to analyze data by describing or depicting the collected data as it is without intending to draw conclusions that apply generally or generalize (Sugiyono, 2019).
Descriptive statistics function to analyze or describe the object being studied through sample and population data, without drawing broader conclusions. Descriptive statistics uses data presentation methods such as frequency distribution tables, graphs, diagrams, pictograms, and group presentations using modes, averages, and medians. The descriptive statistical analysis used is as follows:
a. Mean, namely the average value of the data being studied.
b. Maximum, namely the highest value of the data being studied.
c. Minimum, namely the lowest value of the data being studied.
d. Standard deviation is used to determine the variation of deviations from the average value.
3.3.2 Logistic Regression Analysis
The binary logistic regression method is an analytical technique used to model the influence between one or more independent variables and a dichotomous dependent variable. In binary logistic regression, the dependent variable has two possible categories: success and failure, and is often denoted as 1 for success and 0 for failure (Hosmer, 2000).

4. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION
4.1 Descriptive Statistics
A summary of the descriptive statistical results for the variables in this study is shown in the following table:
Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of Variables
	
	Minimum
	Maximum
	Mean
	Standard Deviation

	Financial performance
	-18.80
	26.56
	2.33
	6,367

	Company Characteristics
	26.32
	32.68
	28.92
	1,671

	Audit Committee
	2
	5
	3.10
	0.407

	Audit Opinion
	1
	1
	1.00
	0,000

	Audit Delay
	0
	1
	0.98
	0.138


Source: Processed data, 2025.

4.2 Logistic Regression Equation Analysis
The results of the regression analysis involving independent variables including financial performance, company characteristics, audit committee, and audit opinion, followed by the dependent variable, namely audit delay, are presented in the following table:

Table 2. Logistic Regression Test Results
	Variables
	Regression Coefficient

	Financial performance
	0.149

	Company Characteristics
	-0.351

	Audit committee
	-3,265

	Audit opinion*
	-

	(Constant)
	25,738


* The audit opinion value does not appear, because everyone received the same audit opinion, namely 1 = unqualified opinion.
Source: Processed secondary data, 2025.

Based on the results of the logistic regression test in Table 2, the following regression equation was obtained:
Y = 25.738 + 0.149X1 - 0.351X2 - 3.265X3 + e
The explanation of each coefficient in the equation is as follows:
4.2.1 Constant (Intercept) of 25.738
This value shows that if all independent variables are zero, then the logit value of the probability that the company will not experience an audit delay is 25.738.
4.2.2 Financial Performance Coefficient (ROA) of 0.149
This coefficient is positive, indicating that the higher a company's financial performance, the greater the likelihood of audit delay. This means that companies with high profit-generating capabilities are relatively more timely in submitting their financial reports.

4.2.3 Company Characteristics Coefficient is -0.351
This coefficient is negative, indicating that the larger the company size (based on the natural log of total assets), the greater the likelihood of audit delay. This may occur because larger companies tend to have more complex organizational structures and transactions, resulting in longer audit times.

4.2.4 The Audit Committee coefficient is -3.265
This coefficient is also negative, indicating that the larger the number of audit committee members, the higher the likelihood of a company experiencing audit delays. This could mean that a large audit committee does not necessarily increase the effectiveness of oversight of timely reporting, or it could also indicate coordination challenges in audit committee decision-making.

4.2.5 Audit Opinion variable is not included in the model
This is because all companies in the sample obtained the same audit opinion, namely an unqualified opinion, with a value of 1. Because there is no variation, this variable cannot be estimated in the logistic regression model, because it does not contribute information to the differences in the dependent variable.   

4.3 Hypothesis Testing
4.3.1 Hypothesis Testing 1
The Wald test of financial performance yielded a significance value of 0.295, greater than 0.05. This indicates that financial performance has no significant effect on audit delay. Therefore, the first hypothesis is not statistically tested.

4.3.2 Hypothesis Testing 2
The hypothesis testing findings show a Wald value of company characteristics with a significance value of 0.682, greater than 0.05. This means that company characteristics do not significantly influence the audit delay variable. This indicates that the second hypothesis is not statistically tested.

4.3.3 Hypothesis Testing 3
The hypothesis testing findings show that the Wald value for the audit committee is 0.009, which is less than 0.05. This indicates that the audit committee has a significant influence on the audit delay variable. This indicates that the third hypothesis has been statistically tested.

4.3.4 Hypothesis Testing 4
This hypothesis could not be statistically tested in this study because the audit opinion variable was constant across the sample (all companies received an unqualified opinion). Due to its lack of variation, this variable could not be included in the regression model, and its effect on audit delay could not be empirically inferred. This finding suggests that in the basic chemical industry sector, financial report quality is relatively homogeneous in terms of audit opinion, thus providing no variable information for statistical analysis. This indicates that the fourth hypothesis was statistically tested.
     
5. DISCUSSION
5.1 The Influence of Financial Performance on Audit Delay
The results of the logistic regression test in this study indicate that financial performance does not significantly influence audit delay. This means that a company's profitability, measured by Return on Assets (ROA), does not determine the length of time required for auditors to complete the financial statement audit process. ROA itself is the ratio of net income after tax to total assets (Findriani, 2021). This ratio reflects a company's efficiency in managing all its resources to generate profit. A higher ROA indicates a company's ability to optimally utilize its assets to generate profit, while a lower ROA indicates a less optimal use of its assets to generate profit (Evani, Susilowati, and Kusumastati, 2022).
Theoretically, companies with good financial performance tend to want to promptly submit audited financial reports as a form of accountability to stakeholders and to project a positive corporate image. This aligns with the view of Wild et al. (in Darmawan, 2018), who stated that companies recording profits typically want to demonstrate these positive results to the public and investors, thus tending to expedite the financial reporting process. In many cases, companies showing good performance will pressure auditors to complete audits more quickly because good financial reports can increase investor confidence, attract potential new investors, and positively influence the company's stock price.
However, the results of this study indicate that financial performance does not significantly impact audit delay. This may occur because auditors adhere to professional audit standards and applicable procedures, regardless of whether the company records a profit or loss. In other words, auditors do not accelerate or delay audit completion solely based on the company's financial performance, but rather conduct audits according to the scope, complexity, and risk level of each entity.
This finding aligns with several previous studies showing no significant relationship between financial performance and audit delay, as found in a study by Armansyah & Kurnia (2015), which stated that profitability is not the primary determinant of audit completion speed. Meanwhile, other studies, such as those by Utomo et al. (2017); Purba (2018); Findriani (2021); and Evani, Susilowati, and Kusumastati (2022), have shown a significant relationship.
Furthermore, it can be assumed that basic chemical companies have a relatively high level of compliance with financial reporting regulations established by authorities such as the Financial Services Authority (OJK) or the Indonesian Stock Exchange (BEI), resulting in companies completing audits within a relatively similar timeframe, regardless of whether they are in profit or loss. Therefore, while in theory, profitable companies will submit their financial reports more quickly, in practice, this is not always the case if other factors dominate the audit duration. This suggests that high profitability is not always the primary motivation for companies to expedite audits, particularly if the company has a complex reporting system or management that is unresponsive to auditor requests.

5.2 The Influence of Company Characteristics on Audit Delay
The research results show that company characteristics, as measured by company size, do not significantly influence audit delay. This finding indicates that the size of a company's assets is not a primary determinant of the length of time it takes auditors to complete a financial statement audit. In other words, even though a company has a large amount of assets, which theoretically reflects operational complexity, this does not necessarily lead to longer or shorter audit delays.
Theoretically, large companies are often assumed to have more streamlined, centralized, and efficient reporting systems supported by more adequate human resources and technology. In fact, according to Sudjono and Setiawan (2022), large companies tend to be more prudent in their management and manage their finances efficiently, enabling them to report their financial condition more accurately. However, this efficiency and accuracy in reporting do not necessarily reduce audit time, especially when operational complexity and the large number of branches or subsidiaries present challenges to the audit process.
In this context, agency theory can be used to explain the dynamics of the relationship between management (agent) and company owners (principals). Auditors act as independent parties tasked with providing an opinion on the fairness of the financial statements prepared by management. Auditors often use company size as a basis for developing necessary audit procedures. However, auditors must still perform audit procedures in accordance with applicable professional standards, regardless of company size and audit duration. In other words, company size is not significant enough to speed up or slow down the audit process, as auditors still require thoroughness and caution in ensuring the fairness of the financial information presented.
This finding does not support research by Mardijuwono and Habiburrochman (2019), Safitri and Triani (2021), and Utami, Arisudhana, and Vina (2023), which found that larger companies tend to complete audits faster due to better reporting systems. However, in this study, company size did not appear to be a dominant factor, as other factors such as transaction complexity, internal controls, audit team effectiveness, and management performance significantly influenced audit completion speed.
Thus, while large companies typically have well-organized and carefully managed financial systems, this does not necessarily guarantee faster audit completion. Company size is not the sole key variable in explaining audit delays; it is only part of a complex organizational structure that needs to be considered comprehensively.

5.3 The Influence of Corporate Governance on Audit Delay
The research results show that corporate governance, as measured by the existence of an audit committee, has a significant negative effect on audit delay. This means that the better the corporate governance mechanisms, as reflected in the existence of an effective audit committee, the shorter the time required to complete the financial statement audit process. In other words, companies with a strong audit committee structure tend to be able to accelerate the publication of financial statements because their reporting and internal oversight processes are more structured and efficient.
The audit committee plays a crucial role in overseeing the financial reporting process and maintaining the quality of external audits. The audit committee must consist of independent individuals who are not involved in the day-to-day management of the company and who possess the experience to effectively carry out their oversight function (Utama, 2004). This independence is crucial for the audit committee to be objective and unaffected by management interests, thus enabling it to optimally oversee the audit process and promote transparency.
According to Arens and Loebbecke (2000), an audit committee consists of members of the board of directors who are independent from management and tasked with maintaining auditor independence and ensuring that the audit process is carried out according to standards. Their presence bridges the interests of the company's owners (principals) with those of the operational implementers (agents), thereby minimizing the possibility of financial statement manipulation. Furthermore, companies with good governance, as demonstrated by the presence of an active and professional audit committee, are able to provide adequate internal controls and financial information systems. This facilitates external auditors in obtaining timely and complete audit evidence. With accurate and timely information, auditors can carry out audit procedures more efficiently, thereby significantly reducing audit delays.
The findings of this study align with those of Hariindahyani and Hariindahyani (2018), Gede and Ratna (2021), Setianingsih and Kritianti (2022), and Riswan and Serly (2023), which stated that the presence and quality of an audit committee accelerates the financial reporting process by encouraging transparency and discipline in the preparation of financial statements. A proactive audit committee is typically also directly involved in reviewing financial statements before they are audited and overseeing the implementation of audit recommendations from the previous period.
From a corporate governance perspective, the audit committee is a key pillar in ensuring the integrity of financial statements. Companies with effective audit committees demonstrate better governance quality, ultimately contributing to a reduced risk of audit delay. Therefore, enhancing the audit committee's role not only impacts the quality of financial statements but also the speed and efficiency of the audit process itself.

5.4 The Influence of Audit Opinion on Audit Delay
In this study, the audit opinion variable could not be tested for its effect on audit delay because all sample companies received the same audit opinion, namely Unqualified (WTP). The lack of variation in the data makes this variable constant, making it unsuitable for regression modeling. In statistical software such as SPSS, variables that do not vary across units of analysis are automatically excluded from the model because they do not contribute to explaining the dependent variable (in this case, audit delay).
An audit opinion is a report provided by a registered auditor stating that the audit has been conducted in accordance with accounting standards or rules, accompanied by an opinion on the fairness of the financial statements being audited (Tobing & Nirwana, 2004). This opinion represents the auditor's professional accountability for the audit results of an entity's financial statements.
Therefore, the absence of an effect of audit opinion on audit delay in this study is not due to a conceptual lack of relationship, but rather because the data technically did not meet the requirements for quantitative analysis. This constitutes a limitation of this study. This situation indicates that audit opinions in basic chemical companies listed on the IDX tend to be uniform, reflecting good and consistent financial reporting quality. However, due to the homogeneity of the data, this variable is unable to explain the variation in audit delay between companies. Therefore, it cannot be concluded empirically whether audit opinion influences audit delay in this study. The results of this study do not support the findings of Safitri and Triani (2021) and Hariindahyani and Hariindahyani (2018) that audit opinion influences audit delay.

6. CONCLUSIONS
Financial performance, as measured by Return on Assets (ROA), has no significant effect on audit delay. This indicates that a company's ability to generate profits from its total assets does not determine the length of time required to complete a financial statement audit.
Company characteristics, measured by size, do not significantly impact audit delay. This means that company size does not guarantee faster audits of financial statements. This could be because, despite having adequate resources and systems, large companies often have high transaction complexity and a high level of caution in the audit process, which can actually increase audit delays. Furthermore, large companies tend to be more careful and accurate in their financial management, emphasizing information quality over reporting speed.
Corporate governance, as measured by the existence of an audit committee, has a significant negative effect on audit delay. This finding indicates that companies with active, independent, and professional audit committees tend to complete audits more quickly. Audit committees play a role in ensuring the completeness of financial information and maintaining auditor independence, thus supporting a smooth and expedited audit process.
Based on the results of the data analysis, it is known that all basic chemical companies sampled in this study obtained the same audit opinion, namely Unqualified (WTP). Because there is no data variation in the audit opinion variable, this variable is constant and is automatically removed from the regression model by SPSS software. Thus, the effect of audit opinion on audit delay cannot be tested statistically and cannot be concluded empirically whether audit opinion has an influence on audit delay in the context of this study. This condition reflects that in the basic chemical sector, company audit opinions tend to be uniform and do not provide a significant difference in the completion time of financial statement audits.
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ABSTRACT
The Risk assessment is an important part of the audit process because it has a significant effect on the audit judgment performance. This study investigates how professional competence and enforcement pressure affect risk assessment and, as a result, the performance of audit judgments. A survey was done with 42 government auditors from the Audit Board of the Republic of Indonesia. The results show that both professional competence and enforcement pressure have a positive effect on risk assessment. Skilled auditors are better at finding and analysing audit risks. Also, pressure from the law makes people more thorough and makes sure they follow the rules. The study also shows that better audit judgment performance comes from better risk assessment. Mediation analysis shows that risk assessment plays a role in the relationship between professional competency and enforcement pressure with audit judgment performance. Moderation analysis, on the other hand, shows that enforcement pressure does not change the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment. These results suggest that auditors who are very skilled at their jobs can do good risk assessments, no matter how strict the rules are. This study adds to the existing literature by showing how the qualities of individual auditors and regulatory factors work together to affect how well audits work.
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1. INTRODUCTION

Public sector audits have a significant role in ensuring the process of transparency and accountability in the management of state finances (Ferry & Midgley 2024). In carrying out their duties, auditors are required to be able to make reliable judgments to ensure that the financial statements presented are in accordance with applicable accounting standards. One of the important parts of the audit process is the auditor's ability to make judgments based on valid data and information (Giordano & Victoravich, 2024). The audit judgment-making process is influenced by the quality of risk assessment, which is used as the basis for determining the next audit steps (Wang et al., 2023). Accurate risk assessment will result in an accurate audit judgment and ultimately benefit stakeholders (Wang et al., 2025). Based on this, there are several factors that affect risk assessment and audit judgments are necessary, including professional competency and enforcement pressure.
In the case of audit judgmet failure in Indonesia, the Financial Services Authority imposed sanctions on Public Accountant Kasner Sirumapea and Public Accounting Firm Tanubrata, Sutanto, Fahmi, Bambang & Rekan in a significant case involving PT. Garuda Indonesia Tbk for audit errors in the company's 2018 financial statements.  This issue was caused by the incorrect recognition of income from transactions with PT Mahata Aero Teknologi by Garuda Indonesia, which had an impact on the profit and loss report.  This resulted in an investigation by the Financial Professional Development Centre, Indonesian Ministry of Finance, which examined the auditor's work and the company, which is affiliated with the international audit organisation BDO. The investigation determined that they had contravened numerous audit standards, such as those pertaining to risk assessment, audit evidence, and the contemplation of subsequent events, as dictated by audit standards 315, 500, and 560 (Hidayati, 2019).  This case emphasises the significance of adhering to audit standards and emphasises the repercussions of audit errors in financial reporting. Several factors influence risk assessment and audit judgment, including professional competency and enforcement pressure.
Professional competency shows the technical ability, knowledge, and skills that the auditor has in carrying out their duties (Shbail et al., 2024). Auditors who have good competence will be able to identify risks and make appropriate audit decisions (Shen et al. 2023). Professional competency comes from education, work experience, training, and understanding of audit standards and applicable regulations (Dierynck et al. 2023). Previous studies have shown that professional competency has a significant contribution to risk assessment and audit quality (Barnes et al., 2024). In the context of public sector audits, competence is important because auditors are faced with limited data and bureaucratic complexity (Tuan & Dung, 2024). Auditors who have high competence can maintain independence and produce appropriate judgmet audits. Based on this, it is necessary to further examine the contribution of professional competency to risk assessment and audit judgment.
Furthermore, enforcement pressure can come from laws and regulations, public demands, and expectations from supervisors or law enforcement agencies (Larmande & Lesage, 2023). Auditors who are in a position of enforcement pressure tend to be more careful in assessing risks and preparing audit judgments (Dwyer et al., 2023). This pressure can be positive in encouraging auditors to work more professionally and adhere to established standards (Filosa et al., 2025). However, if the auditor receives excessive pressure, it can interfere with objectivity and cause fear in decision-making (Samagaio et al., 2025). Therefore, it is important to know how enforcement pressure has an effect on risk assessment and audit judgment. The interaction between external pressures and internal factors such as professional competence is an interesting topic to be studied further.
[bookmark: _heading=h.iudqwzge4to4]Risk assessment is the first step in determining the implementation of the audit process. This is because the results of the risk assessment will affect the allocation of resources and the focus of the audit carried out by the auditor (Mugwira et al., 2025). The quality of the risk assessment conducted by the auditor is largely determined by the ability to identify, understand, and analyze the risks inherent in the audited entity (Pe et al., 2023). Auditors who are highly competent and aware of enforcement pressure will be more careful in assessing risks and designing relevant audit procedures (Mannan et al., 2025). The combination of competence and pressure can form a more accurate audit judgment (Adikaram & Higgs, 2024). Therefore, empirical research is needed that systematically examines the relationship between these three variables. By understanding the mechanism of the relationship, public audit institutions such as the Audit Board can design a comprehensive audit quality improvement strategy. In addition, the results of this study can be used as a basis for developing policies to improve competence and manage work pressure for auditors.
Auditors who have high competence should ideally be able to conduct risk assessments accurately and professionally (Razali et al., 2025). However, in practice, the existence of enforcement pressure can moderate the relationship by strengthening or even inhibiting the performance of risk assessment. Constructive enforcement pressure can encourage auditors to apply their competencies optimally in assessing risks carefully and responsibly (Samiolo et al. 2023). On the other hand, repressive or excessive pressure can reduce the effectiveness of auditor competence due to the emergence of fear or bias in decision-making (Abdallah et al., 2024). Examining the role of moderation is important to understand the complex dynamics that occur in the implementation of public sector audits.
Based on this background, this study aims to analyze the influence of professional competency and enforcement pressure on risk assessment and audit judgment performance. This study examined the direct effect of professional competency and enforcement pressure on risk assessment and the direct effect of risk assessment on audit judgment performance. Furthermore, this study also examines the mediating role of risk assessment in the relationship between professional competency and enforcement pressure on audit performance judgment. Finally, this study examines the role of moderation of enforcement pressure in the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment. The results of the research can not only make a theoretical contribution to the development of public sector auditing science, but can also be used by the leaders of audit institutions to improve the quality of audit results through strengthening competence and managing work pressure. Thus, this research plays an important role in supporting the creation of a transparent, accountable, and professional state financial supervision system.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS DEVELOPMENT

2.1 Social Cognitive Theory
Social Cognitive Theory (SCT), developed by Bandura, is a learning theory that emphasizes the importance of mutual interaction between individuals, the environment, and behavior. This theory states that learning not only happens through direct experience, but also through observation of the behavior of others and the consequences of that behavior (Bandura, 1982). Key concepts of SCT include observational learning, self-efficacy, reciprocal determinism, and behavioral capability (Daradkeh, 2022). Among these concepts, self-efficacy is a central element that describes an individual's belief in his or her own abilities. The social environment has a huge role in shaping individual perceptions and influencing the decision-making process. Instead, individual behavior also shapes the environment around them, creating mutually influencing dynamics. Therefore, this theory is very relevant in understanding professional behavior in the work environment, including in the context of audit decision-making.
In the context of this study, SCT is used as a theoretical framework to explain how professional competency is formed and impacts decision-making. Professional competency is not solely acquired through formal education, but also through social learning in the work environment, such as imitating the behavior of senior colleagues or discussing in an audit team (Chen et al.,  2023). SCT explained that self-efficacy plays an important role in strengthening professional competence. Auditors who are confident in their abilities will be more confident in assessing risks and making decisions (Aghazadeh & Joe, 2022). A supportive work environment and providing positive feedback can strengthen self-efficacy (Hamdan & Issa, 2021). Conversely, external pressures or uncertainty can weaken auditors' self-confidence and interfere with the optimal application of knowledge. Therefore, improving competencies cannot be separated from efforts to create a work ecosystem that supports the social learning process.
In addition, the SCT also provides a framework for understanding how enforcement pressure affects risk assessment and audit judgment performance. Pressures from regulations, institutional expectations, and social dynamics in the workplace can affect auditors' perceptions of expected standards of professional behavior (Brown et al., 2016). In SCT's view, auditors adjust their behavior based on observations of how the environment responds to certain actions (Ahmed & Hussain, 2024). For example, if an auditor sees that a colleague who is complying with external pressure is gaining recognition, he or she is likely to imitate the behavior. This mechanism shows that enforcement pressure can shape behavior through vicarious learning and social reinforcement (FeldmanHall et al., 2018). However, excessive pressure can actually collapse self-efficacy and reduce the accuracy of risk assessment. Therefore, SCT-based understanding emphasizes the importance of managing pressure wisely so as not to undermine the integrity of the audit process.

2.2 Audit Judgment Performance
Audit judgment is a decision-making process that auditors carry out in the face of complex situations and are not fully governed by definite technical rules (Friska & Agustia, 2025). This decision involves a subjective assessment based on experience, professional knowledge, and an understanding of the available audit evidence. Audit judgments are needed especially in matters of an estimative nature, such as assessing the fairness of loss reserves, evaluating internal controls, and determining the level of materiality (Christensen et al., 2022). This process is greatly influenced by internal factors such as competence, professional intuition, and self-efficacy. In addition, auditor judgments can also be influenced by external pressures such as regulations, supervisory expectations, or legal risks. Therefore, the quality of the audit judgment greatly determines the success of the audit implementation as a whole (Abdallah et al., 2024) . A good audit judgment will produce reliable audit opinions and recommendations by stakeholders.
[bookmark: _heading=h.6t47rc2kabje]In the context of public sector audits, audit performance is becoming an increasingly important issue as the demands for accountability and transparency in state financial management increase. Public sector auditors, such as auditors of the Audit Board (BPK), are often faced with complex auditing conditions with a variety of bureaucratic and political pressures (Abdallah et al., 2024). Therefore, the ability to make objective decisions based on risk analysis is key in maintaining the quality of audit results. Audit judgment performance not only reflects the accuracy of decisions, but also its effectiveness in responding to the dynamic conditions of the audit environment. The high performance of audit judgments will be seen from the accuracy in identifying problems, sharpness in analyzing findings, and firmness in compiling recommendations (Griffith et al., 2020). In this study, audit judgment performance is seen as the end result of the risk assessment process and the interaction of various individual factors and the auditor's work environment. Thus, understanding the factors that affect this performance is an important step in improving the quality of public sector audits.
Audit judgment performance in the public sector also reflects the integrity and professionalism of auditors in carrying out the duties of state financial supervision (Zhang et al., 2023). When auditors are able to make decisions based on a thorough analysis and not solely due to external pressure, the value of public trust in the audit institution will increase (Rezaee et al., 2024). In this study, two factors that are considered to have an influence on audit judgment performance are professional competence and enforcement pressure, both of which are assumed to contribute through the mediation of risk assessment. Professional competencies support the accuracy of assessment and decision-making, while enforcement pressure can be a driver or a deterrent depending on its intensity and context. If the risk assessment is done correctly, then the auditor has a solid basis to prepare the right judgment (Cassel et al., 2021). Therefore, audit judgment performance is not only the result of technical skills, but also a reflection of pressure management and effective use of information. This comprehensive understanding of audit performance judgment is expected to be the basis for the formulation of strategies to improve the quality of public sector audits in a sustainable manner.

2.3 Risk Assessment
[bookmark: _heading=h.8cey286rimyw]Risk assessment is a systematic process carried out by auditors to identify and analyze material risks that can affect the fairness of financial statements (Cassel et al., 2021). This process is a crucial initial stage in the audit because it determines the direction and scope of the audit procedure to be carried out. In audit standards, risk assessment includes an understanding of the entity and its environment, including relevant internal controls (Zemtsov & Sorokin, 2022). The goal is for auditors to design the right audit approach to address the risk of material misstatements, both caused by errors and fraud (Keune & Johnstone, 2012). Risk assessment is not only technical, but also requires in-depth professional judgment. Therefore, the quality of risk assessment is highly dependent on the auditor's competence and the information available. Accurate risk assessment can improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the overall audit execution (Loaiza-Tapia & Torres-Negrete 2024).
In relation to audit performance judgment, risk assessment has a role as the main foundation in audit decision-making (Cassel et al., 2021). Auditors who are able to conduct a sharp risk assessment will be better able to prioritize significant audit areas and develop effective testing strategies (Fay et al., 2015). Audit decisions, including opinions provided and recommendations produced, are largely determined by the quality of risk assessments conducted in advance (Grosu et al., 2021). In addition, risk assessment assists auditors in considering materiality and allocating audit resources proportionately. If the risk assessment is done incorrectly, the risk of audit failure will increase, as the auditor may miss important areas that should have been further examined (Adikaram, & Higgs, 2024). Therefore, the relationship between risk assessment and audit judgment is very close and affects each other. This study examines how the quality of risk assessment mediates the influence of professional competence and law enforcement pressure on audit and judgment performance.
H1: Risk assessment has a positive effect on audit judgment performance.

2.4 Professional Competency
Professional competency in public sector auditing is the combination of professional values, attitudes, skills, and knowledge that auditors must possess to effectively and responsibly accomplish this task.  The capabilities also include a comprehensive understanding of audit standards, a variety of financial regulations, and exceptional communication and analytical abilities (Syam et al., 2024).  Additionally, the technical aspect of professional competence is reflected in the professional life, as well as integrity, objectivity, and an independent attitude, which are the fundamental components of public trust (Ahmed et al., 2024).  Furthermore, public sector auditors should cultivate the capacity to manage the intricate bureaucratic nature and policy modifications.  Formal education, ongoing training, and quality work experience are typically employed to enhance this competency.  Additionally, according to social cognitive theory, the process of skill development is also influenced by self-efficacy, which refers to the auditor's perception of their ability to perform the audit tasks proficiently.  The auditor is more likely to be motivated to continue attempting to understand the intricate regulation and apply professional standards in the correct manner, and frequently with confidence as their self-efficacy increases (Alsabahi et al., 2021). Additionally, the significance of observational learning is underscored by the fact that auditors are afforded the opportunity to select the methods and perspectives of their more senior colleagues when confronted with challenging cases. This enables them to apply the knowledge they have acquired in their own professional judgment.  If auditors lack the technical expertise and psychological support provided by self-efficacy and learning from role models, they will struggle to conduct effective audits. Consequently, they may misjudge the condition of the entity under audit.  Therefore, it can be concluded that professional competency is the primary foundation for the development of high-quality and credible audit results.
 The auditor's ability to conduct risk assessments is a critical component of audit execution, and it is contingent upon their level of professional competency.  Auditors who are highly proficient will be capable of accurately identifying risk factors and determining how they will influence the accuracy of the financial statements (Nejad et al., 2024).  The risk assessment procedure necessitates a significant amount of technical knowledge and analytical skills, as it necessitates an understanding of the audited entity's characteristics, the industry, and the internal control systems (Hammond & Oppong, 2020).  In addition, social cognitive theory is highly beneficial in this scenario: an auditor with a high level of self-efficacy is confident in their abilities to evaluate a complex risk scenario and, as a result, is capable of making a fair decision in the face of uncertainty.  Similarly, auditors acquire knowledge from discussions with peers and supervisors who are employing effective risk assessment strategies, and they become familiar with a variety of cases while surrounded by experts through observational learning. This provides a model for others to follow.  As a result, competent professionals are capable of transforming the most intricate information into logical considerations and utilizing them in the development of a risk-based audit approach (Susilo, 2023).  It is not an exaggeration to assert that critical thinking is one of the most critical decisions in the public sector, where organizational complexity and regulation must be considered.  It is essential for auditors to utilize constructive-thinking skills during the risk identification and evaluation procedure.  The caution is that auditors may frequently find themselves in a situation where they have overlooked substantial risks and have excessively focused on less significant risks, all due to a lack of the necessary competence and the stimulation of self-efficacy through observation and practice.  Therefore, it is evident that the strategic decision to improve the level of competence is a means of consolidating the quality of risk assessment.
H2: Professional competency has a positive effect on risk assessment.

2.5 Enforcement Pressure
[bookmark: _heading=h.rlldev27pv8z]Enforcement pressure is a condition in which auditors feel encouragement from external and internal parties to comply with certain regulations, standards, or expectations in the implementation of audits (Friday et al., 2024). In the context of public sector audits, this pressure can come from supervisory institutions, laws, superiors, and public opinion that demand high accountability for the use of the state budget (Ewert & Wagenhofer, 2019). Enforcement pressure is ambivalent: on the one hand it can be a motivator to improve compliance and professionalism, but on the other hand it can also generate psychological pressure that affects the independence of the auditor. Auditors who are under high pressure may feel compelled to make conservative decisions to avoid legal risks or administrative sanctions (Chy & Hope, 2021). These pressures can affect an auditor's attitude, perception of risk, and even the quality of decision-making. Therefore, understanding enforcement pressure is important in analyzing auditor behavior in the context of a complex work environment. Enforcement pressure is one of the external factors that can strengthen or disrupt the integrity of the audit process.
Enforcement pressure is closely related to the risk assessment process carried out by auditors, especially in determining the focus and scope of the audit (Ewert & Wagenhofer, 2019). When auditors are under high enforcement pressure, they tend to be more careful in assessing and responding to risks, so as not to miss things that could have legal or reputational consequences. This pressure can push auditors to assess risk more conservatively, sometimes even excessively, in order to maintain prudence (Chy & Hope, 2021). On the one hand, this can increase auditors' awareness of material risks, but on the other hand, it can lead to over-auditing or disproportionate use of resources. In the public sector, where audits often deal with complex and high-risk entities, enforcement pressure can strengthen auditors' seriousness in assessing risks (Brocard et al., 2018). However, if not managed properly, such pressure can interfere with the auditor's objectivity in assessing risks rationally. Therefore, it is important to balance enforcement pressure to continue to encourage accuracy without sacrificing professionalism.
H3: Enforcement pressure has a positive effect on risk assessment.

2.6 Mediating Role of Risk Assessment
The professional competency of the auditors has a direct impact on the quality of risk assessments that are conducted, which is why risk assessment is used as a mediating variable in the audit performance judgment.  Auditors who possess knowledge, skills, and experience are the most effective in accurately and comprehensively identifying audit risks (Susilo, 2023).  The self-efficacy principle is a significant component of the social cognitive theory process. Auditors who have confidence in their abilities are more precise, self-assured, and tenacious when addressing intricate audit risks (Iskandar and Sanusi, 2011; Amanda, Haliah, and Kusumawati, 2023). Additionally, the method of observation enables auditors to improve their risk assessment skills by observing how experienced counterparts manage uncertainty, which necessitates a profound comprehension of the subject matter in order to apply it to their professional judgment.
 The results of this quality risk assessment serve as a robust foundation for the development of appropriate audit decisions (Dung, 2024).  In other words, auditors' professional competence is not solely evident in their direct positive influence on the audit judgment, but also in their implementation of the most effective risk assessment.  The risk assessment is the mechanism that establishes a connection between the quality of audit decisions and the ability of an auditor.  The risk assessments conducted by competent auditors will be more focused and evidence-based, resulting in recommendations that are backed by high self-efficacy and further supported by learning from peers or mentors (Susilo, 2023).  That is why risk assessment serves as the intermediary in the relationship between professional competency and audit performance judgment by incorporating both cognitive self-assurance and learned behavior, which are the foundation of effective decision-making.
H4: Risk assessment mediates the relationship between professional competency and audit judgment performance.
Risk assessment also functions as a mediator between the enforcement pressure and the audit performance judgment. The latter anticipates that the risk assessment will be enhanced by the rules and regulations, and as a result, the audit decisions are made accordingly. In contrast, auditors are typically encouraged to exercise greater diligence, diligence, and adherence to the audit standards during the risk identification process when they encounter a high level of enforcement pressure (Chy & Hope, 2021). In conjunction with the principles of social cognitive theory, the situation is not solely influenced by external regulation, but also by self-efficacy.  That is, the auditors are more likely to exhibit appropriate risk evaluation behavior when they are able to renew their self-assurance as a consequence of their professional skill mastery, rather than viewing stress as a hindrance (Sabry and Gomaa, 2021).  Simultaneously, this process is also influenced by observational learning, in which auditors develop a habit of observing the behavior of their colleagues and mentors who are efficient in adhering to regulatory requirements. Consequently, they thoroughly internalize the strategies for conducting the risk in a neutral and objective manner.  Auditors are motivated to conduct systematic risk assessments by the pressure and confidence they receive from others. This ensures that the decisions they make during their audits are not solely based on intuition, but also on objective risk evaluations (Brocard et al., 2018). To put it simply, audit judgments are not directly influenced by enforcement pressure; rather, they are influenced by risk assessments that are conducted by the auditors in a more professional and qualitative manner.  Effective risk assessment establishes a more robust foundation for the development of professional and accurate audit judgments (Cassel et al., 2021). In conclusion, the performance of the audit judgement is strongly influenced by the regulator pressure, which is linked to the phenomenon of risk assessment. The mediating effect is substantially influenced by self-efficacy and observation learning.
H5: Risk assessment mediates the relationship between enforcement pressure and audit judgment performance.

2.7 Moderating Role of Enforcement Pressure

Enforcement pressure can serve as a moderator that strengthens the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment.  Auditors who possess a high level of professional competence are capable of conducting precise risk assessments (Nejad et al., 2024). However, their motivation to utilize their competencies to the fullest may be influenced by supervisors or regulators (Aswar et al., 2021).  From the perspective of social cognitive theory, this motivation is further bolstered by self-efficacy, as auditors who are confident in their ability to manage intricate tasks are more inclined to respond favorably to enforcement pressure by employing their knowledge and abilities with greater precision. Simultaneously, observational learning is crucial, as auditors frequently observe the strategies employed by their peers or superiors to manage high-pressure situations and emulate them in order to improve their own performance.  Auditors are likely to be more meticulous and cautious when employing their skills and knowledge to the compilation of risk assessments in high-pressure situations (Chy & Hope, 2021).  Encouraging auditors to implement audit standards and procedures in a disciplined manner, enforcement pressure also reinforces their sense of responsibility for the quality of their work (Friday et al., 2024).  Consequently, the risk assessment process is rendered more systematic and evidence-based by the presence of enforcement pressure, which is bolstered by self-efficacy and reinforced by the knowledge of others, despite the auditor's high level of capability.  This implies that the impact of professional competence on risk assessment is further bolstered by enforcement pressure.  In other words, the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment becomes more significant when enforcement pressure is high.
Conversely, in situations where enforcement pressure is minimal, the impact of professional competency on risk assessment may not be fully realized.  If there is no external pressure or demand, even a skilled auditor may be able to reduce the accuracy of their risk assessment or not engage in it to the utmost extent of their knowledge and skills (Yazid et al., 2020).  The professional competence potential is not completely realized in this scenario due to the absence of external reinforcement for quality risk assessments.  Auditors with weak self-efficacy may lack the internal motivation to maintain accuracy in the absence of sufficient external signals, and they may not perform in the same manner in the absence of strong role models to observe, as explained by social cognitive theory.  Consequently, enforcement pressure serves as an external reinforcement that motivates auditors to operate at their highest level of professionalism (Said & Munandar, 2018).  Auditors are more inclined to exhibit their finest performance in the risk assessment process when enforcement pressure is high, which is facilitated by their confidence in their abilities and the effectiveness of others (Ewert & Wagenhofer, 2019).  Therefore, the conclusion is that enforcement pressure serves as a moderator between professional competency and risk assessment, strengthening the positive impact of competence on the quality of risk assessment. Based on this description, the hypothesis proposed is:
H6:  Enforcement pressure moderates the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment. 
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Figure 1. Research Framework

3 METHOD

3.1 Research Design
This study uses a quantitative approach to examine the influence of professional competency and enforcement pressure on risk assessment and audit judgment performance. The quantitative approach was chosen because it allowed researchers to measure the relationship between variables of both direct influence, mediation, and moderation. Primary data was collected through the distribution of questionnaires to 42 auditors working at the Audit Board of the Republic of Indonesia. 
The questionnaire was compiled based on indicators that have been validated in previous research and adjusted to the context of public sector audits. The sampling technique was carried out purposively, taking into account the experience and involvement of respondents in the implementation of the audit. Each question in the questionnaire was measured using a seven-point Likert scale to obtain measurable and statistically analyzable data. The collected data is then tested for validity and reliability before further analysis. Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was employed to conduct construct validity testing by conducting an examination of the factor loading values of each indicator. An indicator is considered valid if its loading value exceeds the minimum threshold of 0.70. The Average Variance Extracted (AVE) was used to evaluate the convergent validity of the construct. A value of 0.50 or higher is indicative of the construct's ability to account for more than half of the variance in its indicators (Hair et al., 2021). Furthermore, internal consistency reliability in Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) can be measured through the indicator of Composite Reliability (CR). Hair et al. (2021) state that a construct is considered reliable if the CR value exceeds 0.70.

3.2 Data Analysis
Data analysis was carried out using Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) based on Partial Least Square (PLS) with the help of the SMART-PLS application. The SEM-PLS method was chosen because it is able to test the causal relationships between latent variables simultaneously despite the limited number of samples. This research model consists of two independent variables, one mediation variable, one moderation variable, and one dependent variable. Professional competency and enforcement pressure were tested for their influence on risk assessment, which was then analyzed for their effect on audit performance judgment. This study also examines the role of risk assessment mediation and the role of enforcement pressure moderation in the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment. The results of the analysis provide an empirical understanding of the mechanism of the relationship between variables in the context of public sector audits. Thus, the design of this study is able to answer the research objectives comprehensively and support the validity of the findings produced.

4 FINDING AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Findings
Out of 70 questionnaires distributed via WhatsApp, there were 42 responses, resulting in a response rate of 60%.  A significant portion of the respondents identified as male, comprising 59.52% of the total, with the largest demographic group (50%) being individuals aged 31 to 40.  The educational qualifications revealed that 64.29% possessed a bachelor’s degree, while the remaining 35.71% held a master’s degree. The participants held roles as junior auditors (52.38%), associate auditors (42.86%), and senior auditors (4.76%).  Regarding experience, 19.05% possessed less than 11 years, 78.57% had between 11 and 20 years, while 2.38% exceeded 20 years. The educational background reveals that 71.43% possess an accounting background, while 28.57% have a non-accounting background.

Table 1. Regression SEM-PLS
	Hypothesis
	Relationship
	Std. Beta
	Std. Dev.
	t-Value
	p-Value
	VIF

	H1
	Risk Assessment 🡪 Audit Judgment, Performance
	0,752
	0,058
	13,004
	0,000
	1,000

	H2
	Professional Competency 🡪 Risk Assessment
	0,236
	0,130
	1,812
	0,035
	1,000

	H3
	Enforcement Pressure 🡪 Risk Assessment
	0,652
	0,138
	4,725
	0,000
	1,000

	H4
	Professional Competency 🡪 Risk Assessment 🡪 Audit Judgment Performance
	0,178
	0.099
	1,790
	0.037
	--

	H5
	Enforcement Pressure 🡪 Risk Assessment 🡪 Audit Judgment Performance
	0,491
	0,119
	4,120
	0,000
	--

	H6
	Professional Competency x Enforcement Pressure 🡪 Risk Assessment
	0,137
	0,129
	1,064
	0,144
	--



The regression SEM-PLS presented in table 1 indicate that risk assessment positively influences audit judgment performance.  The results are supported by a p-value of 0.000, which is below the significance threshold of 0.05, alongside a t-value that reflects a positive outcome.  Additionally, professional competency and enforcement pressure positively influence risk assessment, as evidenced by p-values of 0.035 and 0.000, both of which are below the significance threshold of 0.05, along with a t-value indicating a positive correlation.  Moreover, risk assessment, which influences professional competency and enforcement pressure on audit judgment performance, reveals p-values of 0.037 and 0.000, both of which are below the significance threshold of 0.05, alongside a t-value indicating a positive outcome.  This suggests that risk assessment mediates the relationship between professional competency and enforcement pressure in relation to audit judgment performance.  Enforcement pressure does not influence the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment.  The p-value of 0.144 exceeds the significance threshold of 0.05.  Figure 2 below presents the results of the structural model.
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Figure 2. Structural Model

4.2 Discussion
4.2.1 The Effect of Risk Assessment on Audit Judgment Performance
[bookmark: _heading=h.6tfnwq43jvru]The result of analysis confirms that risk assessment has a positive effect on audit judgment performance, which is in line with the proposed hypothesis. The accurate risk assessment represents the auditor's cognitive capacity to recognize cues from the environment and use professional knowledge in decision-making (Griffith et al., 2020). The auditors, who are good at identifying and evaluating risks, are in a better position to make informed and justified audit judgments (Nandemar et al., 2024). 
In the context of government auditors at the Audit Board of the Republic of Indonesia, this relation is very clear in the well-organized audit process that focuses on risk evaluation as the main source of correct conclusions. The practice at BPK is very much in line with what auditors are expected to do, encouraging them to use the three pillars: analytical thinking, experience, and standards in order to improve the quality of their audit judgments. Consequently, the direct effect of risk assessment on audit judgment performance emphasizes the crucial role of enhancing the competence of risk assessment in providing objective and reliable audit decisions.

4.2.2 The Effect of Professional Competency on Risk Assessment
[bookmark: _heading=h.5jdrws17wr4d]The result of analysis indicates that professional competency has a positive effect on risk assessment, and the hypothesis is supported. Auditors with higher knowledge, skills, and self-efficacy are more capable of analyzing complex situations and making informed decisions, including in identifying and evaluating risks (Razali et al., 2025). Auditors with strong professional competency are better equipped to understand audit objectives, assess potential risk areas, and apply appropriate audit procedures (Alsughayer, 2021). 
In the context of government auditors, professional competency is developed through continuous education, training, and adherence to audit standards, which enhances auditors’ ability to perform accurate and evidence-based risk assessments. This finding emphasizes that competency is not just a technical attribute but a cognitive strength that directly supports the quality of risk evaluation. Therefore, enhancing professional competency is a strategic effort to improve audit effectiveness and ensure accountability in public sector audits.

4.2.3 The effect of enforcement pressure on risk assessment
[bookmark: _heading=h.imol7ab2pbdr]The result of hypothesis testing shows that enforcement pressure has a positive effect on risk assessment, which hypothesis is supported.  Outside forces like pressure from others can change how people think and act, making them more careful and deliberate.  When auditors are under pressure to enforce the rules, as when their bosses expect them to do so, when they are being watched by regulators, or when they are responsible for their own actions, they become more careful and aware of dangers (Yazid el al., 2020).  
The Audit Board of the Republic of Indonesia (BPK) uses external drivers such as performance evaluations, supervisory reviews, and stringent conformity with audit standards to make auditors more alert (Sumiyana et al., 2021).  This pressure makes it more important to do detailed risk assessments as a basis for good audit methods.  So, the good effect of enforcement pressure shows how it helps auditors pay more attention to risk and improve the quality of audits in the public sector.

4.2.4 Risk assessment mediates the relationship between professional competency and audit judgment performance
[bookmark: _heading=h.r2ti73mz3rxp]The result of the research indicates that risk assessment mediates the relationship between professional capability and audit judgment performance, with the hypothesis supported. Auditors with high competency have the cognitive capabilities and self-efficacy that help them to process difficult information, such as the identification and assessment of audit risks (Nandemar et al., 2024). This cognitive power gives the auditors the capability to make more precise risk assessments, which then become their audit judgments (Adikaram & Higgs, 2024). 
In the context of the Audit Board of the Republic of Indonesia (BPK), professional competency is grown through organized training, experience, and following of the audit standards; thus the auditors are given the necessary tools to be able to evaluate the risks in a systematic way. The effect of the mediation indicates that competency only is not enough to increase the audit judgment unless it is implemented in a good way through the correct risk assessment. So, it is necessary to strengthen both the competency and the risk assessment practices in order to be able to support good-quality audit decisions in the public sector.

4.2.5 Risk assessment mediates the relationship between enforcement pressure and audit judgment performance
[bookmark: _heading=h.mu29bubawcp0]The research clearly shows that risk assessment mediates the relationship between enforcement pressure and audit judgment performance, with the hypothesis being confirmed. According to Social Cognitive Theory, external environmental factors like enforcement pressure affect behavior via cognitive processes, such as how risks are perceived and evaluated (Filosa et al., 2025). In the case when auditors receive enforcement pressure, they get more attentive and organized in carrying out risk assessments (Dwyer et al., 2023). 
In the context of the Audit Board of the Republic of Indonesia (BPK), this kind of pressure—by means of supervision, regulations, and accountability requirements—leads auditors to make more in-depth risk evaluations before coming to audit judgments. This mediation signifies that enforcement pressure by itself does not directly increase the performance of audit judgment, but rather indirectly, through the improvement of risk assessment. Thus, strengthening enforcement mechanisms can be a good way to support better audit decisions by more thorough risk evaluation.

4.2.6 Enforcement pressure moderates the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment
[bookmark: _heading=h.heu0vlgoyrht]The study findings reveals that enforcement pressure neither weakens nor strengthens the relationship of professional competency with risk assessment; therefore, the hypothesis remains unsupported. When a person is competent in their work, the performance of a thorough risk assessment, the behavior of that individual will mostly be influenced by his capabilities and self-efficacy rather than external pressure, in case the competency is already high (Baatwah et al., 2023). This is in line with what the authors conclude: a competent auditor should be able to do the necessary risk assessment without the pressure of the enforcement playing a key role in examination process conducting (Filosa et al., 2025). The independence from the pressure in this very case is also characterized by the norms within the auditing culture, which revolve around the virtues of thoroughness, accountability, and the highest standard of professional ethics. When cultural expectations such as these become deeply entrenched and rehearsed, auditors internalize such virtues and further decrease their dependence on external enforcement mechanisms as a result.
When we look at government auditors, we see that they are implicitly assumed to be committed to professional standards through their inner motivation and strict observance of the rules. Accordingly, the results show that audit managers who have the right skills are not dependent on enforcement pressure and therefore, they do not behave as instructed by it but rather based on their own knowledge, experience, and ethical standards. There is an evident departure here from reliance on situational morality, where the mode of conduct becomes that of a high level of moral internalization exhibited among the auditors who, under such a scenario, interpret and respond to the ethical norms and professional standards as their character and perform them even in the absence of enforcement pressure. As a result, enforcement may not act as a fundamental variable that changes the direction of professional competency on risk assessment because on the one hand, both audit cultural norms and internalized professionalism already provide a firm base for the high-quality audit outset and on the other, there is a psychological-grounded behavioral view that enforces closely bound principle adherence by personal conviction instead of being just another external enforcement agent.

5 CONCLUSION

[bookmark: _heading=h.hfmxcd8nopqh]The research highlights numerous significant findings. Firstly, risk assessment improves audit judgment performance by highlighting the auditor's cognitive abilities to understand the cues from the environment and use their professional knowledge in decision-making. Moreover, it is found that professional competency has a positive influence on the quality of risk assessment, thus pointing out to the quite considerable role of perpetual education, training, and conformity to standards in public auditing. The enforcement pressure positively impacts risk assessment, providing the regulatory framework with more orderly and cautious evaluations.  On top of that, it is revealed that risk assessment is a mediator in the relationships between professional competency and audit judgment performance, as well as between the enforcement pressure and audit judgment performance.   The survey results indicate that external pressure and internal resources affect the correct functioning of audit skills to a large extent, which is made mainly through the improvement of risk assessments.  Furthermore, it is found that there is no effect of enforcement pressure on the relationship between professional competency and risk assessment, thus suggesting that highly competent auditors are intrinsically motivated and less reliant on external enforcement for performance maintenance.
Subsequent research should investigate the impact of organisational culture, leadership personalities, and team dynamics on the risk assessment and audit judgement process in order to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the contextual factors.  In addition, comparative studies could determine whether the role of risk assessment as a mediator is consistent across various institutional settings in public and private sector auditing environments.  Further insights into the impact of professional development and the implementation of mechanisms on the quality of audits over time could be obtained by expanding the sample beyond BPK.  Lastly, qualitative research methods may serve as a valuable complement to quantitative results by capturing the subtle auditor experiences in a variety of enforcement pressure and competency development scenarios.
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ABSTRACT
This study investigates the relationship between the readability of Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) disclosures and Key Audit Matters (KAM) reports in Japanese firms after the introduction of KAM in 2021. Readability is measured using three indicators: word diversity, kanji rate, and sentence length. The analysis is based on a panel dataset of Japanese listed firms from 2019 to 2023, covering both pre- and post-KAM periods. Findings are as follows. First, this study hypothesizes that MD&A readability deteriorates after the introduction of KAM, reflecting potential obfuscation. However, the analysis finds no significant increase in word diversity and a statistically significant decline in kanji rate, suggesting that firms did not deliberately obscure MD&A content. Second, this study hypothesizes that KAM readability remains unchanged over time. Contrary to expectations, KAM readability improved across the post-KAM years (2021–2023), indicating auditors’ growing efforts to communicate more clearly with financial statement users. Third, this study examines whether MD&A and KAM readability are positively correlated. A weak but statistically significant positive correlation is observed, suggesting that although the documents are prepared independently, their shared communication objective may lead to partial alignment in readability. These findings contribute to the literature on corporate disclosure and auditing by highlighting the nuanced effects of KAM implementation on the clarity of financial communications in Japan.

Keywords: Readability, MD&A, Key Audit Matters, Obfuscation, Disclosure Quality  

1. INTRODUCTION
[bookmark: _heading=h.5j6b4q914nvs]Audit reports act as a crucial communication channel between auditors and financial statement users, providing independent assurance on reporting credibility (PCAOB, 2017; Seebeck & Kaya, 2021; Kosaiyakanont et al., 2024; Chen et al., 2024a). Traditional audit reports, however, have been criticized for boilerplate content, binary pass/fail opinions, and limited transparency, contributing to the “audit expectation gap” (IAASB, 2011; Gutierrez et al., 2018; Coram & Wang, 2021). To address these concerns, the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) introduced ISA 701 in 2015, mandating Key Audit Matters (KAM) disclosures. Similar reforms were adopted in the EU for Public Interest Entities in 2017, and in the U.S. through Critical Audit Matters (CAM) (PCAOB, 2017). In Japan, the Financial Services Agency (FSA) introduced KAM in 2018 for listed firms, aiming to improve transparency and restore trust in audits (FSA, 2022).
KAMs highlight matters involving significant risks of material misstatement, providing insight into auditors’ judgments (Pinto, 2020). While prior research has examined KAMs’ effects on audit quality, investor responses, and reporting behavior (Bédard et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Zeng et al., 2021; Nguyen & Kend, 2021), fewer studies focus on the communicative characteristics of the KAM text itself (Smith, 2023; Chen et al., 2024a; Kosaiyakanont et al., 2024). Parallel research on Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) disclosures suggests that readability reflects managerial transparency or obfuscation (Nakashima et al., 2022; Nakashima, 2023), yet little work jointly analyzes MD&A and KAM texts.
This study fills this gap by examining whether MD&A and KAM readability changed after Japan’s KAM implementation and whether their readability is correlated. Readability is measured using word diversity (lexical complexity) and kanji rate (linguistic abstraction), following the linguistic metafunction framework (Nakashima and Yoshida, 2024). By integrating obfuscation and information manipulation theories with large-scale textual analysis, this study offers empirical evidence from a non-English-speaking context, providing insights into the co-evolution of audit quality and managerial transparency under regulatory reform.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

Behavioral accounting and behavioral economics emphasize that managerial disclosure practices are influenced not only by informational needs but also by psychological biases such as loss aversion and cognitive bias (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Bazerman & Moore, 2012). These tendencies may prompt managers to strategically obscure or withhold unfavorable information in narrative disclosures. Empirical evidence supports this perspective. Nakashima et al. (2022) find that the MD&A sections of fraudulent firms are significantly less readable than those of non-fraudulent firms. Nakashima and Yoshida (2024) further demonstrate that fraudulent firms’ MD&A disclosures exhibit higher word diversity and a lower frequency of numerical expressions, both indicative of reduced readability. Yoshida and Nakashima (2025) add that the use of complex kanji increases cognitive burden, lowering accessibility for readers. Collectively, these findings suggest that linguistic complexity can serve as a strategic obfuscation tool. Building on this evidence, this study posits that the introduction of Key Audit Matters (KAM) disclosures may be perceived by managers as a regulatory threat, prompting them to increase the complexity of MD&A narratives.
H1: MD&A readability in Japanese firms declines after the introduction of KAM disclosures.

The introduction of KAM under ISA 701 has attracted growing academic interest. Smith (2023) finds that when auditors perceive the expanded audit report as a communicative tool, they adopt clearer, more accessible language, leading to measurable improvements in readability. Similarly, Kosaiyakanont et al. (2024) report that KAM disclosures in Asia–Pacific jurisdictions enhance communicative effectiveness. In contrast, Chen et al. (2024) observe that in firms with strong managerial discretion, KAM readability deteriorates after implementation, suggesting that auditor–client relationships may influence disclosure clarity. Given these mixed findings, it remains unclear whether KAM readability in Japanese firms improves or deteriorates over time following implementation.
H2: The readability of KAM disclosures in Japanese firms does not improve over time after the introduction of the KAM disclosure system.

Pinello et al. (2020) examine the overlap between accounting estimates in MD&A and those identified as KAMs, finding substantial alignment in narrative focus. Such alignment may indicate consistency in disclosure themes and, potentially, in textual characteristics such as readability. If MD&A and KAM readability are positively correlated, it may suggest a shared communicative orientation or mutual influence between managers and auditors, despite the formal independence of the two disclosures.
H3: The readability of MD&A and KAM disclosures is positively correlated.

3. METHODOLOGY

3.1 Sample Selection
This study examines Japanese listed firms that submitted securities reports through EDINET between 2020 and 2023, excluding those in the finance and insurance industries. Our sample includes firms that adopt IFRS or US GAAP. MD&A and KAM texts are automatically retrieved from EDINET in CSV format, and the readability metrics—Word diversity and kanji rate—are computed using text analysis procedures.
[bookmark: _heading=h.oo4f7kz51o7k]In interpreting the results of this study, it is also worth noting that the analysis was conducted using a robust dataset comprising over 3,600 listed firms per year. Specifically, the final sample included 3,801 firms in 2020, 3,680 in 2021, 3,714 in 2022, and 3,740 in 2023, as summarized in Table 2. By covering almost all Japanese listed firms with available annual securities reports on EDINET, this study minimizes sampling bias and ensures generalizability across industries and firm sizes. This comprehensive coverage further strengthens the validity of the findings and provides a solid foundation for future comparative research across jurisdictions or periods.

3.2 Measurement of Readability
This study employs two main textual readability metrics. Each metric is defined and measured as follows:
Word Diversity: This variable assumes that, for texts of the same length, greater lexical variation corresponds to lower readability. Since MD&A and KAM disclosures differ in length across firms, variations in sentence length could naturally affect vocabulary usage. To normalize this effect, Word diversity is calculated as the ratio of the number of unique word types to the total number of words.
Kanji Rate: Japanese text consists of three primary character types: hiragana, katakana, and kanji. Kanji is often used for technical, abstract, or complex expressions, especially in formal disclosures. Therefore, we interpret a higher frequency of kanji characters as indicative of lower readability. The kanji rate is calculated by dividing the number of kanji characters by the total number of hiragana, katakana, and kanji characters combined.

4. RESULTS
4.1 Test of H1 – MD&A Readability after KAM Introduction
Hypothesis 1 proposed that the readability of MD&A sections in Japanese firms would decline after the introduction of KAM disclosures. Empirical analysis shows no statistically significant change in Word diversity, while the kanji rate decreased significantly. These results do not support H1, indicating no consistent evidence of deliberate obfuscation. Instead, the findings suggest that managers may not have perceived KAM as a disclosure threat and may have sought to improve MD&A accessibility for financial statement users.

4.2 Test of H2 – Changes in KAM Readability over Time
Hypothesis 2 predicted that KAM readability would remain stable over time. Contrary to this expectation, results (Figure 1) reveal a steady improvement in readability across the post-KAM years. This trend suggests that auditors, with growing experience under the KAM regime, have enhanced language clarity, terminology selection, and structural organization. The findings imply that KAM has evolved beyond a compliance requirement to actively strengthen communication between auditors and financial statement users.

4.3 Test of H3 – Correlation between MD&A and KAM Readability
Hypothesis 3 posited a positive correlation between the readability of MD&A and KAM disclosures. Statistical tests (Figure 2) confirm a significant—though modest—positive correlation for both Word diversity (r = 0.102, p < 0.001) and kanji rate (r = 0.290, p < 0.001). This alignment likely reflects a shared commitment to user-oriented communication, rather than any coordinated action that could undermine auditor independence. While notable differences remain due to distinct authorship and objectives, the results point to a gradual enhancement of overall disclosure quality.

5． CONCLUSIONS
This study examines whether the introduction of KAM disclosures in Japan influenced the readability of MD&A sections and the readability of KAM disclosures themselves, using a sample of Japanese listed firms before and after the implementation of KAM requirements. By employing a difference-in-differences approach, we find that MD&A readability significantly improved in the post-KAM period, supporting the notion that heightened auditor communication requirements can have a spillover effect on managerial narrative disclosures.Although KAM readability also improved in the post-KAM period, the change is not statistically significant, suggesting that the complexity of KAM disclosures may be more influenced by auditor reporting conventions and regulatory expectations than by managerial communication style. Furthermore, we find a positive and significant association between MD&A readability and KAM readability, indicating that readability is an inherent characteristic of a firm’s disclosure practices across different reporting sections.
These findings contribute to the literature on disclosure quality by providing empirical evidence from Japan that KAM requirements can indirectly enhance the transparency of other narrative sections, such as MD&A, beyond their primary auditor reporting purpose. For policymakers and regulators, the results highlight the potential for integrated disclosure reforms to promote more accessible and informative corporate reporting.
Future research could extend this study by examining whether improvements in readability translate into better investor decision-making or lower information asymmetry, and by analyzing whether readability effects persist over the long term. In addition, investigating how the linguistic features of KAM disclosures interact with market reactions would provide further insights into the informational value of these new reporting elements.
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ABSTRACT
This study investigates the impact of underpricing, financial performance, and ownership structure on long-term post-IPO stock performance in the context of an emerging capital market. Focusing on 151 non-financial, real estate, and property firms listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (IDX) between 2017 and 2021, the study utilizes 453 firm-period observations to assess post-listing returns using Buy-and-Hold Abnormal Return (BHAR) across 12, 24, and 36-month intervals. Employing a quantitative explanatory design, the research is grounded in an integrative theoretical framework comprising the Efficient Market Hypothesis, Information Asymmetry, Signaling, Agency, and Pecking Order theories. The Random Effects Model (REM) is adopted for panel data estimation, selected through the Breusch–Pagan Lagrange Multiplier test to account for firm-level heterogeneity. The empirical model evaluates the effects of underpricing, return on assets (ROA), return on equity (ROE), debt-to-equity ratio (DER), largest shareholder, retained ownership, and institutional ownership on long-term performance. The results indicate that underpricing and DER are negatively associated with BHAR, while ROA, the largest shareholder, and institutional ownership demonstrate significant positive effects. ROE and retained ownership do not exhibit statistically significant relationships, suggesting limited signaling value in the Indonesian post-IPO context. The model’s adjusted R2 of 8.69% highlights the multifactorial nature of IPO outcomes, likely influenced by macroeconomic volatility, governance environments, and behavioral market dynamics. This study contributes to IPO literature by integrating pricing, performance, and ownership variables into a unified empirical model and offers actionable insights for investors, issuers, and policymakers in enhancing IPO quality and long-term market performance in emerging economies.
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1. INTRODUCTION
The Initial Public Offering (IPO) process remains a pivotal event in the lifecycle of a company, especially within the dynamic and evolving landscape of emerging capital markets such as Indonesia. For many firms, an IPO is not merely a strategic decision to access public funding but a transformative shift that reshapes ownership structure, market visibility, and long-term governance outlook. Despite its centrality, the IPO process is often accompanied by pricing anomalies that expose inefficiencies within the market—most notably, the recurring phenomenon of underpricing.
Between 2020 and 2023, the Indonesia Stock Exchange (IDX) recorded a significant increase in IPO activity, with the number of newly listed firms rising from 51 to 79. This expansion suggests a resurgence in corporate financing appetite, likely fueled by post-pandemic economic recovery and investor optimism. Yet, alongside this growth, the average first-day return—a key measure of underpricing—declined sharply from 39% in 2020 to 12% in 2023, signaling an evolving pricing discipline potentially influenced by regulatory reforms and increased market maturity (IDX, 2023). While this trend may indicate progress toward more efficient pricing mechanisms, the average return of 20.81% over the period underscores that substantial underpricing remains a structural attribute of Indonesia’s IPO landscape.
In economic theory, underpricing is frequently attributed to information asymmetry, valuation uncertainty, and market inefficiencies, all of which are particularly prevalent in developing economies. Empirical research from other Asian markets—including Malaysia, Thailand, the Philippines, and China—consistently demonstrates high initial returns driven by similar constraints in information flow and market sophistication (Banerjee et al., 2011; Arora & Singh, 2020; Mehmood et al., 2021). In this regard, Indonesia is no exception. Although underpricing may serve as a deliberate strategy to attract investors or mitigate demand risk, it often entails significant opportunity costs for issuers, reduces capital raised, and distorts fair valuation (Pratiwi et al., 2024; Fuadi & Pasaribu, 2024).
Moreover, the implications of underpricing extend beyond the IPO event itself. While it may generate short-term gains for early investors, its long-run impact on firm performance remains ambiguous. Some studies suggest that underpricing acts as a positive signal of firm quality, thereby supporting price appreciation over time. Others argue that it leads to market corrections, particularly when initial valuations are not supported by fundamentals. These divergent outcomes highlight the need for a more nuanced understanding of how underpricing interacts with post-IPO stock performance—especially over extended holding periods.
To address this complexity, recent scholarship has shifted focus toward long-term performance metrics, particularly the Buy-and-Hold Abnormal Return (BHAR), which provides a more holistic view of investor returns compared to short-term anomalies. Nevertheless, underpricing alone cannot fully account for the variation in BHAR. Other structural and firm-specific factors—most notably financial fundamentals and ownership composition—are increasingly recognized as key explanatory variables.
In this context, financial indicators such as Return on Assets (ROA), Return on Equity (ROE), and Debt-to-Equity Ratio (DER) are widely used to assess the operating efficiency, profitability, and leverage of newly listed firms. These metrics reflect internal performance and serve as market-relevant signals that influence investor expectations regarding future cash flows and risk exposure (Vance, 2014; Kumar & Sahoo, 2021). For example, high ROE suggests strong capital productivity, while elevated DER may indicate higher financial risk, potentially dampening investor confidence.
Equally important is the role of ownership structure, which serves as a proxy for governance quality and agency alignment. Prior studies highlight how retained ownership by original shareholders, the concentration of shares held by the largest shareholder, and the presence of institutional investors can significantly shape market perceptions (Michel et al., 2013; Pham et al., 2003). These ownership variables act as strategic signals: high retained ownership may convey long-term commitment, while institutional participation is often interpreted as a certification of firm credibility. However, ownership effects are mediated by institutional factors, including disclosure regimes, enforcement intensity, and investor sophistication, all of which differ across markets. Research from China, Scandinavia, and Indonesia reveals that regulatory frameworks, investor maturity, and corporate governance norms all moderate the relationship between ownership and post-IPO performance (Wang & Wang, 2021; Berglund & Granelli, 2023; Setia-Atmaja & Chandera, 2021).
Despite the richness of existing literature, much of it remains fragmented, with studies often analyzing underpricing, financial performance, and ownership structure in isolation. Furthermore, the empirical inconsistencies observed across markets suggest that findings are context-dependent—affected by sample period, economic cycles, and methodological choices. This fragmentation signals a pressing need for a more integrative empirical framework that simultaneously examines these variables within a single model, particularly in emerging markets like Indonesia.
In response to the gaps in existing literature and contextual challenges in emerging markets, this study develops a comprehensive empirical model that integrates underpricing, financial performance, and ownership structure in explaining long-term post-IPO stock performance, using BHAR as the primary outcome variable. By situating the analysis within the theoretical domains of the Efficient Market Hypothesis, Information Asymmetry Theory, Signaling Theory, Agency Theory, and Pecking Order Theory, this research aims to bridge theoretical fragmentation and empirical inconsistencies in IPO literature by offering an integrated model applicable to the unique institutional conditions of emerging markets like Indonesia.

[bookmark: _heading=h.3dy6vkm]2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESIS
This study integrates established theoretical foundations with empirical research to develop a comprehensive framework that examines how underpricing, financial performance, and ownership structure influence long-term post-IPO stock performance, measured by Buy-and-Hold Abnormal Return (BHAR). The following subsections elaborate on each construct, anchored in relevant theories and leading to testable hypotheses.
2.1 Underpricing and Long-Term Stock Performance
Underpricing—defined as the positive difference between the IPO offer price and the first-day closing price—remains one of the most studied anomalies in capital markets. It challenges rational pricing and questions the efficiency of primary markets, especially in emerging economies where valuation opacity, weak disclosure standards, and investor immaturity persist.
From the perspective of Information Asymmetry Theory (Akerlof, 1970; Rock, 1986), underpricing compensates uninformed investors who risk being allocated low-quality shares. Rock’s Winner’s Curse Model suggests that well-informed investors only participate in underpriced IPOs, crowding out less-informed investors from lucrative deals. To attract both groups, issuers must price IPOs below intrinsic value—especially in markets like Indonesia, where underwriter diligence and disclosure quality are inconsistent.
Signaling Theory (Leland & Pyle, 1977; Spence, 1973) adds that underpricing may act as a costly but credible signal of firm quality. High-quality firms are more willing to incur this cost, expecting future returns through seasoned equity offerings or sustained valuation. However, the signal's effectiveness depends on whether the market perceives underpricing as intentional rather than as a sign of poor forecasting or managerial inefficiency.
In contrast, the Efficient Market Hypothesis (Fama, 1970; 1991) argues that in semi-strong efficient markets, all public information—including IPO pricing—should be reflected in stock prices, rendering consistent abnormal returns unlikely. Persistent deviations such as post-IPO underperformance imply pricing inefficiencies or market irrationality, a phenomenon common in less-developed capital markets (Ritter & Welch, 2002; Loughran & Ritter, 2004).
Empirical studies generally caution against excessive underpricing. Budiman (2019) and Sholichah (2018) document that high initial returns often precede declining BHAR in Indonesian IPOs, as speculative enthusiasm fades and valuations normalize. Avci (2021) similarly finds that initial overvaluation through underpricing is associated with negative BHAR in the Turkish market. These findings suggest that underpricing can lead to short-term price “overshoots” that are gradually corrected.
Behavioral finance perspectives also highlight retail investor over-optimism during IPOs, particularly in retail-dominant markets, which can distort first-day pricing. Moreover, external factors such as media coverage and institutional investor herding may amplify these effects.
While underpricing can mitigate demand uncertainty and promote IPO success in the short term, excessive underpricing may reflect poor pricing mechanisms or weak issuer credibility, ultimately undermining long-term value.
H1: Underpricing negatively affects long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR).

2.2 Financial Performance and Long-Term Stock Performance
A firm’s financial condition at the time of its IPO significantly influences its long-term valuation. Financial indicators not only reflect internal efficiency but also serve as external signals that help investors assess future performance in the absence of long-standing market data—particularly important in high-uncertainty markets like Indonesia.
According to Signaling Theory (Spence, 1973), firms convey managerial quality and operational efficiency through transparent, verifiable metrics such as Return on Assets (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE). ROA reflects asset utilization effectiveness, while ROE signals capital productivity. High values in these metrics are widely interpreted as indicators of sustainable profitability and prudent financial management.
Information Asymmetry Theory (Akerlof, 1970) also suggests that audited and disclosed financial data helps reduce valuation uncertainty. In IPO settings where historical price data is unavailable, investors rely heavily on financial performance to infer firm quality (Barnes, 1987). ROA and ROE thus serve as anchors for shaping long-term return expectations.
Empirical studies support these theoretical propositions. Batool (2018) and Budiman (2019) find that higher ROA and ROE are associated with stronger BHAR in post-IPO firms. However, Avci (2021) presents a counterpoint from the Turkish market, where high ROE correlates negatively with BHAR, consistent with the Windows of Opportunity Hypothesis. This suggests that some firms may deliberately time their IPOs during short-lived peaks in profitability, which distorts the signaling value of ROE and leads to eventual performance reversion.
Debt-to-Equity Ratio (DER), as a measure of capital structure, adds complexity. According to Pecking Order Theory (Myers & Majluf, 1984), firms prioritize internal financing over debt and equity issuance. High DER may suggest financial vulnerability and over-reliance on debt, signaling limited cash flow or retained earnings. In such cases, investor confidence may decline, suppressing long-term stock returns (Bharath et al., 2009; Lemmon & Zender, 2010).
However, this interpretation is context-dependent. In some cases, especially in Indonesia, firms may use debt strategically to fund productive expansion. Hardiyanto & Syarif (2024) find that firms with well-managed leverage—particularly when linked to growth investments—may achieve superior BHAR. Thus, DER's effect is contingent on industry norms, firm strategy, and macroeconomic conditions.
Overall, while profitability indicators such as ROA and ROE tend to support long-term value, DER requires contextual interpretation.
H2: ROA positively affects long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR).
H3: ROE positively affects long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR).
H4: DER negatively affects long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR).

2.3 Ownership Structure and Long-Term Stock Performance
Ownership structure post-IPO is pivotal in both corporate governance and investor perception. In emerging markets with weaker legal enforcement and minority shareholder protection, ownership concentration plays a central role in monitoring and aligning managerial actions with shareholder interests.
Agency Theory (Jensen & Meckling, 1976) identifies the principal-agent conflict as a key inefficiency in publicly traded firms. When insiders retain significant ownership post-IPO, they are incentivized to align with shareholder value. Demsetz & Lehn (1985) argue that ownership concentration reduces agency costs and improves firm performance through direct oversight.
The presence of a dominant shareholder—whether a founder, family, or corporate group—can enhance governance quality. Wang et al. (2015) and Gedajlovic & Shapiro (2002) find that such concentration improves long-term stock performance, especially in environments with limited external oversight. In Indonesia, where pyramid ownership and cross-holdings are common, this effect is particularly relevant.
Retained ownership, or the proportion of shares held by pre-IPO insiders, also serves as a powerful signal. Signaling Theory (Leland & Pyle, 1977) views retained equity as a costly and credible commitment by insiders, reflecting confidence in long-term firm value. Michel et al. (2013) and Pham et al. (2003) find that firms with high retained ownership tend to deliver higher BHAR. While retained stakes may also reflect mandatory lock-up provisions—common in regulated IPO settings—their signaling value may be diluted if retention is not voluntary. In such cases, investors may discount the informational content of retained ownership, especially in markets with weak post-IPO disclosure enforcement.
Institutional ownership adds further nuance. On one hand, reputable institutions such as venture capital firms and underwriters may enhance governance and reduce information asymmetry (Megginson & Weiss, 1991). Their involvement often signals credibility and attracts public interest. On the other hand, behavioral studies highlight the downside of institutional herding, where institutions mimic each other’s trades, contributing to short-term price distortions and long-term underperformance (Bird & Yeung, 2010; Okumu et al., 2022).
Thus, ownership structure affects BHAR through governance and signaling channels. In markets with limited transparency and enforcement, these ownership cues are crucial for investor decision-making.
H5: Largest shareholder positively affects long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR).
H6: Retained ownership positively affects long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR).
H7: Institutional ownership positively affects long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR).
3. METHODOLOGY
This study adopts a quantitative explanatory research design to examine the effects of underpricing, financial performance, and ownership structure on long-term post-IPO stock performance, using Buy-and-Hold Abnormal Return (BHAR) as the principal outcome variable. The research is grounded in a multi-theoretical framework that integrates the Efficient Market Hypothesis (Fama, 1970, 1991), Information Asymmetry Theory (Akerlof, 1970; Rock, 1986), Signaling Theory (Spence, 1973; Leland & Pyle, 1977), Agency Theory (Jensen & Meckling, 1976), and Pecking Order Theory (Myers & Majluf, 1984). These perspectives collectively inform how firm-specific fundamentals, governance structures, and market dynamics interact to shape long-term performance in the IPO context.
The population comprises all non-financial firms listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (IDX) that conducted an Initial Public Offering between 2017 and 2021. This five-year window allows for a sufficiently long post-IPO horizon to measure stock returns at 12, 24, and 36 months after listing. Financial, real estate, and property sector firms were excluded due to their distinct financial reporting standards and regulatory environments. Firms were also excluded if they were delisted, engaged in major corporate actions (e.g., rights issues, stock splits), or lacked complete financial or trading data. Using a purposive sampling method, a final sample of 151 firms was obtained, yielding 453 firm-period observations.
The dependent variable is BHAR, which measures the compounded abnormal return accrued by an investor holding the IPO stock over a specific horizon, relative to the market index. BHAR is considered superior to short-term performance metrics such as Cumulative Abnormal Return (CAR), particularly in IPO research (Brav et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2015). The independent variables are grouped into three categories: underpricing (market-level signal), financial performance indicators (firm fundamentals), and ownership structure (internal governance proxies). Table 1 presents the operational definitions, formulas, and references for each variable:

Table 1. Operational Definition and Measurements of Variables
	Variable
	Definition
	Measurement / Formula
	Source / Reference

	BHAR
	Long-term abnormal stock return relative to the market
	
where ​: firm return, ​: market return
	Brav et al. (2000); Wang et al. (2015)

	Underpricing
	Initial return between offering price and first-day close
	
where ​: offering price, ​: first-day close
	Beatty & Ritter (1986)

	ROA
	Asset efficiency & profitability
	
	Vance (2014); Budiman (2019)

	ROE
	Return to shareholders' equity
	
	Kumar & Sahoo (2021); Batool (2018)

	DER
	Capital structure and leverage
	
	Bharath et al. (2009); Hardiyanto & Syarif (2024)

	Largest Shareholder
	Ownership proportion held by the top shareholder
	
	Wang et al. (2015)

	Retained Ownership
	Proportion retained by pre-IPO insiders post-listing
	
	Michel et al. (2013); Pham et al. (2003)

	Institutional Ownership
	Shareholding by institutional investors
	
	Megginson & Weiss (1991); Okumu et al. (2022)


Note. All formulas follow standard financial definitions. Measurement periods include 12, 24, and 36 months post-IPO. Data collected and calculated by the author in 2025.
Secondary data were obtained from verified public sources. IPO offering and first-day closing prices were retrieved from the IDX official archives, while financial indicators and ownership variables were extracted from IPO prospectuses, and audited annual reports. To ensure data reliability and transparency, all key data points—particularly underpricing and ownership structure—were cross-validated using at least two independent sources (e.g., IDX filings, company reports, and financial databases). Manual reconciliation procedures were undertaken to resolve any discrepancies, ensuring analytical consistency. Only firms with complete and consistent information across the 12-, 24-, and 36-month post-IPO windows were retained to preserve dataset integrity. Historical stock prices used for BHAR calculation were sourced from Yahoo Finance and Investing.com with cross-platform validation to enhance accuracy.
The study employs panel data regression analysis using EViews 13 to assess the relationship between the independent variables and BHAR. This technique captures both cross-sectional and time-series variations. Prior to model estimation, specification tests were conducted, including the Chow Test, Breusch–Pagan Lagrange Multiplier Test, and the Hausman Test, to determine the most appropriate model specification (Gujarati & Porter, 2009).
The final regression model is expressed as:


To ensure the robustness of the results, multicollinearity was tested using the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF), and heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation were addressed using robust standard errors as recommended by Wooldridge (2010). These diagnostic procedures enhance the reliability of statistical inferences drawn from the model.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Descriptive statistics were generated to summarize the central tendency, dispersion, and distributional characteristics of the variables used in this study, based on 453 firm-period observations. Table 2 provides an overview of both the dependent and independent variables included in the regression analysis.
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Research Variables
	Variable
	Mean
	Median
	Std. Dev.
	Min
	Max

	BHAR
	1.82
	-0.004
	9.20
	-1.30
	103.31

	IR
	0.303
	0.343
	0.29
	-0.696
	0.700

	ROA
	0.053
	0.029
	0.108
	-0.520
	0.486

	ROE
	-0.085
	0.076
	2.55
	-31.02
	2.30

	DER
	1.71
	1.03
	3.31
	-5.35
	34.32

	LS
	0.548
	0.560
	0.20
	0.009
	0.900

	RO
	0.762
	0.780
	0.08
	0.480
	0.956

	IO
	0.578
	0.700
	0.30
	0.000
	0.990


Note. BHAR = Buy-and-Hold Abnormal Return; IR = Initial Return (Underpricing); ROA = Return on Assets; ROE = Return on Equity; DER = Debt-to-Equity Ratio; LS = Largest Shareholder; RO = Retained Ownership; IO = Institutional Ownership. Data processed using EViews 13 based on 453 firm-period observations collected by the author in 2025.

As shown in Table 2, the average BHAR of 1.82% suggests a modest positive long-term return post-IPO in the Indonesian market. However, the high standard deviation (9.20) and a maximum value of 103.31% indicate the presence of extreme outliers, which may reflect speculative bubbles or extraordinary firm-specific events. The mean underpricing (IR) of 30.3%, reinforces the persistent underpricing trend in Indonesian IPOs, which has been widely documented in emerging market literature. 
From a performance perspective, ROA (mean = 5.3%) is modestly positive, while ROE shows a negative average (–8.5%) with a wide dispersion. This discrepancy indicates that profitability derived from assets may be more consistent than that from equity, potentially due to fluctuations in shareholder equity or opportunistic earnings timing around the IPO period. In terms of capital structure, the high standard deviation in DER (3.31) and its extreme values point to substantial variability in leverage, possibly reflecting differences in industry risk or access to credit markets. 
Ownership structure variables reflect concentrated control characteristics, with largest shareholder (LS) averaging 54.8%, retained ownership (RO) 76.2% and institutional ownership (IO) averaging 57.8%, suggesting that insider and professional investors hold significant stakes post-IPO. These patterns are consistent with governance structures in emerging markets, where concentrated ownership often substitutes for weak external monitoring mechanisms.
To assess potential multicollinearity, a Pearson correlation matrix was constructed among the independent variables.

Table 3. Pearson Correlation Matrix of Independent Variables
	
	IR
	ROA
	ROE
	DER
	LS
	RO
	IO

	IR
	 1.000000
	
	
	
	
	
	

	ROA
	-0.231076
	 1.000000
	
	
	
	
	

	ROE
	-0.083533
	 0.584878
	 1.000000
	
	
	
	

	DER
	 0.078231
	-0.105366
	 0.643303
	 1.000000
	 
	
	

	LS
	-0.087488
	 0.151880
	 0.102339
	 0.035151
	 1.000000
	
	

	RO
	-0.348746
	 0.105514
	 0.033288
	-0.037740
	 0.257599
	 1.000000
	

	IO
	-0.085737
	 0.122303
	 0.131658
	 0.046393
	 0.454063
	 0.179047
	 1.000000


Note. IR = Initial Return (Underpricing); ROA = Return on Assets; ROE = Return on Equity; DER = Debt-to-Equity Ratio; LS = Largest Shareholder; RO = Retained Ownership; IO = Institutional Ownership. All values represent Pearson correlation coefficients. No values exceed 0.80, indicating no multicollinearity. Data processed using EViews 13 based on 453 firm-period observations collected by the author in 2025.
As shown in Table 3, the correlation matrix does not show any excessively high correlations among the independent variables. The highest observed correlation is between ROE and DER (0.643), which remains below the conventional threshold of 0.80 for multicollinearity concerns. Therefore, all variables were retained for the multivariate regression analysis without further adjustment or variable exclusion.
To assess the assumption of homoskedasticity, a visual inspection of residuals was conducted. Figure 1 shows the distribution pattern of residuals from the initial estimation.
Figure 1. Residual Distribution Pattern
[image: ]
Note. The graph illustrates the standardized residuals from the panel regression estimation (BHAR_Y model), generated using EViews 13 in 2025.
As shown in Figure 1, the residuals are randomly scattered around the zero line and do not display any obvious pattern, such as a funnel or U-shape. This lack of structure in the residual plot supports the assumption of homoskedasticity, meaning the variance of the residuals appears constant across observations. Therefore, the model is not severely affected by heteroskedasticity.
To determine the most appropriate panel regression model, a Lagrange Multiplier (LM) test was applied, comparing the Common Effects Model (CEM) with the Random Effects Model (REM).
Table 4. Lagrange Multiplier Test Results
	
	Cross-Section
	P-Value

	Breusch-Pagan
	331.6105
	0.0000


Note. The Breusch–Pagan LM test compares the Common Effects Model (CEM) and the Random Effects Model (REM). Data processed using EViews 13 based on 453 firm-period observations collected by the author in 2025.
As shown in Table 4, the result of the LM test shows a statistically significant outcome (p < 0.001), indicating that the Random Effects Model (REM) is more appropriate than the Common Effect Model (CEM). This aligns with the panel data structure, which accommodates both cross-sectional (firm-level) and time-series (period-level) dimensions.
The results from the Random Effects Model estimation are summarized in Table 5:
Table 5. Random Effects Model Estimation Summary
	Variable
	Coefficient
	Std. Error
	t-Statistic
	Prob.

	Constant
	10.11539
	7.711399
	1.311745
	0.1904

	IR
	-11.94389
	2.619837
	-4.559019
	0.0000

	ROA
	19.69675
	9.757082
	2.018713
	0.0442

	ROE
	-3.989778
	4.034122
	-0.989008
	0.3233

	DER
	-0.511031
	0.190127
	-2.687848
	0.0075

	LS
	8.408094
	3.875213
	2.169711
	0.0306

	RO
	-18.65832
	9.891390
	-1.886320
	0.0600

	IO
	9.119601
	2.526039
	3.610238
	0.0003

	Weighted Statistics

	R-squared
	0.102512
	
	Prob(F-statistic)
	0.000000

	Adjusted R-squared
	0.086923
	
	Durbin-Watson stat
	2.623462

	F-statistic
	6.575874
	
	
	


Note. IR = Initial Return (Underpricing); ROA = Return on Assets; ROE = Return on Equity; DER = Debt-to-Equity Ratio; LS = Largest Shareholder; RO = Retained Ownership; IO = Institutional Ownership. Data processed using EViews 13 based on 453 firm-period observations collected by the author in 2025.

As shown in Table 5, the regression results confirm that underpricing (IR) has a strong negative effect on BHAR (p < 0.01), reinforcing the notion that underpricing leads to long-term price corrections. ROA is positively and significantly associated with BHAR (p < 0.05), supporting the view that asset efficiency contributes to sustainable returns. DER shows a significant negative relationship with BHAR (p < 0.01), suggesting that higher leverage poses a risk to post-IPO stock performance. Largest Shareholder (LS) and Institutional Ownership (IO) both positively and significantly affect BHAR (p < 0.05 and p < 0.01 respectively), suggesting that credible ownership structures enhance post-IPO performance. Conversely, ROE and Retained Ownership (RO) are not statistically significant at the 5% level, suggesting limited explanatory power in the context of the Indonesian IPO market.
These outcomes are further summarized in Table 6.

Table 6. Summary of Hypothesis Testing Results
	Hypothesis
	Statement
	Result
	Significance

	H1
	Underpricing → BHAR
	Negative
	Significant (p < 0.01)

	H2
	ROA → BHAR
	Positive
	Significant (p < 0.05)

	H3
	ROE → BHAR
	Not significant
	p > 0.05

	H4
	DER → BHAR
	Negative
	Significant (p < 0.01)

	H5
	Largest Shareholder → BHAR
	Positive
	Significant (p < 0.05)

	H6
	Retained Ownership → BHAR
	Not significant
	p > 0.05

	H7
	Institutional Ownership → BHAR
	Positive
	Significant (p < 0.01)


Note. Hypothesis testing is based on Random Effects Model estimation using panel data regression with BHAR as the dependent variable. Data processed using EViews 13 in 2025.

As shown in Table 6, five of the seven hypotheses are statistically supported. This section elaborates on each significant and non-significant finding, grounded in relevant theoretical perspectives. Underpricing, DER, and ROA are confirmed as significant predictors of BHAR, alongside largest shareholder and institutional ownership. ROE and retained ownership do not show statistically significant effects, indicating that not all internal financial indicators or ownership forms are equally informative in predicting long-term post-IPO stock performance in the Indonesian market.
The empirical findings of this study offer valuable insights into the determinants of long-term stock performance following IPOs in Indonesia. By integrating variables from three critical domains—underpricing, financial performance, and ownership structure—this study contributes to a more holistic understanding of IPO outcomes in an emerging market context.
The significantly negative relationship between underpricing and long-term stock performance, as evidenced by the BHAR results, reinforces the notion that excessive initial returns may lead to market corrections over time. This finding is consistent with the Information Asymmetry Theory (Rock, 1986), which suggests that underpricing functions as a mechanism to attract uninformed investors. However, when underpricing is too steep, it often reflects speculative demand or over-optimism, leading to inflated valuations that are subsequently adjusted downward. The results corroborate earlier studies by Budiman (2019), Sholichah (2018), and Avci (2021), all of which highlight the inverse relationship between initial returns and long-term performance. This suggests that while underpricing may fulfill short-term goals such as ensuring full subscription, it may undermine long-term investor value and signal inefficiency in the IPO pricing mechanism.
Among the financial performance indicators, only ROA was found to have a significant positive effect on BHAR. This result supports the signaling function of operational efficiency, as described by Signaling Theory (Spence, 1973). Firms that effectively utilize their assets to generate profits are more likely to sustain investor confidence post-listing. This aligns with the findings of Batool (2018) and Budiman (2019), who demonstrated that strong ROA contributes to better long-term stock performance. 
In contrast, ROE did not significantly affect BHAR. While ROE is often regarded as a key profitability indicator, its lack of statistical significance in this study may reflect distortions arising from IPO timing strategies. According to the Windows of Opportunity Hypothesis, firms may strategically time their IPOs during periods of peak profitability, resulting in temporarily inflated ROE figures that do not reflect sustainable financial performance. Furthermore, high ROE may sometimes stem from short-term accounting practices or financial engineering, particularly in markets like Indonesia where earnings management and financial opacity remain challenges. These conditions may lead to inflated expectations that do not translate into consistent post-IPO performance, thereby weakening ROE's usefulness as a predictor of long-term returns. As such, ROE may lack the robustness required to serve as a reliable signal for long-term investor returns.
The negative and significant relationship between DER and BHAR confirms the theoretical expectations derived from the Pecking Order Theory (Myers & Majluf, 1984). A high DER signals dependence on external debt, which can indicate higher financial risk and reduced flexibility in managing future growth. This result is consistent with the findings of Bharath et al. (2009) and Lemmon & Zender (2010), as well as Hardiyanto & Syarif (2024), who underscore that excessive leverage may depress investor expectations, especially in volatile or low-governance environments such as Indonesia. Hence, while debt can be strategically beneficial, its unchecked use may dampen long-term performance, particularly in the absence of robust financial controls.
With respect to ownership structure, the positive and significant effect of the largest shareholder's ownership on BHAR supports the core principles of Agency Theory (Jensen & Meckling, 1976). When a dominant shareholder retains a substantial stake, they are more likely to monitor managerial behavior and align company strategies with shareholder interests. This finding is in line with Gedajlovic & Shapiro (2002) and Wang et al. (2015), who emphasize the role of concentrated ownership in improving governance in environments with weak external controls. In the Indonesian context, where regulatory enforcement and minority shareholder protections may be inconsistent, internal governance mechanisms like majority ownership play a pivotal role in supporting post-IPO performance.
Institutional ownership also showed a strong and positive influence on BHAR, suggesting that the involvement of institutional investors serves as a credible signal of firm quality. This supports the view of Megginson & Weiss (1991), who argue that institutions bring reputational capital, monitoring capability, and valuation expertise to the IPO process. In markets where retail investor dominance is high, institutional participation can provide legitimacy and reduce information asymmetry. The present findings also align with Okumu et al. (2022), who distinguish between long-term strategic institutions and speculative actors. In this sample, institutional ownership likely reflects the former, thereby supporting long-term stock performance.
Surprisingly, retained ownership did not exhibit a statistically significant effect on BHAR. While earlier studies (Michel et al., 2013; Pham et al., 2003) emphasize its signaling role as an indicator of insider confidence and long-term commitment, such effects may be diluted in the Indonesian IPO landscape. The prevalence of regulatory lock-up requirements mandates insiders to hold their shares for a minimum period post-listing, rendering high retention less a voluntary strategic decision and more a compliance artifact. In this context, investors may not interpret retained ownership as a credible signal of post-IPO value.
Furthermore, limited post-IPO disclosure, weak enforcement of insider trading rules, and overall institutional opacity can diminish investor confidence in ownership-related signals. These structural limitations may explain why retained ownership fails to significantly predict long-term stock performance in this setting. Accordingly, future research could explore the differential impact of voluntary versus mandatory retained ownership or examine how firm-level governance quality moderates its influence. Such refinements would enhance our understanding of the signaling value of ownership in emerging markets.
While the regression model yields statistically significant relationships for several variables, the adjusted R2 of 8.69% suggests that the explanatory power remains modest. This indicates that a substantial portion of the variation in long-term post-IPO stock performance (BHAR) may be influenced by other factors not captured in the current model. Future model extensions could incorporate macroeconomic controls—such as interest rates, inflation, or GDP growth—which may affect investor sentiment and post-IPO valuations. Sector-specific dynamics may also play a role, as different industries exhibit varying growth trajectories and risk profiles after going public. Including such dimensions could improve the model's predictive capability and offer a more comprehensive understanding of IPO outcomes in emerging markets.
Overall, the findings emphasize the importance of pricing discipline, operational efficiency, prudent capital structure, and credible ownership signals in shaping post-IPO outcomes. They also illustrate how these factors interact within an institutional framework characterized by market imperfections, governance gaps, and evolving investor sophistication. While certain classical theories retain their explanatory power, the Indonesian case highlights the need for contextual adjustments when applying these frameworks to emerging markets.

5. CONCLUSION

[bookmark: _heading=h.17dp8vu]This study investigates the influence of underpricing, financial performance, and ownership structure on the long-term stock performance of IPO firms in Indonesia. Drawing upon a multi-theoretical framework—including the Efficient Market Hypothesis, Information Asymmetry, Signaling, Agency, and Pecking Order theories—and analyzing 453 firm-period observations from 151 IPOs between 2017 and 2021, the study assesses how market signals, firm fundamentals, and governance mechanisms shape investor outcomes over 12, 24, and 36 months post-listing, as measured by Buy-and-Hold Abnormal Return (BHAR).
The findings confirm that underpricing exerts a significant negative impact on long-term stock performance, underscoring the corrective behavior of the market in response to excessive initial returns. Among financial indicators, return on assets (ROA) emerges as a robust and positive determinant of BHAR, reflecting its efficacy in signaling operational efficiency. Conversely, return on equity (ROE) does not show a significant relationship—possibly due to IPO timing strategies or transient earnings manipulation. Debt-to-equity ratio (DER) is negatively associated with BHAR, supporting the notion that excessive leverage heightens financial risk and undermines post-IPO performance. Regarding ownership structure, the presence of a dominant shareholder and institutional investors positively influence long-term performance, while retained ownership fails to exhibit a significant effect—likely attributable to regulatory lock-up requirements and limited investor reliance on post-IPO insider retention signals.
Theoretically, this research contributes to the consolidation of fragmented IPO literature by integrating multiple theoretical perspectives into a unified empirical framework suited for emerging market contexts. Practically, it offers actionable implications for investors, issuers, and regulators. Investors are advised to prioritize structural indicators—such as ROA and DER—over speculative first-day returns. Issuers are encouraged to avoid excessive underpricing and maintain credible, transparent financial disclosures. Regulators should enhance post-IPO monitoring, reinforce disclosure standards, and facilitate institutional participation to foster market integrity.
Future research may extend this study by incorporating macroeconomic variables (e.g., interest rates, inflation, exchange rates), sector-specific characteristics, or governance dimensions such as board independence, managerial reputation, or ESG practices. Cross-country comparative studies within the ASEAN region or among emerging markets could also test the generalizability of these findings. In addition, applying alternative long-term performance metrics—such as calendar-time portfolio returns or wealth relatives—could enrich the methodological robustness of IPO studies.
In sum, this study advances the understanding of post-IPO stock performance in emerging markets by emphasizing the joint influence of pricing dynamics, financial fundamentals, and ownership structure within Indonesia’s institutional environment. The results serve as a foundation for building more transparent, resilient, and investor-aligned capital markets across Southeast Asia.
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ABSTRACT
This study develops and empirically validates a fraud detection model for Japanese firms based on the Fraud Diamond Theory, which conceptualizes fraud through four dimensions: incentives/pressures, opportunities, rationalization, and capability. Unlike the traditional Fraud Triangle, the Fraud Diamond includes managerial capability as a key factor, offering a more comprehensive framework for analyzing fraudulent behavior. Using structured financial and governance data, proxy variables were constructed for each element of the theory. CatBoost, a machine learning algorithm, was employed to model fraud likelihood, and SHAP (SHapley Additive exPlanations) values were applied for interpretability. The sample comprised Japanese listed firms (2019–2023), excluding financial institutions. Fraudulent firms were identified through Tokyo Shoko Research’s inappropriate accounting database. Results reveal that opportunity-related variables (board structure, financial institutional ownership, and foreign ownership) are the strongest predictors of fraud risk. Capability, proxied by gender diversity on boards, modestly reduces fraud likelihood. Incentives/pressures variables, particularly leverage, demonstrated dual effects, while rationalization proxies showed weaker significance. The model achieved an AUC of 0.716, indicating robust predictive performance even in Japan’s low-incidence fraud environment. The study contributes theoretically by confirming the Fraud Diamond’s applicability in a non-Western context, empirically by employing explainable AI with structured data, and practically by offering regulators, auditors, and corporate governance officers a transparent early-warning framework. Limitations include the reliance on structured data alone, marginal capture of rationalization, and small sample size of confirmed fraud cases. Future research should integrate unstructured textual indicators and advance toward causal inference models.

Keywords: Fraud Detection, Fraud Diamond Theory, Structured Data, Corporate Governance, Logistic Regression 

1. INTRODUCTION

[bookmark: _heading=h.elj6g810wkpp]Corporate fraud remains a persistent global concern, eroding trust in financial reporting and capital markets. While the Fraud Triangle (Cressey 1953) has long dominated academic and professional discourse, Wolfe and Hermanson (2004) introduced the Fraud Diamond Theory by adding “capability” to the classic three elements. This conceptual expansion has deepened the understanding of why some individuals are able to commit and conceal fraud when others under similar pressures cannot. Japan presents a unique research context. Documented accounting fraud cases are rare, reflecting robust regulatory and governance environments, yet their economic and social impact is disproportionately large when they occur. The scarcity of confirmed fraud cases poses a methodological challenge: traditional regression-based fraud models often fail to capture rare events, particularly when relying solely on structured data. This study addresses this challenge by operationalizing the Fraud Diamond Theory through financial and governance variables and testing its empirical applicability using Japanese firms from 2019–2023. The research advances three goals: to examine whether structured proxies corresponding to the Fraud Diamond dimensions are significantly associated with fraud occurrence; to evaluate the predictive performance of a machine learning–based model using CatBoost; and to provide interpretable insights through SHAP values, linking predictive analytics back to theoretical and practical implications.
2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT
Prior research on corporate fraud has increasingly adopted theoretical frameworks such as the Fraud Triangle (Cressey 1953) and its extension, the Fraud Diamond (Wolfe and Hermanson 2004), to explain the conditions under which fraud is likely to occur. The Fraud Diamond adds a fourth dimension—capability—to the traditional three components of incentives/pressures, opportunities, and rationalization, offering a more comprehensive understanding of fraudulent behavior. Empirical studies have tested elements of these frameworks using both qualitative case studies and quantitative models, with mixed results regarding the relative importance of each component in predicting fraud risk. Research has shown that poor financial performance can create pressures on management to manipulate financial results. Indicators such as low profitability, high leverage, and declining sales growth have been linked to higher fraud risk (Skousen et al. 2009; Lou and Wang 2009). Managers under pressure to meet earnings targets may resort to financial misstatements to preserve reputation and market confidence. 
H1: Firms with higher financial pressures, as indicated by low ROA, high leverage, and low revenue growth, are more likely to commit fraud.
Opportunities for fraud are shaped by governance mechanisms such as board structure, ownership composition, and audit oversight. Beasley (1996) finds that weak governance structures increase the likelihood of financial statement fraud. Chen et al. (2006) show that certain ownership structures, such as low foreign and institutional ownership, may facilitate opportunistic managerial behavior.
H2: Firms with governance structures that provide greater opportunities for managerial discretion—such as smaller boards, lower foreign ownership, and lower institutional ownership—are more likely to commit fraud.
Rationalization refers to the cognitive justifications managers use to legitimize fraudulent acts. While difficult to observe directly, certain proxies, such as long auditor tenure or the absence of a Big Four auditor, may reflect an environment where rationalization of misconduct is more feasible. Studies such as Carcello and Nagy (2004) suggest that weaker audit scrutiny can indirectly foster rationalization. 
H3: Firms with longer auditor tenure and without Big Four auditors are more likely to commit fraud.
Capability, introduced in the Fraud Diamond, refers to the personal traits, skills, and positions that enable individuals to commit and conceal fraud (Wolfe and Hermanson 2004). Board-level characteristics, such as gender diversity, have been associated with enhanced ethical oversight and reduced fraud risk (Adams and Ferreira 2009). However, in certain contexts, the presence or absence of diverse perspectives could also influence the ability to execute complex fraudulent schemes.
H4: Firms with lower gender diversity on boards are more likely to commit fraud.


3.  METHODOLOGY

3.1 Sample Selection
Japanese listed firms filing with EDINET (2019–2023), excluding financial/insurance industries. Fraudulent firms were identified using Tokyo Shoko Research’s 2024 database. After listwise deletion, the dataset contained 13,936 firm-year observations, including 158 fraudulent cases. Training data spanned 2019–2022, with 2023 reserved for testing.

3.2 Variables and Proxies
[bookmark: _heading=h.illobulnuri5]The variables are grouped according to the four dimensions of the Fraud Diamond theory. Incentives and pressures are captured through the return on assets (ROA), the leverage ratio, and the revenue growth rate. Opportunities are represented by board size, the proportion of foreign ownership, and the level of financial institutional ownership. Rationalization is measured using auditor tenure and an indicator variable for engagement with a Big Four audit firm. Capability is proxied by gender diversity on board. In addition, control variables include firm size, measured as the natural logarithm of total assets, and industry classification.

3.3 Analytical Approach
CatBoost was applied to estimate fraud likelihood. SMOTE was used to balance data, and SHAP values for interpretability.
4. RESULTS
4. 1 Model Performance
The model achieves an AUC of approximately 0.72, indicating reasonable predictive capability using only structured data. This result suggests that governance and financial indicators provide valuable insights for fraud detection.

4. 2 Model Interpretation
Based on the mean absolute SHAP values, the board is found to contribute most significantly to the model’s estimation, followed by LEV as the second most important contributor and FIN_Owner as the third. In these proceedings, representing the ten explanatory variables used in the estimation, we discuss the contributions of board, LEV, and FIN_Owner to the model’s estimation. A smaller board of directors is associated with a higher likelihood of fraud. Higher values of LEV are also associated with a higher likelihood of fraud. In addition, higher values of FIN_Owner tend to be associated with a lower likelihood of fraud.

4 CONCLUSIONS

This study examines whether the elements of the Fraud Diamond—Incentives/Pressures, Opportunities, Rationalization, and Capability—can explain and predict fraudulent behavior in Japanese firms using only structured data. The results reveal two main findings. First, opportunity-related variables such as board size, foreign ownership ratio, and financial institutional ownership show the highest predictive significance, indicating that governance structures and shareholder composition play a key role in creating or mitigating opportunities for fraud. Capability, measured by gender diversity on the board, is negatively associated with fraud occurrence, suggesting that diversity may have a deterrent effect, although the significance level is marginal. Second, incentives/pressures variables present mixed results: ROA is significantly associated with fraud likelihood, but leverage ratio and revenue growth rate are less robust predictors. Rationalization-related proxies, such as auditor tenure and Big Four affiliation, do not show significant associations, which may imply that these aspects are more difficult to capture through structured data.
The logistic regression model achieves an AUC of approximately 0.74, demonstrating reasonable predictive capability using structured variables alone. Future research could extend the analysis by integrating unstructured textual indicators and testing multi-period predictive performance to further enhance the model’s explanatory and predictive power.
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ABSTRACT
This study investigates the influence of key financial strategies, debt shifting, financial derivatives, and transfer pricing on corporate tax avoidance, along with the moderating role of firm value. The research focuses on banking and non-banking financial institutions listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange between 2018 and 2023, offering empirical evidence from an emerging market context where tax compliance and regulatory enforcement remain pressing challenges. Using regression analysis via E-Views, the Effective Tax Rate (ETR) is employed as a proxy for tax avoidance, recognizing their inverse relationship: a higher ETR reflects lower tax avoidance, and vice versa. The findings reveal that debt shifting has a significant negative effect on tax avoidance, suggesting that firms engaging in higher debt shifting tend to report higher ETRs and thus lower levels of tax avoidance. Financial derivatives, however, show no statistically significant impact on tax avoidance, indicating their limited role in shaping tax outcomes within the observed sample. Conversely, transfer pricing exhibits a negative association with ETR, implying a positive link with tax avoidance and underscoring its effectiveness as a tax minimization tool. Furthermore, firm value does not moderate the effects of debt shifting or financial derivatives on tax avoidance but does moderate the relationship between transfer pricing and tax avoidance. These results provide actionable insights for policymakers seeking to address tax loopholes, enhance regulatory frameworks, and promote sustainable tax compliance in emerging economies.
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1. INTRODUCTION
Taxation is a cornerstone of national fiscal sustainability, providing the primary source of government revenue to finance public expenditure. Yet Indonesia’s tax-to-GDP ratio remains among the lowest in Southeast Asia, stagnating around 10.39% in 2022, far below the OECD average of 33.8%. Despite collecting IDR 1,932.4 trillion in 2024—exceeding the target by 100.5%—the contribution from corporate income tax in the banking sector has declined, underscoring sector-specific weaknesses in profitability and compliance.
The financial sector plays a dual role in taxation: as a direct contributor to state revenues and as a potential facilitator of aggressive tax planning strategies. Techniques such as debt shifting, transfer pricing, and the use of derivatives exploit gaps in legislation to minimize tax obligations. These practices may be legal, but they reduce government revenues and raise ethical concerns regarding corporate accountability. In particular, Indonesian banks and financial institutions—given their structural complexity—are highly vulnerable to manipulative tax strategies.
Against this background, this study explores whether debt shifting, derivatives, and transfer pricing significantly drive tax avoidance, and whether firm value moderates these relationships. The research provides evidence from Indonesia as an emerging economy where regulatory enforcement remains a challenge.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

2.1 Debt Shifting and Tax Avoidance
Debt shifting allows firms to exploit interest deductibility rules by relocating debt within group structures. Gumpert, Hines, and Schnitzer (2016) found that multinational corporations achieved significant tax savings through this channel. Yet, higher levels of long-term debt may also constrain aggressive tax planning due to limited flexibility.
H1: Debt shifting has a positive effect on tax avoidance.
2.2 Derivatives and Tax Avoidance
Derivatives are commonly used for hedging but may also enable firms to manage earnings and defer taxable income (Hribar & Jenkins, 2004; Donohoe, 2015). Empirical results are mixed, with some evidence of derivatives facilitating aggressive tax planning, while others suggest neutral or even mitigating effects.
H2: Financial derivatives positively affect tax avoidance.
2.3 Transfer Pricing and Tax Avoidance
Transfer pricing manipulation enables profit shifting to low-tax jurisdictions, eroding tax bases in host countries (Richardson et al., 2013; Dharmapala & Riedel, 2013). Numerous studies have confirmed its role in tax minimization.
H3: Transfer pricing positively affects tax avoidance.
2.4 Moderating Role of Firm Value
High-value firms face greater scrutiny but also have more resources for sophisticated tax planning. Prior evidence shows mixed moderating effects: while tax avoidance can increase firm value through savings, reputational risks may offset benefits (Dyreng et al., 2019; Feng et al., 2020).
H4: Firm value moderates the relationship between debt shifting and tax avoidance.
H5: Firm value moderates the relationship between derivatives and tax avoidance.
H6: Firm value moderates the relationship between transfer pricing and tax avoidance.



3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Sample and Data
The study examines 69 publicly listed financial institutions (34 banks, 35 non-banks) over 2018–2023, resulting in 414 firm-year observations. Firms with incomplete data, post-2015 IPOs, and Islamic banks were excluded. Data were sourced from IDX and company reports.

3.2 Research Design
Quantitative causal research with panel data regression was employed. The dependent variable is tax avoidance, proxied by ETR. Independent variables are debt shifting (DS), derivatives (DERV), and transfer pricing (TP). Firm value (FV) serves as a moderator.

3.3 Model Specification
Panel regression with interaction terms was applied to test moderating effects. The significance threshold was set at 5%.

4. RESULTS

4.1 Key Findings (Partial t-tests)
Debt Shifting (DS): significant positive coefficient on ETR (0.393, p < 0.01). Interpreted inversely, debt shifting reduces tax avoidance. → H1 rejected.

Interpreted inversely, this indicates that higher levels of debt shifting are associated with reduced tax avoidance, suggesting that in the Indonesian context, debt financing may not be primarily utilized as a tax minimization tool. This finding contradicts the conventional view of debt shifting as a driver of tax avoidance, thereby leading to the rejection of H1.

Derivatives (DERV): coefficient positive but insignificant (12.336, p > 0.05). → H2 rejected.

This result suggests that derivatives do not play a meaningful role in influencing tax avoidance behavior in the sampled firms, resulting in the rejection of H2.

Transfer Pricing (TP): significant negative effect on ETR (-0.239, p < 0.01), confirming its role in tax avoidance. → H3 accepted.

This finding supports H3 and highlights the potential of transfer pricing practices to shift taxable income and minimize tax liabilities

Firm Value: moderates transfer pricing-tax avoidance relationship (p < 0.01), but not debt shifting or derivatives. → H4 and H5 rejected; H6 accepted.

This selective moderating effect provides partial support for the hypotheses, specifically leading to the rejection of H4 and H5, but the acceptance of H6. Collectively, these findings underscore the nuanced nature of tax avoidance strategies in emerging markets, where debt and derivatives appear less relevant, while transfer pricing remains a significant channel, particularly among high-value firms with greater incentives and capacity to engage in aggressive tax planning.

4.2 Model Fit
The adjusted R² value of 0.327 indicates that the model is able to explain 32.7% of the variability in tax avoidance among the sampled firms. This level of explanatory power suggests that while the selected independent variables—debt shifting, derivatives, transfer pricing, and firm value—contribute meaningfully to understanding corporate tax avoidance, a considerable proportion of the variance remains unexplained. In other words, 67.3% of the variation in tax avoidance behavior is likely driven by other factors not captured in the model, such as corporate governance practices, ownership structure, industry characteristics, or regulatory enforcement intensity. Although an adjusted R² of 0.327 may be considered moderate, it is consistent with empirical research in the field of corporate finance and taxation, where behavioral and contextual factors often limit the explanatory strength of statistical models. This result underscores the complexity of tax avoidance as a multifaceted phenomenon, shaped not only by financial strategies but also by broader institutional, managerial, and regulatory dynamics.

5. DISCUSSION

The findings challenge conventional assumptions regarding debt shifting in emerging markets. Unlike developed economies, where debt shifting often enhances tax avoidance, Indonesian banks appear constrained by regulatory oversight and lower financial flexibility. This explains why debt shifting reduces rather than increases avoidance.
Derivatives, while theoretically effective tools for tax planning, appear to play a marginal role in Indonesia’s financial sector, likely due to limited sophistication of derivative markets and stricter disclosure rules.
Transfer pricing emerges as the dominant channel for tax avoidance, consistent with global literature. The moderating role of firm value suggests that high-value firms have greater incentives and capacity to exploit transfer pricing strategies, balancing reputational costs with tax savings.

6. CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

The findings indicate that debt shifting has a negative influence on tax avoidance, suggesting that companies engaging in higher debt levels may face limitations in reducing their tax burden. In contrast, the use of financial derivatives shows no significant effect, highlighting that such instruments neither strengthen nor weaken tax avoidance practices in this context. Interestingly, transfer pricing emerges as a key driver, exerting a positive influence on tax avoidance, underscoring its role as a common mechanism for shifting profits across entities. Moreover, the moderating effect of firm value is only evident in the transfer pricing, tax avoidance relationship, implying that firms with stronger valuations may leverage transfer pricing more effectively as part of their tax strategy.

Practical Implications. The findings suggest that policymakers need to place greater emphasis on stricter monitoring of transfer pricing transactions, especially among high-value firms where the practice is more likely to influence tax avoidance. Regulators are also encouraged to enhance transparency in financial reporting to reduce the potential for hidden derivative use that may obscure true tax positions. For the banking sector, strengthening internal governance is essential to ensure that tax strategies remain aligned with compliance obligations and do not expose firms to regulatory or reputational risks.

Theoretical Contribution. This study enriches the tax planning literature by showing that debt shifting in emerging markets does not necessarily align with tax avoidance incentives, challenging conventional assumptions drawn from developed economies. Furthermore, it highlights that firm value plays a selective moderating role, exerting influence only on the relationship between transfer pricing and tax avoidance, thereby offering new insights into how firm characteristics shape tax planning strategies.

7. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

Sample limited to 69 financial institutions; inclusion of Islamic banks and fintech firms may yield broader insights.
Adjusted R² of 32.7% indicates omitted variables such as profitability, firm size, and corporate governance.
Period covers COVID-19, which may distort earnings and tax behaviors.
Future research could employ cross-country comparative analysis, integrate governance indicators, and test advanced econometric models (e.g., GMM, SEM) to improve explanatory power.
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ABSTRACT
Financial statement fraud remains a pervasive and critical issue worldwide, with particularly acute implications in emerging markets such as Vietnam, where internal controls, regulatory oversight, and audit quality are often underdeveloped or inconsistently enforced. This study addresses several key limitations in existing financial statement fraud (FSF) detection models within the Vietnamese context, which are frequently overly descriptive, lack robust theoretical grounding, omit important qualitative dimensions, and fail to consider potential interaction effects among explanatory variables. Building upon the Fraud Triangle Theory and its extensions (Fraud Diamond and Fraud Hexagon), this research develops a comprehensive predictive financial statement fraud model that combines conventional financial indicators with context-specific qualitative measures to improve detection accuracy. The study adopts a quantitative research design, utilizing an extensive panel dataset comprising 5,363 firm-year observations from non-financial companies listed on the Vietnam Stock Exchange between 2015 and 2024. Logistic regression analysis is applied, with the Beneish M-score serving as the dependent variable to identify fraudulent financial reporting. The empirical results reveal that high revenue growth, low profitability, weak operating cash flows, and the interaction between cash flow and Big 4 audit firms are statistically significant predictors of financial statement fraud. These findings provide valuable implications for regulators, auditors, corporate managers, and investors in enhancing fraud risk assessment frameworks and strengthening the overall integrity, transparency, and credibility of financial reporting in Vietnam.
Keywords: Financial Statement Fraud; Corporate Governance; Fraud Triangle; Audit Quality; Earnings Management 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Financial statement fraud (FSF) is a critical global concern that undermines investor confidence and erodes the transparency of capital markets (Rezaee, 2005). In Vietnam, FSF risks are further aggravated by underdeveloped legal frameworks, fragmented enforcement mechanisms, and uneven audit quality (Minh & Ai, 2022). Prior studies in this context have often been descriptive, relying heavily on a narrow set of financial indicators while neglecting qualitative dimensions such as auditor changes or governance structures, as well as interaction effects among variables (Nguyen, Huynh, & Nguyen, 2018; Rasyidah, Anwar, & Hamzah, 2024). These limitations highlight the need for a more rigorous, theory-based approach that accounts for Vietnam’s institutional complexities. Against this backdrop, the study pursues three primary objectives: (1) To empirically investigate the impact of both financial and qualitative factors on the likelihood of financial statement fraud, (2) To develop a predictive model with strong accuracy and practical relevance for auditors and regulators, (3) To propose recommendations for improving fraud risk assessment practices in Vietnam’s listed corporate sector.
Financial statement fraud (FSF) is broadly defined as the deliberate misrepresentation of financial information to deceive stakeholders, with severe consequences for investors and markets (Bell & Carcello, 2000; Rezaee, 2005). Prior studies identify financial pressures, weak internal controls, and managerial incentives as key drivers (Achmad, Ghozali, & Pamungkas, 2022). Detection approaches such as the Beneish M-score are widely applied Kaminski, Sterling Wetzel and Guan (2004) while theoretical frameworks like the Fraud Triangle Cressey (1953) and its extensions emphasize three elements such as pressure, opportunity, and rationalization, as the foundation of fraud risk.
In Vietnam, however, existing research remains largely descriptive, focusing mainly on financial ratios while neglecting qualitative factors (Nguyen, Huynh, & Nguyen, 2018). The role of Big 4 auditors also remains debated: while they are assumed to provide superior oversight, evidence shows their effectiveness depends on institutional environments (Francis & Wang, 2008; Le & Moore, 2023). These gaps highlight the need for a more theory-driven, context-specific model.
Based on this framework, the study proposes the following hypotheses:
H1: Financial pressure, evidenced by high revenue growth or weak operating cash flows, is associated with a higher risk of financial statement fraud.
H2: A weak control environment, proxied by the absence of a Big 4 auditor, is positively related to the probability of financial statement fraud.
H3: Indicators of rationalization, such as auditor changes or persistently low profitability, are positively associated with the incidence of financial statement fraud.
H4: The simultaneous presence of pressure, opportunity, and rationalization has a synergistic effect, significantly increasing the probability of financial statement fraud beyond the impact of any single factor.
H5: The quality of the external auditor (proxied by a Big 4 firm) moderates the relationship between financial pressure and financial statement fraud, such that the positive association is weaker for firms audited by a Big 4 firm.

This study employs a causal research design to test the relationship between the Fraud Triangle framework and financial statement fraud (FSF). The sample comprises 5,363 firm-year observations from non-financial companies listed on the Vietnam Stock Exchange during 2015–2024, excluding banks, insurers, and securities firms due to their distinct reporting standards (Davidson, Goodwin‐Stewart, & Kent, 2005). Financial statement fraud FSF, proxied by the Beneish M-score (Beneish, 1999), where firms with M-score > -2.22 are classified as potential manipulators. Based on Fraud Triangle Theory (Cressey, 1953), it measures by Pressure, Opportunity and Rationalization. Pressure includes revenue growth, operating cash flow (Dechow et al., 2011; Persons, 1995). Opportunity includes Big 4 audit dummy, state ownership (Beasley, 1996; Firth, Fung, & Rui, 2007). Rationalization includes ROA, auditor change (Lennox, 2000; Skousen, Smith, & Wright, 2009).
This study adopts an alternative methodological approach which Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was applied to construct composite scores for the three fraud triangle dimensions. Logistic regression models (robust and fixed effects) were then used to test hypotheses. Within this framework, fraudulent financial reporting was analyzed under the theoretical lens of the Fraud Triangle, and the overall research equation was specified based on the hypotheses and variable measurements developed in the study.

Ln(Fraud/ (1 – Fraud) = β₀ + β₁ ROA + β₂ GROWTH + β₃ AUDITCHANGE + β₄ OS + β₅ BIG4+ β₆ CFO + β₇ CFO*BIG4 + e
Ln(Fraud/ (1 – Fraud) = β₀ + β₁ Pressure + β₂ Opportunity + β₃ Rationalization + e
Ln(Fraud/ (1 – Fraud) = β₀ + β₁Triangle + e

The empirical analysis provides strong evidence on the determinants of financial statement fraud (FSF) in Vietnam. All results for testing the hypotheses are summarized in table below.

Table 1. The impact direction of factors
	No.
	Variables
	Expected
	Results
Model 1 (Original)
	Model 2 (Triangle Factors)
	Model 3 (Triangle Score)

	1
	GROWTH
	+
	+
	
	

	2
	ROA
	-
	-
	
	

	3
	CFO
	+
	-
	
	

	4
	OS
	-
	Not meaningful
	
	

	5
	AUDCHANGE
	+
	Not meaningful
	
	

	6
	BIG4
	-
	Not meaningful
	
	

	7
	CFO × BIG4
	-
	+
	
	

	8
	Pressure
	+
	
	-
	

	9
	Opportunity
	+
	
	+
	

	10
	Rationalization
	+
	
	+
	

	11
	Triangle
	+
	
	
	-


The empirical results from the three logistic regression models provide nuanced insights into the determinants of financial statement fraud in Vietnam. Consistent with Hypothesis H1 and prior studies, revenue growth significantly increases the likelihood of fraudulent reporting, highlighting how ambitious expansion targets, particularly in the post-COVID-19 period, create strong incentives for misreporting. This finding is in line with Skousen, Smith and Wright (2009), who also document that rapid sales or revenue growth often creates pressure that fosters fraudulent activities. In contrast, ROA and CFO are negatively and significantly associated with fraud, suggesting that while firms under financial stress are pressured to manipulate earnings, closer monitoring by creditors and investors may counteract these incentives.
The analysis also reveals an unexpected role of audit quality. Contrary to Hypothesis H5, the interaction between Big 4 and CFO has a significant positive effect, indicating that even firms audited by Big 4 may engage in fraud when facing liquidity constraints. This finding challenges the assumption of Big 4 audits as an effective safeguard and reflects Vietnam’s institutional context, where auditor independence may be weakened by fee pressures, client retention concerns, and information asymmetry. Other governance proxies such as state ownership and auditor changes were not significant, further underscoring the complexity of audit effectiveness in emerging markets.
Applying the Fraud Triangle framework, the results show that opportunity and rationalization are strong positive predictors of fraud, supporting Hypotheses H2 and H3. However, pressure exhibits a significant negative effect, contrary to H1. This suggests that financially pressured firms in Vietnam may actually experience greater oversight from creditors, large shareholders, and auditors, thereby reducing the scope for fraudulent activity. Extending this analysis, the composite Fraud Triangle score also yields a significant negative effect, leading to the rejection of Hypothesis H4. One plausible explanation is that firms perceived as high-risk across all three dimensions may proactively implement stronger internal controls and transparency measures to defend against reputational and regulatory risks.
Taken together, these findings confirm the relevance of the Fraud Triangle theory in Vietnam but also reveal important contextual deviations. While opportunity and rationalization remain the dominant fraud drivers, the negative role of pressure and the limited deterrent effect of Big 4 audits suggest that institutional factors, such as creditor monitoring, governance capacity, and audit market dynamics play a critical moderating role in shaping fraud risks in emerging markets.
This study validates the Fraud Triangle model in detecting financial statement fraud within Vietnam’s market. The results confirm its applicability but highlight that Opportunity and Rationalization are the strongest predictors, reflecting weak internal controls and a permissive environment for unethical behavior. In contrast, Pressure shows an inverse effect on fraud, suggesting that financially stressed firms may face tighter scrutiny from creditors, large shareholders, or auditors, thereby lowering fraud risk. Moreover, the unexpected interaction between audit quality and operating cash flow underscores the complexity of audit practices in Vietnam’s emerging market. Policy implications include the need to strengthen the independence and oversight of auditors (both Big Four and non–Big Four), improve corporate internal control systems, and design early warning mechanisms that combine financial and non-financial indicators based on Fraud Triangle elements. Cultivating ethical corporate culture and reinforcing accountability can also reduce rationalization for fraud.
Limitations of the study lie in its reliance on the Beneish M-score as the main proxy, indirect measurement of behavioral factors, the focus on listed non-financial firms, and a dataset restricted to 2015–2024. Future research should integrate alternative detection models such as machine learning classifiers, broaden datasets to include unlisted and financial firms, and employ qualitative or mixed methods to capture governance and cultural dimensions. Comparative studies across ASEAN could test whether Vietnam’s unique negative Pressure–fraud relationship holds in other institutional settings, while examining regulatory responses would help bridge detection and prevention gaps.
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ABSTRACT
In the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis, particularly, the structure of bank executive compensation has received considerable attention due to its perceived contribution to the banking turbulence in North America. Consequently, recent policy changes and securities legislation in the US and Canada have re-focused attention on corporate governance to make executive pay more transparent and accountable. As a result, the existence of an executive compensation committee in board governance and its practical oversight functions became critical to corporate governance in financial institutions. Therefore, this paper aims to assess how the compensation committee effectively oversees compensation policies and functions in compliance with the new regulatory framework. To assess the status of efficiency and functionality, we have analyzed the compensation committees of the six largest Canadian banks from 2012 to 2022 using a qualitative analytical model that considers both procedural and compositional aspects. The assessment, carried out according to the content analysis method, which aims to give an "effectiveness rating", was based on checking for the presence (or absence), within the committees analyzed, of the characteristics included in the qualitative model and selected assuming the existence of an "ideal compensation committee". We found that the degree of effectiveness of the Big Six banks increased considerably from year to year, while the effectiveness score of each bank's compensation committees also increased yearly. However, Canadian banks do not have separate committees that function solely for compensation governance. The committees perform other human resource-related functions in their compensation governance. The study results hold important implications for policymakers, regulators, governments, corporate boards, and shareholders, emphasizing the need for tailored policies to enhance corporate performance.
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1. INTRODUCTION
The stability of the banking sector is a major concern of banking regulators, deposit insurers, and the public at large because of potential contagion across the financial sector and the possible consequent meltdown of the financial system, clearly manifested in the financial crisis of 2007-2009 (Bai & Elyasiani, 2013). Stability is the prerequisite for a bank’s performance, which includes the growth of asset value, net income, and total shareholder return while managing risks. Moreover, stability is the outcome of the integrated process of governance, regulatory compliance, board oversight, and board committees’ effectiveness. Like other companies, financial institutions emphasize executive compensation as a major driver of strategic performance. As a result, a trend in substantially larger pay-for-performance sensitivities in the last 20 years contributed to the increasing trends of compensation (Bannister, Cho, & Newman, 2010; Harjoto & Mullineaux, 2003) while the wealth of the companies also increased considerably. Therefore, the more compensation is aligned with the bank’s performance, the more shareholders’ value is expected to increase.
On the contrary, the more alignment of compensation without effective governance leads to excessive risk-taking behavior, which was evident in the financial crisis 2008. In the aftermath of the financial crisis, in particular, the structure of bank executive compensation has received much attention because of its perceived contribution to the banking turbulence. Consequently, recent policy changes and securities legislation in the US and Canada have re-focused attention on corporate governance to make executive pay more transparent and accountable (Conyon, 2013). The Dodd-Frank Act 2010, for instance, arising in the wake of the financial crisis, is a big attempt to fix ‘too big to fail’ and other corporate governance problems. Among its many provisions, Dodd-Frank tries to give owners more control over executive pay and to make boards of directors and their compensation committees more independent and accountable. Moreover, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002, the Financial Stability Board (FSB) guideline 2009, the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI) guidelines 2013, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision 2011, and the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) Act show the importance of addressing compensation governance and needs to calibrate the calculation methods. These acts and guidelines also focus the attention of compensation committees of Canadian banks, emphasizing their roles and strategic importance and good practices related to executive pay. Furthermore, regulators provide detailed guidance on their compensation and operating procedures, which is necessary to carry out the compensation committee tasks consistently and efficiently. 
Based on these considerations, it was valuable to analyze the effectiveness of compensation governance in Canadian banks and the relationship between compensation governance effectiveness and risk. To this end, the research questions are the following:
RQ1. What are the requirements and the best practices for the compensation committee to be effective, i.e., is it possible to identify an “ideal” banking compensation committee?
RQ2. What is the degree of effectiveness of the committees in a sample of the big six Canadian banks?
In this paper, an analytical model was used to examine the compensation committee effectiveness, efficiency, and functionality of a sample of Canadian banks from 2012 to 2022. We found that the degree of effectiveness of the Big Six banks was considerably upward from year to year, while the effectiveness score of the compensation committees of each bank also increased every year. Also, the study results reveal that the Canadian banks do not have separate committees that function solely for compensation governance because the compensation committees perform other human resource-related functions in their compensation governance. This paper will be the first study to evaluate the effectiveness of compensation committees of Canadian banks, focusing on the regulations, guidelines, and best practices. The rest of the paper includes a review of previous research, the methodology of the study, empirical results, a discussion of overall and individual items of the model, a critical analysis, and a conclusion. 

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Numerous studies have demonstrated the alignment of executive compensation with company performance and risk, as well as the effectiveness of its governance. We reviewed previous studies focusing on compensation governance, the components of an effective compensation committee, and the impact of compensation committee effectiveness on bank performance. 
The main purpose of the compensation contract is to reward executives so that they endeavor to maximize firm performance so that both executives and shareholders can meet their expectations (Zhou, Georgakopoulos, Sotiropoulos, & Vasileiou, 2011). Similarly, Merchant and Van der Stede (2012) emphasized executive compensation as performance-based rewards that provide the impetus for aligning executives' natural self-interest with the organization's objectives. However, specific executive compensation structures and lack of compensation governance cause short-termism (myopia), which puts the company at risk. Bolton, Scheinkman, and Xiong (2006) showed that optimal compensation contracts may emphasize short-term stock performance at the expense of long-run fundamental value as an incentive to induce executives to pursue actions that increase the speculative components in the stock price. On the other hand, many studies show that managers exhibit fewer instances of opportunistic behavior in firms with better governance. Better governance helps align the interests of managers and shareholders, boosting the firm's financial value and positively impacting the structure of managerial compensation (Acharya & Volpin, 2010). Moreover, in the case of banks, good governance allows such firms to "allocate capital efficiently and less likely to fail" (Mullineux, 2006). Canadian banks, for instance, are regulated and well-protected sectors, making Canadians inclined to believe that a bank cannot fail (Breton & Cote, 2006). 
Among the variables of governance that most affect the drawing up of compensation policies, the compensation committees, responsible for the design, management, and monitoring of executive compensation, play a central role (Atti, Intonti, & Iannuzzi, 2013). Improving the quality of such bodies can positively influence the pay packages, especially regarding incentive schemes, mitigating agency problems, and increasing the alignment of interests between executives and shareholders. In turn, this circumstance is reflected positively in the firm's performance: if executive compensation can reduce agency costs, the company's financial performance can improve (Waweru, Gelinas, & Uliana, 2009). These reflections are the primary motivation for several investigations into compensation committees in Canadian banks. However, a similar study was done on the effectiveness of compensation committees in European banks in 2013. Moreover, other studies on compensation committees focus primarily on Anglo-American and non-financial firms (Atti et al., 2013). 
The first empirical studies, more specifically, on compensation committees date back to the 1990s (Atti, et al., 2013). The literature was first concentrated on the factors affecting the composition of committees (Kesner, 1988; Main & Johnston, 1993; Bilimoria & Pidert, 1994; Newman, 2000; Vafeas, 2000; Carson, 2002) and how they affect the firm performance (Main & Johnston, 1993; Klein, 1998; Weir & Laing, 2000). On the other hand, some authors emphasized the efficiency of the committees, investigating the relationships between their relevant qualitative and quantitative characteristics, such as the percentage of participating independent directors (Cyert, Kang, Kumar, & Shah, 1997; Conyon & Peck, 1998; Anderson & Bizjak, 2003; Vafeas, 2003; Conyon & He, 2004), or the audit committee members (Hoitash & Hoitash, 2009; Zheng & Cullinan, 2010), and the collaboration with independent consultants (Sapp, 2008; Hermanson, Tompkins, Veliyath, & Ye, 2011). Literature also concentrates on the independence of the compensation committees with a majority of non-executive members of the committee (Conyon & Peck, 1998; Newman & Mozes, 1999; Bannister & Newman, 2006; Piot, 2006). However, Daily, Johnson, Ellstrand, and Dalton (1998), Anderson and Bizjak (2003), Vafeas (2003), Conyon (2006), and Smith (2011) found that the committee independence is not always significantly correlated with the level and structure of compensation for named executives. 
Also, Vafeas (2000), Piot (2006), and Sun and Cahan (2009) mentioned that higher compensation committee quality is an important tool for reducing agency costs. On the other hand, Sun, Cahan, and Emanuel (2009), show that the quality of the compensation committees, measured using six committee metrics, is positively associated with a higher correlation between firm performance and executives' equity incentives. This result occurs because greater compensation committee efficiency improves incentive alignment, and as a consequence, rent extraction by the executives is likely to be reduced. Although a significant number of researches were conducted on the compensation committees' effectiveness in different sectors, and some research was also done on the governance issues of Canadian banks, no studies have been done on the effectiveness and governance of compensation committees of Canadian banks in the last ten years. This study, therefore, is unique in assessing the compensation committee effectiveness of Canadian banks and the impact of compensation committee effectiveness on the bank risk.

3. METHODOLOGY

The study aims to answer the research questions: What are the requirements for the compensation committee to be effective; what is the degree of effectiveness of the committees in a sample of Canadian Banks, and is any impact of the committee effectiveness on the bank risk? The analysis of this study used the same approach as that taken by Sun et al. (2009). The study was carried out by elaborating a qualitative analysis model based on the recent regulations and guidelines that consider both the procedural and the compositional aspects of compensation committees (Carretta, Farina, & Schwizer, 2010). We used the Analytical Model (Exhibit 1) formed by Atti et al. (2013) as a benchmark for assessing the effectiveness of the compensation committees of the six largest Canadian banks (Table 1). We selected these six banks for the most representation of data because they account for more than 90 percent of the total assets of the Canadian banking industry (Hyman, Pennycook, Vesey & Williams, 2015).
Furthermore, this study focuses on these six largest banks to obtain more meaningful and comparable results with other studies. This assessment, carried out according to the content analysis method (Krippendorf, 2004) which aims to give an “effectiveness rating”, was based on checking for the presence (or absence), within the committees analyzed, of the characteristics included in the qualitative model and selected assuming the existence of an “ideal compensation committee”. We collected the required information for each bank from 2012 to 2022 because the banks adopted new standards and guidelines in recent years, which evolved after the financial crisis of 2008. The sources for the empirical analysis were the corporate documents published periodically by the intermediaries, e.g., annual reports, proxy circulars, and other disclosures.


Table 1. The Sample: Six Largest Canadian Banks by Total Market Capitalization in 2022
	Bank
	Market Capitalization as of June, 2022
(CAD$ in Billion)

	Royal Bank of Canada (RBC)
	176.68

	Toronto Dominion Bank (TD)
	153.52

	Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS)
	91.75

	Bank of Montreal (BMO)
	83.14

	Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC)
	56.46

	National Bank of Canada (NBC)
	28.38


Source: Trading economics

The Analytical Model (Exhibit 1) consists of 21 items clustering into three broad areas related, respectively, to compensation committee composition, to their functional characteristics, and to disclosure of information provided by carrying out its functions.

Exhibit 1: The Analytical Model

	Items
	Score Distribution

	Composition
	

	1. Institution
	2 if only Compensation Committee (CC)
1 if committee performs other functions
0 if absent

	2. Year of Establishment
	1 if established since at least 2005
0 if established after 2005

	3. Presence of independent directors
	2 if all members are independent
1 if independents >50%
0.5 if independents <50%
0 absence of independents

	4. Presence of women
	2 if there are two women or if the only
woman is also president of the CC
1 if only one woman
0 if no women

	5. Odd composition
	1 if total number of members is odd
0 if total number of members is even

	6. Number of members (at least five)
	2 if > or = 5 members
1 if > or = 3 members
0 if < 3 members

	7. Presence of at least one member with documented experience in management compensation (according to Resumes)
	2 if more than one member
1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	Procedural Aspects
	

	8. Extent of decision-making powers (two criteria: (a) all forms of compensation and (b) all participants (administrators, risk takers, control functions, etc.)
	2 if both criteria are present
1 if only one criterion is present
0 if both criteria are absent

	9. Board supervises executive compensation decisions (checks proportionality of compensation)
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	10. Collaboration with an independent professional advisor (i.e. external consultants should not provide similar services to the human resources department or to the board)
	2 if the item is present
1 if present but not indication of independence
0 if absent

	11. Periodical review (at least annual) of compensation policy and its implementation
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	12. Attendance at the annual general meeting
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	13. Adoption of internal rules
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	14. Annual frequency of meetings (minimum four, maximum eight)
	2 if more than four annual meetings 
1 if two to four annual meetings
0 if one annual meeting

	15. Duration of each meeting
	2 if > or = 2 hours
1 if > or = 1 hour
0 if < or = a half an hour or no
information

	16. Cooperation/collaboration with risk management or other corporate functions (such as human resources, etc.)
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	17. Expression of opinions/actions on the achievement of performance targets and other conditions underlying the incentive plans
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	18. Assignment of budget (commission pays costs associated with the use of experts on pay)
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	Disclosure
	

	19. Independent report to annual meeting (or to any other corporate body) on activities carried out
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	20. Minutes of the meeting or presence of secretary
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent

	21. Dissemination/publication of its decisions in corporate documents (annual reports, CG report, compensation report, etc.)
	1 if the item is present
0 if absent


Source: The Adapted Analytical Model Developed by Atti et al. (2013).

We assessed compensation governance and effectiveness according to the criteria of the analytical model. We, then, allocated scores given in the model for each criterion and evaluated the effectiveness of compensation committees of each bank.

4. EMPIRICAL RESULTS
As a complement to the aggregate analysis, we assessed each item in the analytical model for each survey year (2012-2022) by consulting the publications and disclosures available on each bank's corporate websites. This exercise led to the construction of a single bank rating, an expression of the compensation committees' efficiency level.


Table 2. Compensation Committee Effectiveness Rating
	Bank
	2012 (%)
	2013 (%)
	2014 (%)
	2015 (%)
	2016
(%)
	2017
(%)
	2018
(%)
	2019
(%)
	2020
(%)
	2021
(%)
	2022
(%)

	Royal Bank of Canada (RBC)
	56.7
	70
	80
	83.3
	90
	80
	83.3
	83.3
	80
	80
	86.7

	Toronto Dominion Bank (TD)
	60
	73.3
	76.7
	83.3
	86.7
	86.7
	86.7
	83.3
	83.3
	90
	90

	Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS)
	50
	56.7
	70
	76.7
	83.3
	76.7
	83.3
	70
	86.7
	83.3
	80

	Bank of Montreal (BMO)
	60
	63.3
	66.7
	76.7
	83.3
	76.7
	73.3
	73.3
	73.3
	76.7
	80

	Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC)
	60
	70
	80
	83.3
	86.7
	83.3
	76.7
	76.7
	83.3
	83.3
	73.3

	National Bank of Canada (NBC)
	63.3
	66.7
	73.3
	80
	86.7
	83.3
	83.3
	83.3
	80
	83.3
	83.3

	Mean Value
	58.3
	66.7
	74.5
	80.6
	86.1
	81.1
	81.1
	78.32
	81.1
	82
	82


Source: Authors’ Figures

Table 2 shows the quality rating for compensation committees of all banks surveyed. The rating scores mostly concentrated in the range from 56.7% to 90%, which reveals that compensation governance is almost identical in Canadian banks. The reason for this same practice of compensation governance in the banks is to adopt new regulations on compensation governance. It is also revealed that the banks have a tendency to adopt rules and guidelines to increase their effectiveness in compensation governance. 
Compensation committee effectiveness rating scores show that the six banks are considerably improving their compensation effectiveness. In 2012, the average effectiveness was 58.3%, which increased to 82% in 2022. Similarly, the effectiveness score of the compensation committees of each bank also increased every year, but the effectiveness score also fluctuated sometimes. Overall, the effectiveness rating for each bank is improving if we compare from the starting point to now. Regarding effectiveness, the compensation committee of RBC is the most effective bank. It is notable that the Bank of Nova Scotia (BNS) improved 33.3% effectiveness in ten years, although it was the lowest scorer in 2012.

[image: ]
Source: Authors’ Figures

The figure 1 illustrates a bar chart showing effectiveness ratings across 11 years. The trend shows a steady increase in ratings from point year 1(2012) to year 5 (2016), peaking at year 5. After that, the ratings remain relatively stable with slight fluctuations between year 6 and 11, maintaining scores around the 80%. Figure shows a clustered bar chart comparing the effectiveness ratings of six Canadian banks such as RBC, TD, BNS, BMO, CIBC, and NBC over an 11-year period. Overall, all banks show a general increase in effectiveness from 2012 to 2022, with most ratings stabilizing above 80% in recent years. TD and RBC consistently achieve the highest effectiveness ratings across the years, often near or at 90%. On the other hand, BMO and CIBC have slightly lower ratings compared to other banks, especially in earlier years. The ratings become more closely grouped after 2015, indicating convergence in performance levels. In 2022 all banks show strong effectiveness ratings, with TD and RBC again reaching peak levels.

The chart reflects continuous improvement and competitive alignment among the banks over the decade.
[image: ]
Source: Authors’ Figures

Figure 2 illustrates the effectiveness trends of six central Canadian banks, including RBC, TD, BNS, BMO, CIBC, and NBC, over the 11 years from 2012 to 2022. The y-axis represents effectiveness percentages, ranging from 0% to 100%, while the x-axis shows the corresponding years. All six banks demonstrate a general increase in effectiveness from 2012 to 2022. While some fluctuations are observed, the overall direction of progress is positive. TD (red bars) consistently shows strong performance, peaking at around 90% in both 2016 and 2021. RBC (blue bars) also displays a notable upward trajectory, reaching 90% in 2016 and again in 2022. NBC (orange bars) maintains steady growth, consistently achieving high effectiveness in the 80–85% range since 2016. BNS (green bars) shows significant improvement from 2012 (50%) to 2020 (around 88%), followed by a slight dip toward 2022. CIBC (purple bars) has shown steady growth but lags slightly behind RBC and TD, maintaining effectiveness levels in the 70–80% range since 2016. BMO (light blue bars) exhibits some variability, with a high peak in 2016, followed by a noticeable drop between 2017 and 2019, before stabilizing around the mid-80% range in 2022. By 2022, most banks are expected to have converged around the 80–90% effectiveness range, indicating industry-wide improvements and the potential for standardization of best practices or technologies. Over the past 11 years, all banks have made notable strides in improving their effectiveness, with TD and RBC emerging as consistent leaders. 

5. ANALYSIS OF EACH ITEM

Further evidence was sought by classifying items by macro-area to which each belongs (composition, procedural, and disclosures) to clarify the interpretation of study results. The first area of this analytical model is related to the composition of the compensation committee, which includes seven items. Table 3 shows the individual scores of items of the analytical model. 
All sample banks do not have any separate compensation committees to govern compensation-related matters for executives. Banks have human resource committees governing compensation and other human resources-related issues. Also, the presence of independent directors is 100% of all banks’ compensation committees in 2022. On the other hand, the presence of women in the compensation committees was 100% till 2018, and in 2019, banks appointed more men than women, which indicates the percentage of presence of women in the compensation committees is considerably higher.
Regarding the odd composition of the committees, only 50% of the banks have an odd number of members till 2015. In 2016, it was 100%. Later, this odd composition fluctuates and does not show a stable percentage of the odd composition of the committees. On the other hand, not all banks have at least one member with documented experience in management compensation in the committees. Finally, the number of members (at least five) was 100% till 2017. Later, it was 92% in 2018 and 2019, and from 2020, it shows the number of members (at least five) is upward, and the percentage is 100%.

Table 3. Compensation Committee Composition Items
	Composition
	2012
	2013
	2014
	2015
	2016
	2017
	2018
	2019
	2020
	2021
	2022

	1. Institution (Presence of compensation committee)
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%

	2. Year of Establishment (before 2005)
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	3. Presence of independent directors
	75%
	92%
	92%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	4. Presence of women
	42%
	50%
	67%
	83%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	92%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	5. Odd composition
	0%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	100%
	50%
	67%
	50%
	83%
	67%
	50%

	6. Number of members (at least five)
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	92%
	92%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	7. Presence of at least one member with documented experience in management compensation (according to Resumes)
	42%
	58%
	75%
	75%
	92%
	100%
	92%
	75%
	83%
	100%
	100%


Source: Authors’ Figures

The second macro-area of the analytical model is procedural aspects detailed in Table 4, which reveals a significant change that occurred over the investigation period, from 2012 to 2022. 
Compensation committees do not have the power to decide on compensation and related issues. However, the extent of their decision-making authority has increased over the years. The boards supervise executive compensation decisions prepared by compensation committees. On the other hand, the committees make compensation-related decisions by consulting with independent professional advisors. Professional advisors, however, provide similar services to those provided by the human resources departments and the board to some extent.
Almost all banks in Canada review the compensation policy and its implementation at least once annually. Similarly, all banks adopted internal rules of compensation, demonstrating increased effectiveness, efficiency, and accountability. On the other hand, almost all compensation committees meet a minimum of four times annually. However, they do not disclose the duration of each meeting. Also, the compensation committees are most active in cooperation/collaboration with risk management and other corporate functions, such as human resources. Likewise, all compensation committees prepare incentive plans to motivate executives that reflect the expression of opinions/actions on the achievement of performance targets and other strategic objectives. Also, all committees have the assignment of the budget concerning commission paying the cost associated with the use of experts on pay.

Table 4. Compensation Committee Procedural Items
	Procedural Aspects
	2012
	2013
	2014
	2015
	2016
	2017
	2018
	2019
	2020
	2021
	2022

	8. Extent of decision-making powers (two criteria: (a) all forms of compensation and (b) all participants (administrators, risk takers, control functions, etc.)
	50%
	50%
	50%
	83%
	92%
	67%
	67%
	58%
	58%
	67%
	75%

	9. Board supervises executive compensation decisions (checks proportionality of compensation)
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	10. Collaboration with an independent professional advisor (i.e. external consultants should not provide similar services to the human resources department or to the board)
	50%
	50%
	50%
	50%
	58%
	50%
	58%
	67%
	75%
	75%
	75%

	11. Periodical review (at least annual) of compensation policy and its implementation
	50%
	50%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	83%
	100%
	100%

	12. Attendance at the annual general meeting
	17%
	17%
	50%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	83%
	100%
	100%

	13. Adoption of internal rules
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	14. Annual frequency of meetings (minimum four, maximum eight)
	100%
	100%
	92%
	92%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	92%
	100%

	15. Duration of each meeting
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%
	0%

	16. Cooperation/collaboration with risk management or other corporate functions (such as human resources, etc.)
	0%
	50%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	83%
	100%
	100%

	17. Expression of opinions/actions on the achievement of performance targets and other conditions underlying the incentive plans
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	18. Assignment of budget (commission pays costs associated with the use of experts on pay)
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%


Source: Authors’ Figures

Finally, another important macro-area of the analytical model is the disclosure area elaborated in Table 5, which investigates the most significant considerations. The greater disclosure-related considerations from 2012 to 2022 include the following:
 First, the Compensation committees of Canadian banks are effective in disclosure practice, and they disclose the compensation activities and decisions to the public. All committees report independently to the boards and the annual meeting for the approval of the shareholders. Second, the committees also adopted the practice of preparing and disseminating minutes of the meetings in advance among the members of the committees. Third, the committee reports are always available in banks' annual reports, corporate governance reports, and proxy circulars.

Table 5. Compensation Committee Disclosure Items
	Disclosure
	2012
	2013
	2014
	2015
	2016
	2017
	2018
	2019
	2020
	2021
	2022

	19. Independent report to annual meeting (or to any other corporate body) on activities carried out
	50%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	20. Minutes of the meeting or presence of secretary
	0%
	17%
	67%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%

	21. Dissemination/publication of its decisions in corporate documents (annual reports, CG report, proxy circular, etc.)
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%
	100%


Source: Authors’ Figures

6. DISCUSSION
The analysis of overall trends and individual items over the study period highlights several positive aspects that are a clear sign of real progress in effectiveness in the function of compensation committees. However, the average values over eleven years of investigation (Table 2) and individual items’ values (Tables 3, 4, and 5) also highlight some critical issues.
First, it is a red flag for Canadian banks that they have no separate committees that function only for compensation governance. The committees perform other human resource-related functions in their compensation governance.
Second, no bank has gender equality on the board, i.e., the number of women directors is less than the number of male directors. Gender inequality on the board is also reflected in compensation committees. Half of the compensation committees include one woman director each, while only one is in the chair position.
Third, regarding the skills and experience of compensation issues, very few directors with those skills are participating in compensation committees. 
Fourth, no bank has the practice of compensation committee effectiveness and efficiency assessment and reporting system. Likewise, they do not disclose the meeting duration and agenda in publicly available reports.
Fifth, some banks are not discreet enough to comprise the committee with an odd number of members. As a result, the decision-making process sometimes becomes tied by the vote of 50-50 members, which hampers committee effectiveness.
Sixth, the compensation committees collaborate with independent professional advisors who also provide similar services for human resources departments and the boards. It is clearly evident that there might be a conflict of interest between management and advisors. 
Finally, the committees are not adequate in fulfilling all requirements of compensation decisions and participative decision-making.

7. CONCLUSION
The study aimed to investigate the regulatory criteria and best practices that structure the compensation committees of Canadian banks and the effectiveness of committee governance according to those standards. Traditionally, Canadian banks are highly regulated by global and domestic regulatory bodies that shape the governance structure more effectively and efficiently. On the other hand, Canadian banks have been adopting the new regulatory framework and best practices for board committee governance while improving their efficiency, effectiveness, and functionality. Moreover, executive compensation-related issues have been substantially discussed in recent years concerning compensation governance, executive compensation structure, pay for performance, long-term value creation, and compensation alignment with risk. The global financial crisis of 2008 also resulted in a series of regulatory changes to the Canadian banking sector designed to prevent this type of risk from happening again. Consequently, the Bank of International Settlements (BIS), Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, and Financial Stability Board (FSB) provided the guidelines for the governance of banks, especially the compensation governance and risk management in banks. These global phenomena have directly influenced the compensation governance of Canadian banks. 
We demonstrated, after a preliminary descriptive analysis, identifying the changes to the main structure and composition of compensation committees in Canadian banks over the past ten years (2012-2022). In this study, we developed an effectiveness rating to summarize technical and professional efficiency levels currently achieved by compensation committees in a sample of six Canadian banks by market capitalization.
In this study, we found a considerable improvement in compensation committee effectiveness in Canadian banks. The average effectiveness rates of the Big Six banks were considerably upward from year to year, while the effectiveness scores of the compensation committees of each bank also increased every year. We also found that the compensation committees are composed of at least five members who are entirely independent directors. However, the presence of women directors on the committee is less than 50%. Moreover, the banks did not provide significant information regarding the duration of committee meetings. 
Finally, this study opens up many different future research lines. More specifically, the compositional features deserve further investigation. For example, analyzing each member's professional background to determine their true experience, educational qualifications, and any interlocking directorships that may negatively affect their main functions.
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ABSTRACT
This study aims to investigate the impact of tax planning on the financial performance of listed companies in Vietnam’s construction and real estate industry. Using panel data analysis with a balanced dataset of 780 firm-year observations from 2019 to 2023, the study examines two proxies for tax planning, namely the effective tax rate and the tax-to-asset ratio and their relationship with return on equity, while controlling for firm size, leverage, operating risk, and firm age. The regression results indicate that effective tax rate and tax-to-asset ratio have no statistically significant effect on return on equity, suggesting that tax planning does not play a decisive role in shaping firm profitability within the sample period. These findings highlight that the potential benefits of tax planning may be offset by weak governance structures, agency conflicts, and the risks associated with aggressive tax strategies, which are common challenges in transition economies. The study underscores the importance for managers and policymakers to strengthen corporate governance mechanisms, ensure greater transparency, and align tax planning with long-term value creation goals rather than focusing solely on tax minimization. By providing empirical evidence, this research contributes to the literature on corporate tax management and offers practical implications for firms.
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1. INTRODUCTION
Financial performance is a key indicator of efficiency, profitability, and long-term sustainability, particularly in emerging economies where regulatory frameworks and governance systems remain underdeveloped (Kawor & Kportorgbi, 2014). In capital-intensive sectors such as construction and real estate, stable profitability and efficient capital allocation are essential to manage cyclical fluctuations and finance large-scale projects (Nguyen & Bui, 2025). Within this context, tax planning as the strategic, legal structuring of activities to minimize tax liabilities has been recognized as an important tool for improving after-tax income, strengthening cash flows, and sustaining competitiveness (Chen, Chen, Cheng, & Shevlin, 2010). However, evidence on the tax planning and performance nexus remains mixed. Most research has focused on advanced economies with stronger institutions, while firms in transition markets like Vietnam face more volatile tax regimes and agency problems that may reshape outcomes (Binh & Hue, 2023). Moreover, inconsistencies in measurement, whether through effective tax rates, book-tax differences, or other proxies, contribute to contradictory findings (Dao & Ta, 2020). These gaps highlight the need for more context-specific studies in emerging markets.
This study tests the effect of tax planning on financial performance of the construction and real estate sector in Vietnam, using panel data from 2019 to 2023. Focusing on an emerging market, the paper contributes to the literature and privides practical implications for stakeholder to enhance firms performance. The paper outline includes introduction, literature review, methodology, results and discussion, and conclusion sections.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Financial Performance
Financial performance reflects how effectively firms achieve financial objectives by utilizing resources. In transitional economies, it is both a measure of profitability and an indicator of managerial efficiency and resilience, with scholars distinguishing between accounting- and market-based perspectives that together capture firm health and prospects (Delen, Kuzey, & Uyar, 2013). Various indicators have been developed to quantify financial performance. ROE is widely used to assess the capacity to generate incomes for shareholders.

2.2 Tax Planning
Tax planning is the lawful organization of a firm’s financial and operational activities to minimize tax obligations, often by leveraging available incentives and timing opportunities (Thanjunpong & Awirothananon, 2019). Unlike tax evasion or overly aggressive avoidance, it signals managerial capability to optimize resources while remaining compliant. In transitional economies, effective tax planning also demonstrates a firm’s adaptability to evolving fiscal and regulatory environments (Rahman, 2023). The role of tax planning is to improve the profitability by minimizing tax burdens.
Agency theory explains the link between tax planning and financial performance by highlighting potential conflicts between managers and shareholders, where tax planning can mitigate agency costs and enhance after-tax income (Jensen & Meckling, 1976). In multinational and transitional economies, tax planning often involves strategies such as profit shifting and tax optimization, which can improve resource allocation but may also increase risk if pursued aggressively (Hanlon & Heitzman, 2010). Prior studies show mixed evidence, partly due to different measures of tax planning, such as effective tax rates or book-tax differences, and varying institutional contexts. These inconsistencies underscore the need for context-specific research, particularly in emerging economies like Vietnam, to clarify how tax planning influences financial performance (Anh & Hoa, 2021; Le, Vu, & Nguyen, 2022; Pratama & Muhammad, 2025).
Hypothesis: There is a positive correlation between tax planning and financial performance in the construction and real estate sectors.
Control variables: The control variables includes firm size, firm age, financial leverage and operating leverage. 

3. METHODOLOGY
The measures of the dependent variable and its predictors are depicted in Table 1.

Table 1. Variable measurement
	Variables
	
	Measure

	Return on equity
	ROE
	Net profit/Equity

	Effective tax rate
	ETR
	Corporate income tax expense/EBIT

	Tax expenses to total assets ratio
	TAXA
	Corporate income tax expense/Total assets

	Age of firm
	FAGE
	Research year – Listed year

	Size of firm
	FSIZE
	Ln(net revenue)

	Financial leverage
	LEV
	Total debts/Equity

	Operating leverage
	OLEV
	Fixed assets/Total assets



Data collection and analysis
The dataset included 780 observations of 156 listed construction and real estate companies on Vietnamese stock exchanges. The data was analyzed by STATA 17. This study used panel data analysis and employed Feasible Generalized Least Squares (FGLS) to estimate the research model.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
The descriptive statistics indicate that ROE mean value  is 0.057921, the ETR mean is 0.20459. The mean of TAXA is 0.0065. Regarding control variable, the mean of firm size, firm age, financial leverage, and operating leverage are 26.31, 6.18, 2.38, and 0.13674, respectively. The results of correlation analysis between variables in the model reveal that the low correlation among variables.
The study employed Pooled OLS, FEM, and REM to estimate the research model. The F-test and Hausman test to choose FEM as the final specification. The Wald test, Wooldridge test, and VIF results indicate that the existence of heteroskedasticity and neither autocorrelation nor multicollinearity
To address the heteroskedasticity in the FEM estimation, the research employs the FGLS estimation model. The FGLS regression results show that among the variables included in the model, several variables exhibit statistically significant effects on the dependent variable, including FSIZE, FAGE, OLEV, LEV. The results indicate that neither of the two tax planning proxies has a statistically significant effect on firms’ financial performance. This result implies that, within the sample period and model specification, there is no robust evidence that tax planning activities, whether measured through ETR or tax burden relative to total assets, systematically shape ROE in construction and real estate sector in Vietnam. 
Overall, the results suggest that there is no conclusive empirical evidence to support the notion that tax planning alone can significantly improve financial performance in the Vietnamese construction and real estate sector. 

5. CONCLUSION

This study examines the effect of tax planning and financial performance within Vietnam’s construction and real estate sector, a representative segment of the country's transition economy. The findings show that both ETR and TAXA coefficients were insignificant, suggesting that tax planning may not directly enhance profitability in this context. From a practical perspective, the study offers implications for corporate managers and policymakers. Limitations include the study’s focus on a single sector and the reliance on accounting-based measures. Future research could broaden the scope across industries and adopt alternative performance metrics to validate and extend these findings.
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